UNIVERSITY of CALIFORNIA Santa Barbara

Spectral Properties of the Koopman Operator in the Analysis of Nonstationary Dynamical Systems

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

 in

Mechanical Engineering

by

Ryan M. Mohr

Committee in charge:

Professor Igor Mezić, Chair Professor Bassam Bamieh Professor Jeffrey Moehlis Professor Mihai Putinar

June 2014

The dissertation of Ryan M. Mohr is approved:

Bassam Bamieh

Jeffrey Moehlis

Mihai Putinar

Igor Mezić, Committee Chair

May 2014

Spectral Properties of the Koopman Operator in the Analysis of

Nonstationary Dynamical Systems

Copyright © 2014

by

Ryan M. Mohr

To my family and dear friends

Acknowledgements

Above all, I would like to thank my family, my parents Beth and Jim, and brothers Brennan and Gralan. Without their support, encouragement, confidence and love, I would not be the person I am today.

I am also grateful to my advisor, Professor Igor Mezić, who introduced and guided me through the field of dynamical systems and encouraged my mathematical pursuits, even when I fell down the (many) proverbial (mathematical) rabbit holes. I learned many fascinating things from these wandering forays on a wide range of topics, both contributing to my dissertation and not. Our many interesting discussions on mathematics, research, and philosophy are among the highlights of my graduate school career. His confidence in my abilities and research has been a constant source of encouragement, especially when I felt uncertain in them myself. His enthusiasm for science and deep, meaningful work has set the tone for the rest of my career and taught me the level of research problems I should consider and the quality I should strive for.

My introduction to high quality research and top researchers in my field and others, both here in the UC Santa Barbara community and in the wider scientific community, has enriched me immensely. Aside from my advisor, I must foremost acknowledge and thank my good friend and colleague Dr. Marko Budišić for all our conversations, the interesting and interestingly crazy ideas we bounced off each other, and his support as we traveled this path together. I would also like to thank Professor Jeff Moehlis both as a teacher and a colleague, for what he has taught me, the advice he has given me, and the discussions we have had. Professor Mihai Putinar's enthusiasm and interest in my research has both encouraged and reassured me that I was pursuing meaningful and interesting work.

Finally, I'd like to acknowledge and thank all my friends who have had, and continue to have, a meaningful and positive impact on my life. Of special note are Mai, Marko, Lina, Veronica, Mike, Chris, and Gabri whose friendship, comraderie, and humor (and willingness to nod politely when I went off on my many and varied math tangents) I wouldn't trade for anything. Marko, Lina, Gabri, our Saturday barbecues are a source of many good memories. Mai, your continuous and unfailing friendship, support, and humor these past 12 years has been a constant source of strength and happiness in my life. If I had failed to know even one of you, my life would have been the worse for it. Thank you.

Curriculum Vitae

Education

- 2006 PhD Candidate in Mechanical Engineering, University of California, Santa Barbara, USA
- 2001 2006 Bachelor of Science, Mechanical Engineering & Physics (Majors), Mathematics (Minor), Summa Cum Laude, Virginia Commonwealth University, Virginia, USA

Relevant Experience

Research

- 2007 Graduate Student Researcher, UC Santa Barbara, Research group of Dr. Igor Mezić
- 2005 2006 Undergraduate Researcher, Virginia Commonwealth University, Control and Mechatronic Systems Laboratory, Research group of Dr. Kam Leang
- 2004 2005 Undergraduate Researcher, Medical College of Virginia, Smooth Muscles Laboratory, Research group of Dr. Paul Ratz (Dept. Biochemistry, Med. Col. of Virginia), Co-PI: Dr. John Speich (Dept. Mech Eng., Virginia Commonwealth Univ.)

Teaching

- 2006 2012 Teaching Assistant, UC Santa Barbara, 6 academic quarters; courses:
 "Mechanical Vibrations (Lead TA)", "Nonlinear Phenomena" (twice), "System Identification and Control", "ME Design II", "Sensors"
- Fall 2005 Laboratory Assistant, Virginia Commonwealth University; course: "Mechatronics"

Professional

- Jun 2004 Aug 2005 Advanced Fiber Systems, BSME Cooperative Education Engineer, Kevlar SBU, Spruance Plant, DuPont, Richmond, Virginia, USA; Created and maintained Kevlar Production database and analysis programs for a Six Sigma project; analysis of historical meter pump performance and reliability
- Fall 2004 Advanced Fiber Systems, BSME Cooperative Education Engineer, Nomex SBU, Spruance Plant, DuPont, Richmond, Virginia, USA; Product portfolio optimization study, created analysis program identifying opportune areas for improvement

Academic Activities

Speaker

- May 2013 SIAM Conference on Applications of Dynamical Systems DS13, Snowbird, UT, USA; Koopman Mode Analysis of Networks, Minisymposium Talk (MS60)
- May 2011 SIAM Conference on Applications of Dynamical Systems DS11, Snowbird, UT, USA; Low-dimensional models and anomaly detection for TCP-like networks using the Koopman operator; Contributed Talk (CP15)
- Dec 2010 49th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, Atlanta , GA, USA, The Use of Ergodic Theory in Designing Dynamics for Search Problems; Presentation and a Proceedings Paper [see MM10]
- May 2009 SIAM Conference on Applications of Dynamical Systems DS09, Snowbird, UT, USA; Designing Search Dynamics Robust Under Sensor Uncertainty; Minisymposium Talk (MS33)

Attendee

- Jan 2008 Dynamics Days, Knoxville, TN, USA;
- **Dec 2007** Workshop on *Chaos and Ergodicity of Realistic Hamiltonian Systems*, Centre de recherches mathématiques (CRM), Université de Montréal, Montréal, Québec, Canada;

May 2007 SIAM Conference on Applications of Dynamical Systems DS07, Snowbird, UT, USA;

Member of Professional Societies

- 2013 present American Mathematical Society (AMS), Student Member
- **2006 present** Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Student Member

Awards

- June 2013 Outstanding Teaching Assistant for the Academic Year 2012/13; Department of Mechanical Engineering, UC Santa Barbara
- May 2006 Invited Speaker; School of Engineering Graduation Ceremony, Virginia Commonwealth University
- Fall 2005 Best Physics Student; Dept. of Physics, Virginia Commonwealth University
- 2004 National Dean's List; 2003–2004 Edition
- 2003 National Dean's List; 2002–2003 Edition
- 2001 2006 Henrico County Merit Scholarship for full tuition and fees for duration of undergraduate engineering education

Fields of Study

Major Field: Dynamical Systems

Studies in Operator and Spectral Theory with Professor Igor Mezić

Studies in Ergodic Theory with Professor Igor Mezić

Abstract

Spectral Properties of the Koopman Operator in the Analysis of Nonstationary

Dynamical Systems

by

Ryan M. Mohr

The dominating methodology used in the study of dynamical systems is the geometric picture introduced by Poincaré. The focus is on the structure of the state space and the asymptotic behavior of trajectories. Special solutions such as fixed points and limit cycles, along with their stable and unstable manifolds, are of interest due to their ability to organize the trajectories in the surrounding state space.

Another viewpoint that is becoming more prevalent is the operator-theoretic / functional-analytic one which describes the system in terms of the evolution of functions or measures defined on the state space. Part I of this doctoral dissertation focuses on the Koopman, or composition, operator that determines how a function on the state space evolves as the state trajectories evolve. Most current studies involving the Koopman operator have dealt with its spectral properties that are induced by dynamical systems that are, in some sense, stationary (in the probabilistic sense). The dynamical systems studied are either measure-preserving or initial conditions for trajectories are restricted to an attractor for the system. In these situations, only the point spectrum on the unit circle is considered; this part of the spectrum is called the unimodular spectrum. This work investigates relaxations of these situations in two different directions. The first is an extension of the spectral analysis of the Koopman operator to dynamical systems possessing either dissipation or expansion in regions of their state space. The second is to consider switched, stochastically-driven dynamical systems and the associated collection of semigroups of Koopman operators.

In the first direction, we develop the Generalized Laplace Analysis (GLA) for both spectral operators of scalar type (in the sense of Dunford) and non spectral operators. The GLA is a method of constructing eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator corresponding to non-unimodular eigenvalues. It represents an extension of the ergodic theorems proven for ergodic, measure-preserving, on-attractor dynamics to the case where we have off-attractor dynamics. We also give a general procedure for constructing an appropriate Banach space of functions on which the Koopman operator is spectral. We explicitly construct these spaces for attracting fixed points and limit cycles. The spaces that we introduce and construct are generalizations of the familiar Hilbert Hardy spaces in the complex unit disc.

In the second direction, we develop the theory of switched semigroups of Koopman operators. Each semigroup is assumed to be spectral of scalar-type with unimodular point spectrum, but possibly non-unimodular continuous spectrum. The functions evolve by applying one semigroup for a period of time, then switching to another semigroup. We develop an approximation of the vector-valued function evolution by a linear approximation in the vector space that the functions map into. A basis for this linear approximation is constructed from the vector-valued modes that are coefficients of the projections of the vector-valued observable onto scalar-valued eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator. The unmodeled modes show up as noisy dynamics in the output space. We apply this methodology to traffic matrices of an Internet Service Provider's (ISP's) network backbone. Traffic matrices measure the traffic volume moving between an ingress and egress router for the network's backbone. It is shown that on each contiguous interval of time in which a single semigroup acts the modal dynamics are deterministic and periodic with Gaussian or nearly-Gaussian noise superimposed.

Part II of the dissertation represents a divergence from the first part in that it does not deal with the Koopman operator explicitly. In the second part, we consider the problem of using exponentially mixing dynamical systems to generate trajectories for an agent to follow in its search for a physical target in a large domain. The domain is a compact subset of the *n*-dimensional Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n . It is assumed that the size of the target is unknown and can take any value in some continuous range. Furthermore, it is assumed that the target can be located anywhere in the domain with equal probability.

We cast this problem as one in the field of quantitative recurrence theory, a relatively new sub-branch of ergodic theory. We give constructive proofs for upper bounds of hitting times of small metric balls in \mathbb{R}^n for mixing transformations of various speeds. The upper bounds and limit laws we derive say, approximately, that the hitting time is bounded above by some constant multiple of the inverse of the measure of the metric ball. From these results, we derive upper bounds for the expected hitting time, with respect to the range of target sizes $[\delta, V)$, to be of order $\mathcal{O}(-\ln \delta)$. First order, continuous time dynamics are constructed from discrete time mixing transformations and upper bounds for these hitting times are shown to be proportional to the discrete time case.

Contents

Lis	st of Figures	xix
\mathbf{Lis}	st of Tables	xxi
Ι	Introduction I.1 Contributions of this dissertation	1 9
I Ar	Spectral Properties of the Koopman Operator in the nalysis of Nonstationary Dynamical Systems) 15

II	Math	ematical Prerequisites 1	6
	II.1	Dynamical systems, flow maps, and observables	6
	II.2	Basic concepts from linear functional analysis	8
		II.2.1 Topologies	9
		II.2.2 Continuity and operator norms	21
		II.2.3 Operator topologies	25
		II.2.4 Closed linear operators	26
		II.2.5 The Koopman operator	27
	II.3	Resolvent and spectrum	28
		II.3.1 Koopman mode decomposition	29
		II.3.2 Ergodic theorems and the construction of unimodular	
		eigenfunctions	31
III	Gene	alized Laplace Analysis (GLA) for Spectral Operators of	
	Scala	-Type 3	6
	III.1	Yosida's mean ergodic theorem	37
		III.1.1 The ergodic theorem	37
		III.1.2 Remarks on Yosida's mean ergodic theorem	10
	III.2	Spectral measures	15

 III.2.1 Spectral measures in Banach spaces.
 45

		spaces	49
	III.3	Generalized Laplace Analysis	53
		III.3.1 GLA for dominating point spectrum	54
		III.3.2 GLA for minimal point spectrum	59
IV	Gene	ralized Laplace Analysis (GLA) for Non-Spectral Operators	64
	IV.1	Preliminaries	65
		IV.1.1 Absolutely summable subspaces	65
		IV.1.2 Averaging operators	71
	IV.2	Generalized Laplace Analysis	73
	1V.3	Generalized Laplace analysis in the presence of nilpotentcy	76
	IV.4	Some comments on Schauder bases	91
\mathbf{V}	Dyna	mical Systems and the Koopman Operator	95
	V.1	Algebraic and topological properties of Koopman eigenfunctions.	98
	V.2	Function spaces for dissipative dynamical systems	109
		V.2.1 Polynomials over normed commutative rings	110
		V.2.2 Asymptotically stable fixed points in \mathbb{C}^a	113
		V.2.3 Asymptotically stable limit cycles in \mathbb{R}^2	121
VI	Dissc	ussion of the GLA and Future Work	127
		had Familia of Varman Oranatana mith Unitary Same	
VII	Switc	ned Families of Koopman Operators with Unitary Spec	-
VII	Switc trum	ned ramines of Koopman Operators with Unitary Spec	- 132
VII	Switc trum VII.1	Families of Koopman operators	132 136
VII	Switc trum VII.1	Families of Koopman Operators with Omtary Spec VII.1.1 Switch and hold dynamics	132 136 140
VII	Switc trum VII.1	Families of Koopman Operators with Omtary Spec Families of Koopman operators	132 136 140 e141
VII	Switc trum VII.1 VII.2	Families of Koopman Operators with Omtary Spec Families of Koopman operators	132 136 140 e141 144
VII	Switc trum VII.1 VII.2	Families of Koopman Operators with Omtary Spec Families of Koopman operators	- 136 140 e141 144 147
VII	Switc trum VII.1 VII.2	Families of Koopman Operators with Unitary Spec Families of Koopman operators	- 132 136 140 e141 144 147 150
VII	Switc trum VII.1 VII.2 VII.2	Families of Koopman Operators with Unitary Spec Families of Koopman operators	- 132 136 140 e141 144 147 150 169
VII II	Switc trum VII.1 VII.2 VII.3 Expo	Families of Koopman Operators with Unitary Spec Families of Koopman operators	- 132 136 140 e141 144 147 150 169 r-
VII II gets	Switc trum VII.1 VII.2 VII.3 Expon of No	Families of Koopman Operators with Unitary Spec Families of Koopman operators	- 132 136 140 e141 144 147 150 169 r- 172
VII II gets VIII	Switc trum VII.1 VII.2 VII.2 VII.3 Expor of No Introd	Families of Koopman Operators with Unitary Spec Families of Koopman operators	- 132 136 140 e141 144 147 150 169 r- 172 173
VII II gets VIII IX	Switc trum VII.1 VII.2 VII.2 VII.3 Expor of No Introd Limit	Families of Koopman Operators with Unitary Spec Families of Koopman operators	- 132 136 140 e141 144 147 150 169 r- 172 173 -
VII gets VIII IX	Switc trum VII.1 VII.2 VII.2 VII.3 Expor of No Introd Limit tems	Families of Koopman Operators with Unitary Spec Families of Koopman operators	- 132 136 140 e 141 144 147 150 169 r- 172 173 - 180

	IX.1.1 Rational Lawnmower Algorithm	183
	IX.1.2 Subdivision Algorithm in 1D	185
IX.2	B -regular systems	187
IX.3	Hitting times for mixing transformations	202
	IX.3.1 Uniformly exponentially mixing transformations	204
	IX.3.2 Nonuniform exponentially mixing transformations	214
	IX.3.3 Summable mixing systems	216
	IX.3.4 Measures equivalent to the Lebesgue measure	217
IX.4	Expected search time	218
	IX.4.1 Simulations	220
IX.5	Continuous-time dynamics	227
	IX.5.1 First-order dynamics.	227
IX.6	Discussion and Conclusions	229

List of Figures

V.1	The commutative diagram corresponding to the spaces in definition	
	V.1.7 and theorem V.1.8. \ldots	104
V.2	Chain of topological conjugacies used to construct eigenfunctions	
	in the basin of attraction B of the fixed point for the Koopman	
	operator corresponding to the nonlinear system. The existence if	
	$h: B \to h(B)$ is guaranteed by a theorem in [LM13]	117
VII.1	Abilene research network. From [Int05]	147
VII.2	Modulus of elements of the Koopman modes for weeks 1 through 4.	149
VII.3	Modulus of elements of the Koopman modes for weeks 9 through 12.	150
VII.4	Traffic volume on s/d pair 39	151
VII.5	Weeks 1 through 4. ± 1 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32	154
VII.6	Weeks 5 through 8. ± 1 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32	155
VII.7	Weeks 9 through 12. ± 1 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32	156
VII.8	Weeks 13 through 16. ± 1 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32	157

- VII.9 Weeks 17 through 21. ± 1 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32. 158
- VII.10 Weeks 21 through 24. ± 1 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32. 159
- VII.11 Smoothed real modal dynamics ($\pm 1 \text{ cycle/wk}$) for S/D pair 32.

The smoothed dynamics are in blue, the analytic prediction is in red. 160

- VII.12 Weeks 1 through 4. ± 7 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32. 162
- VII.13 Weeks 5 through 8. \pm 7 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32. 163
- VII.14 Weeks 9 through 12. ± 7 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32. 164
- VII.15 Weeks 13 through 16. ± 7 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32. 165
- VII.16 Weeks 17 through 21. \pm 7 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32. 166
- VII.17 Weeks 21 through 24. \pm 7 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32. 167
- VII.18 Smoothed real modal dynamics ($\pm 7 \text{ cycles/wk}$) for S/D pair 32.

The smoothed dynamics are in blue, the analytic prediction is in red. 168

- IX.2 Hitting time of the 1D subdivision algorithms. Hitting time from simulations for 100 target centers are plotted in color (stair-step, lower curve). The upper bound given by (IX.1.9) is plotted in black (upper line).
 224
- IX.3 Hitting time of the q-adic maps. Hitting times from simulations for 100 target centers are plotted in color (lower curve). The upper bound given by (IX.3.8) is plotted in black (upper curve). 225
- IX.4 The expected hitting time $\mathcal{H}(c, y, \delta)$ averaged over c and y. 226

List of Tables

VII.1 Input and Ouput Routers to the Abilene Network 148

Chapter I

Introduction

¹A first introduction to nonlinear dynamical systems, such as Wiggins [Wig03], focuses on differentiable dynamics with an eye towards the asymptotic nature of trajectories. Special solutions such as fixed points, limit cycles, and periodic orbits take a primary role due their organization of trajectories in the state space. More generally, attractors and invariant manifolds help to decompose a system and develop an understanding of its behavior. Most techniques are local in nature — stability via linearization or, more generally, perturbation theory; the local coordinate changes arising from the theory of normal forms; or bifurcation theory, as examples — and require some regularity of the governing differential equations. Many theorems hold for C^r -differentiable systems with at least C^2 often being required.

The standard techniques allow practitioners to build good intuition about a sys-

¹Portions of this chapter are similar to and reprinted with permission from M. Budišić, R. Mohr, and I. Mezić "Applied Koopmanism," Chaos. 22 (4), 047510-1 – 047510-33 (2012), doi:10.1063/1.4772195. Copyright 2012.

tem's behavior. However, the geometric approach is not always well-suited to the analysis of systems that arise in practice. Some of this difficulty stems from the low dimensional nature of many of the standard techniques — Poincaré-Bendixson's theorem being a particularly blatant example whose result only holds in the plane. With work, some theorems can be extended to higher dimensions. However, the normal route to analyzing moderate to large dimensional systems is to reduce the complexity in some way. These techniques can include exploiting special symmetries in the system, finding integrals (or other invariants) of motion to reduce the degrees of freedom, or concepts such as center manifold theory. Unfortunately, these techniques are not always applicable or if they are, finding the object of interest is intractable. In a generic large-scale, complex system, many of the standard techniques break down or applying them can be tricky.

Many of the standard, rigorous analysis techniques require explicit access to the governing differential equations and state space. For example, rigorously proving stability via linearization or Lyapunov functions requires the vector field to be known. While simulations can suggest properties such as stability of a fixed point or other solution, they are not rigorous proofs. As the dimension or complexity of the system grows, the potential for exotic or unwanted behavior increases and making conclusions based on simulations becomes a more delicate issue. In short, many of the techniques of the geometric approach cannot be considered as "data-driven" methods.

Even when the governing equations are known explicitly, the geometric picture's

focus on single trajectories may not be the best viewpoint to take. In systems that exhibit any of the hierarchies of ergodic behavior — ergodicity, mixing, exactness — there is but a single trajectory that is dense in the state space. More generally, for a measure preserving dynamical system, the state space can be decomposed into ergodic components which are regions invariant under the dynamics for which the dynamics restricted to that region is ergodic. With regards to numerical conclusions, the exponential divergence of trajectories in a chaotic system makes the focus on a single trajectory meaningless since any error in the initial conditions — finite machine precision, for example — quickly grows and the simulated trajectory is nowhere near the true trajectory. In these cases, focus on the statistics of ensembles of trajectories gives a more robust analysis. The book by Lasota and Mackey [LM94] gives a good introduction to the study of such dynamics using densities.

An alternative viewpoint to the geometric one is the functional one, where the focus is on studying the behavior of elements of some function class whose common domain is the state space. In general, we refer to elements of the function class as *observables* on the system and the function class as the *space of observables*. For analysis purposes, we require that the function class have both algebraic and topological structures; the linear structure of a vector space and some type of complete topology at the very least. Most commonly, the topological structure is induced by a norm, in which case the function class is a Banach space, however, locally convex topologies induced by a family of seminorms arise as well.

Focus is now on how observables of the function class evolve over time due to the dynamics of the system and the relation of this function evolution to the behavior of the trajectories in the state space. The dynamical system induces a linear operator, the *Koopman operator*, that drives the evolution of an observable via composition with the flow map. If f is an observable and Φ_t ($t \ge 0$) is the flow map, the evolution of observables is formally given via the family of mappings $f \mapsto f \circ \Phi_t$. This mapping gives the action of the Koopman operator on the space of observables. Obviously, the space of observables must be large enough so that it is closed under the action of the operator, i.e., the mapping is a self-map of the space of observables. This is dictated by the properties of the flow map. For example, if we require that the function class consist of C^r -differentiable functions, then Φ_t should also be a C^r -differentiable family. To be more explicit, if we denote the vector space of observables by \mathscr{F} and it is closed under composition with the flow maps Φ_t , then we have the family of Koopman operators $U_t : \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}$ given by

$$U_t(f) = f \circ \Phi_t \qquad (t \ge 0). \tag{I.0.1}$$

Due to the linear structure of the space of observables and the definition of the Koopman operators, it is immediately clear that the Koopman operator is linear, even when the dynamical system is nonlinear. Given some mild conditions² on the space of observables, the linear dynamics induced by the Koopman operator are able to capture the full nonlinear behavior of the underlying dynamical system. This is contrasted

²For example, it is necessary that the space of observables be able to separate points.

to typical linearization techniques in the state space, such as Taylor expansion about a fixed point, that discard a lot of information and cannot resolve the nonlinear contributions of the dynamics. In order to do this, however, the Koopman operator acts on an infinite dimensional space even when the dynamical system acts in finite dimensional Euclidean space. Given the linearity of the operator, and the fact that in many cases the operator is bounded, all the tools of functional analysis can be readily applied. Furthermore, as in the case of finite dimensional linear systems, such as when studying linear vibration theory, determining the spectral properties of the Koopman operator can give a lot of insight into the behavior of the system.

However, given that the Koopman operator is defined in terms of the flow map — an object that is often difficult or impossible to construct — one may wonder as to the value of going about things in this manner. First, if we are dealing with a discrete time dynamical system, $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$, the flow map Φ_n is just the map T^n evolving the state space dynamics, which gives us an explicit functional form for the Koopman operator. In this case, (I.0.1) becomes

$$U^{n}(f) \equiv U_{n}(f) = f \circ T^{n}.$$
(I.0.2)

In the continuous time case and a fixed system of ordinary differential equations, the flow map just codifies the solutions of initial value problems of the dynamical system. Therefore, if we generate trajectories in some manner, we can recover the action of the Koopman operator. All that is really required is some mechanism that takes a state space point as an input and outputs a trajectory. This represents a certain black-box point of view for the Koopman operator and makes analysis of a system in this manner suitable when explicit access to the governing dynamical equations are unavailable; such is the case with legacy codes or time series of numerical or experimental data. With this viewpoint, analysis with the Koopman operator has a certain "data-driven" flavor.

Unfortunately, not everything comes up roses. We have already mentioned that in order to capture the full nonlinear behavior of the dynamical system, the function space we have to work in is very large. The choice of the finite dimensional approximation becomes important in numerical computations (for example, see [BM12; Bud12]). Furthermore, the new functional/algebraic viewpoint, and the results obtained therein, are somewhat divorced from our hard-won intuition from the geometric setting since the connection of the functional/algebraic results with a geometric meaning is not always immediate obvious. We do mention, however, that this is not always true; there are standard characterization of ergodic and mixing dynamics in terms of the Koopman operator³. In fact, from a dynamical systems perspective, the strongest connection between properties of the Koopman operator and behavior of the underlying dynamical system occurs when the dynamics are restricted to an attractor.

Spectral properties of composition operators have proven useful in analyzing con-

³See Lasota and Mackey [LM94] or Reed and Simon [RS72] for these formulations. Lasota and Mackey [LM94] focuses on the properties of averages and does not relate the spectrum of the operator to the various types of ergodic behavior. In addition to the behavior of averages, Reed and Simon [RS72] gives spectral characterizations of ergodic and mixing dynamics.

crete systems. By constructing eigenfunctions, either explicitly or implicitly, the practitioner has gained insight into the behavior of their particular system. Typically, rather than a full spectral decomposition, a so-called Koopman mode analysis is pursued [Mez05]. This amounts to considering the spectral decomposition from a specific initial condition.

The Koopman mode analysis has seen the most application in the fluids community. The connection between the Koopman operator and fluid dynamics was worked out in [Row+09]. This work connected the spectral properties of the Koopman operator with the Dynamic Mode Decomposition (DMD) of P. Schmid — a numerical algorithm, first introduced in [SS08], to analyze fluid dynamics via snapshots of the velocity profile. A number of applications in fluid dynamics have followed — see [DHS12; NME11; Sch+11; Sch10; SS11; TAM+11; Tu+12] or the recent review article [Mez13], and the references therein, for a subset for a small subset of the results.

While the bulk of applications have been in the fluids literature via the DMD algorithm and its variants, applications in other areas have also been pursued. Other applied studies, such as energy efficiency in buildings [Eis+10; GEM12], power-systems analysis [SM11; SM12], and neurodynamics [MM12] have used spectral properties and the Koopman mode decomposition of the associated composition operator.

In most of these studies, it is implicitly assumed that the dynamics considered are on the attractor and, therefore, the eigenfunctions corresponding to unimodular (unit modulus) eigenvalues are important. A general procedure for constructing such eigenfunctions is through the use of infinite Fourier averages

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-i\omega k} U_{\Phi}^k, \quad (\omega \in \mathbb{R}).$$
(I.0.3)

The existence of these limits can be guaranteed in certain situations by various ergodic theorems, Wiener and Wintner's extension of Birkhoff's pointwise ergodic theorem [Ass03; WW41] and Yosida's extension of the mean ergodic theorems [Yos78] having primacy (see ch. II.3.2).

Often though, it is quite useful to know the spectrum and eigenfunctions for non-measure preserving dynamics. For example, the recent work in neurodynamics on isochrons and isostables [MMM13] leverage the non-unimodular spectrum of the Koopman operator. The works of Cowen, MacCluer, and others on the spectra of composition operators with analytic symbols acting on (weighted) Hardy Hilbert spaces $H^2(\mathbb{D})$ or Bergman spaces $A^p(\mathbb{D})$ in the complex unit disc (or more generally, the polydisc) can be considered as other examples [AL04; CM94; GGL09; Hyv+13; Rid73; SM93]. Unfortunately, it is not immediately clear that such dynamical systems arise naturally when considering applied problems and, additionally, there seems not to be a clear general procedure on constructing non-unimodular eigenfunctions as there is for unimodular eigenfunctions through the application of equation (I.0.3).

I.1 Contributions of this dissertation

Previous work on the theory and application of the Koopman operator has dealt with dynamics that are stationary in some sense, whether this be because the dynamics are measure-preserving or are restricted to an attractor. In each of these cases the spectrum of the associated Koopman operator is fixed and unitary. In the first part of the dissertation, we pursue two different avenues that relax these conditions. The first deals with allowing the spectrum of the dynamics to be non-unimodular. This case arises when we have dissipation or expansion in the dynamics. The second avenue deals with families of Koopman operators, each possessing unimodular point spectrum, that are switched between as the system evolves. Part of the motivation for this approach is in the understanding system wide behavior of internet-type network traffic flows.

In chapters III and IV, we develop the generalized Laplace analysis (GLA) that can be used to construct eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator for eigevalues off the unit circle using Laplace averages. This can be regarded as an extension of the existing Koopman mode analysis, valid for unimodular spectrum, to non-unimodular spectrum. Chapter III develops this theory for spectral operators of scalar-type. This is done for arbitrary linear operators satisfying the spectral assumption and not just for the Koopman operator. A key theorem used in proving a our results is Yosida's mean ergodic theorem. Yosida's mean ergodic theorem can be used to construct eigenfunctions corresponding to eigenvalues on the unit circle. Our use of the the-

orem to construct eigenfunctions for off-unit-circle eigenvalues can be regarded, in some sense, as an extension of the ergodic theorem to dynamics that are more general than the normal measure-preserving dynamics or contraction operators that are considered in ergodic theory. All of these theorems are proven explicitly for discrete time, but we do give discuss the continuous time case. With a few additional assumptions on the semigroup of operators, the continuous time analog of the discrete case also holds. Chapter IV develops the same type of GLA theorems but for non-spectral operators. In order to prove the results, we cannot consider the entire observable space. We construct the absolutely summable subspace for a collection of eigenvalues possessing certain properties. The subspace consists of absolutely summable series of eigenfunctions. The GLA theorems are proven for observables in this subspace. We also develop of GLA-type theorem for when the eigenvalues possess generalized eigenfunctions. Time averages can still be used to construct the generalized eigenfunction but a different scaling factor has to be used due to an algebraic time dependence in the evolution of observables.

In chapter V, we specialize to the Koopman operator. We first start off with two key properties of eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator that deal with their algebraic and topological properties. In particular, pointwise products of two eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator is again an eigenfunction if the product still belongs to the observable space. In short, if the eigenfunctions are closed in the observable space under pointwise products, they form a semigroup. The second key property relates the

eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of topologically conjugate dynamical systems. If we find an eigenfunction of the Koopman operator associated to one dynamical system, we can immediately construct an eigenfunction for the other Koopman operator by composing with the conjugacy map. The new eigenfunction has the same eigenvalue as the original one. This is particular useful for determining the spectrum and eigenfunctions for the Koopman operator associated to a nonlinear dynamical system. We can find the spectrum and eigenfunctions for the Koopman operator of the linearized system fairly easily. This gives part of the spectrum for the Koopman operator of the nonlinear system and we can get the associated eigenfunction as soon as we know the conjugacy map from the nonlinear system to the linear one. The rest of the chapter gives a method of constructing a space of observables for a dynamical system possessing an attractor on which the Koopman operator is spectral and satisfies the assumptions of chapter III. This space of functions takes the form as a power series with coefficients taking values in a Banach space of observables. The Banach space consists of functions supported on the attractor of the dynamical system, whereas the indeterminates of the power series correspond to stable directions. These functions can be thought of as a generalization the normal H^2 Hardy functions in the unit disc which is why we call them \mathscr{B} -Hardy functions. The construction is accomplished by first finding a set of formal eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator. This set of (principle) eigenfunctions is used to generate an algebra which is then completed under a certain polynomial norm. Construction of a space of observables for any topologically conjugate system can be done using a pullback construction which is just composing any observable in the original space with the conjugacy map between the two dynamical systems.

In chapter VII, we switch gears. Whereas the previous three chapters dealt with the case of operators with non-unimodular spectrum, the current chapter deals with families of Koopman operators all having purely unimodular point spectrum. The system is evolved by applying an operator from the family for a certain period of time, then switching to another operator in the family which drives the systems for another (not necessarily equal) period of time. The contiguous period of time that an operator acts to drive the system is called a stationary component. We develop a spectral decomposition for this type of switch and hold dynamics and spectral projections for the Koopman operator acting on a stationary component are approximated by finite Fourier averages over the stationary component. We linearly approximate the dynamics the output space by building a basis from the Koopman modes computed from the finite time Fourier averages. Since we are trying to approximate the nonlinear dynamics in the state space by linear dynamics in the output space of the observables, there will be some "spectral leakage" from other modes and the continuous part of the spectrum into the Koopman modes forming the basis. We are able to characterize this contribution to each Koopman mode in the basis by first computing the skew projection onto a Koopman mode in the basis and then subtracting acting the analytic prediction of the dynamics that come from the standard Koopman mode analysis.

This residual time series is the contribution of the other modes and the continuous part of the spectrum to that particular Koopman basis mode. This framework is applied to traffic matrices of the Abilene network. We show that the residual time series for each Koopman mode and stationary component have Gaussian or nearly Gaussian distribution. Therefore, the traffic matrices can be simply approximated by a system consisting of deterministic oscillatory components (corresponding to the point spectrum) superimposed with Gaussian or nearly-Gaussian noise.

Part II of this dissertation represents a divergence from the first part as it does not explicitly deal with the Koopman operator. The work in this part of the dissertation deals with searching for (physical) targets when we possess very little information about them other than they are located in some (large) region. Specifically, we look at using exponentially mixing transformations to design search dynamics to look for targets that can be located with uniform probability in the search domain and whose size is a nearly-uniform random variable in some interval $[\delta, V)$. We are interested in the search performance when using these mixing transformations. This problem is formulated abstractly as a problem in the field of quantitative recurrence, a recently new sub-field of ergodic theory concerned with the distribution of recurrence and hitting times for various type of sets in the state space and various classes of dynamical systems. In the course our work, we introduce the concepts of multivalued maps and \mathfrak{B} -regularity, the later guaranteeing the existence of time averages of continuous functions, and develop concepts of ergodicity and mixing for multivalued \mathfrak{B} -regular maps. We prove constructive upper bounds for the hitting times for uniformly and non-uniformly exponentially mixing maps for targets of a fixed size. Expected search times for targets taking sizes in $[\delta, V)$ are easily computed from the hitting time results and have order $\mathcal{O}(\delta^{-1})$. Limit laws for the uniformly exponentially mixing maps are proven for δ going to zero. First order continuous time search dynamics are generated from the discrete time maps and it is shown that the hitting time results hold with the same upper bound scaled by some constant the depends on the physical search domain.

Part I

Spectral Properties of the

Koopman Operator in the Analysis

of Nonstationary Dynamical

Systems
Chapter II

Mathematical Prerequisites

This short chapter can be skimmed on a first reading and referred back to as needed. The first two subsections collect some standard definitions and concepts from dynamical systems and functional analysis that will be needed. Most of this material of this section can be found in standard references such as [BN00; DS58; KH97; Lax02; RS72; Yos78], and [Wig03].

Concepts are broken out into their own headings for ease of reference.

II.1 Dynamical systems, flow maps, and observables

Let \mathcal{M} be a metric space. We will call \mathcal{M} the state space. A discrete time dynamical system on \mathcal{M} is given by a family of maps $\Phi_n : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$, where $n \in \mathbb{T}$ and \mathbb{T} is either \mathbb{Z} or \mathbb{N}_0 , where $\mathbb{N}_0 = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$. We assume the family of maps have the properties

$$\Phi_n \circ \Phi_m = \Phi_{n+m} \quad (\forall m, n \in \mathbb{T}),$$

$$\Phi_0 = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{M}},$$
 (II.1.1)

where $\mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{M}}$ is the identity map on \mathcal{M} . The relations in (II.1.1) defines a *semigroup* property of the family. The map $\Phi : \mathbb{T} \times \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ defined by $\Phi(n, x) = \Phi_n(x)$ is called the *flow map*. Often, the flow map is induced by a single map $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$. Then, $\Phi_n := T^n = \underbrace{T \circ \cdots \circ T}_{n \text{ times}}$. The dynamical system will be written (\mathcal{M}, Φ) .

A continuous time dynamical system is given by the family of maps $\Phi_t : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$, where the family is now parameterized by $t \in \mathbb{T} \subset \mathbb{R}$. Usually, \mathbb{T} will either be all of \mathbb{R} or the positive semiaxis $\mathbb{R}^+ = [0, \infty)$. When the continuous time dynamical system is induced by a system of ordinary differential equations (ODE's), the flow map $\{\Phi_t\}_{t\in\mathbb{T}}$ codifies solutions of the initial value problems (IVP's) for the ODE's; i.e., $\Phi_t(x)$ is the solution of the IVP

$$\frac{du}{dt} = \dot{u} = F(u)$$
(II.1.2)
$$u(0) = x,$$

at time $t \in \mathbb{T}$ and where $u \in \mathcal{M}$ and $F : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ is the system of ODE's.

Let \mathscr{F} be a vector space of functions $f : \mathcal{M} \to \mathbb{C}$. The space \mathscr{F} is called the *space of observables* whereas an element f of \mathscr{F} is called an *observable*. The space \mathscr{F} is a space of vector-valued observables if its elements are maps from \mathcal{M} into a Banach space \mathscr{B} . Usually, we consider the space of vector-valued observables $\mathscr{F}^m = \underbrace{\mathscr{F} \times \cdots \times \mathscr{F}}_{m \text{ times}}$, so that $\mathscr{B} = \mathbb{C}^m$. If \mathscr{F} is closed under pointwise products defined by the bilinear map $* : \mathscr{F} \times \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}$ given by $(f * g)(x) = f(x) \cdot g(x)^1$, then $(\mathscr{F}, +, *)$ is an associative, abelian ring. The product f * g will usually be written fg. If the constant functions are in \mathscr{F} , then it is an associative, abelian ring with a unit.

Example II.1.1. Let \mathscr{F} be the space of observables consisting of \mathbb{R} -valued functions on the real line integrable with respect to the Lebesgue measure. Then \mathscr{F} has no unit since the constant functions are not integrable.

II.2 Basic concepts from linear functional analysis

Let \mathscr{X} and \mathscr{Y} be (real or complex) vector spaces.

Definition II.2.1 (Linear operator, Space of linear operators). A map $U : \mathscr{X} \to \mathscr{Y}$ is a linear if for all vectors $x, y \in \mathscr{X}$ and scalars $\alpha, \beta, U(\alpha x + \beta y) = \alpha U(x) + \beta U(y)$. The set of all linear maps from \mathscr{X} to \mathscr{Y} is denoted by $L(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y})$. When $\mathscr{Y} = \mathscr{X}$, the we write $L(\mathscr{X})$ instead.

Definition II.2.2 (Linear functional). If \mathscr{Y} in the above definition is the scalar field over which \mathscr{X} is defined, then U is called a linear functional. The space of linear functionals on \mathscr{X} is denoted by \mathscr{X}' . Some times it is called the algebraic dual.

¹The product on the right hand side is normal multiplication in \mathbb{C} .

Definition II.2.3 (Adjoint). Let $U : \mathscr{X} \to \mathscr{Y}$ be linear and let \mathscr{X}' be the algebraic dual of \mathscr{X} . The adjoint of U is the linear map $U' : \mathscr{Y}' \to \mathscr{X}'$ is defined for all $f \in \mathscr{Y}'$ and $x \in \mathscr{X}$ by (U'f)(x) = f(Ux).

II.2.1 Topologies.

Various topologies, on both $\mathscr X$ and the space of linear operators from $\mathscr X$ to $\mathscr X$ will be useful.

Definition II.2.4 (Normed space, Banach space). Let $\mathscr X$ be a vector space. A map

 $\|\cdot\|:\mathscr{X}\to\mathbb{R}$ is called a norm if it has the following properties:

- (i) for all $x \in \mathscr{X}$, $||x|| \ge 0$ and ||x|| = 0 if and only if x = 0,
- (ii) for all scalars α and $x \in \mathscr{X}$, $\|\alpha x\| = |\alpha| \|x\|$,
- (iii) for all $x, y \in \mathscr{X}$, $||x + y|| \le ||x|| + ||y||$.

We call $(\mathscr{X}, \|\cdot\|)$ a normed space. If the normed space is complete, it is called a Banach space.

Definition II.2.5 (Normed topology). Fix $x \in \mathscr{X}$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Let $V(x, \varepsilon) = \{y \in \mathscr{X} \mid ||x - y|| < \varepsilon\}$. All sets of this form define a basis for a topology on \mathscr{X} . This topology is called the norm topology on \mathscr{X} .

Definition II.2.6 (Seminorms). Let \mathscr{X} be a vector space. A function $p : \mathscr{X} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a called a *seminorm* if it has the following properties:

- (i) $p(x) \ge 0$, (nonnegative)
- (ii) $p(\beta x) = |\beta| p(x), \quad \forall \beta \in \mathbb{C}$, (homogeneity)

(iii) $p(x+y) \le p(x) + p(y)$, (triangle inequality).

The only difference between norms and seminorms is that the seminorm conditions do not imply that x = 0 if p(x) = 0.

Definition II.2.7 (Separating family). Let \mathscr{A} be an index set and

 $P = \{p_{\alpha} : \mathscr{X} \to \mathbb{R} \mid \alpha \in \mathscr{A}\}$ a family of seminorms. The family is said to separate points if for all $x \neq 0$, there is a $\gamma(x) \in \mathscr{A}$ such that $p_{\gamma(x)}(x) \neq 0$.

Equivalently, if P is a separating family of seminorms, then $p_{\alpha}(x) = 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{A}$ implies x = 0.

Definition II.2.8 (Locally convex topology). Assume $P = \{p_{\alpha} : \mathscr{X} \to \mathbb{R}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ is a separating family of seminorms. Let $I \subset A$ be a finite subset and $\varepsilon > 0$ an arbitrary number. For $x \in \mathscr{X}$, define

$$V(x; I, \varepsilon) := \{ y \mid y \in \mathscr{X}, p_{\alpha_i}(y - x) < \varepsilon, i \in I \}.$$
(II.2.1)

All sets of the form (II.2.1) form a neighborhood base at x. Call a set *open* if it is formed from arbitrary unions of sets of the form (II.2.1). This defines a topology on \mathscr{X} called the locally convex topology. A vector space \mathscr{X} equipped with this topology is called a locally convex linear topological (LCLT) space.

The locally convex topology and the norm topology will sometimes be called the strong topology.

II.2.2 Continuity and operator norms.

Definition II.2.9 (Operator norm, bounded operator). Let \mathscr{X} and \mathscr{Y} be two normed spaces and let $U \in L(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y})$. Then we define a norm for U by

$$||U|| = \sup_{x \neq 0} \frac{||Ux||}{||x||} = \sup_{||x||=1} ||Ux||.$$
(II.2.2)

The norm in the numerator of the fraction is the norm on \mathscr{Y} and the norm in the denominator is the one on \mathscr{X} . An operator $U \in L(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y})$ is called bounded if $||U|| < \infty$.

Definition II.2.10 (Continuous operators and continuous dual in LCLT spaces). Let \mathscr{X} and \mathscr{Y} be locally convex linear topological spaces and $U : \mathscr{X} \to \mathscr{Y}$ a linear operator. Then U is continuous if for every set $B \subset \mathscr{Y}$ that is open in the topology of $\mathscr{Y}, U^{-1}(B)$ is an open set in the topology of \mathscr{X} . The subspace of $L(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y})$ consisting of all continuous linear operators is denoted by $\mathscr{L}(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y})$. If \mathscr{Y} is the scalar field for \mathscr{X} , then $\mathscr{L}(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y})$ is the space of all continuous linear functionals. This space is denoted by \mathscr{X}^* and is called the continuous dual of \mathscr{X} .

It is an elementary result that a linear operator between two normed spaces is bounded if and only if it is continuous with respect to the norm topologies.

It is easy to see that $x \in \mathscr{X}$ defines a linear functional on \mathscr{X}^* . Let ℓ_x be the map from \mathscr{X}^* to the scalar field defined by $\ell_x(f) = f(x)$. The linearity and continuity of this map follows from the continuity of $f \in \mathscr{X}^*$. The map taking $x \mapsto \ell_x$ embeds \mathscr{X} into \mathscr{X}^{**} . **Definition II.2.11.** \mathscr{X} is reflexive if \mathscr{X} is isometrically isomorphic to \mathscr{X}^{**} under the embedding map.

Definition II.2.12 (Weak topology on \mathscr{X}). Let $x \in \mathscr{X}$, $\{f_i\}_{i \in I}$ an arbitrary finite subset of \mathscr{X}^* , and $\varepsilon > 0$. Define the set

$$V(x, I, \varepsilon) = \{ y \mid y \in \mathscr{X}, |f_i(y - x)| < \varepsilon \}.$$
 (II.2.3)

All sets of this form define a basis for the weak topology on \mathscr{X} . This is the weakest topology such that all $f \in \mathscr{X}^*$ are continuous.

The weak topology on \mathscr{X} is a locally convex topology defined by taking the family of seminorms to be $p_f(x) = |f(x)|$ where $f \in \mathscr{X}^*$. It is weaker than the strong topology, hence the name.

Definition II.2.13 (Strong convergence). Let \mathscr{X} be a LCLT space. A sequence $\{x_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\subset\mathscr{X}$ converges to $x\in\mathscr{X}$ in the locally convex topology if for every neighborhood $V(x; I, \varepsilon)$ of x, there is an $N_{I,\varepsilon}\in\mathbb{N}$ such that $x_n\in V(\psi; I, \varepsilon)$ for all $n\geq N_{I,\varepsilon}$. This is equivalent to the conditions $p_{\alpha}(\psi_n-\psi)\to 0$ as $n\to\infty$ for all $\alpha\in A$.

Definition II.2.14 (Weak convergence). Let \mathscr{X} be a LCLT space. A sequence $\{x_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\subset\mathscr{X}$ is said to converge weakly if for every $f\in\mathscr{X}^*$, the sequence $\{f(x_n)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is convergent. It is said to converge weakly to $x\in\mathscr{X}$, if for all $f\in\mathscr{X}^*$, $\lim_{n\to\infty}|f(x_n-x)|=0.$

Definition II.2.15 (Weak sequential compactness). A space LCLT space \mathscr{X} is said to be weakly sequentially compact if every sequence in \mathscr{X} has a subsequence weakly convergent to an element of \mathscr{X} . The space is said to be locally weakly sequentially compact if every point of \mathscr{X} has a weakly sequentially compact neighborhood.

If \mathscr{X} is a separable and reflexive Banach space, it follows from the sequential version of the Banach-Alaoglu theorem that it is also locally sequentially weakly compact.

Definition II.2.16 (Strongly continuous semigroup). Let \mathscr{X} be a Banach space. For each $t \geq 0$, let $U(t) : \mathscr{X} \to \mathscr{X}$ be a bounded linear operator. Furthermore, assume this family of operators satisfies

- (i) U(t+s) = U(t)U(s), for all $t, s \ge 0$ and
- (ii) U(0) = I, where I is the identity operator on \mathscr{X} .

Such a family is called a semigroup of operators. If, in addition, it is true that for all $x \in \mathscr{X}$, that $\lim_{t\to 0} ||U(t)x - x|| = 0$, then the family is said to be strongly continuous at 0.

Definition II.2.17 (Equicontinuous family). Consider the family of operators formed by taking powers of $U \in \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y})$; $\mathscr{T} := \{U^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$. The family is called *equicontinuous* if for every continuous seminorm p, there is a continuous seminorm p' such that for all $\psi \in \mathscr{F}$

$$\sup_{n \ge 1} p(U^n \psi) \le p'(\psi).$$

Example II.2.18. Examples of equicontinuous families.

(i) The topology of \mathscr{F} is given by a norm $\|\cdot\|$ and $U: \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}$ has $\|U\| \leq 1$.

(ii) Let $\mathscr{F} = \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{N}})$. Define $Ue_j = \alpha_j e_{j+1}$, where $\{\alpha_j\}_1^{\infty}$ is a real sequence converging to 0. Then $||U^n||_{\infty} \leq \sup_{F \subset \mathbb{N}, F \text{ finite } j \in F} |\alpha_j| < \infty$, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Note that if $\sup |\alpha_j| > 1$, then $||U||_{\infty} > 1$.

Example II.2.19. Let $\{\ell_{\alpha} : \mathscr{X} \to \mathbb{C}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ be a set of linear functionals on the normed space \mathscr{X} that separates points. Define a family of seminorms by

$$p_{\alpha}(f) := \left| \ell_{\alpha}(f) \right|.$$

The locally convex topology induced by the seminorms is exactly the weak topology of \mathscr{X} induced by the linear functionals.

Example II.2.20. Let \mathscr{F} be the set of real analytic functions on the real line and let \mathscr{K} be the collection of compact sets of the real line that contain an open interval. Define a family of seminorms by

$$p_K(\psi) = \sup_{x \in K} |\psi(x)|, \quad (K \in \mathscr{K}).$$
(II.2.4)

This gives an uncountable collection of seminorms. However, the topology generated by this family of equivalent to the topology generated by $\{p_{K_i}\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ where $\{K_i\}$ is an increasing family compact intervals such that $\mathbb{R} = \bigcup_{i\in\mathbb{N}}K_i$.

Example II.2.21 (Continuation of example II.2.20). Let $\{\psi_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ be a sequence in \mathscr{F} converging to $\psi \in \mathscr{F}$. This means that for every set $V(0; I, \varepsilon)$ of the form (II.2.1),

there is an $N_{I,\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\psi_n - \psi \in V(0; I, \varepsilon)$ for $n \ge N_{I,\varepsilon}$. This implies that for every compact set $K \in \mathscr{K}$ and every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is an $N_{K,\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$p_K(\psi_n - \psi) = \sup_{x \in K} |\psi_n(x) - \psi(x)| < \varepsilon,$$

for all $n \ge N_{K,\varepsilon}$. Therefore, a sequence convergent in the locally convex topology converges uniformly on compact sets. The family of seminorms given by (II.2.4) specifies the topology of compact convergence.

II.2.3 Operator topologies

The norm defined by (II.2.2) can be used to define a topology on the space of linear operators.

Definition II.2.22 (Uniform operator topology). Sets of the form

$$V(U,\varepsilon) = \{A \in \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Y}) \mid ||A - U|| < \varepsilon\} \qquad (\varepsilon > 0, U \in \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Y})), \quad (\text{II.2.5})$$

form a basis for the uniform operator topology, where the norm is given by (II.2.2).

Definition II.2.23 (Strong operator topology). Let \mathscr{X} be a LCLT space. For each $x \in \mathscr{X}$ define $p_x : \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y}) \to \mathscr{Y}$ by

$$p_x(U) = Ux. (II.2.6)$$

The strong operator topology is the weakest topology on $\mathscr{L}(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y})$ such that all maps of the form (II.2.6) are continuous. A neighborhood base at $U \in \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y})$ is given by sets of the form

$$V(U,\varepsilon) = \{A \mid A \in \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Y}), \forall i \in I, \|p_{x_i}(U-A)\| < \varepsilon\}$$
(II.2.7)

where $\varepsilon > 0$, and $\{x_i\}_{i=1}^n$ is an arbitrary finite collection of elements of \mathscr{X} .

The weak operator topology can also be defined, but we will not have occasion to use it.

II.2.4 Closed linear operators

Definition II.2.24 (Graph of an operator). Let \mathscr{X} be a Banach space and $\mathscr{D} \subset \mathscr{X}$ be a dense subspace of \mathscr{X} . Let $U : \mathscr{D} \to \mathscr{X}$ be a linear operator. The set of ordered pairs

$$\Gamma_U := \{ (f, Uf) \mid f \in \mathscr{D} \}$$
(II.2.8)

is called the graph of U.

The graph is a subset of $\mathscr{X} \times \mathscr{X}$. The cartesian product $\mathscr{X} \times \mathscr{X}$ can naturally be viewed as a vector space. With this viewpoint, it is the external direct sum of the two copies of \mathscr{X} and will be denoted by $\mathscr{X} \oplus \mathscr{X}$. Since U is linear, then Γ_U is a linear subspace of $\mathscr{X} \oplus \mathscr{X}$. A norm on $\mathscr{X} \oplus \mathscr{X}$ can be given by ||(x,y)|| = ||x|| + ||y||.

Definition II.2.25 (Closed operator). The operator U is *closed* if Γ_U is a closed subspace of $\mathscr{X} \oplus \mathscr{X}$. Equivalently, U is closed if for every sequence $\{x_n\} \subset \mathscr{D}$ of points satisfying

(i)
$$x_n \to x \in \mathscr{X}$$
 and

(ii) $Ux_n \to y \in \mathscr{X}$,

the following two conditions are are true:

(i)
$$x \in \mathscr{D}$$
 and

(ii)
$$y = Ux$$
.

II.2.5 The Koopman operator.

Definition II.2.26 (Observables). Let $F = \{f : \mathcal{M} \to \mathbb{C}\}$ be a vector space of functions on \mathcal{M} . The set \mathscr{F} is called the space of observables on \mathcal{M} , while $f \in \mathscr{F}$ is called an observable on \mathcal{M} .

Definition II.2.27 (Discrete time Koopman operator). Let $\Phi : \mathbb{N}_0 \times \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ be a flow map and \mathscr{F} a space of observables on \mathcal{M} with the property that for all $f \in \mathscr{F}, f \circ \Phi(n, \cdot) \in \mathscr{F}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$. For each $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$, define $U_n : \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}$ by $(U_n f)(x) = f \circ \Phi(n, x)$. This family is called the (discrete time) Koopman semigroup. When Φ is generated by composing a fixed $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$. The we call $U_T f = f \circ T$ the Koopman operator. In this case, T is called the symbol of the Koopman operator.

Definition II.2.28 (Continuous time Koopman operator). Let $\Phi : [0, \infty) \times \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$, be a (continuous time) flow map and \mathscr{F} a space of observables on \mathcal{M} with the property that for all $f \in \mathscr{F}$, $f \circ \Phi(t, \cdot) \in \mathscr{F}$ for all $t \ge 0$. For each $t \in \mathbb{N}_0$, define $U_t : \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}$ by $(U_t f)(x) = f \circ \Phi(t, x)$. This family is called the (continuous time) Koopman semigroup.

II.3 Resolvent and spectrum.

Let \mathscr{X} be a LCLT space and $\mathscr{D} \subset \mathscr{X}$ a dense subspace. Fix a linear operator $U: \mathscr{D} \to \mathscr{X}$.

Definition II.3.1 (Resolvent operator). Let $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. The linear operator $R(U;\lambda)$: Im $[\lambda I - U] \rightarrow \mathscr{D}$ defined by $R(U;\lambda) = (\lambda I - U)^{-1}$ is called the resolvent (at λ) when it exists.

This resolvent operator may not exist for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. The domain of the resolvent $R(U; \lambda)$ is always taken to be $\text{Im}(\lambda I - U)$.

Definition II.3.2 (Resolvent set). Let $\rho(U) \subset \mathbb{C}$ be the set of complex numbers λ such that $\text{Im}[\lambda I - U]$ is dense in \mathscr{X} and $R(U; \lambda)$ exists and is continuous is called the resolvent set.

Definition II.3.3 (Spectrum). The complement of $\rho(U)$, denoted by $\sigma(U)$, is the spectrum of U.

The spectrum decomposes into three sets depending on how the definition of the resolvent set fails.

Definition II.3.4 (Point spectrum). The point spectrum, denoted $\sigma_p(U)$, is the set of $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ for which the resolvent does not exist on $\text{Im}[\lambda I - U]$.

For λ to be in the point spectrum, there must be a $0 \neq x \in \mathscr{D}$ such that $Ux = \lambda x$. Hence the point spectrum just contains the eigenvalues of U. **Definition II.3.5** (Continuous spectrum). The continuous spectrum, denoted $\sigma_c(U)$, is the set of $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ for which the resolvent $R(U; \lambda)$ exists, $\text{Im}[\lambda I - U]$ is dense in \mathscr{X} , but the $R(U; \lambda)$ is discontinuous.

Definition II.3.6 (Residual spectrum). The residual spectrum, denoted $\sigma_r(U)$, is the set of $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ for which the resolvent $R(U; \lambda)$ exists, but $\text{Im}[\lambda I - U]$ is not dense in \mathscr{X} .

Definition II.3.7 (Koopman eigenvalue). Let U_t be either a discrete or continuous time Koopman semigroup. A number $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ is called an eigenvalue of the semigroup if there is a nonzero $f \in \mathscr{F}$ such that $U_t f = \lambda^t f$ for all times t.

Definition II.3.8 (unimodular spectrum). Let $U_t : \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}$ be a Koopman semigroup. Let $\lambda \in \sigma(U)$. The λ is said to be part of the unimodular spectrum if $|\lambda| = 1$. If λ is in the unimodular point spectrum, the associated eigenfunction is called an unimodular eigenfunction.

Sometimes the unimodular spectrum is called the unitary spectrum; this, however, does not imply that the associated operator is unitary. Therefore, the unimodular terminology leads to less confusion and we endeavor to stick to this terminology in this dissertation.

II.3.1 Koopman mode decomposition

In the analysis of dynamical systems, it is often the case that we only need to know the behavior from a single (or small set of) initial conditions. In this case, it is often advantageous to consider vector-valued observables $\mathbf{f} \in \mathscr{F}^m$. Such cases include fluid dynamics or heat flow simulations where the system is simulated from some fixed initial and boundary conditions. If the initial condition is on (or very close) to an attractor, then decomposition of the vector-valued observable into unimodular eigenfunctions can be accomplished by taking the Fourier averages like in the previous subsection. Since we are simulating from a single initial condition, the pointwise ergodic theorems put the analysis on a solid theoretical footing. For a vector-valued observable $\mathbf{f} = [f_1, \ldots, f_m]^{\mathsf{T}}, f_i \in \mathscr{F}$, formed entirely from unimodular eigenfunctions, we get the so-called Koopman mode decomposition

$$U^{n}\boldsymbol{f}(x) = \sum_{j} e^{i\omega_{j}n} \begin{bmatrix} c_{1,j}(\boldsymbol{f}) \\ \vdots \\ c_{m,j}(\boldsymbol{f}) \end{bmatrix} \varphi_{j}(x) = \sum_{j} e^{i\omega_{j}n} \boldsymbol{c}_{j}(\boldsymbol{f}) \varphi_{j}(x)$$
(II.3.1)

In this notation, $\varphi_j : \mathcal{M} \to \mathbb{C}$ is an eigenfunction of U at the unimodular eigenvalue $\lambda_j = e^{i\omega_j}$ and $c_{i,j}(\mathbf{f})$ is the coefficient of φ_j in the expansion of f_i . The complex m-vector $\mathbf{c}_j(\mathbf{f}) = [c_{1,j}(\mathbf{f}), \ldots, c_{m,j}(\mathbf{f})]^{\mathsf{T}}$ is called the *Koopman mode corresponding* to φ_j . Of course, to arrive at this representation, we have implicitly assumed that $N(e^{i\omega_j}I - U)$ is one-dimensional and, additionally, that none of the f_i 's have components that are either part of the continuous or residual spectrum or are nonspectral.

The space \mathbb{C}^m is called the *output space*. The $c_j(\cdot)$ above can be regarded as a mapping from the observable space \mathscr{F}^m into the output space \mathbb{C}^m . Analyzing the dynamics in the output space allows insight into the dynamics of the system. A

number of applied studies, mentioned earlier in this chapter, have made extensive use of the Koopman mode decomposition.

II.3.2 Ergodic theorems and the construction of unimodular eigenfunctions

We restrict our attention to the case when the dynamical system is generated by a fixed map $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$. One would like a procedure to construct eigenfunctions of an operator. Eigenfunctions corresponding to unimodular eigenvalues can be obtained via averaging processes. An *infinite time average* of an observable gives an eigenfunction at 1. Arguing formally for a moment, let $f \in \mathscr{F}$ be a bounded function and

$$\langle f \rangle := \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \sum_{0}^{n-1} U^n f.$$
(II.3.2)

Then

$$U^m \langle f \rangle := U^m \left[\lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \sum_{0}^{n-1} U^n f \right] = \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \sum_{0}^{n-1} U^{n+m} f = \langle f \rangle$$

for any fixed $m \ge 0$. To obtain an eigenfunctions at $\lambda = e^{i\omega}$ ($\omega \in \mathbb{R}$), we can compute the *Fourier average*

$$\langle f \rangle_{\omega} = \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \sum_{0}^{n-1} \lambda^{-n} U^n f = \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \sum_{0}^{n-1} e^{-i\omega n} U^n f.$$
 (II.3.3)

A similar computation as that for the regular time average shows that indeed $\langle f \rangle_{\omega}$ is an eigenfunction at $\lambda = e^{i\omega}$. Similar computations hold for continuous time dynamical systems by replacing the sum with the appropriate integrals. When exactly these formal averages exist rigorously in a function class and in what sense (almost everywhere, uniformly, in norm, in a locally convex topolology, etc.) and when they define projection operators form a set of results under the heading of ergodic theorems.

From a purely algebraic viewpoint, there is the ergodic theorem of Birkhoff guaranteeing almost everywhere convergence of infinite time averages and the strengthening of this theorem proved by Wiener and Wintner showing the almost everywhere convergence of Fourier averages with respect to any frequency. Both of these theorems are proved in the case of measure preserving dynamical systems² and observables integrable with respect to the preserved measure.

Theorem II.3.9 (Birkhoff's pointwise ergodic theorem [Pet83]). Let $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ be a measure preserving dynamical system of the finite measure space $(\mathcal{M}, \Sigma, \nu)$. Then for any $f \in L^1(\mathcal{M}, \nu)$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f(T^n(x)) = \mathbb{E} \left[f \mid \mathcal{C} \right],$$

exists for ν -almost every $x \in \mathcal{M}$, where $\mathcal{C} \subset \Sigma$ is the sub- σ -algebra of T-invariant sets and $\mathbb{E}[f | \mathcal{C}]$ is the conditional expectation with respect to \mathcal{C} . When T is ergodic³, then

$$\langle f \rangle := \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f(T^n(x)) = \int_{\mathcal{M}} f(x) d\nu(x).$$

²The quadruple $(\mathcal{M}, \Sigma(\mathcal{M}), \nu, T)$, where $\Sigma(\mathcal{M})$ is a σ -algebra of subsets of \mathcal{M} and ν is a finite measure on the σ -algebra, is a measure preserving dynamical system if $\nu(T^{-1}A) = \nu(A)$ for all $A \in \Sigma(\mathcal{M})$. Here $T^{-1}(A)$ is the pre-image of A.

³T is ergodic if all T-invariant sets have trivial measure; $\nu(C) = 0$ or $\nu(\mathcal{M})$.

Theorem II.3.10 (Wiener & Wintner's ergodic theorem [WW41]). Let $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ be an (essentially) one-to-one, measure preserving dynamical system of the finite measure space $(\mathcal{M}, \Sigma, \nu)$. Then for any $f \in L^1(\mathcal{M}, \nu)$

$$\langle f \rangle_{\omega}(x) := \lim_{n \to \infty} (2n+1)^{-1} \sum_{k=-n}^{n} e^{-ik\omega} f(T^k x)$$

exists for every $-\infty < \omega < \infty$ and ν -almost every $x \in \mathcal{M}$. The set of points x where the limit does not exist is independent of ω . The limit vanishes if $e^{i\omega}$ is not in the point spectrum.

An easy consequence of these theorems is that the limit functions are unimodular eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator. For measure preserving dynamical systems, the associated family of Koopman operators is an equicontinuous family with respect to the L^1 -norm. In particular, $||Uf||_{L^1} \leq ||f||_{L^1}$. The continuity of this family allows one to interchange limits. This allows one to show

$$U\left\langle f\right\rangle (x) = \left\langle f\right\rangle (x)$$

and

$$U\left\langle f\right\rangle _{\omega}(x)=e^{i\omega}\left\langle f\right\rangle _{\omega}(x),$$

respectively, where equality is almost everywhere. Additionally, since we are in a finite measure space, $L^2(\nu) \subset L^1(\nu)$, so, in particular, these theorems hold almost everywhere for the square integrable observables.

From the topological perspective, two basic ergodic theorems are given by von Neumann and Yosida, respectively, and are usually differentiated from the above pointwise ergodic theorems by calling them mean ergodic theorems. The mean ergodic theorem of von Neumann applies to any unitary operator on a Hilbert space and not just the Koopman operator. It implies that averages of the operator converge strongly⁴ to the orthogonal projection onto the eigenspace at 1.

Theorem II.3.11 (von Neumann's mean ergodic theorem [RS72]). Let \mathscr{H} be a Hilbert space and $U : \mathscr{H} \to \mathscr{H}$ a unitary operator. Let P be the orthogonal projection onto $\{\psi \in \mathscr{H} \mid U\psi = \psi\} =: N(I - U)$. Then for any $f \in \mathscr{H}$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} U^n f = P f.$$
(II.3.4)

Yosida's theorem is more general and deals with equicontinuous families of operators on locally convex spaces. The weakest form shows that if for some fixed element of the space the averages have a weakly convergent subsequence, then the averages converge strongly to the limit function and this limit point is invariant under the family.

Theorem II.3.12 (Yosida's mean ergodic theorem [Yos78]). Let \mathscr{F} be a locally convex linear topological space and $U : \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}$ a continuous linear operator. Assume that the family $\{U^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is equicontinuous. Define $A_n f := n^{-1} \sum_{k=1}^n U^k f$. Assume for a fixed $g \in \mathscr{F}$ that there is a subsequence of $\{A_n g\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ that is weakly convergent to $g_0 \in \mathscr{F}$. Then $A_n g \to g_0$ in the locally convex topology and $Ug_0 = g_0$.

⁴A sequence of operators $A_n: \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}$ is said to converge strongly to the operator $B: \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}$, in the Banach space, if $||A_n f - Bf|| \to 0$ for all $f \in \mathscr{F}$.

None of these theorems imply that the operator has a spectral decomposition⁵; they do not say anything about the structure of the full space. Rather, these theorems allow one to construct unimodular eigenfunctions from an arbitrary observable. If the observable we are considering is an infinite linear combination of unimodular eigenfunctions, then, in principle, that particular observable can be fully decomposed into its spectral elements and we know everything about its evolution. However, an arbitrary observable may not be an infinite linear combination of spectral elements.

 $^{^5\}mathrm{Although},$ this is implied for the von Neumann mean ergodic theorem since U is a unitary operator on a Hilbert space

Chapter III

Generalized Laplace Analysis (GLA) for Spectral Operators of Scalar-Type

Our main goal is to show that certain averages of an operator construct nonunimodular eigenfunctions. This chapter and the next look at the problem in the abstract by considering operators on both a separable Banach space and more generally a locally convex linear topological (LCLT) space. In this chapter, we deal exclusively with continuous operators on an LCLT space determined by a spectral measure. These are the operators that are spectral (in the sense of Dunford) of scalar type. The results of this chapter follow from applying Yosida's mean ergodic theorem (MET) in a setting where the spectrum is non-unimodular and using the machinery of spectral measures. Since Yosida's MET underpins the proofs of the GLA theorems, a section is devoted to its statement and discussion. In particular, some natural restrictions on the spectrum arise when one wants to use the MET in an iterative manner in the case of a non-unimodular spectrum. In the next section, we look at continuous spectral operators of scalar type on a LCLT space and prove some GLA theorems there. When reasonable, we will give definitions of objects for the Banach space case along side those of the locally convex case, since the Banach space setting is in general more familiar. For the spectral operators, a resolution of the identity and the functional calculus play a large role. Once the technical machinery is out of the way, the proofs of the GLA theorems are easy consequences.

III.1 Yosida's mean ergodic theorem

III.1.1 The ergodic theorem

Let \mathscr{F} be a complex vector space. Let Γ be an index set and $\{p_{\gamma} : \mathscr{F} \to \mathbb{R}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$ a separating family of seminorms. Recall, that together these mean that for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$, scalars α , and $f, g \in \mathscr{F}$ that (i) $p_{\gamma}(f) \geq 0$, (ii) $p_{\gamma}(\alpha f) = |\alpha| p_{\gamma}(f)$, (iii) $p_{\gamma}(f + g) \leq p_{\gamma}(f) + p_{\gamma}(g)$, and (iv) for every $f \neq 0$, there is a $p_{\gamma(f)} \in \Gamma$ such that $p_{\gamma(f)}(f) \neq 0$.

Define on \mathscr{F} the locally convex topology (LCT) generated by the seminorms. Neighborhood bases of the LCT have the form

$$V(f;\varepsilon) := \left\{ g \in \mathscr{F} \mid p_{\gamma_i}(g-f) < \varepsilon, \forall i \in I \right\},\$$

where $I \subset \Gamma$ is an arbitrary finite subset and ε is an arbitrary positive number. Note that a sequence $\{f_n\} \subset \mathscr{F}$ converges to $f \in \mathscr{F}$ if and only if for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$, $p_{\gamma}(f_n - f) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. This topology will be called the strong topology on \mathscr{F} and with this topology \mathscr{F} is a locally convex linear topological space (LCLTS).

Denote by $\mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F})$ the set of all linear operators on \mathscr{F} continuous with respect to the strong topology. The set \mathscr{F}^* , the topological dual to \mathscr{F} , is the space of all linear functionals continuous with respect to the locally convex topology. The weak topology on \mathscr{F} , denote by $\sigma(\mathscr{F}, \mathscr{F}^*)$ is generated by the family of seminorms $\{p_{\varphi} = |\varphi| \mid \varphi \in \mathscr{F}^*\}.$

Fix $U \in \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F})$. The resolvent $\rho(U) \subset \mathbb{C}$ of U is the set of $\xi \in \mathbb{C}$ such that Im $(\xi I - U)$ is dense in \mathscr{F} and $(\xi I - U)^{-1}$ exists and is continuous. The complement of this set is the spectrum, denoted $\sigma(U)$. The point spectrum $\sigma_p(U)$ is the set of $\lambda \in \sigma(U)$ for which $(\lambda I - U)$ does not have an inverse. When the operator U is understood, it will be dropped from the notation. We denote for $\Lambda \subset \sigma$

$$|\Lambda| := \{|\lambda| \mid \lambda \in \Lambda\}$$
(III.1.1)

and the spectral radius of Λ as

$$\left\|\Lambda\right\|_{\infty} := \sup_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \left|\lambda\right|. \tag{III.1.2}$$

Definition III.1.1 (Equicontinuous family of linear operators). Consider a fixed linear operator $U \in \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F})$. The family $\{U^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is called equicontinuous if for every continuous (with respect to the LCT) seminorm $p : \mathscr{F} \to \mathbb{R}$, there is a continuous seminorm $p':\mathscr{F}\to\mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\sup_{n \ge 1} p(U^n f) \le p'(f). \tag{III.1.3}$$

for every $f \in \mathscr{F}$.

Definition III.1.2 (Averaging operators). For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, define the averaging operator $A_n : \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F}) \to \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F})$ as

$$A_n(U) := n^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} U^k.$$
 (III.1.4)

One of the major tools of this paper is Yosida's extension of the mean ergodic theorem.

Theorem III.1.3 (Yosida's mean ergodic theorem, [Yos78]). Let $\{U^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ be an equicontinuous family of linear operators defined on a locally convex linear topological space \mathscr{F} . Fix $\psi \in \mathscr{F}$. If there exists as subsequence $\{n_i\} \subset \mathbb{N}$ and an $\psi_0 \in \mathscr{F}$ such that $\lim_{i\to\infty} \langle A_{n_i}(U)\psi - \psi_0, \varphi^* \rangle = 0$ for all $\varphi^* \in \mathscr{F}^*$, then $U\psi_0 = \psi_0$ and $\lim_{n\to\infty} A_n(U)\psi = \psi_0$ exists in the strong topology.

Futhermore, if \mathscr{F} is locally sequentially weakly compact, then $P := \lim_{n \to \infty} A_n(U)$, with the limit taken in the strong operator topology, defines a continuous projection operator onto N(I - U) commuting with U and giving the direct sum decomposition $\mathscr{F} = N(I - U) \oplus \overline{\operatorname{Im}(I - U)}.$

III.1.2 Remarks on Yosida's mean ergodic theorem

- (i) The theorem states that if the averages of an element have a weakly convergent subsequence, this implies that the full average converges strongly to the limit.
- (ii) The mean ergodic theorem applies, in particular, to when \mathscr{F} is a Banach space as this is just a specialized example of a LCLTS.
- (iii) Note that the first result does not define a projection operator on \mathscr{F} since some ψ may not have a weakly convergent subsequence of averages. To define the spectral projection and get a direct sum decomposition of the space, every $\psi \in \mathscr{F}$ must have some subsequence of $\{A_n(U)\psi\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ that is weakly convergent. This is guaranteed by \mathscr{F} being locally sequentially weakly compact. In particular, if \mathscr{F} is a separable reflexive Banach space, it is locally sequentially weakly compact. This follows directly from the sequential version of the Banach-Alaoglu theorem.
- (iv) If $|\lambda| = 1$ and $\{U^n\}$ is equicontinuous, then $\{\lambda^{-n}U^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is also equicontinuous. If the sequence $\{A_n(\lambda^{-1}U)\psi\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ has a weakly convergent subsequence, then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} A_n(\lambda^{-1}U)\psi = \psi_\lambda \in \mathscr{F}$$

exists, $\lambda^{-1}U\psi_{\lambda} = \psi_{\lambda}$, and hence ψ_{λ} is an element of the eigenspace at λ .

(v) Suppose \mathscr{F} is a Banach space and suppose $\{U^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ $(U\in\mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F}))$ is not equicontinuous in the norm (e.g. $1 < \|U\| < \infty$). We always have the spectral radius as a lower bound on the norm of U:

$$\|\sigma(U)\|_{\infty} := \sup_{\lambda \in \sigma(U)} |\lambda| \le \|U\|.$$

To get an element of an eigenspace using the above results, there must be some $\mu \in \sigma(U)$ such that $\{(\mu^{-1}U)^n\}$ is equicontinuous. This happens only if $|\mu| = ||U||$.

In particular, suppose $\sigma(U)$ has a sequence of eigenvalues $\{\lambda_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ such that $\{|\lambda_j|\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a strictly increasing sequence, $|\lambda_j| < \|U\|$, and $\lim_{j\to\infty} |\lambda_j| = \|U\|$. For λ_j , let $\varphi \in N(\lambda_{j+1}I - U)$ and $\|\varphi\| = 1$. Then

$$\left\| \left(\lambda_j^{-1} U \right)^n \right\| \ge \left\| \left(\lambda_j^{-1} U \right)^n \varphi \right\| = \left| \frac{\lambda_{j+1}}{\lambda_j} \right|^n$$

Therefore $\left\{ \left(\lambda_j^{-1} U \right)^n \right\}$ cannot be an equicontinuous family.

(vi) Suppose $||U|| \leq 1$ and \mathscr{F} is a locally sequentially weakly compact Banach space. Suppose $\lambda_{1,2}$ are in the point spectrum $\sigma_p(U)$ and satisfy $|\lambda_2| < |\lambda_1| = ||U||$. Also assume that U has a continuous portion of the spectrum, $\mu \in \sigma_c(U)$, and $|\lambda_2| < |\mu| < |\lambda_1| = ||U||$. The above results can be applied to any $f \in \mathscr{F}$ using $\lambda_1^{-1}U$ to get a projection onto $N(\lambda_1 - U)$.

We would also like to use the same procedure to get the projections onto $N(\lambda_2 I - U)$. Recall that we had the direct sum decomposition $\mathscr{F} = \overline{\mathrm{Im}(\lambda_1 I - U)} \oplus N(\lambda_1 I - U)$. Consider elements in $\overline{\mathrm{Im}(\lambda_1 I - U)}$ and restrict U to this subspace (which we will denote as U_2). We cannot use the averaging above to get the projection since the continuous part of the spectrum prevents $\{(\lambda_2^{-1}U_2)^n\}$ from

being equicontinuous. This is because the norm of U_2 satisfies $|\lambda_2| < |\mu| \le ||U_2||$. Therefore, if we want to apply the averaging procedure to compute the projections, U must either be restricted to subspaces spanned by eigenspaces or all elements of the point spectrum must have greater modulus than other parts of the spectrum. Additionally, if $|\sigma_p(U)| = \{|\lambda| \mid \lambda \in \sigma(U)\}$ is a discrete set, then we can guarantee that some eigenvalue's modulus attains the spectral radius. This condition means that the point spectrum is contained in separated circles in the complex plane.

Given these remarks, in order to apply the mean ergodic theorem in an iterative manner, some assumptions on the spectrum must be made. Loosely, the point spectrum must be larger than the non-point spectrum and additionally, whenever any set of eigenvalues is removed from the spectrum, there is an eigenvalue that achieves the supremum over the remaining set (if the remaining set contains an eigenvalue). To this end we define the following objects. The first definition is standard.

Definition III.1.4 (Peripheral spectrum). $\lambda \in \sigma(U)$ is in the peripheral spectrum of U if the modulus of λ is equal to the spectral radius; $|\lambda| = ||\sigma(U)||_{\infty}$. If $B \subset \mathbb{C}$, then the peripheral spectrum of $\sigma(U) \cap B$ is defined as $\{\lambda \in \sigma(U) \cap B \mid |\lambda| = ||\sigma(U) \cap B||_{\infty}\}$.

Definition III.1.5 (Dominating point spectrum). For r > 0, let \mathbb{D}_r be the open disc of radius r centered at 0 in the complex plane and let $\sigma(U; \mathbb{D}_r) := \mathbb{D}_r \cap \sigma(U)$. If there exists an R > 0 such that $\sigma(U) \setminus \mathbb{D}_R$ is not empty and for every r > R we have:

(i) if $\sigma(U; \mathbb{D}_r) \cap \sigma_p(U) \neq \emptyset$, then the peripheral spectrum of $\sigma(U; \mathbb{D}_r)$ is not empty,

and

(ii) the set $\sigma(U) \setminus \mathbb{D}_r$ consists only of eigenvalues,

then U is said to have dominating point spectrum.

We note that the second condition of this definition implies that the peripheral spectrum of $\sigma(U; \mathbb{D}_r)$ consists only of eigenvalues if it is not empty. Basic properties of a dominating point spectrum are given in the following lemma.

Lemma III.1.6. Assume $U \in \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F})$ has a dominating point spectrum. Then

- (i) every pair $\lambda \in \sigma_p$ and $\xi \in \sigma \setminus \sigma_p$ with $|\lambda| > R$ satisfies $|\xi| \le |\lambda|$,
- (ii) no sequence of eigenvalues $\{\lambda_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \sigma_p$ has both strictly increasing moduli and satisfies " $\lim_{n \to \infty} |\lambda_n|$ exists", and
- (iii) if $\Lambda \subset \sigma_p$ is any set of eigenvalues, then $\sigma \setminus \Lambda$ has dominating point spectrum.
- *Proof.* (i) Either $|\xi| \leq |\lambda|$ or $|\xi| > |\lambda| > R$. In the first case, this is what we are trying to prove, so assume the second case holds. Then $\xi \in \sigma \setminus \mathbb{D}_{|\lambda|}$ which contradicts that this set contains only eigenvalues. This contradiction gives the result.
- (ii) Consider the sequence $\{\lambda_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \sigma_p$ satisfying $|\lambda_n| < |\lambda_{n+1}|$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\lim_{n\to\infty} |\lambda_n| = r$. Then $\|\sigma(U; \mathbb{D}_r)\|_{\infty} = r$ and no eigenvalue having modulus equal to r is in $\sigma(U; \mathbb{D}_r)$ since \mathbb{D}_r is open. Therefore, the peripheral spectrum of $\sigma(U; \mathbb{D}_r)$ contains no eigenvalues. But, $\sigma(U; \mathbb{D}_r) \cap \sigma_p$ is not empty. This contradicts the first condition in definition III.1.5.

(iii) Assume that $\sigma_p \setminus \Lambda$ is not empty, since otherwise the conditions for a dominating point spectrum are trivially fulfilled. Fix $r \in \mathbb{R}^+$. If $(\sigma \setminus \Lambda) \cap \mathbb{D}_r$, contains no eigenvalues, then we need to do nothing. Suppose, then, that this set does contain an eigenvalue. Put $\alpha = \sup |\lambda|$, where the supremum is taken over all eigenvalues in $(\sigma \setminus \Lambda) \cap \mathbb{D}_r$, and let $\{\lambda_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be an increasing, maximizing sequence of eigenvalues in this set; i.e. (a) $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}, |\lambda_n| \le |\lambda_{n+1}|$ and (b) $\lim_{n \to \infty} |\lambda_n| = \alpha$. Since the sequence of moduli of eigenvalues has a limit, then by result (ii) of this lemma, this sequence cannot be strictly increasing; there must some point $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $|\lambda_n| = |\lambda_{n+1}|$. We claim that there is an $M \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $|\lambda_M| = |\lambda_{M+m}|$ for all $m \ge 1$. Assume to the contrary. Put $N_1 = 1$. Then there exists $m_1 \ge 1$ such that $|\lambda_{N_1}| < |\lambda_{N_1+m_1}|$. Put $N_2 = N_1 + m_1$. Suppose, we have chosen N_1, \ldots, N_j in this manner. Then there exists $m_j \ge 1$ such that $|\lambda_{N_j}| < |\lambda_{N_j+m_j}|$. Put $N_{j+1} = N_j + m_j$. By induction, we have constructed a subsequence $\{\lambda_{N_j}\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ that has strictly increasing modulus and $\lim_{j\to\infty} |\lambda_{N_j}| = \alpha$. This contradicts (ii). Therefore, some tail of $\{\lambda_n\}$ has constant modulus (namely α). Therefore, a peripheral eigenvalue exists. Finally, $(\sigma \setminus \Lambda) \setminus \mathbb{D}_r$ consists only of eigenvalues since $(\sigma \setminus \Lambda) \setminus \mathbb{D}_r \subset \sigma \setminus \mathbb{D}_r$ and $\sigma \setminus \mathbb{D}_r$ only contains eigenvalues.

In particular, assuming that U has a dominating point spectrum guarantees that situation in remark (vi) on the mean ergodic theorem does not occur. Result (ii) of lemma III.1.6 rules out the case in remark (v) on the mean ergodic theorem.

III.2 Spectral measures

The section develops the framework for scalar type spectral operators, where "spectral" is understood in the sense of Dunford [Dun54]. Resolutions of the identity and the associated functional calculus will underpin most of the analysis. We develop them now. This material is adapted from [Dun54], [Sch62], and [Wal65] and theorems will be stated without proof. We refer the reader to the references for a more detailed exposition.

III.2.1 Spectral measures in Banach spaces.

Let $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C})$ be the σ -algebra of Borel sets in the complex plane. Let $\mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F})$ be the set of bounded linear operators on the complex Banach space \mathscr{F} .

Definition III.2.1 (Spectral measure for Banach spaces). A spectral measure E: $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F})$ is a homomorphism from the Borel sets into the projection operators on \mathscr{F} and has the properties [Dun54]

$$E(A \cap B) = E(A)E(B), \quad E(A \cup B) = E(A) + E(B) - E(A \cap B),$$

$$E(A^c) = I - E(A), \qquad E(\emptyset) = 0, \quad E(\mathbb{C}) = I \qquad (\text{III.2.1})$$

$$\|E(A)\| \le K,$$

for all Borel sets $A, B.^1$

The final property says that the family of projections determined by the spectral measure is a uniformly bounded family of operators.

¹The union of two commuting projections $P_1 \cup P_2$ is understood to mean $P_1 + P_2 - P_1P_2$.

Definition III.2.2 (Spectral operator). An operator $U : \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}$ is a spectral operator if there is a spectral measure $E : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F})$ such that

$$UE(A) = E(A)U$$
 and $\sigma(U, E(A)\mathscr{F}) \subset \overline{A}$ (III.2.2)

for all $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C})$ and for every $\psi \in \mathscr{F}$ and $\psi^* \in \mathscr{F}^*$, $\langle E(A)\psi, \psi^* \rangle$ is a countably additive \mathbb{C} -valued set function on $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C})$. The notation $\sigma(U, E(A)\mathscr{F})$ means the spectrum of U when considered as an operator acting on $E(A)\mathscr{F}$. A spectral measure satisfying these properties is called a *resolution of the identity*. \Box

To a spectral operator, there is an equibounded family of projection operators commuting with the operator and if we consider the projection determined by a set in the complex plane, the spectrum of the operator when restricted to the subspace determined by the projection must be contained in the original set. These properties follow intuitively from the finite dimensional case; if you restrict an operator to an eigenspace, the spectrum of the restricted operator is just the eigenvalue of the corresponding to the eigenspace.

Example III.2.3. Let $A : \mathbb{C}^d \to \mathbb{C}^d$ be a normal matrix with simple spectrum $\{\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_d\}$ and the orthogonal projections $P_j : \mathbb{C}^d \to \mathbb{C}^d$ defined by $P_j \boldsymbol{x} = \langle \boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{v}_j \rangle$, where \boldsymbol{v}_j is the unit norm eigenvector associated λ_j . Let $D \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C})$ and define $E : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{C}^d)$ by

$$E(\cdot) := \sum_{j=1}^d \delta_{\lambda_j}(\cdot) P_j,$$

where $\delta_{\lambda_j}(\cdot)$ is the Dirac delta measure supported at λ_j . For a set $D \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C})$, this measure takes the operator value

$$E(D) := \sum_{\{j|\lambda_j \in D\}} P_j$$

This set function defines a spectral measure for A. The spectral measure commutes with A since each P_j does and the condition $\sigma(A, E(D)\mathbb{C}^d) \subset \overline{D}$ follows from

$$AE(D)\boldsymbol{v}_i = A\left(\sum_{\{j|\lambda_j\in D\}} P_j \boldsymbol{v}_i\right) = \begin{cases} \lambda_i \boldsymbol{v}_i & \lambda_i \in D\\ 0 & \lambda_i \notin D. \end{cases}$$

The countable additivity follows from the spectrum being finite and the countable additivity of the Dirac measures, which implies that only a finite number of sets from a countable disjoint collection can contain elements of the spectrum. Any set not containing an element of the spectrum gives, by definition, the zero operator. Since the operator is normal, the eigenvectors are orthogonal and $||E(D)|| \leq 1$ for all $D \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C})^2$.

An important result regarding resolutions of the identity is the following theorem from Dunford [Dun54]. It gives a continuous functional calculus for the resolution of the identity.

Theorem III.2.4 (Theorem 7, Dunford [Dun54]). Let *E* be a spectral measure whose support is a compact set σ . Then, for every scalar function *f* continuous on σ , the

²If A was merely diagonalizable and not normal, then the upper bound for the projections would be some constant greater than 1 since skew projections can be norm increasing.

Riemann integral $\int_{\sigma} f(z)E(dz)$ exists in the uniform operator topology, and

$$\left\| \int_{\sigma} f(z) E(dz) \right\| \le \sup_{z \in \sigma} |f(z)| \,\nu(E), \tag{III.2.3}$$

where $\nu(E)$ is a constant depending only on E. Additionally, for any two continuous functions f and g we have the multiplicative identity

$$\left[\int_{\sigma} f(z)E(dz)\right] \cdot \left[\int_{\sigma} g(z)E(dz)\right] = \int_{\sigma} f(z)g(z)E(dz).$$
(III.2.4)

We now have a representation of spectral operators.

Theorem III.2.5 (Canonical decomposition of spectral operators, [Dun54]). An operator U is spectral if and only if it is given by the sum U = S + J, where S is an operator of scalar-type, which by definition, has the form

$$S = \int z E_S(dz), \qquad (\text{III.2.5})$$

 E_S is the resolution of the identity for S, and J is a generalized nilpotent operator commuting with S that, by definition, satisfies $||J^n||^{1/n} \to 0$. This decomposition is unique, the spectrums of U and S are identical, and the resolutions of the identity for U and S are the same.

For $U : \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}$ a bounded spectral operator, $\sigma(U)$ is compact and all the preceding theorems apply. Finally, we have the analytic functional calculus. For an function f, analytic and single-valued on $\sigma(U)$,

$$f(U) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{J^j}{j!} \int_{z \in \sigma} f^{(j)}(z) E(dz)$$

exists in the uniform operator topology. An operator is said to be of type m if

$$f(U) = \sum_{j=0}^{m} \frac{J^j}{j!} \int_{z \in \sigma} f^{(j)}(z) E(dz)$$

for all f analytic on σ . Scalar operators are of type 0, so for such operators, these equations reduce to

$$f(U) = \int_{z \in \sigma} f(z) E(dz).$$
(III.2.6)

In fact, by theorem III.2.4, f can be a continuous function rather than just an analytic one if U is of scalar type.

III.2.2 Spectral measures in locally convex linear topological spaces

As this paper is concerned with general procedures in constructing eigenfunctions for spectral operators of scalar type on LCLT spaces, we need the concept of a spectral measure for these spaces. This machinery is contained in this section. This section follows [Wal65] and [Sch62] closely. The reader should consult those references for a more detailed treatment.

Let (\mathscr{F}, τ) be a locally convex linear topological space with topology τ , \mathscr{S} is a set, and Σ a σ -algebra of subsets of \mathscr{S} .

Definition III.2.6 (Spectral measure triple [Wal65]). A triple $(\mathscr{S}, \Sigma, \mu)$, where μ is a set function from Σ to $\mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F})$ which is countable additive in the weak operator topology, that satisfies

(i) $\mu(\mathscr{S}) = I \in \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F})$

(ii) for A_1 and A_2 in Σ , $\mu(A_1 \cap A_2) = \mu(A_1) \cdot \mu(A_2) \in \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F})$

is called a spectral measure triple.

The spectral measure is said to be equicontinuous if the values in $\mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F})$ that μ takes on Σ are equicontinuous. If $(\mathscr{S}, \Sigma, \mu)$ is an equicontinuous spectral measure triple and \mathscr{F} is sequentially complete in its topology, the integrals of \mathbb{C} -valued, bounded, Σ -measurable functions can be defined [Wal65]. The integral is multiplicative since for simple f and g, $\int fgd\mu = \int fd\mu \cdot \int gd\mu$ follows from condition (ii) in the definition of the spectral measure triple. Hence the map $f \mapsto U_f$ from (equivalence classes) of \mathbb{C} -valued, bounded, Σ -measurable functions to $\mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F})$ is a homomorphism. The integral gives a representation of the bounded \mathbb{C} -valued Σ -measurable functions as an algebra of linear operators on \mathscr{F} . This algebra of operators is called the *spectral algebra associated with* $(\mathscr{S}, \Sigma, \mu)$ and will be denoted by \mathscr{A} . Elements of this algebra are spectral operators and will be called spectral elements.

By a change of measure $E = \mu \circ f^{-1}$, we get the familiar representation of a scalartype spectral operator (in the sense of Dunford) as an integral against a spectral measure with domain in $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C})$;

$$U = \int_{\mathscr{S}} f(s)d\mu(s) = \int_{\mathbb{C}} zE(dz).$$
(III.2.7)

The measure E depends only on U and its support is the spectrum of U. The support of E is contained in a compact set since f is bounded by assumption.

In order to apply the mean ergodic theorem, we will need to guarantee that certain

families of spectral operators are equicontinuous. The most useful result in this regard is the following proposition, due to Walsh.

Proposition III.2.7 (Proposition 2.1, [Wal65]). Let \mathscr{F} be a locally convex space and $(\mathscr{S}, \Sigma, \mu)$ an equicontinuous spectral measure triple. Then the set

$$\left\{ \int_{\mathscr{S}} f d\mu \; \middle| \; f \; \Sigma\text{-measurable}, 0 \le |f| \le 1 \right\}$$
(III.2.8)

is an equicontinuous family.

Schaefer [Sch62] has given an operational calculus for spectral measures. If $\mathscr{A} \subset \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F})$ is a weakly semi-complete locally convex algebra, $U = \int f d\mu$ a spectral element and $g : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ a bounded complex Baire function, the integral $\int_{\mathscr{S}} (g \circ f) d\mu$ defines another spectral element

$$g(U) = \int_{\mathscr{S}} (g \circ f) d\mu = \int_{\mathbb{C}} g(z) E(dz) \in \mathscr{A}.$$
 (III.2.9)

This is the operational calculus for spectral elements in locally convex spaces. If g is continuous on the spectrum of U, we get the spectral mapping theorem $\sigma[g(U)] = g[\sigma(U)]$ [Sch62]. The spectral algebras we will be most concerned about are algebras of the form

$$\mathscr{A}(f) := \left\{ \int_{\mathscr{S}} (g \circ f) d\mu \ \middle| \ g : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C} \text{ is a polynomial} \right\}.$$

Each polynomial is bounded since $\operatorname{Im}(f) \subset \mathbb{C}$ is bounded.

The reader may wonder what is gained from defining the abstract spectral measure triple $(\mathscr{S}, \Sigma, \mu)$ in the case of locally convex linear topological spaces, rather than
the form $\int_{\sigma(U)} zE(dz)$ that is familiar from scalar-type spectral operators on Banach spaces. This abstract framework allows, for example, the treatment of products of commuting operators with random spectrum.

Example III.2.8. Let $\mathscr{S} = \{0, 1\}$. Let $\{f_1, f_2\}$ be a pair of functions from \mathscr{S} into \mathbb{C} . The spectral measure μ takes values as a projection operator on \mathscr{F} . Assume that both $P_0 = \mu(\{0\})$ and $P_1 = \mu(\{1\})$ are projections onto one-dimensional subspaces and $\mathscr{F} = \operatorname{Im}(P_0) \oplus \operatorname{Im}(P_1)$.

Let $f_1(0) = \lambda_0$ and $f_1(1) = \lambda_1$ and similarly for f_2 but with ω replacing λ . To this pair of functions is associated a pair of operators U_1 and U_2 acting on \mathscr{F} . Both of these operators have eigenspaces corresponding to $\operatorname{Im}(P_0)$ and $\operatorname{Im}(P_1)$. Consider a finite length sequence consisting of f_1 and f_2 with f_1 appearing m_1 times and f_2 appearing m_2 times. By the multiplicative property of the spectral integral and the commutative property of the functions

$$(U_{i_1}\cdots U_{i_{m_1+m_2}}) = \int_{\mathscr{S}} (f_{i_1}\cdots f_{i_{m_1+m_2}})(s)d\mu(s)$$
$$= \int_{\mathscr{S}} f_1^{m_1}(s) \cdot f_2^{m_2}(s)d\mu(s)$$
$$= \sum_{s=0}^1 (\lambda_s^{m_1}\omega_s^{m_2})P_s.$$

where $i_j \in \{1, 2\}$ for $j = 1, ..., m_1 + m_2$. The operator resulting from the product is a spectral operator with eigenvalues $\gamma_1 = \lambda_1^{m_1} \omega_1^{m_2}$ and $\gamma_2 = \lambda_2^{m_1} \omega_2^{m_2}$. It is straightforward to take a larger collection of functions so that we can get more possible composite eigenvalues. Projections onto different parts of the spectrum take the form of integrating against indicator functions.

Lemma III.2.9. Let Γ be a Baire subset of \mathbb{C} . Let $\chi_{\Gamma} : \sigma(U) \to \mathbb{C}$ be the indicator function for $\Gamma \cap \sigma(U)$. Then $P_{\Gamma} = \int_{\sigma(U)} \chi_{\Gamma}(z) E(dz) = \int_{\Gamma \cap \sigma(U)} E(dz)$ is a projection operator.

Proof. Since $\chi_{\Gamma} \circ f$ is an indicator function for $f^{-1}(\Gamma)$, by the multiplicative property of the integral

$$P_{\Gamma}^{2} = \left[\int_{\mathscr{S}} (\chi_{\Gamma} \circ f) d\mu \right] \cdot \left[\int_{\mathscr{S}} (\chi_{\Gamma} \circ f) d\mu \right] = \int_{\mathscr{S}} (\chi_{\Gamma} \circ f)^{2} d\mu = \int_{\mathscr{S}} (\chi_{\Gamma} \circ f) d\mu = P_{\Gamma}.$$

III.3 Generalized Laplace Analysis

Let $(\mathscr{S}, \Sigma, \mu)$ be a spectral measure triple, \mathscr{F} a separable, locally sequentially weakly compact, locally convex linear topological space. Fix a bounded \mathbb{C} -valued Σ -measurable function f and denote the associated spectral operator by U

$$U = \int_{\mathscr{S}} f(s)d\mu(s) = \int_{z\in\sigma} zE(dz) \in \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F}).$$
(III.3.1)

Since f is bounded, the spectrum of U is contained in a compact set in the complex plane.

Definition III.3.1. We say that U has a point spectrum concentrated on isolated circles if every point of the set

$$\left\{ r \in \mathbb{R} \mid \exists s \in \mathscr{S}, |f(s)| = r, (f(s)I - U)^{-1} \text{ does not exist} \right\}$$

is an isolated point.

By definition, f(s) in the above definition is an eigenvalue of U. Then |f(s)| is the modulus of the eigenvalue. The above definition states that the set consisting of the moduli of all the eigenvalues of the operator forms a discrete set. This definition does not exclude the situation when eigenvalues are dense on a circle. Such a situation arises naturally for dynamical systems possessing a limit cycle, as will be seen later.

III.3.1 GLA for dominating point spectrum

Lemma III.3.2. Assume the peripheral spectrum of U contains an eigenvalue $\lambda \in \sigma_p(U)$. Let $g_n : \sigma(U) \to \mathbb{C}$ be $g_n(z) = \lambda^{-n} z^n$. Then $\{g_n(U)\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} = \{\lambda^{-n} U^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is an equicontinuous family of operators.

Proof. Since f is bounded, then σ is contained in a compact set in \mathbb{C} . For each n, the support of g_n is a compact set, g_n is a continuous and, therefore, a bounded Baire function on σ . Since λ is a peripheral eigenvalue, then $|g_n(z)| \leq 1$ for all $z \in \sigma$ since by definition $|z| \leq |\lambda|$ for all $z \in \sigma$. If $f : \mathscr{S} \to \mathbb{C}$ is the function associated with U, then $|(g_n \circ f)(s)| \leq 1$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $s \in \mathscr{S}$. By proposition III.2.7, $\{g_n(U) = \int_{\mathscr{S}} (g_n \circ f) d\mu\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is an equicontinuous family. By the functional calculus, $g_n(U) = \lambda^{-n} U^n$. **Proposition III.3.3.** Assume the peripheral spectrum of U contains an eigenvalue $\lambda \in \sigma_p(U)$. Then

$$A_n(\lambda^{-1}U) := n^{-1} \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda^{-k} U^k$$
 (III.3.2)

converges to the projection operator $P_{\lambda} := E(\{\lambda\})$ onto $N(\lambda I - U)$ in the strong operator topology; that is, for every continuous seminorm p and every element $\psi \in \mathscr{F}$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} p(A_n(\lambda^{-1}U)\psi - P_\lambda \psi) = 0.$$

Furthermore, the projection P_{λ} commutes with U and we have the direct sum decomposition $\mathscr{F} = N(\lambda I - U) \oplus \overline{\mathrm{Im}(\lambda I - U)}.$

Proof. By lemma III.3.2, $\{(\lambda^{-1}U)^n\}$ is an equicontinuous family of operators on a locally sequentially weakly compact LCLT space since $(\lambda^{-1}U)^n = g_n(\lambda^{-1}U)$, where g_n is the function in the above lemma. By Yosida's mean ergodic theorem, the averages of this family converge to a projection operator onto the λ -eigenspace. Since projections take the form of indicator functions on subsets of $\sigma \subset \mathbb{C}$ (lemma III.2.9), then this projection takes the form $E(\{\lambda\})$.

Remark III.3.4. Proposition III.3.3 is true for any other eigenvalue in the peripheral spectrum, say $\lambda' \in \sigma_p$. For this λ' , the proposition can be applied to obtain the projection onto $N(\lambda'I - U)$. Additionally, $N(\lambda'I - U) \subset \overline{\text{Im}(\lambda I - U)}$. Since $\overline{\text{Im}(\lambda I - U)}$ is U-invariant and \mathscr{F} is locally sequentially weakly compact, then $(\lambda')^{-n}(U')^n$ is a equicontinuous family of operators on the locally sequentially weakly compact space $\overline{\text{Im}(\lambda I - U)}$, where U' is a the restriction of U to $\overline{\text{Im}(\lambda I - U)}$. By proposition III.3.3,

$$\overline{\mathrm{Im}(\lambda I - U)} = N(\lambda' I - U') \oplus \overline{\mathrm{Im}(\lambda I - U')}. \quad Since \ N(\lambda' I - U') = N(\lambda' I - U) \text{ and}$$
$$\mathrm{Im}(\lambda' I - U') = \mathrm{Im}((\lambda' I - U)(I - P_{\lambda})), \text{ then}$$

$$\mathscr{F} = N(\lambda I - U) \oplus N(\lambda' I - U) \oplus \overline{\mathrm{Im}((\lambda' I - U)(I - P_{\lambda}))}.$$

Corollary III.3.5. Let the peripheral spectrum of U consist of only (at most countably many) eigenvalues. Then

$$\mathscr{F} = \left[\bigoplus_{j\geq 1} N(\lambda_j I - U)\right] \oplus \mathscr{F}' \tag{III.3.3}$$

where $\{\lambda_j\}$ is some labeling of the peripheral spectrum and \mathscr{F}' is the subspace of \mathscr{F} corresponding to the part of the spectrum not in the peripheral spectrum. The subspace \mathscr{F}' has the form

$$\mathscr{F}' = \overline{\left(I - \sum_{j \ge 1} E(\{\lambda_j\})\right)}.$$
 (III.3.4)

The above results can be combined to give a recursive procedure for computing projections onto eigenspaces for any $\psi \in \mathscr{F}$. In order to do this, we must compute the projection onto eigenspaces corresponding to eigenvalues of largest modulus first, subtract these from ψ , then compute the projections for eigenvalues of the next largest modulus.

Theorem III.3.6 (Generalized Laplace Analysis). Let $\sigma(U)$ have dominating point spectrum and assume that the point spectrum is concentrated on isolated circles in the complex plane (def. III.3.1). Let λ be an eigenvalue for U. Denote $E(\{\lambda\})$ by P_{λ} . Then

$$P_{\lambda} = \lim_{n \to \infty} A_n \left(\lambda^{-1} U (I - \sum_{\mu \in \Omega} P_{\mu}) \right) = \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \lambda^{-n} U^n \left(I - \sum_{\mu \in \Omega} P_{\mu} \right) \quad (\text{III.3.5})$$

exists in the strong topology and where $\Omega := \{\mu \in \sigma_p(U) \mid |\mu| > |\lambda|\}$. Furthermore, if Ω is a finite set, then $P_{\lambda}\psi$ can be obtained via a finite recursion processes by computing $P_{\mu}\psi$ with (III.3.5) for each $\mu \in \Omega$ and subtracting it from ψ .

Proof. Fix $\lambda \in \sigma_p(U)$ and let $\Omega = \{\mu \in \sigma(U) \mid |\mu| > |\lambda|\}$. Since $\sigma(U)$ has dominating point spectrum, Ω consists only of eigenvalues. By property (iii) of lemma III.1.6, $\sigma(U) \setminus \Omega$ has dominating point spectrum. Since the point spectrum of U is concentrated on isolated circles, $h(z) = 1 - \chi_{\Omega}(z)$ is a bounded, continuous function on $\sigma(U)$ and $h(U) = \int_{\sigma(U)} h(z)E(dz) = I - E(\Omega)$. By the spectral mapping theorem with the continuous function $z \mapsto zh(z)$, $\sigma(U(I - E(\Omega))) = (\sigma(U) \setminus \Omega) \cup \{0\}$. Since $\sigma(U) \setminus \Omega$ has dominating point spectrum, so does $\sigma(U(I - E(\Omega)))$. Since $\lambda \in \sigma(U(I - E(\Omega)))$ and $\|U(I - E(\Omega))\|_{\infty} \leq |\lambda|$, then λ is a peripheral eigenvalue for $U(I - E(\Omega))$.

Let $g_n(z) = \lambda^{-n} z^n (1 - \chi_{\Omega}(z))$. Then g_n is a continuous function satisfying $|g_n(z)| \leq 1$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $z \in \sigma$ since it is 0 on Ω and λ is a peripheral eigenvalue in $\sigma(U) \setminus \Omega$. Therefore, g_n is a Baire function for every n. If $f : \mathscr{S} \to \mathbb{C}$ is the function associated with U, then $|(g_n \circ f)(s)| \leq 1$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $s \in \mathscr{S}$. Therefore, by proposition III.2.7, $\{g_n(U)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is an equicontinuous family. By the multiplicative property of the spectral integrals

$$\begin{split} \left[\lambda^{-1}U(I-E(\Omega))\right]^n &= \int_{\sigma} \lambda^{-n} z^n (1-\chi_{\Omega}(z))^n E(dz) \\ &= \left(\int_{\sigma} \lambda^{-n} z^n E(dz)\right) \cdot \left(\int_{\sigma} (1-\chi_{\Omega}(z)) E(dz)\right) \\ &= \lambda^{-n} U^n \left(I-E(\Omega)\right). \end{split}$$

Since the point spectrum is at most countable and Ω contains only eigenvalues, then Ω is a countable union of singleton sets of eigenvalues, $\Omega = \bigcup_{\mu \in \Omega} \{\mu\}$. Since the spectral measure is countably additive, then $E(\Omega) = \sum_{\mu \in \Omega} E(\{\mu\})$. Therefore, $\lambda^{-n}U^n (I - E(\Omega)) = \mu^{-n}U^n (I - \sum_{\mu \in \Omega} E(\{\mu\}))$.

By proposition III.3.3, the right side of (III.3.5) converge strongly to a $\lambda^{-1}U(I - \sum_{\mu \in \Omega} E(\{\mu\}))$ -invariant function, say $\psi_0 \in \mathscr{F}$. Then $U(I - \sum_{\mu \in \Omega} E(\{\mu\}))\psi_0 = \lambda\psi_0$. We claim that ψ_0 is in the nullspace of $E(\{\mu\})$ for every $\mu \in \Omega$. Suppose this was not the case and $\psi_0 \neq 0$. Then there is some $\mu' \in \Omega$ such that $E(\{\mu'\})\psi_0 = \varphi \neq 0$. But $E(\{\mu'\})$ is the projection onto $N(\mu'I - U)$. Therefore, we get $U(I - E(\{\mu'\}))\psi_0 = U\psi_0 - \mu'\psi_0 = \lambda\psi_0$. Then $U\psi_0 = (\mu' + \lambda)\psi_0$, which implies that $\psi_0 \in N((\mu' + \lambda)I - U)$. But since $\lambda \neq 0$, this implies that $\psi_0 \in N((\mu' + \lambda)I - U) \cap N(\mu'I - U)$. Consequently, $\psi_0 = 0$, contrary to assumption. Therefore, ψ_0 is in the nullspace of $\sum_{\mu \in \Omega} E(\{\mu\})$ and we get that $U\psi_0 = \lambda\psi_0$. Consequently, the averages converge strongly to the projection $E(\{\lambda\})$ onto $N(\lambda I - U)$.

III.3.2 GLA for minimal point spectrum

The above results gave a procedure for constructing eigenfunctions when the point spectrum dominated the rest of the spectrum. Unfortunately, this situation does not hold in a number of cases of interest. Consider a dynamical system with an attractor. In this setting, the spectrum on the unit circle corresponds to the attractor. Since the system is asymptotically stable, eigenvalues corresponding to eigenfunctions supported off-attractor are contained strictly inside the unit circle. In this system, the point spectrum may not dominate the spectrum since there may be parts of the continuous spectrum contained in the unit circle. If we wish to project onto the offattractor, stable eigenspaces, we need to modify the above GLA procedure which was valid in the presence of a dominating point spectrum. The general idea is to consider the inverse operator U^{-1} . If U has point spectrum inside the unit circle, then U^{-1} has point spectrum outside the unit circle via the spectral mapping theorem. The GLA theorems of the last section can then be applied to U^{-1} to obtain projections onto the stable directions of the attractor. Proposition III.3.8 formalizes this.

Definition III.3.7 (Minimal point spectrum). Let $U \in \mathscr{A}$. We say that $\sigma(U)$ has a minimal point spectrum if $\sigma^{-1}(U) := \{\lambda^{-1} \mid \lambda \in \sigma(U)\} \in \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$ has a dominating point spectrum.

Proposition III.3.8 (Inverse GLA). Let $U = \int_{\sigma} zE(dz) \in \mathscr{A}$ have a minimal point spectrum. Additionally, assume that the point spectrum is concentrated on isolated

circles and the spectrum satisfies $0 < C^{-1} \leq \inf_{\xi \in \sigma(U)} |\xi|$. Then for $\lambda \in \sigma_p(U)$,

$$E(\{\lambda\}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} A_n \left(\lambda U^{-1}(I - E(\Omega))\right)$$
(III.3.6)

where $\Omega = \{\xi \in \sigma(U) \mid |\xi| < |\lambda|\}.$

Proof. Since $0 < C^{-1} \leq \inf_{\xi \in \sigma(U)} |\xi|$, then $i(z) = z^{-1}$ is continuous and bounded on $\sigma(U)$. By the multiplicative property of the integral

$$U \cdot i(U) = \int_{\sigma(U)} z \cdot i(z) E(dz) = I = \int_{\sigma(U)} i(z) \cdot z E(dz) = i(U) \cdot U.$$

Therefore $i(U) = U^{-1}$. By the spectral mapping theorem $\sigma(U^{-1}) = \{\xi^{-1} \mid \xi \in \sigma(U)\}$. Therefore, U^{-1} has a bounded, dominating point spectrum that is concentrated on isolated circles. By the change of measure $E_1 := E \circ i^{-1}$, we have the representation of U^{-1} as the integral

$$U^{-1} = \int_{\sigma(U^{-1})} w E_1(dw).$$

Fix $\lambda \in \sigma_p(U)$ and let $\Omega' = \{\xi^{-1} \in \sigma(U^{-1}) \mid |\xi^{-1}| > |\lambda^{-1}|\}$. By proposition III.3.6,

$$E_1(\{\lambda^{-1}\}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} A_n\left((\lambda^{-1})^{-1} U^{-1} \left(I - \sum_{\xi^{-1} \in \Omega'} E_1(\{\xi^{-1}\}) \right) \right)$$

with convergence in the strong topology. Since $N(\lambda I - U) = N(\lambda^{-1}I - U^{-1})$, then $E(\{\lambda\}) = E_1(\{\lambda^{-1}\})$ for all $\lambda \in \sigma_p(U)$. Consequently,

$$E(\{\lambda\}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} A_n \left(\lambda U^{-1} \left(I - \sum_{\xi \in \Omega} E(\{\xi\}) \right) \right) = \lim_{n \to \infty} A_n \left(\lambda U^{-1} \left(I - E(\Omega) \right) \right)$$

where $\Omega = \{\xi \in \sigma(U) \mid |\xi| < |\lambda|\}.$

Remark III.3.9 (GLA for strongly continuous groups). The GLA theorems can be extended to hold for strongly continuous groups of spectral operators on locally sequentially weakly compact Banach spaces. In this setting, the Laplace averages of the group take the form

$$A_{\alpha}(\lambda^{-1}G(\cdot))f := \alpha^{-1} \int_0^{\alpha} \lambda^{-t}G(t)f.$$
 (III.3.7)

The extension of the GLA theorems in this case rest upon a version of Yosida's mean ergodic theorem for strongly continuous semigroups of operators $\{G(t)\}, t \in \mathbb{R}^+$, that roughly says that if $n^{-1}G(n)f$ converges to 0 and the averages of the semigroup do not behave too badly between integer times, then the limit of the continuous time averages $\alpha^{-1}\int_0^{\alpha} G(t)$ converges in the strong operator topology as $\alpha \to \infty$ to a projection operator on the subspace of elements that are fixed points of the semigroup (see ch. VIII.7, thm. 1 of [DS58], and its corollary). More precisely, if G(t) is a strongly continuous one-parameter semigroup that is assumed to be strongly integrable on every finite interval and it additionally satisfies

- (i) $\lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} G(n) f = 0$, for all $f \in \mathscr{F}$,
- (ii) $||A_{\alpha}(G(\cdot))|| \leq K$ for all $\alpha \geq 0$,
- (iii) for each f in a fundamental set in \mathscr{F} , the set $\{A_{\alpha}(G(\cdot)f)\}_{\alpha>0}$ is weakly sequentially compact,

then the averages $A_{\alpha}(G(\cdot))$ converge as $\alpha \to \infty$ in the strong operator topology.

A second result used in the extension is due to Lange and Nagy [LN94] on the representation of strongly continuous groups of scalar-type operators with spectrums contained in the unit circle as a spectral integral over a common spectral measure; i.e., the group of operators has a representation as $G(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{it\lambda} E(d\lambda)$. A sketch of the continuous time GLA proof is as follows.

If we assume that there is a set of isolated circles in the complex plane and that each G(t) in the group of operators is spectral with point spectrum restricted to these circles and furthermore that every operator from the group has a dominating point spectrum with the same R (see def. III.1.5), then we can scale the family by an eigenvalue $\lambda = \rho_1 e^{i\omega}$, where ρ_1 is the radius of the largest circle containing the spectrum, and construct a new family of spectral operators $G_1(t) := (\rho_1 e^{i\omega})^{-t} G(t)$. This new family will have part of the spectrum contained in the unit circle and the rest strictly This new group can be split into two groups, the unimodular part $U_1(t)$, inside. with spectrum contained in the unit circle, and the dissipative part $D_1(t)$, with spectrum contained strictly inside and bounded away from the unit circle uniformly in t. Then $(\rho_1 e^{i\omega})^{-t}G(t) = G_1(t) = U_1(t) + D_1(t)$. Lange and Nagy's representation of the unitary part allows us to write $U_1(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{it\lambda} E_1(d\lambda)$ and the above extension of Yosida's mean ergodic theorem allows us to prove that averages of $U_1(t)$ converge to the projection operators onto the subspace of $U_1(t)$ -invariant elements. An average of the dissipative part converges to zero with order $O(\alpha^{-1})$ since the norm of this average has order $\alpha^{-1}\int_0^\alpha O(e^{-\beta t})dt$. Here, $\beta > 0$ is related to the gap between the unit circle and the largest circle contained in \mathbb{D} on which the spectrum of $D_1(t)$ is concentrated. Combined, the above arguments give that the Laplace averages

 $A_{\alpha}(e^{-i\omega}\rho_1^{-1}G(\cdot)) = \alpha^{-1}\int_0^{\alpha} (\rho_1 e^{i\omega})^{-t}G(t)dt \text{ converge in the strong operator topology to}$ the subspace of elements such that $G(t)\psi = (\rho_1 e^{i\omega})^t\psi$.

Chapter IV

Generalized Laplace Analysis (GLA) for Non-Spectral Operators

In this chapter, we consider non-spectral operators. We introduce a subspace of absolutely summable series of eigenfunctions on which the analysis will proceed. This subspace will be constructed as an internal (algebraic) direct sum of eigenspaces corresponding to a certain subset of the spectrum. Each eigenspace in the construction can be thought of as "coordinates" for the subspace. Projections from the absolutely summable subspace onto the "coordinates" may not be bounded operators. However, we will see that the operator restricted to this subspace admits a spectral decomposition.

Section IV.1 constructs the absolutely summable subspace, defines the projection operators, and shows that a Laplace average converges strongly to the appropriate

projection operator on a subspace of the absolutely summable subspace. In section IV.2, the previous section's result on the equivalence of an averaging operator and a projection operator on subspaces of the absolutely summable subspace is extended to prove the Generalized Laplace Analysis (GLA) theorem (theorem IV.2.1) that gives a recursive method to compute the spectral decomposition of Banach space elements that are in the absolutely summable subspace. Section IV.3 extends the GLA theorems to the situation where the operator has nilpotent components. In particular, the case of uniformly finite algebraic multiplicity¹ is considered. In order to do this, the definition of the absolutely summable subspace has to be extended. We also introduce the concepts of algebraic Koopman modes as certain nilpotent operators in addition to nonvanishing generalized eigenfunctions.

IV.1 Preliminaries

IV.1.1 Absolutely summable subspaces

Let \mathscr{B} be a separable Banach space whose norm is denoted by $\|\cdot\|_{\mathscr{B}}$. Let $\mathscr{D}(U)$ be a dense linear subspace of \mathscr{B} and let $U : \mathscr{D}(U) \to \mathscr{B}$ be a closed, linear operator. The nullspace of U will be denoted by $N(U) := \{f \in \mathscr{D}(U) \mid Uf = 0\}$ and the range by $\operatorname{Im}(U) = \{Uf \in \mathscr{B} \mid f \in \mathscr{D}(U)\}$. Let $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ be in the point spectrum of U. If $0 < |\lambda| < 1, N(\lambda I - U)$ is called a stable eigenspace; if $|\lambda| > 1, N(\lambda I - U)$ is called an unstable eigenspace; and if $|\lambda| = 1, N(\lambda I - U)$ is called the center eigenspace. $\overline{}^{1} \exists m \in \mathbb{N}, \forall \lambda \in \Lambda, N((\lambda I - U)^{m}) = N((\lambda I - U)^{m+1}).$ The dimension of an eigenspace will be denoted by $d(\lambda) = \dim[N(\lambda I - U)]$, with $d(\lambda) = \infty$ being possible.

Let $\Lambda \subset \sigma_p$, be an at most countable, bounded set of distinct eigenvalues of U not containing 0 and let

$$|\Lambda| = \{|\lambda| \mid \lambda \in \Lambda\}$$
(IV.1.1)

and

$$\|\Lambda\|_{\infty} = \sup\left\{|\lambda| \mid \lambda \in \Lambda\right\}.$$
 (IV.1.2)

Assume $|\Lambda| \setminus \{0\}$ is a discrete set. Let $\{\rho_i \mid i = 1, ..., R\}$, where $R \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{+\infty\}$, denote the distinct values of $|\Lambda|$, ordered such that $\rho_i > \rho_{i+1} > 0$ for all *i*. Then define $\Lambda_i \subset \Lambda$ as

$$\Lambda_i = \{\lambda \in \Lambda \mid |\lambda| = \rho_i\}.$$
(IV.1.3)

For simplicity, we will denote $N(\lambda I - U)$ by $E_{i,\lambda}$, whenever $\lambda \in \Lambda_i$.

Let \mathscr{X}_i be the internal direct sum

$$\mathscr{X}_{i} := \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} E_{i,\lambda} = \left\{ \{x_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} \middle| x_{\lambda} \in N(\lambda I - U), \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} \|x_{\lambda}\|_{\mathscr{B}} < \infty \right\}$$
(IV.1.4)

Define a norm $\|\cdot\|_i : \mathscr{X}_i \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$\left\| \{ x_{\lambda} \}_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} \right\|_{i} := \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} \| x_{\lambda} \|_{\mathscr{B}}.$$
 (IV.1.5)

It is easy to show that $(\mathscr{X}_i, \|\cdot\|_i)$ is a Banach space. Let the linear map $\pi_i : \mathscr{X}_i \to \mathscr{D}(U)$ be defined by

$$\pi_i(\{x_\lambda\}_{\lambda\in\Lambda_i}) = \sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_i} x_\lambda \tag{IV.1.6}$$

and let $E_{i,abs} = \pi_i(\mathscr{X}_i)$. Since the series is absolutely convergent in the Banach space \mathscr{B} , then it is convergent in \mathscr{B} and is contained in the closure $\overline{E_{i,abs}} \subset \mathscr{D}(U)$. The subspace $E_{i,abs}$ is an algebraic direct sum, but not necessarily a topological direct sum since the projections onto each eigenspace forming $E_{i,abs}$ may not be bounded, as the next example shows.

Example IV.1.1. Let $\{E_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ be sequence of eigenspaces for U with the property that

$$\inf_{\substack{x \in E_1, y \in E_j \\ x \parallel = \parallel y \parallel = 1}} \|x - y\| =: \delta_j > 0 \quad and \quad \delta_j \to 0.$$

The second condition implies that the subspace $\sum_{j=2}^{\infty} E_j$ generated from $\{E_j\}_2^{\infty}$ is not closed. Let $\varepsilon_j \to 0$. For each $j \ge 2$ there exists $x_j \in E_1$, $y_j = E_j$ satisfying $||x_j|| = ||y_j|| = 1$ and $||x_j - y_j|| < \delta_j + \varepsilon_j$. Consider the the projection P_1 from the absolutely summable subspace formed from $\{E_j\}_1^{\infty}$ into E_1 . For all $j \ge 2$, $x_j - y_j$ is in the absolutely summable subspace and

$$||P_1|| \ge \left||P_1\left(\frac{x_j - y_j}{\|x_j - y_j\|}\right)\right|| = \frac{\|x_j\|}{\|x_j - y_j\|} > \frac{1}{\delta_j + \varepsilon_j}.$$

Therefore, P_1 is an unbounded projection.

A concrete example is for $U : \mathscr{D} \to \ell^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ where $U\mathbf{e}_{2k-1} = \mathbf{e}_{2k-1}$ and $U\mathbf{x}_k = \lambda_k \mathbf{x}_k$, for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, where $\mathbf{x}_k = \mathbf{e}_{2k-1} + 2^{-k}\mathbf{e}_{2k}$ and $\lambda_k \neq 1$ and $\lim_{k \to \infty} = \lambda_1$. E_1 is the infinite dimensional subspace with basis $\{\mathbf{e}_{2k-1}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ and $E_k = \{\alpha \mathbf{x}_k \mid \alpha \in \mathbb{R}\}, k \geq 2$. In this case, the separation is $\delta_k = 2^{-k}$ for $k \geq 2$. The domain $\mathscr{D} \subset \ell^1$ is the space of sequences expanded in terms of \mathbf{e}_{2k-1} and \mathbf{x}_k such that their image under U has finite 1-norm (with respect to the canonical basis). The eigenspaces in example IV.1.1 exhibited a property which characterized the bounded projections. In essence, the closer two subspaces are, the larger the norms of the corresponding projections.

Definition IV.1.2 (Separated subspaces). Let M and N be two subspaces. M and N are said to be *separated* if there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that for all $x \in M$ and $y \in N$ with $||x||_{\mathscr{B}} = ||y||_{\mathscr{B}} = 1$, then $||x - y||_{\mathscr{B}} \ge \delta$. M and N are said to be separated with constant δ .

Definition IV.1.3 (Uniformly separated family of subspaces). Let A be some index set and $\mathscr{V} = \{V_{\alpha} \mid V_{\alpha} \subset \mathscr{B}, \alpha \in A\}$ be a family of subspaces. The collection \mathscr{V} is said to be a *uniformly separated family of subspaces* if there is a $\delta > 0$ such that for all $\alpha \in A$, V_{α} and $\lim \{V_{\beta} \mid \forall \beta \in A, \beta \neq \alpha\}$ are separated subspaces with constant δ . Each V_{α} is said to be uniformly separated in \mathscr{V} .

It is easy to show that \mathscr{V} is a family of subspaces, then P_{α} is bounded if and only if \mathscr{V} is a uniformly separated family.

Assumption IV.1.4. For the rest of the chapter it will be assumed that the eigenspaces corresponding to eigenvalues in Λ are a uniformly separated family.

Define

$$\mathscr{X} := \bigoplus_{i=1}^{R} \mathscr{X}_{i} = \left\{ \{z_{i}\}_{i=1}^{R} \mid z_{i} \in \mathscr{X}_{i}, \sum_{i=1}^{R} \|z_{i}\|_{i} < \infty \right\}$$
(IV.1.7)

Define a norm $|\!|\!| \cdot |\!|\!| : \mathscr{X} \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$|||z||| = \sum_{i=1}^{R} ||z_i||_i.$$
 (IV.1.8)

Since each $(\mathscr{X}_i, \|\cdot\|_i)$ is a Banach space, it can be shown that $(\mathscr{X}, \|\cdot\|)$ is a Banach space.

Note that $z_i \in \mathscr{X}_i$, for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, R\}$, and hence z_i is a sequence $z_i = \{z_{i,\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i}$. Then (IV.1.8) is equivalently

$$|||z||| = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} ||z_{i,\lambda}||_{\mathscr{B}}.$$
 (IV.1.9)

Define the linear map $\pi:\mathscr{X}\to\mathscr{D}(U)$ by

$$\pi(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \pi_i(z_i) = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} z_{i,\lambda},$$
 (IV.1.10)

for $z \in \mathscr{X}$. Finally, let

$$E_{abs} := \pi(\mathscr{X}) = \left\{ \pi(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} z_{i,\lambda} \mid z \in \mathscr{X} \right\}.$$
 (IV.1.11)

Again, we note that $\pi : \mathscr{X} \to E_{abs}$ is bounded.

Each $f \in E_{abs}$ has a unique expansion of the form $f = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} f_{i,\lambda}$, where $f_{i,\lambda} \in E_{i,\lambda}$ and the double series is absolutely summable. Define for $f = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} f_{i,\lambda} \in E_{abs}$ the family of linear maps

$$P_{i,\lambda}(f) := \begin{cases} f_{i,\lambda} & \text{if } \lambda \in \Lambda_i \\ 0 & \text{if } \lambda \notin \Lambda_i \end{cases}$$
(IV.1.12)

and $P_i: E_{abs} \to E_{i,abs}$ by

$$P_i(f) = \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} P_{i,\lambda}(f).$$
(IV.1.13)

Furthermore,

$$f = \sum_{i=1}^{R} P_i(f) = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} P_{i,\lambda}(f), \qquad (\text{IV.1.14})$$

for all $f \in E_{abs}$. Since the expansion of f is unique, the projection operators defined in (IV.1.12) and (IV.1.13) are well-defined. However, these projections may not be bounded.

The following proposition shows that, on E_{abs} , U admits a spectral decomposition.

Proposition IV.1.5. Let $f \in E_{abs}$. Then since U is closed

$$U(f) = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} \lambda P_{i,\lambda}(f).$$
(IV.1.15)

In particular, since $\|\Lambda\|_{\infty} < \infty$, then $U(f) \in E_{abs}$ and hence $U: E_{abs} \to E_{abs}$.

Proof. Let $f = \sum_{i=1}^{R} P_i(f) \in E_{abs}$. Consider $P_i(f) = \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} P_{i,\lambda}(f)$. Let $\{K_{i,n}\}$ be an increasing sequence of finite sets contained in Λ_i such that

$$f^{(i,n)} := \sum_{\lambda \in K_{i,n}} P_{i,\lambda}(f) \to \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} P_{i,\lambda}(f) = P_i(f)$$

as $n \to \infty$. Applying U to $f^{(i,n)}$ gives,

$$U(f^{(i,n)}) = \sum_{\lambda \in K_{i,n}} \lambda P_{i,\lambda}(f)$$

and $U(f^{(i,n)}) \to \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} \lambda P_{i,\lambda}(f)$ as $n \to \infty$ since

$$\left\| U(f^{(i,n)}) - \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} \lambda P_{i,\lambda}(f) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}} \le \rho_i \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i \setminus K_n} \| P_{i,\lambda}(f) \|_{\mathscr{B}}$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Since U is closed,

$$U(P_i(f)) = \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} \lambda P_{i,\lambda}(f).$$
(IV.1.16)

Furthermore,

$$\|U(P_i(f))\|_{\mathscr{B}} \le \rho_i \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} \|P_{i,\lambda}(f)\|_{\mathscr{B}}.$$
 (IV.1.17)

For any $m \in \mathbb{N}$, $m \leq R$, define $f^{(m)} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} P_i(f)$. Then $\lim_{m \to \infty} f^{(m)} = f$ and $U(f^{(m)}) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} U(P_i(f))$. Furthermore, $\lim_{m \to \infty} U(f^{(m)}) = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} \lambda P_{i,\lambda}(f)$, since $\left\| U(f^{(m)}) - \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} \lambda P_{i,\lambda}(f) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}} = \left\| \sum_{i=m+1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} \lambda P_{i,\lambda}(f) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}}$ $\leq \|\Lambda\|_{\infty} \sum_{i=m+1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} \|P_{i,\lambda}(f)\|_{\mathscr{B}}.$

for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $f \in E_{abs}$. Since U is closed,

$$U(f) = U(\sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} P_{i,\lambda}(f)) = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} \lambda P_{i,\lambda}(f), \qquad (\text{IV.1.18})$$

completing the proof.

IV.1.2 Averaging operators

For the *closed*, linear operator $U_{\Lambda} : E_{abs} \to E_{abs}$ and any scalar α , define the family of averaging operators $\{A_n(\alpha U_{\Lambda})\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}, A_n(\alpha U_{\Lambda}) : E_{abs} \to E_{abs}$, by

$$A_n(\alpha U_\Lambda) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \alpha^k U_\Lambda^k.$$
 (IV.1.19)

Since U_{Λ} is closed, then $A_n(\alpha U_{\Lambda})$ is also a closed linear operator for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

The following lemma has the form of a mean ergodic theorem on $E_{i,abs}$.

	_
1 1	
	_

Lemma IV.1.6. Fix $\mu \in \Lambda_i$. Then $A_n(\mu^{-1}U_\Lambda)$ converges strongly in $E_{i,abs}$ to $P_{i,\mu}$; *i.e.*, for any $f \in E_{i,abs}$

$$P_{i,\mu}(f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} A_n(\mu^{-1}U_\Lambda)(f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \mu^{-k} U_\Lambda^k f.$$
 (IV.1.20)

Proof. Let $f = E_{i,abs}$. Then $f = \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} P_{i,\lambda}(f)$ and $\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} \|P_{i,\lambda}(f)\|_{\mathscr{B}} < \infty$. For any

finite subset $F \subset \Lambda_i$ containing μ , we have the inequality

$$\begin{split} \left\| A_n(\mu^{-1}U_{\Lambda})(f) - P_{i,\mu}(f) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}} &\leq \left\| \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \sum_{\lambda \in F \setminus \{\mu\}} \frac{\lambda^k}{\mu^k} P_{i,\lambda}(f) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \sum_{\Lambda_i \setminus F} \left\| \frac{\lambda^k}{\mu^k} P_{i,\lambda}(f) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}}. \end{split}$$

Since $f \in E_{i,abs}$, we can choose, for every $\varepsilon > 0$, a finite F so that $\sum_{\Lambda_i \setminus F} \|P_{i,\lambda}(f)\|_{\mathscr{B}} \leq \varepsilon$.

Since λ and μ are in Λ_i , then $|\lambda| = |\mu|$ and $\frac{\lambda}{\mu} = e^{i\theta_{\lambda}}$ for some $\theta_{\lambda} \in [0, 2\pi)$. Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \left\| A_n(\mu^{-1}U_{\Lambda})(f) - P_{i,\mu}(f) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}} &\leq \left\| \sum_{\lambda \in F \setminus \{\mu\}} \frac{1}{n} (\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{i\theta_{\lambda}k}) P_{i,\lambda}(f) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}} + \varepsilon \\ &\leq \sum_{\lambda \in F \setminus \{\mu\}} \left| \frac{1}{n} (\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{i\theta_{\lambda}k}) \right| \left\| P_{i,\lambda}(f) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}} + \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

Therefore,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \left\| A_n(\mu^{-1}U_\Lambda)(f) - P_{i,\mu}(f) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}} \le \sum_{\lambda \in F \setminus \{\mu\}} \lim_{n \to \infty} \left| \frac{1}{n} (\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{i\theta_\lambda k}) \right| \left\| P_{i,\lambda}(f) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}} + \varepsilon \le \varepsilon.$$

Since $\varepsilon > 0$ was arbitrary, this completes the proof.

Remark IV.1.7. Lemma IV.1.6 does not exclude the case where μ is an accumulation point for Λ_i . However, for the λ 's that are arbitrarily close to μ , the contribution of $P_{i,\lambda}(f)$ to the sum defining f is arbitrarily small.

IV.2 Generalized Laplace Analysis

The following theorem gives the form of the projection operators onto the nonunitary eigenspaces as a type of Laplace average. In essence, we extract the maximally unstable mode first and subtract it off from the dynamics. A necessary condition for the averages to be well-defined is that Λ must be a bounded set; otherwise, there would not be a maximally unstable mode and the construction would fail.

Theorem IV.2.1 (Generalized Laplace Analysis). Let \mathscr{B} be a separable Banach space under the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathscr{B}}$ and $U : \mathscr{D}(U) \to \mathscr{B}$ a closed linear operator such that $\sigma_p(U) \neq$ $\{0\}$ and is nonempty. Furthermore, let $\Lambda \subset \sigma(U)$, have dominating point spectrum (see def. III.1.5) that is concentrated on isolated circles. Let Λ_i be defined by (IV.1.3).

For any $i \in \{1, \ldots, R\}$ and $\mu \in \Lambda_i \cap \sigma_p(U)$, define $U_{i,\mu} : E_{abs} \to E_{abs}$ by

$$U_{i,\mu} := \mu^{-1} U_{\Lambda} \left(I - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} P_j \right), \qquad (\text{IV.2.1})$$

where P_j and U_{Λ} are given by (IV.1.13) and (IV.1.15), respectively. Then $A_n(U_{i,\mu})$ converges strongly to $P_{i,\mu}$ in $(E_{abs}, \|\cdot\|_{\mathscr{B}})$, where $P_{i,\mu}$ is given by (IV.1.12); for any $f \in E_{abs}$

$$P_{i,\mu}(f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} A_n(U_{i,\mu})(f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} U_{i,\mu}^k(f).$$
 (IV.2.2)

Proof of theorem IV.2.1. Fix $i \in \{1, ..., R\}$, $\mu \in \Lambda_i$, and $f \in E_{abs}$. f has the unique representation $f = \sum_{j=1}^{R} P_j(f) = \sum_{j=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_j} P_{j,\lambda}(f)$. Note that $I - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} P_j$ is a projection onto $E_{abs} \cap \lim_{j \in A_{abs}} P_{j,j}$ since

$$(I - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} P_j)^2(f) = (I - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} P_j)(\sum_{j=i}^R P_j(f)) = \sum_{j=i}^R P_j(f).$$

Since $\lim E_{j,abs_{j=i}}^{R}$ is U_{Λ} -invariant,

$$[U_{\Lambda}(I - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} P_j)]^k = U_{\Lambda}^k (I - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} P_j).$$

and

$$\mu^{-k}U^k_{\Lambda}(I-\sum_{j=1}^{i-1}P_j)(f) = \mu^{-k}U^k_{\Lambda}(\sum_{j=i}^R\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_j}P_{j,\lambda}(f)) = \sum_{j=i}^R\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_j}\left(\frac{\lambda}{\mu}\right)^k P_{j,\lambda}(f). \quad (\text{IV.2.3})$$

Since $A_n(U_{i,\mu})$ is a linear operator

$$A_{n}(U_{i,\mu})(f) = A_{n}(\mu^{-1}U_{\Lambda})\left(\sum_{j=i}^{R}\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_{j}}P_{j,\lambda}(f)\right)$$
$$= \left[A_{n}(\mu^{-1}U_{\Lambda})\left(\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_{i}}P_{i,\lambda}(f)\right)\right] + \left[A_{n}(\mu^{-1}U_{\Lambda})\left(\sum_{j=i+1}^{R}\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_{j}}P_{j,\lambda}(f)\right)\right]$$
(IV.2.4)

Expanding the second term in (IV.2.4) and using (IV.2.3), we get

$$\left\| A_n(\mu^{-1}U_{\Lambda})\left(\sum_{j=i+1}^R \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_j} P_{j,\lambda}(f)\right) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}} \leq \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^R \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_j} \left| \frac{\lambda}{\mu} \right|^k \|P_{j,\lambda}(f)\|_{\mathscr{B}}$$
$$\leq \left[\frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \left(\frac{\rho_{i+1}}{\rho_i} \right)^k \right] \left[\sum_{j=i+1}^R \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_j} \|P_{j,\lambda}(f)\|_{\mathscr{B}} \right].$$

Since $f \in E_{abs}$, then $\sum_{j=i+1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_j} \|P_{j,\lambda}(f)\|_{\mathscr{B}} = C_i < \infty$. Since $\rho_{i+1} < \rho_i$, then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} A_n(\mu^{-1}U_\Lambda) \left(\sum_{j=i+1}^R \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_j} P_{j,\lambda}(f)\right) = 0.$$
 (IV.2.5)

Consider the first term in (IV.2.4). Since $\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} P_{i,\lambda}(f)$ is in $E_{i,abs}$, then lemma IV.1.6 gives that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} A_n(U_{i,\mu}) (\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} P_{i,\lambda}(f)) = P_{i,\mu}(f)$$
(IV.2.6)

Taking the limit of (IV.2.4) and inserting (IV.2.5) and (IV.2.6) into the resulting expression gives that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} A_n(U_{i,\mu})(f) = P_{i\mu}(f).$$

This completes the proof.

Remark IV.2.2. These results for closed operators on Banach spaces apply, in particular, to previously studied cases where U was the Koopman operator associated with a invertible transformation $T: X \to X$ preserving a measure ν . In those settings, the Koopman operator was a bounded operator of norm 1 acting on $L^2 = L^2(X, \mu)$. The closed graph theorem then guaranteed that the Koopman operator was closed.

In fact, if Λ is a set of eigenvalues such that $|\lambda_j| = 1$ for all $\lambda_j \in \Lambda$, then $U_{i,\mu}$ can be taken to be U_{Λ} instead of (IV.2.1) and then (IV.2.2) reduces to a normal Fourier average.

IV.3 Generalized Laplace analysis in the presence of nilpotentcy

This section extends the results of the previous section to include the case when the eigenvalues have finite algebraic multiplicity. Let

$$K_{\lambda,m} := N\left((U - \lambda I)^m\right). \tag{IV.3.1}$$

Definition IV.3.1 (Uniformly finite algebraic multiplicity). For each $\lambda \in \Lambda$, the algebraic multiplicity of λ , denoted by $a(\lambda)$, is the smallest integer $k \geq 1$ such that $K_{\lambda,k} = K_{\lambda,k+1}$; i.e,

$$K_{\lambda,a(\lambda)-1} \subsetneq K_{\lambda,a(\lambda)} = K_{\lambda,a(\lambda)+1}.$$
 (IV.3.2)

An operator $U : \mathscr{D}(U) \to \mathscr{B}$ is said to have uniformly finite algebraic multiplicity in $\Lambda \subset \sigma_p(U)$ if

$$a(\Lambda) := \max \left\{ a(\lambda) \mid \lambda \in \Lambda \right\} < \infty.$$
 (IV.3.3)

If we are thinking in terms of an "infinite matrix" in Jordan block form, then uniformly finite algebraic multiplicity means that there is some finite size that every Jordan block is smaller than.

Assumption IV.3.2. For the rest of this section, we assume that $U : \mathscr{D}(U) \to \mathscr{B}$ has a uniformly finite algebraic multiplicity on Λ and that $\Lambda \subset \sigma(U)$ has a dominating point spectrum concentrated on isolated circles. Let

$$V_{\lambda,m} := \begin{cases} K_{\lambda,1}, & \text{for } m = 1\\ \\ K_{\lambda,m} \ominus K_{\lambda,m-1}, & \text{for } m \in \{2, \dots, a(\lambda)\} \end{cases}$$
(IV.3.4)

For each $f \in V_{\lambda,m}$, $(U - \lambda I)^{m-1} f \neq 0$ and $(U - \lambda I)^m f = 0$. Redefine $E_{i,\lambda}$ to be

$$E_{i,\lambda} := \bigoplus_{m=1}^{a(\lambda)} V_{\lambda,m}.$$
 (IV.3.5)

Each $f \in E_{i,abs}$ has a unique expansion of the form $f = \sum_{m=1}^{a(\lambda)} f_{\lambda,m}$, where $f_{\lambda,m} \in V_{\lambda,m}$. Define the projection operators $Q_{\lambda,m} : E_{i,\lambda} \to V_{\lambda,m}$ by

$$Q_{\lambda,m}(\sum_{n=1}^{a(\lambda)} f_{\lambda,n}) = f_{\lambda,m}.$$
 (IV.3.6)

Define $N_{\lambda}: E_{i,\lambda} \to E_{i,\lambda}$ by the restriction

$$N_{\lambda} := (U - \lambda I) | E_{i,\lambda}, \qquad (IV.3.7)$$

for $\lambda \in \Lambda_i$. N_{λ} is nilpotent on $E_{i,\lambda}$.

Construct \mathscr{X}_i , $E_{i,abs}$, \mathscr{X} , and E_{abs} as before (see sec. IV.1.1) using this new definition of $E_{i,\lambda}$. An element $f_i \in E_{i,abs}$, has an expansion of the form

$$f_i = \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} f_{i,\lambda} = \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} \sum_{m=1}^{a(\lambda)} Q_{\lambda,m}(f_{i,\lambda})$$
(IV.3.8)

where $f_{i,\lambda} \in E_{i,\lambda}$ and $\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} ||f_{i,\lambda}||_{\mathscr{B}} < \infty$. An element $f \in E_{abs}$ has an expansion of the form

$$f = \sum_{i=1}^{R} f_i = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} f_{i,\lambda} = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} \sum_{m=1}^{a(\lambda)} Q_{\lambda,m}(f_{i,\lambda}).$$
(IV.3.9)

where

$$\sum_{i=1}^{R} \|f_i\|_i = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} \|f_{i,\lambda}\|_{\mathscr{B}} < \infty.$$

Define the family of projection operators $P_{i,\lambda}: E_{abs} \to E_{i,\lambda}$ by

$$P_{j,\mu}(\sum_{i=1}^{R}\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_{i}}f_{i,\lambda}) = f_{j,\mu} = \sum_{m=1}^{a(\mu)}Q_{\mu,m}(f_{j,\mu})$$
(IV.3.10)

and $P_j: E_{abs} \to E_{j,abs}$ by

$$P_j(\sum_{i=1}^R f_i) = f_j = \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_j} f_{j,\lambda} = \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_j} \sum_{m=1}^{a(\lambda)} Q_{\lambda,m}(f_{j,\lambda})$$
(IV.3.11)

Definition IV.3.3 (Algebraic Koopman Mode). For $i \in \{1, ..., R\}$, $\lambda \in \Lambda_i$, and $p \in \{0, ..., a(\lambda) - 1\}$, the algebraic Koopman mode is the linear operator $\Omega_{i,\lambda,p}$: $E_{abs} \to \bigoplus_{j=1}^{a(\lambda)-p} V_{\lambda,j}$ given by

$$\Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f) := \sum_{m=p+1}^{a(\lambda)} N^p_{\lambda} Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{i,\lambda}(f))$$
(IV.3.12)

where N_{λ} is given by (IV.3.7) and $f \in E_{abs}$.

Lemma IV.3.4. For fixed $i \in \{1, ..., R\}$ and $\lambda \in \Lambda_i$, the algebraic Koopman mode is a projection for p = 0 and nilpotent for p > 0.

Proof. Let p and q be elements of $\{0, \ldots, a(\lambda) - 1\}$. Note that $\Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f) \in E_{i,\lambda} \subset E_{abs}$.

$$\begin{split} \Omega_{i,\lambda,q}(\Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f)) &= \sum_{m=q+1}^{a(\lambda)} N_{\lambda}^{q} Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{i,\lambda}(\Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f))) \\ &= \sum_{m=q+1}^{a(\lambda)} N_{\lambda}^{q} Q_{\lambda,m}(\Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f)) \\ &= \sum_{m=q+1}^{a(\lambda)} N_{\lambda}^{q} Q_{\lambda,m}(\sum_{n=p+1}^{a(\lambda)} N_{\lambda}^{p} Q_{\lambda,n}(P_{i,\lambda}(f))) \\ &= \sum_{m=q+1}^{a(\lambda)} N_{\lambda}^{q} (\sum_{n=p+1}^{a(\lambda)} Q_{\lambda,m} N_{\lambda}^{p} Q_{\lambda,n}(P_{i,\lambda}(f))). \end{split}$$

Since $Q_{\lambda,m}$ is a projection onto $V_{\lambda,m}$, then $Q_{\lambda,m}N_{\lambda}^{p}Q_{\lambda,n} \neq 0$ if and only if m = n - psince $N_{\lambda}^{p}Q_{\lambda,n}(P_{i,\lambda}(f)) \in V_{\lambda,n-p}$. It is only possible for the operator $Q_{\lambda,m}N_{\lambda}^{p}Q_{\lambda,n}$ to be nonzero when $m \leq a(\lambda) - p$. When n = m + p,

$$Q_{\lambda,m}N_{\lambda}^{p}Q_{\lambda,n}(P_{i,\lambda}(f))) = Q_{\lambda,m}N_{\lambda}^{p}Q_{\lambda,m+p}(P_{i,\lambda}(f)))$$
$$= N_{\lambda}^{p}Q_{\lambda,m+p}(P_{i,\lambda}(f)))$$

Plugging this back in gives

$$\sum_{m=q+1}^{a(\lambda)} N^q_{\lambda} \left(\sum_{n=p+1}^{a(\lambda)} Q_{\lambda,m} N^p_{\lambda} Q_{\lambda,n}(P_{i,\lambda}(f))\right) = \sum_{m=q+1}^{a(\lambda)-p} N^q_{\lambda} N^p_{\lambda} Q_{\lambda,m+p}(P_{i,\lambda}(f)).$$

Therefore,

$$\Omega_{i,\lambda,q}(\Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f)) = \sum_{m=q+1}^{a(\lambda)-p} N_{\lambda}^{q+p} Q_{\lambda,m+p}(P_{i,\lambda}(f)) \in \bigoplus_{j=1}^{a(\lambda)-p-q} V_{\lambda,j}.$$

In particular, putting q = p and proceeding inductively gives

$$\Omega_{i,\lambda,p}^{j}(f) = \sum_{\substack{m=p+1\\m=1}}^{a(\lambda)-(j-1)p} N_{\lambda}^{jp} Q_{\lambda,m+(j-1)p}(P_{i,\lambda}(f))$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{m=1\\m=1}}^{a(\lambda)-jp} N_{\lambda}^{jp} Q_{\lambda,m+jp}(P_{i,\lambda}(f)).$$

Then

When p > 0 there is some $j \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $a(\lambda) \leq jp$ and hence $\Omega_{i,\lambda,p}^{j}(f) = 0$. When $p = 0, \ \Omega_{i,\lambda,0}^{j}(f) = \sum_{m=1}^{a(\lambda)} Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{i,\lambda}(f)) =: \Omega_{i,\lambda,0}(f)$ for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$.

Definition IV.3.5. Fix $f \in E_{abs}$ such that $P_{i,\lambda}(f) \neq 0$. Let $i \in \{1, \ldots, R\}$ and $\lambda \in \Lambda_i$. Define $V_{i,\lambda}(f) \subset E_{i,abs}$ to be the finite dimensional vector space

$$V_{i,\lambda}(f) := \ln \left\{ N_{\lambda}^{p} Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{i,\lambda}(f)) \mid p \in \left\{0, \dots, a(\lambda) - 1\right\}, m \in \left\{1, \dots, a(\lambda)\right\} \right\}$$

The functional $\|\cdot\|_{V_{i,\lambda}(f)}: V_{i,\lambda}(f) \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$\|g\|_{V_{i,\lambda}(f)} := \sum_{p=0}^{a(\lambda)-1} \sum_{m=p+1}^{a(\lambda)} \|N_{\lambda}^{p}Q_{\lambda,m}(g)\|_{\mathscr{B}}$$
(IV.3.13)

is a norm on $V_{i,\lambda}(f)$.

Since $V_{i,\lambda}(f)$ is finite-dimensional and $\|\cdot\|_{\mathscr{B}}$ restricted to $V_{i,\lambda}(f)$ is a norm on $V_{i,\lambda}(f)$, then there exists a $C_{i,\lambda}(f) > 0$ such that

$$\|g\|_{V_{i,\lambda}(f)} \le C_{i,\lambda}(f) \|g\|_{\mathscr{B}}$$
(IV.3.14)

for all $g \in V_{i,\lambda}(f)$, where

$$C_{i,\lambda}(f) := \sum_{m=1}^{a(\lambda)} \sum_{p=0}^{m-1} \|N_{\lambda}^{p} Q_{\lambda,m}\|_{\mathscr{B}}$$
(IV.3.15)

Definition IV.3.6 (Non-vanishing generalized eigenfunctions). Let $f \in E_{abs}$. If

$$\sup \{C_{i,\lambda}(f)\} < \infty, \tag{IV.3.16}$$

where the supremum is taken over all $i \in \mathbb{N}$ satisfying $1 \leq i \leq R$ and over all $\lambda \in \Lambda_i$ such that $P_{i,\lambda}(f) \neq 0$, we say that f has non-vanishing generalized eigenfunctions. **Remark IV.3.7.** Note that the set $\{C_{i,\lambda}\}$ is uniformly bounded over $i \in \{1, \ldots, R\}$ and $\lambda \in \Lambda_i$ if and only if the sets $\{\|N_\lambda\|_{\mathscr{B}}\}$ and $\{\|Q_{\lambda,m}\|_{\mathscr{B}}\}$ are uniformly bounded over $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and $m \in \{1, \ldots, a(\lambda)\}$. The projections $\{Q_{\lambda,m}\}$ are bounded if and only if the all generalized eigenspaces $\{V_{\lambda,m}\}$ are uniformly separated for all $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and m. If N_{λ} is bounded, then

$$\frac{\left\|N_{\lambda}^{m-1}Q_{\lambda,m}(f)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}}}{\left\|Q_{\lambda,m}(f)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}}} \leq C_{\lambda,m}$$

Since $N_{\lambda}^{m-1}Q_{\lambda,m}(f)$ is an eigenfunction of U and $Q_{\lambda,m}(f)$ is the generalized eigenfunction that gets mapped into it, if the above bound is uniform it says that no generalized eigenfunction has arbitrarily small norm compared to its associated eigenfunction. This gives rise to the name non-vanishing generalized eigenfunction.

Lemma IV.3.8. Let $f \in E_{abs}$ have non-vanishing generalized eigenfunctions. Then,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} \sum_{p=0}^{a(\lambda)-1} \|\Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f)\|_{\mathscr{B}} \le C \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} \|P_{i,\lambda}(f)\|_{\mathscr{B}} < \infty,$$
(IV.3.17)

where C is the supremum given in (IV.3.16).

Proof. For convenience, let $n_{\lambda} = \min(k, a(\lambda) - 1)$. Then for $k \ge 0$,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} \sum_{p=0}^{n_{\lambda}} \|\Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f)\|_{\mathscr{B}} &= \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} \sum_{p=0}^{n_{\lambda}} \left\| \sum_{m=p+1}^{a(\lambda)} N_{\lambda}^{p} Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{i,\lambda}(f)) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}} \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} \left\| \sum_{p=0}^{n_{\lambda}} \sum_{m=p+1}^{a(\lambda)} \|N_{\lambda}^{p} Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{i,\lambda}(f))\|_{\mathscr{B}} \right) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} \|P_{i,\lambda}(f)\|_{V_{i,\lambda}(f)} \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} C_{i,\lambda}(f) \|P_{i,\lambda}(f)\|_{\mathscr{B}} \\ &\leq C \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} \|P_{i,\lambda}(f)\|_{\mathscr{B}} < \infty. \end{split}$$

Lemma IV.3.9. Let $f \in E_{abs}$. Then for $k \ge 0$,

$$U^{k}(f) = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} \sum_{p=0}^{\min(k,a(\lambda)-1)} \binom{k}{p} \lambda^{k-p} \Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f).$$
(IV.3.18)

If f has non-vanishing generalized eigenfunctions, the series converges absolutely for all $k \ge 0$.

Proof. $f \in E_{abs}$ implies that

$$f \in \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} P_{i,\lambda}(f) = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} \sum_{m=1}^{a(\lambda)} Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{i,\lambda}(f))$$

and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i} \|P_{i,\lambda}(f))\|_{\mathscr{B}} < \infty.$$

Then

$$U^{k}(f) = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} U^{k}(P_{i,\lambda}(f)) = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} U^{k}(\sum_{m=1}^{a(\lambda)} Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{i,\lambda}(f)))).$$
(IV.3.19)

Consider $U^k(\sum_{m=1}^{a(\lambda)} Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{i,\lambda}(f)))$:

$$U^{k}\left(\sum_{m=1}^{a(\lambda)} Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{i,\lambda}(f))\right) = (\lambda I + N_{\lambda})^{k}\left(\sum_{m=1}^{a(\lambda)} Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{i,\lambda}(f))\right)$$
$$= \sum_{p=0}^{k} \binom{k}{p} \lambda^{k-p} \sum_{m=1}^{a(\lambda)} N_{\lambda}^{p} Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{i,\lambda}(f))$$

For fixed p, $N_{\lambda}^{p}Q_{\lambda,m} = 0$ if m . Then

$$U^{k}(\sum_{m=1}^{a(\lambda)}Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{i,\lambda}(f))) = \sum_{p=0}^{k} \binom{k}{p} \lambda^{k-p} \sum_{m=p+1}^{a(\lambda)} N^{p}_{\lambda}Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{i,\lambda}(f))$$

Furthermore, the sum $\sum_{m=p+1}^{a(\lambda)} N^p_{\lambda} Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{i,\lambda}(f)) = 0$ if $p \ge a(\lambda)$. Theforefore,

$$U^{k}(\sum_{m=1}^{a(\lambda)} Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{i,\lambda}(f))) = \sum_{p=0}^{\min(k,a(\lambda)-1)} \binom{k}{p} \lambda^{k-p} \sum_{m=p+1}^{a(\lambda)} N^{p}_{\lambda} Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{i,\lambda}(f))$$
$$= \sum_{p=0}^{\min(k,a(\lambda)-1)} \binom{k}{p} \lambda^{k-p} \Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f).$$

Inserting this into (IV.3.19) gives

$$U^{k}(f) = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} \sum_{p=0}^{\min(k,a(\lambda)-1)} \binom{k}{p} \lambda^{k-p} \Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f).$$

For all $k \ge 0, L_k < \infty$, where

$$L_k := \max\left\{ \binom{k}{p} \max(\|\Lambda\|_{\infty}^k, 1) \mid p \in \{0, \dots, \min(k, a(\lambda) - 1)\} \right\}$$
(IV.3.20)

Then, if $f \in E_{abs}$ has non-vanishing generalized eigenfunction, the series converges by lemma IV.3.8.

The condition that $\sup C_{i,\lambda}(f) < \infty$ is crucial. If this was not true, then for some $f \in E_{abs}$, (IV.3.18) would not be convergent. The following example shows a particular case of this. In this example, a sequence of generalized eigenfunctions converging to 0 will allow for an unbounded sequence of coefficients while still maintaining convergence of the series. However, upon iteration by the operator, these large coefficients will eventually multiply an eigenfunction having norm one, leading to a divergent series.

Example IV.3.10. Consider $U : \ell^1(\mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}}) \to \ell^1(\mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}})$ such that each eigenvalue $\{\lambda_j \mid j \in \mathbb{N}\}\$ satisfies $\lambda_j = e^{i\theta_j}$, $\theta_j \in [0, \pi/2]$, and has only one corresponding eigenfunction $\varphi_{j,1} = \mathbf{e}_{2j-1}$ of norm 1 and one generalized eigenfunction $\varphi_{j,2} = 2^{-(2j+1)}\mathbf{e}_{2j}$ with $(U - \lambda_j I)\varphi_{j,2} = \varphi_{j,1}$ and where $\{\mathbf{e}_i\}_1^{\infty}$ are the canonical basis vectors for $\ell^1(\mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}})$. In this example, R = 1 and $a(\lambda) = 2$.

Let
$$f = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{2} \Theta_{j,m}(f) \varphi_{j,m}$$
 where $\Theta_{j,m}(f) = 2^{-(j+1)} \|\varphi_{j,m}\|_{1}^{-1}$ for $m = 1, 2$.

Then

$$\|f\|_{1} = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{2} |\Theta_{j,m}(f)| \|\varphi_{j,m}\|_{1} = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} 2^{-j} = 1.$$

We first show that $\left\|\sum_{p=0}^{1}\sum_{m=p+1}^{2} {\binom{1}{p}\lambda_{j}^{1-p}N_{\lambda_{j}}^{p}Q_{\lambda_{j},m}(P_{1,\lambda_{j}}(f))}\right\|_{1}$ is bounded below

by a divergent series.

$$\begin{split} \left\| P_{1,\lambda_{j}}(f) \right\|_{1} &= \left\| \sum_{p=0}^{1} \sum_{m=p+1}^{2} {\binom{1}{p}} \lambda_{j}^{1-p} N_{\lambda_{j}}^{p} Q_{\lambda_{j},m}(P_{1,\lambda_{j}}(f)) \right\|_{1} \\ &= \left\| \sum_{m=1}^{2} \sum_{p=0}^{m-1} \lambda_{j}^{1-p} N_{\lambda}^{p} Q_{\lambda,m}(P_{1,\lambda_{j}}(f)) \right\|_{1} \\ &= \left\| \sum_{m=1}^{2} \sum_{p=0}^{m-1} \lambda_{j}^{1-p} N_{\lambda}^{p} (\Theta_{j,m}(f) \varphi_{j,m}) \right\|_{1} \\ &= \left\| \lambda_{j} \Theta_{j,1}(f) \varphi_{j,1} + \lambda_{j} \Theta_{j,2}(f) \varphi_{j,2} + \Theta_{j,2}(f) \varphi_{j,1} \right\|_{1} \\ &\geq \left| \lambda_{j} \Theta_{j,1}(f) + \Theta_{j,2}(f) \right| \left\| \varphi_{j,1} \right\|_{1}, \end{split}$$

where we have used $\binom{1}{p} = 1$ for p = 0, 1, $\varphi_{j,1} = \mathbf{e}_{2j-1}$, and $\varphi_{j,2} \in \lim \mathbf{e}_{2j}$. Since $\Theta_{j,m}(f)$ is real and positive for all $j \ge 1$ and $m \in \{1,2\}$ and $\lambda_j = e^{i\theta_j}$, $\theta_j \in [0, \pi/2]$, then $|\lambda_j \Theta_{j,1}(f) + \Theta_{j,2}(f)| \ge |\Theta_{j,2}(f)|$. Therefore,

$$\left\|\sum_{p=0}^{1}\sum_{m=p+1}^{2}\binom{1}{p}\lambda_{j}^{1-p}N_{\lambda_{j}}^{p}Q_{\lambda_{j},m}(P_{1,\lambda_{j}}(f))\right\|_{1} \ge |\Theta_{j,2}(f)| = 2^{j}$$

Using this in (IV.3.18), for k = 1, gives

$$\begin{aligned} \|U(f)\|_1 &= \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left\| \sum_{p=0}^{1} \binom{1}{p} \lambda^{1-p} \Omega_{1,\lambda,p}(f) \right\|_1 \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left\| \sum_{p=0}^{1} \sum_{m=p+1}^{2} \binom{1}{p} \lambda_j^{1-p} N_{\lambda_j}^p Q_{\lambda_j,m}(P_{1,\lambda_j}(f)) \right\|_1 \\ &\geq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} 2^j \end{aligned}$$

Hence, U(f) is a divergent series.

Remark IV.3.11. Note that the time-varying term multiplying the algebraic Koopman mode $\Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f)$ is of order $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^k k^p)$. Hence for fixed *i* and λ , $\Omega_{i,\lambda,a(\lambda)-1}$ has the largest algebraic growth of its corresponding time-dependent term and $\Omega_{i,\lambda,0}$ has the least. In particular,

$$\frac{\binom{k}{p}}{\binom{k}{q}} = \mathcal{O}(k^{p-q}). \tag{IV.3.21}$$

Moreover, call $\Omega_{i,\mu,p}(f)$ more unstable than $\Omega_{j,\lambda,q}(f)$ if

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \left| \frac{\mu^k k^p}{\lambda^k k^q} \right| = \infty.$$
 (IV.3.22)

Definition IV.3.12. Let Λ_i be defined by (IV.1.3). Let

$$a(\Lambda_i) := \max \left\{ a(\lambda) \mid \lambda \in \Lambda_i \right\}$$
(IV.3.23)

and for $p \in \{0, \ldots, a(\Lambda_i) - 1\}$, define

$$\Lambda_{i,p} := \{\lambda \in \Lambda_i \mid a(\lambda) = p+1\}.$$
(IV.3.24)

Lemma IV.3.13. Let $f \in E_{abs}$ have non-vanishing generalized eigenfunctions. For all $k \ge a(\Lambda)$

$$U^{k}(f) = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{p=0}^{a(\Lambda_{i})-1} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i,p}} {\binom{k}{p}} \lambda^{k-p} \Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f)$$
(IV.3.25)

is a convergent series and where $a(\Lambda)$ is given by (IV.3.3).

Proof. From its definition, $\Lambda_{i,p} \cap \Lambda_{i,q} = \emptyset$ for $p \neq q$ and $\Lambda_i = \bigcup_{p=0}^{a(\Lambda_i)-1} \Lambda_{i,p}$. Then, formally,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} \sum_{p=0}^{a(\lambda)-1} \binom{k}{p} \lambda^{k-p} \Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f) = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{p=0}^{a(\Lambda_{i})-1} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i,p}} \binom{k}{p} \lambda^{k-p} \Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f).$$

Convergence of this series still needs to be shown.

Since

$$\sum_{i=1}^{R} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i}} \sum_{p=0}^{a(\lambda)-1} \binom{k}{p} \lambda^{k-p} \Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f)$$

is absolutely convergent by lemma IV.3.9, then $\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_i}$ and $\sum_{p=0}^{a(\lambda)-1}$ commute and the commuted infinite sum converges to the same limit.

We now come to the main result of this section. The following theorem represents an extension of theorem IV.2.1 to the current setting. **Theorem IV.3.14** (Computation of algebraic Koopman modes.). Let $f \in E_{abs}$ and assume $U_{\Lambda} : E_{abs} \to \mathscr{B}$ has uniformly finite algebraic multiplicity in Λ and f has non-vanishing generalized eigenfunctions.

Let
$$j \in \{1, ..., R\}$$
, $q \in \{0, ..., a(\Lambda_j) - 1\}$, and $\mu \in \Lambda_{j,q}$. Define, for $k \ge 0$
$$U_{j,q}^k(f) = U^k(I - \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} P_i)(f) - \sum_{p=q+1}^{a(\Lambda_j)-1} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{j,p}} \binom{k}{p} \lambda^{k-p} \Omega_{j,\lambda,p}(f)$$
(IV.3.26)

Then

$$\Omega_{j,\mu,q}(f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \binom{k}{q}^{-1} \mu^{-k} U_{j,q}^k(f)$$
(IV.3.27)

Proof. Fix $\varepsilon > 0$. First note that for $k \ge a(\Lambda)$ and using (IV.3.25), (IV.3.26) becomes

$$U_{j,q}^{k}(f) = \sum_{p=0}^{q} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{j,p}} \binom{k}{p} \lambda^{k-p} \Omega_{j,\lambda,p}(f) + \sum_{i=j+1}^{R} \sum_{p=0}^{a(\Lambda_{i})-1} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i,p}} \binom{k}{p} \lambda^{k-p} \Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f)$$

or equivalently

$$\binom{k}{q}^{-1}\mu^{-(k-q)}U_{j,q}^{k}(f) - \Omega_{j,\mu,q} = \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{j,q} \setminus \{\mu\}} \frac{\binom{k}{q}}{\binom{k}{q}} \frac{\lambda^{k-q}}{\mu^{k-q}} \Omega_{j,\lambda,q}(f)$$
(IV.3.28)

$$+\sum_{p=0}^{q-1}\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_{j,p}}\frac{\binom{k}{p}}{\binom{k}{q}}\frac{\lambda^{k-p}}{\mu^{k-q}}\Omega_{j,\lambda,p}(f) \qquad (\text{IV.3.29})$$

$$+\sum_{i=j+1}^{R}\sum_{p=0}^{a(\Lambda_i)-1}\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_{i,p}}\frac{\binom{k}{p}}{\binom{k}{q}}\frac{\lambda^{k-p}}{\mu^{k-q}}\Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f) \qquad (\text{IV.3.30})$$

Consider the term on the right side of (IV.3.28). Taking the average of this term divided by $\binom{k}{q}^{-1}\mu^{-(k-q)}$ and starting at $k = a(\Lambda)$, we get

$$\frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{j,q} \setminus \{\mu\}} \frac{\binom{k}{q}}{\binom{k}{q}} \frac{\lambda^{k-q}}{\mu^{k-q}} \Omega_{j,\lambda,q}(f)
= \frac{n-a(\Lambda)}{n} \frac{1}{n-a(\Lambda)} \sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{j,q} \setminus \{\mu\}} \frac{\lambda^{k-q}}{\mu^{k-q}} \Omega_{j,\lambda,q}(f).$$
(IV.3.31)
Since $\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{j,q} \setminus \{\mu\}} \Omega_{j,\lambda,q}(f)$ is absolutely convergent, by lemma IV.3.8, there is a finite subset $F_1 \subset \Lambda_{j,q} \setminus \{\mu\}$ such that

$$\sum_{\lambda \in (\Lambda_{j,q} \setminus \{\mu\}) \setminus F_1} \|\Omega_{j,\lambda,q}(f)\|_{\mathscr{B}} < \frac{\varepsilon}{5}$$

Then, using the fact that $\mu \in \Lambda_{j,q}$ so that $\left(\frac{\lambda}{\mu}\right)^{k-q} = e^{i\theta_{\lambda}}$, for all $\lambda \in \Lambda_{j,q}$, taking the norm of (IV.3.31) gives

$$\left\|\frac{1}{n}\sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1}\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_{j,q}\setminus\{\mu\}}\frac{\binom{k}{q}}{\binom{k}{q}}\frac{\lambda^{k-q}}{\mu^{k-q}}\Omega_{j,\lambda,q}(f)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}}$$

$$<\frac{n-a(\Lambda)}{n}\left(\sum_{\lambda\in F_{1}}\left\|\left(\frac{1}{n-a(\Lambda)}\sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1}e^{i\theta_{\lambda}(k-q)}\right)\Omega_{j,\lambda,q}(f)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}}+\frac{\varepsilon}{5}\right).$$
(IV.3.32)

Since the term in the $\|\cdot\|_{\mathscr{B}}$ on the right side of (IV.3.32) converges to zero, there exists

an $N_1 \in \mathbb{N}$, such that for all $n \ge N_1$,

$$\left\|\frac{1}{n}\sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1}\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_{j,q}\setminus\{\mu\}}\frac{\binom{k}{q}}{\binom{k}{q}}\frac{\lambda^{k-q}}{\mu^{k-q}}\Omega_{j,\lambda,q}(f)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}} < \frac{2\varepsilon}{5}$$
(IV.3.33)

Consider the average of the second term, (IV.3.29). We estimate it as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1} \sum_{p=0}^{q-1} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{j,p}} \frac{\binom{k}{p}}{\binom{k}{q}} \frac{\lambda^{k-p}}{\mu^{k-q}} \Omega_{j,\lambda,p}(f) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}} \\ &\leq \frac{n-a(\Lambda)}{n} \frac{1}{n-a(\Lambda)} \sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1} \sum_{p=0}^{q-1} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{j,p}} \left\| \frac{\binom{k}{p}}{\binom{k}{q}} \frac{\lambda^{k-p}}{\mu^{k-q}} \Omega_{j,\lambda,p}(f) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}} \\ &\leq \frac{n-a(\Lambda)}{n} \frac{1}{n-a(\Lambda)} \sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1} q\rho_{j}^{q-p} \frac{\binom{k}{q-1}}{\binom{k}{q}} \left(\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{j,p}} \|\Omega_{j,\lambda,p}(f)\|_{\mathscr{B}} \right) \\ &\leq \frac{n-a(\Lambda)}{n} \left(q\rho_{j}^{q-p} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{j,p}} \|\Omega_{j,\lambda,p}(f)\|_{\mathscr{B}} \right) \frac{1}{n-a(\Lambda)} \sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1} \frac{\binom{k}{q-1}}{\binom{k}{q}} \end{aligned}$$

where we have used that $|\mu| = |\lambda| = \rho_j$ for all $\lambda \in \Lambda_{j,p}$, $p = 0, \ldots, q - 1$. Since $\frac{\binom{k}{q-1}}{\binom{k}{q}} = \mathcal{O}(k^{-1})$ and $\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{j,p}} \|\Omega_{j,\lambda,p}(f)\|_{\mathscr{B}}$ is finite, then there is $N_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for

all $n \geq N_2$,

$$\left\|\frac{1}{n}\sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1}\sum_{p=0}^{q-1}\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_{j,p}}\frac{\binom{k}{p}}{\binom{k}{q}}\frac{\lambda^{k-p}}{\mu^{k-q}}\Omega_{j,\lambda,p}(f)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}} < \frac{\varepsilon}{5}.$$
 (IV.3.34)

Consider the average of the third term, (IV.3.30).

$$\left\| \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1} \sum_{i=j+1}^{R} \sum_{p=0}^{a(\Lambda_{i})-1} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i,p}} \frac{\binom{k}{p}}{\binom{k}{q}} \frac{\lambda^{k-p}}{\mu^{k-q}} \Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1} \sum_{i=j+1}^{R} \sum_{p=0}^{a(\Lambda_{i})-1} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i,p}} \frac{\binom{k}{p}}{\binom{k}{q}} \frac{|\lambda|^{k-p}}{|\mu|^{k-q}} \| \Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f) \|_{\mathscr{B}}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1} \sum_{i=j+1}^{R} \sum_{p=0}^{a(\Lambda_{i})-1} \frac{\binom{k}{p}}{\binom{k}{q}} \frac{\rho_{j+1}^{k-p}}{\rho_{j}^{k-q}} \left(\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i,p}} \| \Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f) \|_{\mathscr{B}} \right)$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1} \left(\frac{\rho_{j+1}}{\rho_{j}} \right)^{k-q} \sum_{i=j+1}^{R} \left(\sum_{p=0}^{a(\Lambda_{i})-1} \frac{\binom{k}{p}}{\binom{k}{q}} \rho_{j+1}^{q-p} \left(\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i,p}} \| \Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f) \|_{\mathscr{B}} \right) \right).$$

Let $t(k) := \max\left\{\frac{\binom{k}{p}}{\binom{k}{q}}\rho_{j+1}^{q-p} \middle| p \in \{0, \dots, a(\Lambda) - 1\}\right\}$. Since $\binom{k}{p}$ is a positive integervalued polynomial in k for any p, then t(k) is some positive rational function of k. Since $\binom{k}{q} \ge 1$ for all $k \ge 1$, then $t(k) \le C_t k^m$ for some $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and constant C_t . Additionally, $\sum_{i=j+1}^{R} \left(\sum_{p=0}^{a(\Lambda_i)-1} \left(\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i,p}} \|\Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f)\|_{\mathscr{B}}\right)\right) =: C_{j+1} < \infty$. Therefore, $\left\|\frac{1}{n}\sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1}\sum_{i=j+1}^{R}\sum_{p=0}^{a(\Lambda_i)-1}\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{i,p}} \frac{\binom{k}{p}}{\binom{k}{k}} \frac{\lambda^{k-p}}{\mu^{k-q}} \Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}}$

$$\leq C_t C_{j+1} a(\Lambda) \frac{n - a(\Lambda)}{n} \frac{1}{n - a(\Lambda)} \sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1} k^m \left(\frac{\rho_{j+1}}{\rho_j}\right)^{k-q}.$$

Since $\rho_{j+1} < \rho_j$, then $k^m \left(\frac{\rho_{j+1}}{\rho_j}\right)^{k-q}$ converges exponentially fast to zero as k goes to ∞ . Therefore, there exists N_3 such that

$$\left\|\frac{1}{n}\sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1}\sum_{i=j+1}^{R}\sum_{p=0}^{a(\Lambda_{i})-1}\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_{i,p}}\frac{\binom{k}{p}}{\binom{k}{q}}\frac{\lambda^{k-p}}{\mu^{k-q}}\Omega_{i,\lambda,p}(f)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}} < \frac{\varepsilon}{5}$$
(IV.3.35)

for all $n \geq N_3$.

Taking the average of the left side of (IV.3.28), equations (IV.3.33), (IV.3.34), and (IV.3.35) can be used to show that

$$\left\|\frac{1}{n}\sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1} \binom{k}{q}^{-1} \mu^{-k} U_{j,q}^k(f) - \Omega_{j,\mu,q}(f)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}} < \frac{4\varepsilon}{5}$$
(IV.3.36)

for all $n \ge \max(N_1, N_2, N_3)$.

Finally, consider

$$\left\| \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \binom{k}{q}^{-1} \mu^{-k} U_{j,q}^{k}(f) - \Omega_{j,\mu,q}(f) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}}$$

$$\leq \left\| \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{a(\Lambda)-1} \binom{k}{q}^{-1} \mu^{-k} U_{j,q}^{k}(f) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}} + \left\| \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=a(\Lambda)}^{n-1} \binom{k}{q}^{-1} \mu^{-k} U_{j,q}^{k}(f) - \Omega_{j,\mu,q}(f) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}}$$
(IV.3.37)

There exists $N_4 \ge \max(N_1, N_2, N_3)$ such that

$$\left\|\frac{1}{n}\sum_{k=0}^{a(\Lambda)-1} \binom{k}{q}^{-1} \mu^{-k} U_{j,q}^k(f)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}} < \frac{\varepsilon}{5}.$$
 (IV.3.38)

for all $n \ge N_4$. Using (IV.3.36) and (IV.3.38) in (IV.3.37) gives

$$\left\|\frac{1}{n}\sum_{k=0}^{n-1}\binom{k}{q}^{-1}\mu^{-k}U_{j,q}^k(f) - \Omega_{j,\mu,q}(f)\right\|_{\mathscr{B}} < \varepsilon$$

for all $n \geq N_4$.

Remark IV.3.15. The Laplace averages, (IV.3.27), are not projection operators in general since $U_{j,q}$ is defined in terms of the nilpotent operators $\Omega_{i,\lambda,p}$. Furthermore, the construction of the averaging operators fails if the algebraic eigenspace has infinite multiplicity.

IV.4 Some comments on Schauder bases

Bases in finite dimensional vector spaces are a very useful concept. In the finite dimensional case, the spectral decomposition of an operator is equivalent to finding a basis of eigenvectors for the space. The concept of basis extends to infinite dimensional vector spaces as well. These (Hamel) bases are usually uncountable and their existence depends on Zorn's lemma. The more useful concept in Banach spaces is that of a Schauder basis.

Let \mathscr{B} be a Banach space. A sequence of elements $\{e_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is called a Schauder basis if for every $x \in \mathscr{B}$ there is a unique set of scalars $\{x_n\}_1^{\infty}$ such that

$$x = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n e_n. \tag{IV.4.1}$$

Equivalently, for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is an $M \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\left\| x - \sum_{n=1}^{N} x_n e_n \right\| < \varepsilon \tag{IV.4.2}$$

for all $N \ge M$. Necessarily, for a Banach space to have a basis, it must be separable. There are, however, examples of separable reflexive Banach spaces that do not have a Schauder basis [Enf73]. The convergence implies that $||x||_0 := \sup_{N\ge 1} \left\|\sum_{n=1}^N x_n e_n\right\|$ is finite. It is also a norm on \mathscr{B} , and it can be shown equivalent to $\|\cdot\|$;

$$||x|| \le ||x||_0 \le K ||x|| \,.$$

The smallest K satisfying this relation is called the basis constant and it is a measure of the "orthogonality" of the basis elements. This orthogonality is in the Banach space sense rather than the Hilbert space sense which would depend on an inner product. The equivalence of these norms shows that the coordinate projections $P_n(x) = x_n e_n$ are a uniformly bounded family.

In the original formulation of the GLA theorems in the non spectral case, the constructions relied upon the notion of a Schauder basis. Unfortunately, pursuing this line of thought leads to problems. We assumed that \mathscr{B} had a Schauder basis and implicitly assumed that every infinite dimensional subspace, and in particular sums of eigenspaces, had a basis, which unfortunately cannot be guaranteed even in nice spaces. For example, each ℓ^p sequence space $(1 \le p < \infty)$ has a basis. However, for every $p \ne 2$, the sequence space contains an infinite dimensional subspace that has no basis [Jam82]. This is in direct contradiction to our intuition in Hilbert spaces.

However, it can be shown that every infinite dimensional Banach space has an infinite dimensional subspace possessing a Schauder basis. This is shown by constructing an "almost orthogonal" sequence of unit norm vectors in \mathscr{B} . These vectors then are a basis for their closed linear span and are called a basic sequence. The construction relies on the following result.

Lemma IV.4.1. Let \mathscr{B} be an infinite dimensional (not necessarily separable) Banach space and F a finite dimensional subspace of \mathscr{B} . Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Then there exists an $x \in \mathscr{B}$ such that

- (*i*) ||x|| = 1
- (ii) for all $y \in F$ and all scalars α , we have $\|y\| \le (1+\varepsilon) \|y + \alpha x\|$.

Such a vector $x \in \mathscr{B}$ is called "almost orthogonal" to F. A basic sequence is constructed by starting with some x_1 of unit norm and using the above procedure lemma to construct an almost orthogonal x_2 . The process is then repeated to get $\{x_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$. Performed with a certain sequence of $\{\varepsilon_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$, the resulting sequence can be constructed to have a basis constant of 2.

While this is a nice result (even if the entire space cannot be recovered in this way), for the proofs of the GLA theorems we often need to switch the order of the summation. This is equivalent to permuting the basis. Unfortunately, it can very well be the case that a permutation of a basis fails to be a basis. Therefore, what we would really want is what is called an unconditional basis. These are bases that continue to be bases under any permutation. A slightly stronger property is that expansions in the basis are absolutely summable. If a space has an absolutely summable basis, it is isomorphic to an ℓ^1 -space (compare this with the construction of the absolutely summable subspace in section IV.1). Thus we are led to the question of whether every infinite dimensional space has an infinite dimensional subspace with an unconditional basis; i.e., there always exists an unconditional basic sequence. This was a long standing conjecture in Banach space theory [Jam82]. It was finally proved in the negative by Gowers and Maurey [GM93]. Those authors constructed a separable reflexive Banach space containing no unconditional basis sequences. The space as exhibited the property that was termed hereditarily indecomposable. What this means is that if $X = Y \oplus Z$ is a topological direct sum (the projections from $X \mapsto Y$ and $X \mapsto Z$ are bounded), then Y and Z cannot both be infinite dimensional. Stated in another way, every infinite dimensional subspace is arbitrarily close to every other infinite dimensional subspace.

It was also shown in [GM93] that the only bounded operators were of the form $U = \lambda I + S$, where S is a strictly singular operator. S is strictly singular if its restriction to any infinite dimensional subspace fails to be an isomorphism; the restriction fails to injective on its range. The only possible eigenvalue is λ and eigenvectors must be in the kernel of S. For example, let y and z be points such that Sy = Sz. Then x = y - z is in the kernel of S and an eigenvector of U;

$$Ux = U(y - z) = \lambda x + S(y - z) = \lambda x + Sy - Sz = \lambda x$$

Therefore, if U is a bounded operator and its point spectrum has more than 1 point in it, then the sum of its eigenspaces must contain an unconditional basic sequence. On the other hand, if we allow an unbounded operator, then there are examples where the eigenspaces do not have an unconditional basis (see example IV.1.1).

Chapter V

Dynamical Systems and the Koopman Operator

¹This chapter connects the abstract results of the previous section with dynamical systems. The operator we are interested in is the Koopman operator associated with a dynamical system (\mathscr{X}, Φ) , where $\Phi : \mathscr{X} \to \mathscr{X}$ (we have yet to put any structure on Φ). Recall that the Koopman operator is the composition operator $U_{\Phi}\psi = \psi \circ \Phi$, for all ψ in some space of functions \mathscr{F} . In particular, we will show that the conditions on the set of eigenvalues Λ (namely, it being a bounded set and concentrated on isolated circles) are natural and are satisfied for the examples we consider.

For problems on the attractor, it is natural to consider the space $L^2(\nu)$, where ν a probability measure supported on the attractor that is preserved by Φ . This case

¹Portions of this chapter closely follow and are reprinted with permission from M. Budišić, R. Mohr, and I. Mezić "Applied Koopmanism," Chaos. 22 (4), 047510-1 – 047510-33 (2012), doi:10.1063/1.4772195. Copyright 2012.

has been treated extensively in the literature. However, this space is not particularly natural for dissipative dynamics. For example, consider a dynamical system on the real line with the origin as a globally attracting fixed point. The invariant measure for this system is a delta measure supported at zero, in which case, the associated Hilbert space of observables, $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \delta_0)$, is isomorphic to \mathbb{R} ; every function agreeing at zero is equivalent regardless of their values away from zero. The space $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \delta_0)$ cannot give any information about the dynamics away from the attractor. As seen in example V.1.4 below, natural observables for dissipative dynamics are polynomials and their completions under certain norms.

The first section of this chapter is devoted to some algebraic and topological properties of eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator. The first main result (thm. V.1.1) states basically that eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator form semigroups under pointwise products (as long as the products belong to \mathscr{F}) and monoids if \mathscr{F} contains the constant functions. The second main result (thm. V.1.8) is a relation between the eigenfunctions of Koopman operators associated with topologically conjugate systems. If an eigenfunction is found for one of the systems, then an eigenfunction for the other system can be obtained by composing with the conjugacy map.

In section V.2, the results of section V.1 are used to construct what we call the \mathscr{B} -Hardy spaces $H^2_{\mathscr{B}}$ that arise naturally for dissipative dynamical systems. These spaces can loosely be considered as generalizations of the familiar Hilbert Hardy spaces in the disc $H^2(\mathbb{D})$. On these \mathscr{B} -Hardy spaces, the Koopman operator is a spectral operator

of scalar-type. First, polynomials over normed commutative rings are defined since they arise naturally from principle eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator. It is also shown that under a completion with an ℓ^2 polynomial norm that the completed space is locally sequentially weakly compact as is required to apply the GLA theorems. This holds true as long as the Banach space in which the ring is dense is separable and reflexive. This result is contained in proposition V.2.7. Sections V.2.2 and V.2.3 construct eigenfunctions and spaces of observables for attracting hyperbolic fixed points in \mathbb{C}^d and limit cycles in \mathbb{R}^2 , respectively. Topological conjugacies are leveraged to use eigenfunctions corresponding to the linearized dynamics to construct eigenfunctions and spaces of observables for the nonlinear system. It is shown that these spaces are identifiable with spaces of polynomials over normed unital commutative rings. Spectral measures for the systems are constructed that satisfy the properties assumed in section III.2.1. Additionally, a short remark connects the space of observables of an attracting fixed point for the d = 1 case with Hardy Hilbert spaces in the unit disc $H^2(\mathbb{D})$ that are often studied in the context of composition operators with analytic symbols defined in the unit disc. Loosely, the spaces we construct can be viewed as generalizations of these spaces.

V.1 Algebraic and topological properties of Koopman eigenfunctions.

The first main result of this section states basically that eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator form semigroups under pointwise products (as long as the products belong to \mathscr{F}) and monoids if \mathscr{F} contains the constant functions. The second main result is a relation between the eigenfunctions of Koopman operators associated with topologically conjugate systems. If an eigenfunction is found for one of the systems, then an eigenfunction for the other system can be obtained by composing with the conjugacy map.

Theorem V.1.1 (Semigroup of eigenfunctions). Let \mathscr{F} be a space of observables for the dynamical system (\mathcal{M}, Φ) and let $U_{\Phi} : \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}$ be the associated Koopman operator.

 (i) Let φ and ψ be two eigenfunctions of U_Φ at eigenvalues λ and μ, respectively. If the pointwise product φ · ψ is in ℱ and nonzero, then φ · ψ is an eigenfunction of U_Φ at eigenvalue λμ.

$$U_{\Phi}\varphi = \lambda\varphi \quad and \quad U_{\Phi}\psi = \mu\psi \implies \qquad U_{\Phi}(\varphi \cdot \psi) = \lambda\mu(\varphi \cdot \psi). \quad (V.1.1)$$

(ii) Let \mathcal{G} be a set of nonzero eigenpairs (λ, φ) of U_{Φ} with the property that any finite subset $\{\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_m\} \subset \mathcal{G}$ satisfies $\prod_{i=1}^m \varphi_i = \varphi_1 \cdots \varphi_m \neq 0$ and all finite pointwise products of elements of \mathcal{G} are in \mathscr{F} . Then \mathcal{G} is a generator for a semigroup of eigenfunctions of U_{Φ} , which will be denoted by $\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{G}}$. If the constant functions are in \mathscr{F} , then $\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{G}}$ is a monoid.

Proof. For any $f \in \mathscr{F}$, define $\mathcal{S}_f = \{x \in X \mid |f(x)| > 0\}$. Let $(\lambda, \varphi) \in \mathcal{G}$. Then $\mathcal{S}_{\varphi^n} = \mathcal{S}_{\varphi}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore, $\varphi \neq 0$ if and only if $\varphi^n \neq 0$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

To show that $(\lambda \mu, \varphi \cdot \psi)$ is an eigenpair of U_{Φ} when both (λ, φ) and (μ, ψ) are elements of \mathcal{G} , compute

$$U_{\Phi}(\varphi \cdot \psi)(x) = \varphi(\Phi(x)) \cdot \psi(\Phi(x)) = \lambda \varphi(x) \mu \psi(x) = \lambda \mu(\varphi \cdot \psi)(x).$$

Note that $\varphi \cdot \psi \neq 0$ by hypothesis on \mathcal{G} . Therefore, $(\lambda \mu, \varphi \cdot \psi)$ is a nonzero eigenpair of U_{Φ} and, in particular, (λ^n, φ^n) is a nonzero eigenpair of U for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Now let $(\lambda_i, \varphi_i)_1^m \subset \mathcal{G}$, $(n_1, \ldots, n_m) \in \mathbb{N}^m$, and consider $h = \prod_{i=1}^m \varphi_i^{n_i}$. We claim that h is a nonzero eigenfunction of U. That h is nonzero follows from hypothesis on \mathcal{G} ; i.e., $\mathcal{S}_{\varphi_i^{n_i}} = \mathcal{S}_{\varphi_i}$, any finite product of elements of \mathcal{G} are nonzero, and hence $\varphi_1^{n_1} \cdots \varphi_m^{n_m} \neq 0$. That h is an eigenfunction follows from

$$Uh(x) = U(\prod_{i=1}^{m} \varphi_i^{n_i})(x) = \prod_{i=1}^{m} \varphi_i^{n_i}(Tx) = \prod_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_i^{n_i} \varphi_i^{n_i}(x) = (\prod_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_i^{n_i})h(x).$$

The semigroup generated by \mathcal{G} is given by

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{G}} = \left\{ \left(\prod_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_i^{n_i}, \prod_{i=1}^{m} \varphi_i^{n_i} \right) \middle| (\lambda_i, \varphi_i) \subset \mathcal{G}, m \in \mathbb{N}, n_i \in \mathbb{N} \right\}.$$

By the previous work, elements of $\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{G}}$ are nonzero eigenfunctions of U.

Corollary V.1.2. Let (λ, φ) be a nonzero eigenpair of U_{Φ} such that for any $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$, the m-term pointwise product φ^m is in \mathscr{F} . Let $\mathcal{G} = \{(\lambda, \varphi)\}$. Then, letting \mathcal{P}_{φ} denote the semigroup generated by \mathcal{G} ,

$$\mathcal{P}_{\varphi} = \{ (\lambda^n, \varphi^n) \mid n \in \mathbb{N}_0 \}.$$
(V.1.2)

We note that if we considered generalized eigenfunctions, then these results do not hold (see example V.1.6).

Definition V.1.3 (Principle eigenfunctions). Let E be a semigroup of eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator. Let \mathcal{G} be a minimal generator for E. The elements of \mathcal{G} are called *principle eigenfunctions of* U_{Φ} *in* E.

The principle eigenfunctions are not necessarily unique. For example, consider a Koopman operator with eigenvalue $\lambda = e^{i2\pi p/q}$ with $q \ge 3$ and $\varphi \ne 1$ the associated eigenfunction. Then $\lambda^{q+1} = \lambda$ and therefore $\varphi^{q+1} = \varphi$ and $\varphi^q \equiv 1$. Then \mathcal{P}_{φ} is a cyclic group of finite order. It can easily be shown that $\varphi^{q-1} = \varphi^{-1}$ is also a generator for \mathcal{P}_{φ} and, since $q \ge 3$ and $\varphi \ne 1$, $\varphi^{q-1} \ne \varphi$. Therefore, both φ and φ^{q-1} are principle eigenfunctions of U in $E = \{1, \varphi, \varphi^2, \dots, \varphi^{q-1}\}$.

Example V.1.4 shows that analytic observables are natural for dissipative systems.

Example V.1.4. Let $X = \mathbb{R}$ and $T(x) = \lambda x$, where $0 < \lambda < 1$. Let $\mathscr{F}_X = C(X)$ and $\varphi(x) := x$. Then

$$(U_T\varphi)(x) = \varphi(\lambda x) = \lambda x = \lambda \varphi(x).$$

Hence φ is an eigenfunction of U_T at eigenvalue λ . By corollary V.1.2, any finite product φ^m is also an eigenfunction of U_T at eigenvalue λ^m . This can easily be verified by the computation

$$(U_T \varphi^m)(x) = \varphi^m(\lambda x) = (\lambda x)^m = \lambda^m \varphi^m(x).$$

The eigenfunction φ is the principle eigenfunction of the system.

Let f be the analytic function

$$f(x) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} c_m(f)\varphi^m(x),$$

where $c_m(f) = \frac{f^{(m)}(0)}{m!}$. The partial sums $f_n(x) = \sum_{m=0}^n c_m(f)\varphi^m$ converge to funiformly on compact sets. Therefore, the natural observables to take for this system are the analytic functions.

Example V.1.5 (Koopman eigenfunctions corresponding to a finite-dimensional, diagonalizable linear system). Let $Y = \mathbb{C}^d$ with the Euclidean norm and A a $d \times d$ diagonalizable matrix. Define the dynamics as $\mathbf{y}_{k+1} = A\mathbf{y}_k$. Let $\{\mathbf{v}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{v}_d\}$ be a basis of eigenvectors of A corresponding to nonzero eigenvalues $\{\lambda_j\}_1^d$. Then $\mathbf{y} = \sum_1^d c_j \mathbf{v}_j$.

Let $\{\boldsymbol{w}_j\}_{j=1}^d$ be the adjoint basis to $\{\boldsymbol{v}_j\}_{j=1}^d$; then $\langle \boldsymbol{v}_j, \boldsymbol{w}_k \rangle = \delta_{jk}$ and \boldsymbol{w}_j is an eigenvector of A^* at eigenvalue $\bar{\lambda}_j$. Define observables by the linear functionals

$$\varphi_j(\boldsymbol{y}) = \langle \boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{w}_j \rangle$$
 (V.1.3)

for all y and j = 1, ..., d.

The action of the Koopman operator on φ_j is

$$\langle (U_{\mathsf{A}}arphi_j)(oldsymbol{y}) = arphi_j(\mathsf{A}oldsymbol{y}) = \langle \mathsf{A}oldsymbol{y}, oldsymbol{w}_j
angle = \langle oldsymbol{y}, \mathsf{A}^*oldsymbol{w}_j
angle = \langle oldsymbol{y}, oldsymbol{\lambda}_j oldsymbol{w}_j
angle = \lambda_j arphi_j(oldsymbol{y}).$$

Hence φ_j is a nonzero eigenfunction of U_A . Additionally, the product $(\varphi_1 \cdots \varphi_d)$ is not equivalently the zero functional. Therefore, theorem V.1.1 implies that for any $(m_1, \ldots, m_d) \subset \mathbb{N}_0^d$,

$$\left(\prod_{j=1}^{d} \lambda_j^{m_j}, \prod_{j=1}^{d} \varphi_j^{m_j}\right) \tag{V.1.4}$$

is an eigenpair for the corresponding Koopman operator.

Example V.1.6 (Koopman eigenfunctions of a finite-dimensional, linear system having generalized eigenvectors). Let $A : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^n$ be a linear operator and let $\{v_1, \ldots, v_n\}$ be a basis of generalized eigenvectors satisfying

$$(\mathsf{A} - \lambda I)\boldsymbol{v}_1 = \boldsymbol{0},$$
$$(\mathsf{A} - \lambda I)\boldsymbol{v}_j = \boldsymbol{v}_{j-1}, \quad (j \ge 2)$$

where $0 \neq \lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. Let $\{\boldsymbol{w}_1, \dots, \boldsymbol{w}_n\}$ be the adjoint basis corresponding to $\{\boldsymbol{v}_1, \dots, \boldsymbol{v}_n\}$; i.e, $\langle \boldsymbol{v}_i, \boldsymbol{w}_j \rangle = \delta_{i,j}$. It can easily be shown that

$$(\mathsf{A}^* - \bar{\lambda}I) \boldsymbol{w}_n = \mathbf{0},$$

 $(\mathsf{A}^* - \bar{\lambda}I) \boldsymbol{w}_j = \boldsymbol{w}_{j+1}, \quad (j < n),$

where A^* is the adjoint to A and $(\overline{\cdot})$ denotes complex conjugation. Let U_A be the Koopman operator corresponding to A and define $\varphi_j : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}$ by $\varphi_j(\boldsymbol{x}) = \langle \boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{w}_j \rangle$. Then

$$U_{\mathsf{A}}\varphi_n(\boldsymbol{x}) = \varphi_n(\mathsf{A}\boldsymbol{x}) = \langle \mathsf{A}\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{w}_n \rangle = \langle \boldsymbol{x}, \mathsf{A}^*\boldsymbol{w}_n \rangle = \langle \boldsymbol{x}, \bar{\lambda}\boldsymbol{w}_n \rangle = \lambda \langle \boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{w}_n \rangle = \lambda \varphi_n(\boldsymbol{x}).$$

Additionally, for $1 \leq j < n$,

$$egin{aligned} U_{\mathsf{A}}arphi_j(oldsymbol{x}) &= ig\langle oldsymbol{x}, ar{\lambda}oldsymbol{w}_j + oldsymbol{w}_{j+1}ig
angle &= \lambdaig\langle oldsymbol{x}, oldsymbol{w}_j ig
angle + ig\langle oldsymbol{x}, oldsymbol{w}_{j+1}ig
angle &= \lambdaarphi_j(oldsymbol{x}) + arphi_{j+1}(oldsymbol{x}). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore $\{\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_n\}$ are generalized eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator satisfying

$$(U - \lambda I)\varphi_n = 0,$$

$$(U - \lambda I)\varphi_j = \varphi_{j+1}, \quad (1 \le j < n).$$
(V.1.5)

We note that contrary to the case of products of eigenfunctions, products of generalized eigenfunctions are not necessarily generalized eigenfunctions. That is, the set of generalized eigenfunctions is not closed under pointwise products. \Box

Definition V.1.7 (Pullback space of observables). Let \mathcal{M}_1 and \mathcal{M}_2 be locally compact metric spaces and (\mathcal{M}_1, Φ_1) and (\mathcal{M}_2, Φ_2) be continuous dynamical systems. Assume Φ_1 and Φ_2 are topologically conjugate under the homeomorphism $h: \mathcal{M}_1 \to \mathcal{M}_2$; i.e., $\Phi_1 = h^{-1} \circ \Phi_2 \circ h$. Assume $U_{\Phi_2}: \mathscr{F}_{\mathcal{M}_2} \to \mathscr{F}_{\mathcal{M}_2}$. Then

$$\mathscr{F}_{\mathcal{M}_1} := \mathscr{F}_{\mathcal{M}_2} \circ h = \{ f \circ h \mid f \in \mathscr{F}_{\mathcal{M}_2} \}$$
(V.1.6)

is called the pullback space of observables.

Theorem V.1.8 (Eigenfunctions of topologically conjugate dynamics). Let \mathcal{M}_1 and \mathcal{M}_2 be locally compact metric spaces. Let $\Phi_1 : \mathcal{M}_1 \to \mathcal{M}_1$ and $\Phi_2 : \mathcal{M}_2 \to \mathcal{M}_2$ be continuous maps that are topologically conjugate under the homeomorphism h:

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{M}_1 \xrightarrow{\Phi_1} \mathcal{M}_1 \\ h \\ \downarrow \\ \mathcal{M}_2 \xrightarrow{\Phi_2} \mathcal{M}_2 \end{array}$$

Figure V.1: The commutative diagram corresponding to the spaces in definition V.1.7 and theorem V.1.8.

 $\mathcal{M}_1 \to \mathcal{M}_2$; i.e., $\Phi_1 = h^{-1} \circ \Phi_2 \circ h$. Let $U_{\Phi_2} : \mathscr{F}_{\mathcal{M}_2} \to \mathscr{F}_{\mathcal{M}_2}$ be the Koopman operator associated with the dynamical system (\mathcal{M}_2, Φ_2) , where $\mathscr{F}_{\mathcal{M}_2} \subset C(Y, \mathbb{C})$. Let $\mathscr{F}_{\mathcal{M}_2} \subset C(X, \mathbb{C})$ and $U_{\Phi_1} : \mathscr{F}_{\mathcal{M}_1} \to \mathscr{F}_{\mathcal{M}_1}$.

Then if $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ is an eigenvalue of U_{Φ_2} having finite algebraic multiplicity and $\varphi \in \mathscr{F}_{\mathcal{M}_2}$ is an associated generalized eigenfunction, then $\varphi \circ h$ is a generalized eigenfunction of U_{Φ_1} if $\varphi \circ h \in \mathscr{F}_{\mathcal{M}_1}$ with eigenvalue λ .

Remark V.1.9. The theorem continues to hold if we have continuous dynamical systems and associated semigroups of Koopman operators.

Proof. By definition $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ has finite algebraic multiplicity if there is some $m < \infty$ such that $N((U_{\Phi_2} - \lambda I)^m) = N((U_{\Phi_2} - \lambda I)^{m+1})$. Let $\varphi \in \mathscr{F}_{\mathcal{M}_2}$ be a generalized eigenfunction of U_{Φ_2} corresponding to λ ; i.e., $(U_{\Phi_2} - \lambda I)^m \varphi(y) = 0$, for all $y \in \mathcal{M}_2$.

Assume $\varphi \circ h$ is in $\mathscr{F}_{\mathcal{M}_1}$. We claim that $(U_{\Phi_1} - \lambda I)^m (\varphi \circ h)(x) = 0$ for all $x \in \mathcal{M}_1$.

Fix $x \in \mathcal{M}_1$ and let y = h(x). The claim follows from the chain of equalities:

$$(U_{\Phi_1} - \lambda I)^m (\varphi \circ h)(x) = \sum_{k=0}^m \binom{m}{k} (-\lambda)^{m-k} U_S^k (\varphi \circ h)(x)$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^m \binom{m}{k} (-\lambda)^{m-k} (\varphi \circ h \circ \Phi_1^k)(x)$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^m \binom{m}{k} (-\lambda)^{m-k} (\varphi \circ \Phi_2^k \circ h)(x)$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^m \binom{m}{k} (-\lambda)^{m-k} (\varphi \circ \Phi_2^k)(y)$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^m \binom{m}{k} (-\lambda)^{m-k} U_{\Phi_2}^k (\varphi)(y)$$
$$= (U_{\Phi_2} - \lambda I)^m \varphi(y)$$
$$= 0.$$

Therefore, $\varphi \circ h$ is a generalized eigenfunction of U_S .

Example V.1.10. Consider the differential equation

$$\dot{x} = -x + x^3$$
$$\dot{y} = -y,$$

 $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$. The system has equilibrium points at $(x^*, y^*) = (0, 0), (\pm 1, 0)$, where (0,0) is asymptotically stable with basin of attraction $D = (-1, 1) \times \mathbb{R}$. The solution of the nonlinear system is

$$x(t) = \frac{x_0}{\sqrt{(1 - x_0^2)e^{2(t - t_0)} + x_0^2}}$$

$$y(t) = y_0 e^{-(t - t_0)}$$
(V.1.7)

and the solution to the linearization about (0,0) is

$$u(t) = u_0 e^{-(t-t_0)}$$

 $v(t) = v_0 e^{-(t-t_0)}$
(V.1.8)

Fix a time-step $0 < \Delta t \ll 1$ and put $\lambda = e^{-\Delta t} < 1$. Then defining $x_k := x(k\Delta t)$

(and similarly for y), we obtain the nonlinear map $T = (T_1, T_2) : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$,

$$T_1^k(x_0) = x_k = \frac{\lambda^k x_0}{\sqrt{(1 - x_0^2) + \lambda^{2k} x_0^2}}$$
$$T_2^k(y_0) = y_k = y_0 \lambda^k.$$

and the linear map $\mathsf{A}=(\mathsf{A}_1,\mathsf{A}_2):\mathbb{R}^2\to\mathbb{R}^2$

$$\mathsf{A}_1^k u_0 = u_k = \lambda^k u_0$$
$$\mathsf{A}_2^k v_0 = v_k = \lambda^k v_0.$$

A homeomorphism $h : D \to \mathbb{R}^2$ that makes the nonlinear and linear maps, T and A, topologically conjugate can be found using equations (V.1.7) and (V.1.8). Let $h(x,y) = (h_1(x,y), h_2(x,y)) = (u, v)$. Note that since the dynamics for y are already linear we can identify y and v everywhere so that $v = h_2(x,y) = y$. To get $h_1(x,y)$, we identify $x_0 = u_0 = r$ for 0 < r very close to the origin, find the homeomorphism, and then let $r \to 0$. For any fixed r > 0, we get the map

$$u = h_{1,r}(x,y) = x\sqrt{\frac{1-r^2}{1-x^2}}.$$

Then

$$(u,v) = h(x,y) = \left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{1-x^2}}, y\right)$$
 (V.1.9)

makes the dynamics topologically conjugate

According to corollary V.1.2, the eigenfunctions of the linearized Koopman operator are $\varphi(u, v) = u^m v^n$, with eigenvalues λ^{m+n} , for $m, n \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Therefore, the eigenfunctions for the nonlinear system are of the form

$$\psi(x,y) = (\varphi \circ h)(x,y) = \varphi\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{1-x^2}}, y\right) = \frac{x^m y^n}{(1-x^2)^{m/2}}$$
(V.1.10)

and have the eigenvalues λ^{m+n} .

Example V.1.11. This example shows using theorem V.1.8 in the case when the linearized dynamics posses generalized eigenvectors. Let $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_4) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times [0, 1) \times \mathbb{R}^+ \times [-\pi, \pi)$, and consider the discrete-time dynamical systems given by

$$S(\boldsymbol{x}) = \begin{bmatrix} f_1(x_1) \\ f_2(x_2) \\ f_3(x_3, x_4) \\ f_4(x_4) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} x_1 + \frac{1}{2}(1 - x_1) \\ x_2 + \omega, \mod 1 \\ x_3[\lambda^2 + 2\lambda\cos(x_4)\sin(x_4) + \sin^2(x_4)]^{1/2} \\ \arctan\left(\frac{\lambda\sin(x_4)}{\lambda\cos(x_4) + \sin(x_4)}\right) \end{bmatrix}, \quad (V.1.11)$$

where $\omega \in (\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}) \setminus \mathbb{Q}$ and $0 < \lambda < 1$. This system has a globally attracting limit cycle in the complex plane defined by the first two coordinates $(z = x_1 \exp(i2\pi x_2) \in \mathbb{C})$. Consider the function

$$h(\boldsymbol{x}) = h(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4) = \begin{bmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \cos x_4 \\ x_3 \sin x_4 \end{bmatrix}$$
(V.1.12)

and the dynamical system

$$T(\boldsymbol{y}) = \begin{bmatrix} y_1 + \frac{1}{2}(1 - y_1) \\ y_2 + \omega, \mod 1 \\ \lambda y_3 + y_4 \\ \lambda y_4 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} y_1 + \frac{1}{2}(1 - y_1) \\ y_2 + \omega, \mod 1 \\ \boldsymbol{g}(y_3, y_4) \end{bmatrix}$$
(V.1.13)

where $\boldsymbol{y} = (y_1, \dots, y_4) \in \mathbb{R} + \times [0, 1) \times \mathbb{R}^2$ and $\boldsymbol{g}(y_3, y_4) = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda & 1 \\ 0 & \lambda \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} y_3 \\ y_4 \end{bmatrix}$. Then $(h \circ S)(\boldsymbol{x}) = (T \circ h)(\boldsymbol{x}).$

Additionally,
$$\mathbf{v}_3 = (0, 0, 1, 0)$$
 is an eigenvector of T and $\mathbf{v}_4 = (0, 0, 0, 1)$ is a
generalized eigenvector of T satisfying $T\mathbf{v}_4 = \lambda \mathbf{v}_4 + \mathbf{v}_3$. Following example V.1.6,
we form the adjoint basis, which in this case is just the canonical basis (e.g. $\mathbf{e}_3 =$
 $(0, 0, 1, 0)$). Then $\varphi_3(\mathbf{y}) := \langle \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{e}_3 \rangle$ and $\varphi_4(\mathbf{y}) := \langle \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{e}_4 \rangle$ are generalized eigenfunctions
of U_T (see example V.1.6). Since S and T are conjugate through h , then theorem V.1.8
guarantees that $\varphi_i \circ h$ ($i = 3, 4$) are generalized eigenfunctions of U_S . Using (V.1.12),

$$(\varphi_3 \circ h)(\boldsymbol{x}) = \langle h(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{e}_3 \rangle = \left\langle \begin{bmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \cos x_4 \\ x_3 \sin x_4 \end{bmatrix}, \boldsymbol{e}_3 \right\rangle = x_3 \cos x_4$$

and similarly $(\varphi_4 \circ h)(\boldsymbol{x}) = x_3 \sin x_4$.

108

V.2 Function spaces for dissipative dynamical systems

Assume that $\Phi : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ has $\ell < \infty$ attracting fixed points $\{x_j \mid j = 1, \ldots, \ell\}$ and let D_j be the basin of attraction of x_j , where the basin of attraction is defined as the largest open set in X such that $\Phi^k(x) \to x_j$ for all $x \in D_j$. Then $D_i \cap D_j = \emptyset$ for $i \neq j$ and we can consider the new space $D = D_1 \cup \cdots \cup D_\ell$ and the restricted dynamical system $(D, \Phi | D)$. A space of observables on B, can be given by the direct sum

$$\mathscr{F}_B = \mathscr{F}_{B_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathscr{F}_{B_\ell} \subset C(B, \mathbb{C}). \tag{V.2.1}$$

We have yet to specify exactly what the \mathscr{F}_{B_j} 's look like.

Remark V.2.1. More generally, \mathcal{M} can be decomposed into basins of attraction for more general compact attractors A_j . A space of observables on $B = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\ell} B_j$ can be given like in (V.2.1), where B_j is the basin of attraction for the attractors. \Box

Example V.2.2. This example shows why we must construct the function algebras as a direct sum on the basins of attraction, rather than defining the observables on all of X. Let X be the real line and $S : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be defined by the continuous map

$$S(x) = \begin{cases} \lambda_1(x - x_1) + x_1, & (x < x_2) \\ x, & (x = x_2) \\ \lambda_2(x - x_3) + x_3, & (x > x_2). \end{cases}$$

where $x_1 < x_2 < x_3$ and $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$ are positive real numbers. A candidate eigenfunction is $\varphi_{1,m}(x) = (x - x_1)^m$; for $x < x_2$,

$$U_S\varphi_{1,m}(x) = \varphi_{1,m}(\lambda_1(x-x_1)+x_1) = [\lambda_1(x-x_1)]^m = \lambda_1^m \varphi_{1,m}(x).$$

However,

$$U_S \varphi_{1,m}(x) = \begin{cases} \varphi_{1,m}(x), & (x = x_2) \\ \\ [\lambda_2(x - x_2) + x_2 - x_1]^m, & (x > x_2). \end{cases}$$

Therefore, if we allow $\varphi_{1,m}$ to be defined on all of \mathbb{R} , it cannot be an eigenfunction of the Koopman operator. In fact, if we define the domain for the observables to be all of \mathbb{R} , the only continuous eigenfunctions of U_S are the constant functions which are associated with the eigenvalue 1.

V.2.1 Polynomials over normed commutative rings

Let $(\mathscr{R}, +, \cdot)$ be a normed unital commutative ring with the norm $\|\cdot\|$. We additionally assume that $(\mathscr{R}, +)$ has a vector space structure over \mathbb{C} . Thus \mathscr{R} with the two binary operations and multiplication by scalars is an associative algebra.

Definition V.2.3. The space of polynomials over the ring \mathscr{R} in the indeterminates x_1, \ldots, x_d is defined by

$$\mathscr{R}[x] := \left\{ \sum_{|k| \le K} \psi_k \cdot x^k \; \middle| \; K \in \mathbb{N}_0, \psi_k \in \mathscr{R} \right\}, \tag{V.2.2}$$

where $x = (x_1, \dots, x_d), k = (k_1, \dots, k_d) \in \mathbb{N}_0^d, |k| := \sum_{j=1}^d |k_j|$, and $x^k := x_1^{k_1} \cdots x_d^{k_d}$.

These are just regular polynomials with coefficients taking values in \mathscr{R} rather than \mathbb{R} or \mathbb{C} . The space $\mathscr{R}[x]$ is a normed unital commutative ring under the normal operations of addition and convolution products for polynomials. The space $\mathscr{R}[x]$ is isomorphic to the sequence space

$$c_{00}(\mathscr{R}^{\mathbb{N}_0^d}) = \left\{ \{\psi_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0^d} \mid \psi_k \in \mathscr{R}, F \subset \mathbb{N}_0^d \text{ finite}, \forall k \in F^c, \psi_k = 0 \right\}$$

under the ring isomorphism $i : \mathscr{R}[x] \to c_{00}(\mathscr{R}^{N_0^d})$ given by $i(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0^d} \psi_k \cdot x^k) = \{\psi_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0^d}$. Only finitely many terms of the sequence are nonzero. The norm $\|\cdot\|$ on \mathscr{R} induces a norm on $\mathscr{R}[x]$:

$$\left\| \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0^d} \psi_k x^k \right\|_{\mathscr{R}, 2} = \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0^d} \|\psi_k\|^2 \right)^{1/2}.$$
 (V.2.3)

Expression (V.2.3) gives a norm for the sequence space as well. Under this norm, the isomorphism *i* is an isometric isomorphism. Define the coordinate projections $\pi_m : \mathscr{R}[x] \to \mathscr{R}$ by

$$\pi_m\left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{N}_0^d}\psi_k x^k\right) = \psi_m, \qquad (\forall m\in\mathbb{N}_0^d). \tag{V.2.4}$$

Definition V.2.4. Let \mathscr{B} be a separable reflexive Banach space under the norm $\|\cdot\|$. Let

$$\ell^2\left(\mathscr{B}^{\mathbb{N}_0^d}\right) := \left\{ \left\{ \psi_k \right\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0^d} \middle| \psi_k \in \mathscr{B}, \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0^d} \|\psi_k\|^2 < \infty \right\}.$$
(V.2.5)

Definition V.2.5 (\mathscr{B} -Hardy space). If \mathscr{B} a separable reflexive Banach space under the norm $\|\cdot\|$ and $(\mathscr{R}, +)$ is a dense subspace of \mathscr{B} , denote the completion of $\mathscr{R}[x]$ under the ℓ^2 polynomial norm (V.2.3) by $H^2_{\mathscr{B}}$. The completion is

$$H_{\mathscr{B}}^{2} = \left\{ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}_{0}^{d}} \psi_{k} x^{k} \middle| \psi_{k} \in \mathscr{B}, \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}_{0}^{d}} \|\psi_{k}\|^{2} < \infty \right\}.$$
(V.2.6)

Lemma V.2.6. Let $(\mathscr{R}, +)$ be a dense subspace of a separable reflexive Banach space \mathscr{B} under the norm $\|\cdot\|$. Then $H^2_{\mathscr{B}}$ is isometrically isomorphic to $\ell^2\left(\mathscr{B}^{\mathbb{N}^d_0}\right)$.

Proof. Let $c_{00}(\mathscr{B}^{\mathbb{N}_0^d})$ be the subspace of $\ell^2\left(\mathscr{B}^{\mathbb{N}_0^d}\right)$ consisting of elements having only finitely many nonzero terms. Since $(\mathscr{R}, +)$ is dense in \mathscr{B} , then $\mathscr{R}[x]$ is isometrically isomorphic to a subspace dense in $c_{00}(\mathscr{B}^{\mathbb{N}_0^d})$. Since $c_{00}(\mathscr{B}^{\mathbb{N}_0^d})$ is dense in $\ell^2\left(\mathscr{B}^{\mathbb{N}_0^d}\right)$, then $\mathscr{R}[x]$ is also isometrically isomorphic to a subspace dense in $\ell^2\left(\mathscr{B}^{\mathbb{N}_0^d}\right)$.

Proposition V.2.7. Let $(\mathscr{R}, +)$, as a vector space, be a dense subspace of a separable, reflexive Banach space. Then $H^2_{\mathscr{B}}$ is locally sequentially weakly compact.

Proof. Since \mathscr{B} is separable and reflexive, so is $H^2_{\mathscr{B}}$ ([Woj91], p.44). Fix $\psi \in H^2_{\mathscr{B}}$ and consider the closed neighborhood $U = \left\{\varphi \in H^2_{\mathscr{B}} \mid \|\varphi - \psi\|_{\mathscr{R},2} \leq \varepsilon\right\}$. This is a bounded neighborhood of ψ . Since $H^2_{\mathscr{B}}$ is both a separable and reflexive Banach space, the sequential version of the Banach-Alaoglu theorem implies that this neighborhood is sequentially weakly compact. Since this is true for every ψ , then $H^2_{\mathscr{B}}$ is locally sequentially weakly compact. \Box

In this dissertation, \mathscr{B} will be a separable reflexive Banach space of functions whose domain is the attractor of the dynamical system. The normed ring \mathscr{R} will be a dense subspace of \mathscr{B} where the ring multiplication is given by pointwise products of functions.

We should remark that while $H^2_{\mathscr{B}}$ is a well-defined Banach space, elements of it are not necessarily well-defined observables on \mathscr{X} even though all polynomials in $\mathscr{R}[x]$ are. For example, let $\mathscr{X} = \mathbb{R}^d$. Consider a point of \mathbb{R}^d having at least one coordinate x_i satisfying $|x_i| > 1$. Then there are infinitely many elements of $H^2_{\mathscr{B}}$ such that the infinite series diverges if we substitute the above point in for the indeterminates. Hence, not all elements of $H^2_{\mathscr{B}}$ define finite-valued functions on \mathbb{R}^d . On the other hand, if \mathscr{X} is contained strictly in the open unit cube of \mathbb{R}^d , then every series in $H^2_{\mathscr{B}}$ is convergent, since $|x_i| < 1$ for every point $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_d)$. If we restrict our attention to bounded subsets B in \mathbb{R}^d containing the origin, by a change of variables g which maps B into a set g(B) that is contained strictly in the unit cube, we get a well-defined space of observables $H^2_{\mathscr{B}} \circ g$, where $H^2_{\mathscr{B}}$ is defined on the open unit cube.

V.2.2 Asymptotically stable fixed points in \mathbb{C}^d

Linear Dynamical System.

Example V.2.8 (Stable diagonalizable linear system). Let $\mathscr{Y} = \mathbb{C}^d$ with the Euclidean norm and A a $d \times d$ diagonalizable matrix. Define the dynamics as $\boldsymbol{y}_{k+1} = A\boldsymbol{y}_k$. Let $\{\boldsymbol{v}_1, \ldots, \boldsymbol{v}_d\}$ be a basis of eigenvectors of A corresponding to nonzero eigenvalues $\{\lambda_j\}_1^d$. Then $\boldsymbol{y} = \sum_{j=1}^d c_j \boldsymbol{v}_j$.

Let $\{\boldsymbol{w}_j\}_{j=1}^d$ be the adjoint basis to $\{\boldsymbol{v}_j\}_{j=1}^d$; then $\langle \boldsymbol{v}_j, \boldsymbol{w}_k \rangle = \delta_{jk}$ and \boldsymbol{w}_j is an eigenvector of A^* at eigenvalue $\bar{\lambda}_j$. Define observables by the linear functionals

$$\varphi_j(\boldsymbol{y}) = \langle \boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{w}_j \rangle$$
 (V.2.7)

for all \boldsymbol{y} and $j = 1, \ldots, d$. The observable φ_j is a nonzero eigenfunction of U_A since

$$(U_{\mathsf{A}}\varphi_j)(\boldsymbol{y}) = \varphi_j(\mathsf{A}\boldsymbol{y}) = \langle \mathsf{A}\boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{w}_j \rangle = \langle \boldsymbol{y}, \mathsf{A}^*\boldsymbol{w}_j \rangle = \langle \boldsymbol{y}, \bar{\lambda}_j \boldsymbol{w}_j \rangle = \lambda_j \varphi_j(\boldsymbol{y}).$$

Additionally, the product $(\varphi_1 \cdots \varphi_d)$ is not equivalently the zero functional. Therefore, the semigroup property for eigenfunctions (thm. V.1.1) implies that for any $(m_1, \ldots, m_d) \subset \mathbb{N}_0^d$,

$$\left(\prod_{j=1}^{d} \lambda_j^{m_j}, \prod_{j=1}^{d} \varphi_j^{m_j}\right) \tag{V.2.8}$$

is an eigenpair for the corresponding Koopman operator.

Let $\mathcal{G} = \{\varphi_j : \mathscr{Y} \to \mathbb{C} \mid \forall j = 1, ..., d\}$, be called the principle eigenfunctions of U_A defined in (V.2.7) above. Define the sets of functions

$$\mathscr{P}_{\mathcal{G}} := \left\{ c : \mathscr{Y} \to \mathbb{C} \; \middle| \; c(\boldsymbol{y}) = \prod_{j=1}^{d} \varphi_j^{m_j}(\boldsymbol{y}), (m_1, \dots, m_d) \subset \mathbb{N}_0^d \right\}$$

and

$$\mathscr{R}[\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}] := \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i c_i(\boldsymbol{y}) \mid n \in \mathbb{N}, \alpha_i \in \mathbb{C}, c_i \in \mathscr{P}_{\mathcal{G}} \right\}.$$
(V.2.9)

Then, $\mathscr{R}[\hat{y}]$, where $\hat{y} = (\varphi_1(y), \ldots, \varphi_d(y))$, is the space of polynomials over the normed unital commutative ring $L^2(\mathbb{C}^d, \delta_0)$, where δ_0 is the Dirac measure supported at y = 0. The ring $\mathscr{R}[\hat{y}]$ is isomorphic to $\mathbb{C}[\hat{y}]$. Furthermore, $\mathscr{R}[\hat{y}]$ is the space of finite linear combinations of eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator corresponding to the dynamical system $(\mathscr{Y}, \mathsf{A})$.

To see this, put $V = [\boldsymbol{v}_1, \dots, \boldsymbol{v}_d]$ and $W = [\boldsymbol{w}_1, \dots, \boldsymbol{w}_d]$. Define the new coordinates $\hat{\boldsymbol{y}} = [\hat{y}_1, \dots, \hat{y}_d]^T$ by the mapping $\hat{\boldsymbol{y}} = g(\boldsymbol{y}) = W^* \boldsymbol{y}$, so that, in particular, $\hat{y}_j = \varphi_j(\boldsymbol{y})$. This is invertible since W is and the inverse is given by $\boldsymbol{y} = g^{-1}(\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}) = \nabla \hat{\boldsymbol{y}}$. By definition of the functions $c_i \in \mathscr{P}_{\mathcal{G}}$, $c_i(\boldsymbol{y}) = \prod_{j=1}^d \varphi_j^{m_{j,i}}(\boldsymbol{y}) = \prod_{j=1}^d \hat{y}_j^{m_{j,i}} = \hat{\boldsymbol{y}}^{m_i}$ for $\boldsymbol{m}_i \in \mathbb{N}_0^d$. Since $L^2(\mathbb{C}^d, \delta_0) \cong \mathbb{C}$, then every element of $\mathscr{R}[\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}]$ has the form $\sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i \hat{\boldsymbol{y}}^{\boldsymbol{m}_i}$ which is a polynomial in the indeterminates $\hat{y}_1, \ldots, \hat{y}_d$ with coefficient in $\mathbb{C} \cong L^2(\mathbb{C}^d, \delta)$. Therefore, $\mathscr{R}[\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}]$ is the space of polynomials over the normed unital commutative ring $L^2(\delta_0)$ and $\mathscr{R}[\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}] \cong \mathbb{C}[\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}]$. The final result follows directly from $\mathscr{P}_{\mathcal{G}}$ consisting of eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator and the definition of $\mathscr{R}[\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}]$. \Box

Proposition V.2.9. If $\mathscr{R}[\hat{y}]$ is the ring of polynomials (V.2.9), then the associated Koopman operator U_{A} leaves $\mathscr{R}_{K}[\hat{y}]$ invariant for all $K \in \mathbb{N}_{0}$.

Proof. Recall $\mathscr{R}_K[\hat{y}]$ is the space of polynomials having multi-degree modulus no greater than K. This space has the form

$$\mathscr{R}_{K}[\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}] = \left\{ \sum_{|\boldsymbol{k}| \leq K} \psi_{\boldsymbol{k}}(\hat{y}_{1}^{k_{1}} \cdots \hat{y}^{k_{d}}) \right\} = \left\{ \sum_{|\boldsymbol{k}| \leq K} \psi_{\boldsymbol{k}}\left(\varphi_{1}^{k_{1}} \cdots \varphi_{d}^{k_{d}}\right)(\boldsymbol{y}) \right\}$$

where φ_j are the eigenfunctions in (V.2.7) of the Koopman operator and $\psi_k \in \mathbb{C}$. Then

$$U\left[\sum_{|\boldsymbol{k}|\leq K}\psi_{\boldsymbol{k}}\left(\varphi_{1}^{k_{1}}\cdots\varphi_{d}^{k_{d}}\right)(\boldsymbol{y})\right] = \sum_{|\boldsymbol{k}|\leq K}\psi_{\boldsymbol{k}}\left(\lambda_{1}^{k_{1}}\cdots\lambda_{d}^{k_{d}}\right)\left(\varphi_{1}^{k_{1}}\cdots\varphi_{d}^{k_{d}}\right)(\boldsymbol{y})$$
$$= \sum_{|\boldsymbol{k}|\leq K}\hat{\psi}_{\boldsymbol{k}}\left(\varphi_{1}^{k_{1}}\cdots\varphi_{d}^{k_{d}}\right)(\boldsymbol{y})$$
$$= \sum_{|\boldsymbol{k}|\leq K}\hat{\psi}_{\boldsymbol{k}}(\hat{y}_{1}^{k_{1}}\cdots\hat{y}^{k_{d}}).$$

where $\hat{\psi}_{\boldsymbol{k}} := \left(\lambda_1^{k_1} \cdots \lambda_d^{k_d}\right) \cdot \psi_{\boldsymbol{k}}$ is in \mathbb{C} , since $\psi_k \in \mathbb{C}$.

Corollary V.2.10. $U_{\mathsf{A}} : H^2_{\mathscr{B}} \to H^2_{\mathscr{B}}$ is spectral, where $H^2_{\mathscr{B}}$ is the completion of the ring (V.2.9) under the norm (V.2.3).

Nonlinear Dynamical System.

Construction of observables for the nonlinear dynamical system can be constructed through a conjugacy map and a pullback construction (def. V.1.7). Assume $\Phi(x) =$ Ax + v(x), where $A := D\Phi(0)$ is the linearization of Φ around the origin, A is diagonalizable and all its eigenvalues are contained strictly inside the unit circle, and $v: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ is a C^2 -function. Then (\mathbb{R}^d, Φ) is a nonlinear dynamical system having an asymptotically stable fixed point at 0. Let $D \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be the basin of attraction for the fixed point; it is possibly unbounded. Let $(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathsf{A})$ be the linearization of the dynamics around the fixed point. Due to a theorem of Lan and Mezić (thm. 2.4, [LM13]), there is a diffeomorphism $h: D \to h(D)$ under which the nonlinear and linear dynamics are topologically conjugate; $h \circ \Phi = \mathsf{A} \circ g$. Let $B \subset \mathscr{X}$ be a simply connected, bounded, positively invariant open set in \mathscr{X} such that $h(B) \subset Q_r \subset \mathscr{Y}$, where Q_r is a cube in \mathscr{Y} . Scaling Q_r to the unit cube Q_1 via the smooth diffeomorphism $g: Q_r \to Q_1$ gives $(g \circ h)(B) \subset Q_1$. Then if $\psi \in \mathscr{F}$ is an eigenfunction for $U_{\hat{\mathsf{A}}}:\mathscr{F}\to\mathscr{F}$ at λ , then $\psi\circ g\circ h$ is an eigenfunction for U_{Φ} at eigenvalue λ (see thm. V.1.8). The observable space for U_{Φ} will be given as $\mathscr{F} \circ g \circ h = \{\varphi \circ g \circ h \mid \varphi \in \mathscr{F}\}.$ See figure V.2 to for a schematic.

Let $\mathscr{R}[\hat{y}]$ be the polynomials defined in example V.2.8 with the indeterminates taking values in $D_1 := (g \circ h)(B) \subset Q_1$. Take the completion of this space, as in lemma V.2.6, and denote it as $H^2_{\mathscr{B}}(D_1)$. Since all the coordinates have a modulus strictly smaller than 1, this space can be identified with a well-defined Banach space



Figure V.2: Chain of topological conjugacies used to construct eigenfunctions in the basin of attraction B of the fixed point for the Koopman operator corresponding to the nonlinear system. The existence if $h: B \to h(B)$ is guaranteed by a theorem in [LM13].

of functions having domain $D_1 = (g \circ h)(B)$. Using the conjugacies, we can define a Banach space of observables for the nonlinear dynamical system having domain B;

$$\mathscr{F}_{\Phi} := H^2_{\mathscr{B}} \circ g \circ h := \left\{ (\psi \circ g \circ h)(\boldsymbol{x}) \mid \psi \in H^2_{\mathscr{B}}(D_1), \boldsymbol{x} \in B \right\}.$$
(V.2.10)

By proposition V.2.7, this space is locally sequentially weakly compact Banach space in addition to being separable.

Proposition V.2.11. Let $U_{\Phi} : \mathscr{F}_{\Phi} \to \mathscr{F}_{\Phi}$ be the Koopman operator associated with Φ . Assume $\Phi(x) = Ax + v(x)$, where A is a diagonalizable matrix with eigenvalues $\{\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_d\}$ that satisfy $|\lambda_i| < 1$. Then U_{Φ} is a spectral operator of scalar type and the spectrum of U_{Φ} is

$$\sigma(U_{\Phi}) = \left\{ \prod_{i=1}^{d} \lambda_i^{k_i} \mid \forall i \in \{1, \dots, d\}, k_i \in \mathbb{N}_0 \right\}.$$
 (V.2.11)

Proof. Elements of \mathscr{F}_{Φ} are infinite linear combinations of eigenfunctions of U_{Φ} . This follows from the construction of $H^2_{\mathscr{B}}$ as infinite linear combinations of eigenfunctions of U_{A} , that Φ and A are topologically conjugate in the entire basin of attraction by theorem 2.4 of [LM13], and theorem V.1.8. The spectral measure $E : \sigma(U) \to \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F}_{\Phi})$ is given by

$$E(\Lambda)\psi = \sum_{\left\{\boldsymbol{k}\in\mathbb{N}_{0}^{d}|\boldsymbol{\lambda}^{\boldsymbol{k}}\in\Lambda\right\}}\alpha_{\boldsymbol{k}}\cdot\left[\left(\varphi_{1}\cdots\varphi_{d}\right)^{\boldsymbol{k}}\circ g\circ h\right],\qquad(\psi\in\mathscr{F}_{\Phi}),\tag{V.2.12}$$

where $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}), \psi = \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{N}_0^d} \alpha_{\mathbf{k}} \cdot [(\varphi_1 \cdots \varphi_d)^{\mathbf{k}} \circ g \circ h]$, and $(\varphi_1 \cdots \varphi_d)^{\mathbf{k}} = (\varphi_1^{k_1} \cdots \varphi_d^{k_d})$ for $\mathbf{k} = (k_1, \ldots, k_d)$. Since the norm on this space is given by the ℓ^2 -norm on coefficients, then its easy to show that $||E|| \leq 1$, so that, in particular, the projections defined by the spectral measure form an equicontinuous family of operators. It is straight forward to verify all the remaining properties spectral measures.

Since $U_{\Phi} : \mathscr{F}_{\Phi} \to \mathscr{F}_{\Phi}$ is spectral and has dominating point spectrum concentrated on isolated rings, the GLA theorems can be applied in this space.

Remark V.2.12. Put d = 1 in example V.2.8. It can be shown that $\varphi(y) = y$ is an eigenfunction of the Koopman operator for $\lambda = A$. This implies that $\varphi_k(y) = y^k$ is also an eigenfunction at eigenvalue λ^k . Then elements of the completion $H^2_{\mathscr{B}}$ of $\mathscr{R}[\hat{y}]$, identified with a space of observables on \mathbb{D} , is

$$H^{2}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{D}) = \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \alpha_{k} y^{k} \mid \alpha_{k} \in \mathbb{C}, \sum_{k \ge 0} |\alpha_{k}|^{2} < \infty, y \in \mathbb{D} \right\},\$$

since $\mathscr{B} = \mathbb{C}$. This is the Hardy Hilbert space of observables $H^2(\mathbb{D})$. The spectrum of

the Koopman operator on this space is

$$\{\lambda^k \mid k = 0, 1, 2, \ldots\},$$
 (V.2.13)

For a nonlinear dynamical system topologically conjugate to this linear one, we get as the pullback space of observables

$$\mathscr{F} = H^2_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{D}) \circ g \circ h, \qquad (V.2.14)$$

where g and h are the same conjugacy maps from above. The composition operator on this space is spectral. Furthermore, by Poincaré's linearization theorem [AL88], if the nonlinear dynamical system is a holomorphic diffeomorphism with a fixed point at zero and the linearization of the map at the fixed point has modulus strictly less than 1, then the conjugacy map $g \circ h$ is biholomorphic in a neighborhood of zero. As long as for all $n \ge 0$, f^n is invertible on its image and the inverse is analytic, the local conjugacy can be extended biholomorphically to the entire disc [LM13]. Then the map $f \mapsto f \circ g \circ h$ defines a composition operator on $H^2(\mathbb{D})$ (thm. 3.2.1(i), [SM93]). Additionally, by part (iii) of the same theorem, this composition operator is a bijection. Therefore, the pullback space of observables \mathscr{F} for the analytic map is equivalent to $H^2(\mathbb{D})$.

Remark V.2.13. In Cowen and MacCluer [CM94], the spectra of composition operators on weighted Hardy spaces are investigated. In one particular result, the authors prove that when $\Phi : \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{D}$ is an univalent, holomorphic map that is not an automorphism and satisfies $\Phi(\mathbb{D}) \subset \mathbb{D}$ and $\Phi(0) = 0$, then the spectrum of the associated Koopman operator on (the classical Hardy space) $H^2(\mathbb{D})$ is

$$\sigma(U_{\Phi}) = \{\lambda \mid |\lambda| \le \tilde{\rho}\} \cup \{\Phi'(0)^k \mid k = 1, 2, ...\} \cup \{1\}, \qquad (V.2.15)$$

where $\tilde{\rho}$ is the essential spectral radius of Φ and $\Phi'(0) \neq 0$ is the derivative of Φ at 0. Note that $\Phi'(0)$ is the eigenvalue of the linearized dynamics around the fixed point at 0. The conditions put on Φ merely guarantee that 0 is a globally attracting (in the disc) fixed point.

Clearly, the last two sets of (V.2.15) are equivalent to (V.2.13) and merely come from the linearized dynamics. The linear dynamics $w \mapsto \Phi'(0)w$ and the nonlinear dynamics $z \mapsto \Phi(z)$ are topologically conjugate in the disc under some diffeomorphism $g: \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{D}$; i.e., $g \circ \Phi = \Phi'(0) \circ g$. This paper defines the pullback space (V.2.14), on which the Koopman operator corresponding to the nonlinear dynamics Φ is spectral, whereas Cowen and MacCluer consider the composition operator acting on $H^2(\mathbb{D})$ and as a result obtain an additional term in the spectrum, namely $\{\lambda \mid |\lambda| \leq \tilde{\rho}\}$. Using the same argument as in the previous remark, if the conjugacy is biholomorphic in the disc, then $\mathscr{F} \equiv H^2(\mathbb{D})$. As we have shown, the composition operator has only point spectra. This is a sharpening of the result by Cowen and MacCluer when applied to this specific class of maps.

Even if the conjugacy is not biholomorphic and we consider the composition operator U_{Φ} on $H^2(\mathbb{D})$ rather than the pullback space $\mathscr{F} = H^2_{\mathscr{B}} \circ g \circ h$, we can apply the GLA theorems in this paper to construct the eigenfunctions as long as $\tilde{\rho} < \Phi'(0)$. In this case, U_{Φ} has a dominating point spectrum (take $R = \tilde{\rho}$ in def. III.1.5).

V.2.3 Asymptotically stable limit cycles in \mathbb{R}^2

Consider a stable limit cycle in the plane, topologically conjugate in a neighborhood of the limit cycle to the linearized system

$$\dot{x} = \rho(s)x \tag{V.2.16}$$
$$\dot{s} = 1$$

where $x \in \mathbb{R}$, $s \in S^1 = \mathbb{Z}/2\pi$, and $\rho(s)$ is 2π periodic. Letting $\Phi_t : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ be the flow map of the system, the continuous time Koopman semigroup is formally defined as $U(t)f = f \circ \Phi_t$. Eigenfunctions of the semigroup are functions φ taking the form $U(t)\varphi = \lambda^t \varphi$. We call $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ an eigenvalue of the Koopman semigroup.

It was shown in [LM11] that the Koopman semigroup associated with the dynamical system (V.2.16) has eigenfunctions of the form,

$$g_m(x,s) = x^m e^{-m \int_0^s (\rho(\bar{s}) - \rho^*) d\bar{s}}, \quad (m \in \mathbb{N}_0)$$

$$h_n(x,s) = e^{ins}, \quad (n \in \mathbb{Z})$$

(V.2.17)

with eigenvalues

$$\lambda_m = e^{m\rho^*}$$
, and
 $\mu_n = e^{in}$,

respectively, and where $\rho^* = (2\pi)^{-1} \int_0^{2\pi} \rho(s) ds$. We have that $\rho^* < 0$ since the limit cycle is asymptotically stable.

By the semigroup property of eigenfunctions, $b_{m,n}(x,s) = g_m(x,s) \cdot h_n(x,s)$ is an eigenfunction having eigenvalue $e^{(m\rho^*+in)}$. Let \mathscr{V} be the subspace given by the linear

span of elements of the form $b_{m,n} = g_m \cdot h_n$;

$$\mathscr{V} := \left\{ \sum_{k=1}^{K} a_k (g_{m_k} \cdot h_{n_k}) \middle| K \in \mathbb{N}, a_k \in \mathbb{C}, m_k \in \mathbb{N}_0, n_k \in \mathbb{Z} \right\}
= \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^{K} a_k x^k e^{-k \int_0^s (\rho(\bar{s}) - \rho^*) d\bar{s}} e^{in_k s} \middle| K \in \mathbb{N}_0, n_k \in \mathbb{Z}, a_k \in \mathbb{C} \right\}.$$
(V.2.18)

We show that \mathscr{V} is contained in a space of polynomials over a normed unital commutative ring \mathscr{R} that is dense in $L^2(S^1, \mu)$, where μ is the normalized Haar measure $d\mu = (2\pi)^{-1} ds$. Elements of \mathscr{V} can be written in the form

$$\mathscr{V} = \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^{K} x^k e^{-k \int_0^s (\rho(\bar{s}) - \rho^*) d\bar{s}} \sum_{|n| \le N_k} a_{k,n} e^{ins} \ \middle| \ K \in \mathbb{N}_0, a_{k,n} \in \mathbb{C}, n \in \mathbb{Z}, N_k \in \mathbb{N}_0 \right\}.$$
(V.2.19)

Define \mathcal{W} as

$$\mathscr{W} := \left\{ e^{-m \int_0^s (\rho(\bar{s}) - \rho^*) d\bar{s}} \sum_{|n| \le N} a_n e^{ins} \; \middle| \; m \in \mathbb{N}_0, N \in \mathbb{N}_0, a_n \in \mathbb{C} \right\}$$
(V.2.20)

and $\mathcal R$ as

$$\mathscr{R} := \lim \mathscr{W} = \left\{ \sum_{k=1}^{K} b_k w_k(s) \; \middle| \; K \in \mathbb{N}, w_k \in \mathscr{W}, b_k \in \mathbb{C} \right\}.$$
(V.2.21)

Lemma V.2.14. \mathscr{R} is a normed unital commutative ring under pointwise products of functions with norm $\|f\|_2 = (\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} |f(s)|^2 ds)^{1/2}$.

Proof. The unit function 1, taking values $\mathbf{1}(s) = 1$, is contained in \mathscr{W} and has norm $\|\mathbf{1}\|_2 = 1$; take m = 0 and $a_n = 0$ for $|n| \neq 0$ and $a_0 = 1$ in (V.2.20). Similarly, for any $c \in \mathbb{C}$, $c\mathbf{1}$ is in \mathscr{W} and has finite norm. This implies that the constant functions are in \mathscr{R} . Clearly, products of elements in \mathscr{W} commute. This implies that these products are that products of elements from \mathscr{R} commute. We must show that these products are

also in \mathscr{R} and have finite norm. Let w_j and w_k be in \mathscr{W} . It is a straightforward calculation to show that $(a_j w_j(s))(b_k w_k(s))$ is in \mathscr{W} for any $a_j, b_k \in \mathbb{C}$. It follows that \mathscr{R} is closed under pointwise products. Now let g(s) be in \mathscr{R} . This function is a finite linear combinations of elements of \mathscr{W} . But elements of \mathscr{W} are continuous functions on the compact interval $[0, 2\pi]$. Consequently, g(s) is also a continuous function on the compact interval. Therefore, there is some constant C_g such that $\sup_{0 \leq s \leq 2\pi} |g(s)| \leq C_g$. Thus $||g||_2 \leq C_g$. Now, let h(s) be another function in \mathscr{R} . We have shown that $g(s) \cdot h(s)$ is in \mathscr{R} . Furthermore, g(s)h(s) is a continuous function on the compact interval $[0, 2\pi]$. Therefore, $\sup |g(s)h(s)| \leq C_{gh}$ for $s \in [0, 2\pi]$ and the product also has finite norm.

Lemma V.2.15. \mathscr{W} is dense in $L^2(S^1, \mu)$. Consequently, \mathscr{R} is dense in $L^2(S^1, \mu)$.

Proof. $\{e^{ins}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$ is an orthonormal basis for $L^2(S^1,\mu)$. Put $\xi(s) = \int_0^s (\rho(\bar{s}) - \rho^*) d\bar{s}$, for $s \in [0, 2\pi]$. Since $\xi(s)$ is a continuous function on a closed interval, it is bounded; $|\xi(s)| \leq M$ for all s. Therefore, $0 < e^{-kM} \leq e^{-k\xi(s)} \leq e^{kM}$, where c_k is a constant depending on k. It follows that $e^{k\xi(s)}$ is a positive bounded function bounded away from 0.

Fix $f \in L^2(S^1, \mu)$. Since $e^{k\xi(s)}$ is a bounded function, it follows that $g_k(s) := e^{k\xi(s)}f(s)$ is in $L^2(S^1, \mu)$. For each $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a trigonometric polynomial such that $\left\|g_k - \sum_{|n| \le N} a_n e^{ins}\right\| < e^{kM}\varepsilon$. Therefore, $\left\|f - e^{-k\xi(s)}\sum_{|n| \le N} a_n e^{ins}\right\| < \varepsilon$. \Box Lemma V.2.16. $\mathscr{V} = \mathscr{R}[x]$.

Proof. This follows directly from the definitions of \mathscr{V}, \mathscr{W} , and \mathscr{R} .
Completing $\mathscr{R}[x]$ under the polynomial norm (V.2.3) gives the space consisting of elements of the form $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \psi_k x^k$ where $\psi_k \in L^2(S^1, \mu)$, and $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \|\psi_k\|_2^2 < \infty$. These are well-defined functions for |x| < 1. The completion $\mathscr{F} := H_{L^2}^2$ is not a ring. Furthermore, \mathscr{V} is dense in $H_{L^2}^2$.

Spectrum and spectral measure for the Koopman semigroup on $H_{L^2}^2$.

The linear space \mathscr{V} is generated by products of eigenfunctions of the Koopman semigroup and is dense in $H^2_{L^2}$. Eigenvalues of these eigenfunctions are of the form

$$\gamma_{k,n} = e^{(k\rho^* + in)}, \quad (k \in \mathbb{N}_0, \forall n \in \mathbb{Z}).$$
(V.2.22)

The set $\{\gamma_{k,n}\}$ is dense on isolated rings in the complex plane. Since $\rho^* < 1$, then $|\gamma_{k,n}| \leq 1$. It is easy to check that $||U(t)f||_{\mathscr{R},2} \leq ||f||_{\mathscr{R},2}$ for all $f \in \mathscr{V}$ and $t \geq 0$. Since \mathscr{V} is dense in $H^2_{L^2}$, we can extend U(t) to $H^2_{L^2}$ by continuity.

Let \mathscr{V}_K be the subspace of \mathscr{V} consisting of all elements for which the degree of x is at most K. That is, in the definition (V.2.19) of \mathscr{V} fix K rather than allowing it to run over all values of \mathbb{N}_0 .

Lemma V.2.17. The Koopman semigroup leaves \mathscr{V}_K invariant.

Proof. \mathscr{V}_K is generated by eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator.

Proposition V.2.18. The Koopman semigroup corresponding to the dynamical system (V.2.16) is a spectral operator of scalar type on $\mathscr{F} = H_{L^2}^2$.

Proof. We show this by constructing explicitly the spectral measure E so that $U(t)f = \int_{\mathbb{C}} z^t E(dz) f$ for $f \in H^2_{L^2}$. Let $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C})$ be the σ -algebra of Borel sets in the complex plane. Let $D \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C})$ and define

$$I(D) := \{(k, n) \in \mathbb{N}_0 \times \mathbb{Z} \mid \gamma_{k, n} \in D\},\$$

where $\gamma_{k,n}$ is defined in (V.2.22). This is the set of all indices corresponding to the eigenvalues $\gamma_{k,n}$ that are contained in D. Define the set function $E : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{V})$ as

$$E(D)f = \sum_{\substack{(k,n)\in I(D)\\k\leq K, |n|\leq N}} c_{k,n}(f) x^k e^{-k \int_0^s (\rho(\bar{s}) - \rho^*) d\bar{s}} e^{ins}, \qquad (V.2.23)$$

where

$$f(x,s) = \sum_{k=0}^{K} \sum_{|n| \le N} c_{k,n}(f) x^k e^{-k \int_0^s (\rho(\bar{s}) - \rho^*) d\bar{s}} e^{ins}$$

is the unique representation of $f \in \mathscr{V}$. The set function E commutes with U(t) for all t and

$$\|E(D)f\|_{\mathscr{R},2}^{2} := \sum_{\substack{(k,n)\in I(D)\\k\leq K, |n|\leq N}} |c_{k,n}(f)|^{2} \left\| e^{-k\int_{0}^{s}(\rho(\bar{s})-\rho^{*})d\bar{s}} e^{ins} \right\|_{2}^{2} \leq \|f\|_{\mathscr{R},2}^{2}$$

Therefore, E is an equibounded set function commuting with U(t). It is easy to show that E satisfies all the other properties of the spectral measure given in (III.2.6). Since E(D) is a bounded linear operator on \mathscr{V} and \mathscr{V} is dense in $H^2_{L^2}$, it can be extended by continuity to all of $H^2_{L^2}$.

Remark V.2.19. The same pullback space of observables corresponding to bounded open sets in the basin of attraction can be constructed as was done for the attracting

fixed point. Theorem 2.6 of [LM13] guarantees the existence of the required topological conjugacy valid in the entire basin of attraction of the limit cycle for appropriately regular nonlinear maps Φ in \mathbb{R}^2 possessing a stable limit cycle.

Chapter VI

Disscussion of the GLA and Future Work

In the analysis of nonlinear dynamical systems, spectral analysis of the Koopman operator offers much insight into the system. However, most of the spectral theory has dealt with the Koopman operator associated with a measure-preserving or nondissipative system. Many of the simplest examples of dynamical systems, and many practical systems, have dissipation or expansion present in them, and the traditional L^2 -spectral theory of the measure-preserving case cannot handle these systems. In order to fill this gap, this paper extended the theory to scalar-type spectral operators on locally convex linear topological spaces having a point spectrum that is not restricted to the unit circle. Projections onto these eigenspaces can be recovered by Laplace averages of the operator. When the point spectrum is contained in the unit circle, the Laplace averages of this paper reduce to the well-known Fourier averages used to compute projections for unitary operators in a Hilbert space.

The results in this paper, however, do not give a full spectral picture. There are restrictions on the placement of both the eigenvalues and the continuous parts of the spectrum in the complex plane. For example interleaving of the continuous and point spectrum cannot be immediately treated with the GLA theorems of this paper. In particular, we must assume the point spectrum is concentrated on isolated circles in the complex plane and additionally the operator either has a dominating or minimal point spectrum. Given some dynamical system, it is not clear a priori whether the corresponding Koopman operator satisfies these conditions and, if it does, what exactly a typical observable might look like.

These questions were answered here for finite-dimensional, dynamical systems possessing hyperbolic attracting fixed points in \mathbb{C}^d and attracting limit cycles in \mathbb{R}^2 . When the dynamics are restricted to some bounded set in a basin of attraction for a fixed point, a space of observables can be constructed so that the spectrum of the Koopman operator possesses the properties assumed in this paper, namely that $\sigma(\mathbf{U})$ has dominating or minimal point spectrum and eigenvalues are concentrated on isolated circles. Formal eigenfunctions for the linearized system were used to generate a space of observables. As an algebraic object, this space was a subspace of the space of polynomials over a normed unital commutative ring. The indeterminates of these polynomials corresponded to coordinates corresponding to stable directions of the attractor while the coefficients took values in a normed ring consisting of observables supported on the attractor. This polynomial space was completed using an ℓ^2 polynomial norm to a Banach space that was identifiable with a space of observables defined on a bounded subset in the basin of attraction. Observables for the topologically conjugate nonlinear system were merely the result of composing the space of observable for the Koopman operator of the linearized system with the conjugacy maps. We conjecture that for any bounded attractor with a basin of attraction that can be properly "coordinatized", the natural space of observables for the Koopman operator will be a space of polynomials (and its completion) over a normed unital commutative ring, with the ring formed from observables supported on the attractor.

Numerical considerations were not treated in this paper. Efficient numerical algorithms are needed to make the results of this paper useful in applied settings. This will be the subject of future work. To this end, we mention work that has been done on discrete Laplace transforms by Rokhlin [Rok88], Strain [Str92], and Anderson [And13]. It may be that these algorithms can be leveraged into a package to compute the projections. Speed and numerical stability will be primary concerns since these algorithms require good estimates of the eigenvalues. Three other possible directions to pursue are the development of iterative methods using, for example, (i) Krylov subspace-type techniques and the methods of matrix-free linear algebra [Saa11; TD97], (ii) using the conjugacy method to explicitly construct eigenfunctions and project an observable onto them, or (iii) using polynomial approximations of indicator functions on the spectrum. The first technique is conceptually closer to Laplace averages in the sense that it would extract the most unstable modes first, whereas the second technique would allow the projection onto a particular eigenfunction at the cost of additional computational complexity in finding the eigenfunctions. In general, the eigenfunctions are the roots of a nonlinear operator equation that can be solved using an operator version of the Newton method [KH97]. Furthermore, the discrete Laplace transforms and the matrix-free methods could be classified as a "data-driven" method, since, in principle, all that is required is a sequence of observations and not an explicit representation of the dynamical system. The third technique rests on the operational calculus for spectral operators and that spectral projections are determined by integrating the spectral measure against indicator functions (see lemma III.2.9). This final possibility, in principle, allows one to extract both the point spectrum and continuous parts of the spectrum even if the spectrum does not satisfy the conditions in this paper. Furthermore, this is also a data driven technique as we only need iterations of an observable to compute this. Questions revolve around best polynomial approximations to the indicator functions, which polynomial basis allows for stable and efficient computation of the approximating polynomial in addition to the parsimony of the approximation; i.e., for a fixed approximation error, which polynomial basis has an approximating polynomial satisfying the error bound with the polynomial having minimal degree?

In summary, this paper introduced a method for constructing eigenfunctions of a

spectral operator that can be considered as an extension of mean ergodic theorems to dissipative or expanding systems; we showed certain basic examples of dynamical systems and spaces of observables on them that gave rise to spectral Koopman operators on which the GLA theorems could be applied; and, additionally, we showed that these spaces of observables were each identifiable with a completion of a space of polynomials over a normed unital commutative ring, with the ring elements being observables defined on the attractor and the ring being dense in separable, reflexive Banach space. The observable spaces for the linearized dynamics took the form of a generalized Hardy space where instead of the coefficients being in C, they took values in the Banach space. The space of observables for the nonlinear dynamical system were constructed by composing the space of observables for the linearized system with the conjugacy map between the nonlinear and linear system. The exact form of this pullback space is determined by the conjugacy map.

Chapter VII

Switched Families of Koopman Operators with Unitary Spectrum

While the previous chapters dealt we spectral analysis of the Koopman operator having non-unimodular spectrum, the present chapter represents a switch in this viewpoint. Broadly, the work in this dissertation can be thought of as Koopman mode analysis for non-ergodic dynamics. One of the methods of getting non-ergodicity is to introduce some dissipation in the dynamics which results in a portion of the spectrum of the associated Koopman operator being non-unimodular. This was discussed in the preceding chapters. Another way to get non-ergodic behavior, and still retain an unimodular spectrum, is to introduce discontinuous switching between Koopman operators with unimodular point spectrum. This is pursued in this chapter.

The motivation for this approach is comes from the study of internet-type networks

and the desire to understand their dynamical behavior from a network-level viewpoint (rather than the router or individual link level). A network-wide understanding of the dynamics of traffic in internet service provider (ISP) backbones is important for a number of reasons. Tasks such as debugging performance problems and capacity planning [Fel+01] as well as verifying network performance under specific controls and achieving a target level quality of service [Che07], all require accurate models.

While unproven, most practitioners assume at least wide sense stationarity of the traffic when developing statistical models. The difficulty in modeling internet traffic arises, in part, from other characteristics of its statistical nature. Such traffic exhibits a high degree of variability, or burstiness [Che07]. Additionally, long-range dependence (LRD) and self-similarity have been claimed for a variety of scenarios, with long range dependence being characterized by a non-summable autocorrelation function, $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \rho(k) = \infty$, with a power law, $\rho(k) \sim C_{\rho}k^{-\alpha}$, often assumed ($C_{\rho} > 0$, $\alpha \in (0,1)$) [DC05]. The related concept of self-similarity of the traffic has also been claimed [CB97; Err+02; Lel+93]. While both LRD and self-similarity are hard to measure empirically because of sparse sampling in the regimes giving rise to these phenomena, empirical evidence for LRD have been found in a number of detailed studies (see [DC05] and the references therein).

In order to capture these types of statistics, a number of models for traffic sources have been proposed. Briefly, we mention simple ON-OFF models with heavy-tailed periods, Markov modulated Possion processes, stochastic fluid models and fractional Brownian motion, and ARIMA time series models (see [Che07] for a discussion).

It has been shown that self-similarity and LRD can arise from aggregating many ON-OFF source models with heavy-tailed periods [HRS98; TWS97]. Alternatively, its been shown that using chaotic maps to drive the behavior of sources also gives rise to self-similarity [Err+02; ES95].

The use of chaotic dynamical systems gives a connection between network dynamics and the Koopman operator that is used in the analysis of dynamical systems from a spectral viewpoint. The Koopman operator is an infinite-dimensional linear operator that acts on some space of observables defined on the state space of a dynamical system. Formally, the Koopman operator drives the evolution of the observable by composing it with the dynamical system. Instead of tracking state space trajectories, we now track trajectories of observables. From a practitioners standpoint, this is important since the observable can be considered a sensor probe on the system.

Products of level sets of eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator give a structural decomposition of the state space [Bud12; Mez05]. In many cases though, approximations of the dynamics in the measurement space are of more interest. In an ISP backbone, the dynamical system is a stochastically driven networked dynamical system in which each node's (router's) dynamics consists of the TCP/IP and whatever other protocols the router is running. The state space is a complicated subset of the product of buffer lengths, internal routers states, packet round trip times, etc., and would be unreasonable to write down explicitly for moderately-sized networks. In

short, a decomposition of the full state space would give little insight into the system. Alternatively, the Koopman mode analysis of vector-valued observables decomposes the dynamics in the measurement space into products of vector-valued coefficients of eigenfunctions of the Koopman operator and their eigenvalues.

The theory behind the Koopman operator is well-developed for the case when the dynamical system is measure-preserving and the operator is unitary on an L^2 space of observables. In these cases, the operator is spectral and we can get a full resolution of the dynamics by computing spectral projections. In this paper, we extend the methodology to the case of a family of operators which the system switches between. In particular, we assume there is some, finite or countable, family of Koopman operators driving the evolution of some fixed vector-valued observable. The operators are assumed to have point spectrum restricted to the unit circle, but the operators are not assumed to be unitary; in particular, the eigenfunctions are not assumed orthogonal. Furthermore, the dynamics are assumed to evolve by a switch-and-hold process; the observable's dynamics are driven for some amount of time under the actions of one operator before switching to another in the family, under which, the dynamics evolve for a possibly different amount of time.

As we are interested in a network-wide view of the dynamics, the vector-valued observable we consider are traffic matrices of a network. Traffic matrices measure the amount of traffic flowing between pairs of input and output routers of an ISP's backbone. A single element of the traffic matrix corresponds to the amount of data flowing between a specific input and output router in a short window of time. Calling the contiguous time-frame during which a single operator acts a stationary component, Koopman mode analysis shows that on stationary components, traffic matrices of the Abilene network decompose simply into oscillating modes superimposed with gaussian or nearly gaussian noise. As one would expect, strong peaks in the dynamics exists at daily and weekly periods. Between stationary components, these periods still exists, but with varying degrees of intensity. Furthermore, while the noise is nearly gaussian, its intensity from one stationary component to another varies wildly.

Section VII.1 develops the mathematical theory of the switched Koopman families. Relevant definitions and the representation of a vector-valued wide-sense stationary as a spectral integral are given. The useful concept of switch and hold dynamics for a family of wide-sense stationary stochastic processes is defined. Section VII.1.2 develops the Koopman basis algorithm used for approximating the dynamics in the output space. In section VII.2, the Koopman mode analysis is applied to a dataset of traffic matrices for the Abilene network. The final section concludes the chapter with a few remarks and suggestions for future work.

VII.1 Families of Koopman operators

Let (Ω, \mathcal{A}, p) be a probability space. A weaker form of stationarity that does not require the preservation of a measure is stationarity in the wide sense. It is defined for sequences L^2 functions. **Definition VII.1.1.** For $x, y \in L^2_{\mathbb{C}}(\Omega, p)$ define the expectation

$$\mathbb{E}\left[x\right] = \int_{\Omega} x(w)p(dw), \qquad (\text{VII.1.1})$$

and the covariance

$$\operatorname{cov}(x,y) = \langle x,y \rangle = \int_{\Omega} x(w) \overline{y(w)} p(dw).$$
 (VII.1.2)

Definition VII.1.2 (Wide-sense stationary sequence (WSS)). Let $x_n \in L^2_{\mathbb{C}}(\Omega, p)$. The sequence $\{x_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$ is stationary in the wide-sense if for all $n\in\mathbb{Z}$,

- (i) $\mathbb{E}[x_n] = \mathbb{E}[x_0]$, and
- (ii) $\operatorname{cov}(x_{k+n}, x_k) = \operatorname{cov}(x_n, x_0)$, for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Definition VII.1.3. Let $\mathscr{F} = \bigotimes_{i=1}^{d} L^2_{\mathbb{C}}(\Omega, p)$. $\boldsymbol{x} \in \mathscr{F}$ is given by $\boldsymbol{x} = x_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes x_d$ where $x_i \in L^2_{\mathbb{C}}(\Omega, p)$ for $i = 1, \ldots, d$. If $\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y} \in \mathscr{F}$, then

(i) $\boldsymbol{x} + \boldsymbol{y} = (x_1 + y_1) \otimes \cdots \otimes (x_d + y_d)$, and

(ii) $\alpha \boldsymbol{x} = \alpha x_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \alpha x_d$, for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$.

If $U : L^2_{\mathbb{C}}(\Omega, p) \to L^2_{\mathbb{C}}(\Omega, p)$ is a linear operator, then define $U : \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}$ by $U\boldsymbol{x} = Ux_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes Ux_d.$

Let $\mathscr{F}_{\mathbb{R}}$ be the subspace of \mathscr{F} consisting of those $\boldsymbol{x} \in \mathscr{F}$ such that $x(w) \in \mathbb{R}^d$ for every $w \in \Omega$.

Definition VII.1.4 (Vector-valued WSS). If $\boldsymbol{x}_n = x_{1,n} \otimes \cdots \otimes x_{d,n} \in \mathscr{F}$, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, is a sequence, we say $\{\boldsymbol{x}_n\}_{z \in \mathbb{Z}}$ is wide sense stationary if for each $i, \{x_{i,n}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ is WSS in the sense of definition VII.1.2 Let $\{\boldsymbol{x}_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \subset \mathscr{F}$ be a vector-valued WSS sequence. We assume this sequence is given by the action of a family of Koopman operators U_n on a fixed $\boldsymbol{x} \in \mathscr{F}$ and that each U_n is spectral:

$$\boldsymbol{x}_n = U_n \boldsymbol{x} = \int_{\mathbb{C}} \lambda E_n(d\lambda) \boldsymbol{x},$$
 (VII.1.3)

where $E_n : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F})$ is a projection-valued measure (see def. III.2.1). Each E_n is assumed to have compact support and $\{E_n\}$ is an equibounded family; there is a K > 0 such that for all $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C})$ and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, $||E_n(\Delta)|| \leq K$. We decompose \mathbb{C} into the point spectrum for U_n and its complement. Then

$$U_n \boldsymbol{x} = \int_{\mathbb{C}} \lambda E_n(d\lambda) \boldsymbol{x} = \sum_{\lambda \in \sigma_p(U_n)} \lambda E_n(\{\lambda\}) \boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\mathbb{C} \setminus \sigma_p(U_n)} \lambda E_n(d\lambda) \boldsymbol{x}.$$
(VII.1.4)

If we assume that $\sigma_p(U_n) = \sigma_p(U_m)$ for all $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and furthermore that the point spectrum is restricted to the unit circle and the eigenspaces for U_n and U_m are identical, then we get that (VII.1.4) takes the form

$$\boldsymbol{x}_{n} = U_{n}\boldsymbol{x} = \sum_{e^{i2\pi\theta}\in\sigma_{p}} e^{i2\pi\theta n} P_{\theta}\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\mathbb{C}\setminus\sigma_{p}} \lambda E_{n}(d\lambda)\boldsymbol{x}, \quad (\text{VII.1.5})$$

where σ_p is the common point spectrum and $P_{\theta} = E_n(\{e^{i2\pi\theta}\})$ is the projection operator from \mathscr{F} onto the eigenspace V_{θ} corresponding to $e^{i2\pi\theta}$.

The representation (VII.1.5) allows a cyclic process in \mathbb{C}^d superimposed with "noise". The cyclic nature comes from the point spectrum restricted to the unit circle. The "noisy" part comes from the spectral integral over $\mathbb{C} \setminus \sigma_p$. Consider a one-dimensional eigenspace V_{θ} corresponding to $e^{i2\pi\theta}$ with $\psi \in \mathscr{F}$ a corresponding eigenfunction. For every $w \in \Omega$, both $\lim[\psi(w)]$ and $\lim[E_n(\Delta)\mathbf{x}(w)]$ are subspaces of \mathbb{C}^d for each $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C})$. Assume for some $w \in \Omega$, that for each $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ there is a $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}) \setminus \sigma_p$ such that $\lim[E_n(\Delta)\boldsymbol{x}(w)] \supset \lim[\psi(w)]$. Then there are sets $\Delta_n \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}) \setminus \sigma_p$ such that $\emptyset \neq \lim[E_n(\Delta_n)\boldsymbol{x}(w)] \subset \lim[\psi(w)]$. In such a case, for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$e^{i2\pi\theta n}P_{\theta}\boldsymbol{x}(w) + \int_{\Delta_n} \lambda E_n(d\lambda)\boldsymbol{x}(w) \in \lim[\psi(w)].$$

The sequence of Δ_n 's for which this is true is determined by how E_n changes with n. As Δ_n varies, we get a process on $\lim[\psi(w)]$ that is deterministic plus the contribution given by the integral over Δ_n .

Now if we also assume that $\{\boldsymbol{x}_n\}$ is in the subspace $\mathscr{F}_{\mathbb{R}}$ of \mathscr{F} taking values in \mathbb{R}^d , then the point spectrum occurs in complex conjugate pairs and we can replace the spectral integral $\int_{\mathbb{C}\setminus\sigma_p} \lambda E_n(d\lambda)$ with a different spectral integral over \mathbb{R} . The (VII.1.5) becomes

$$\boldsymbol{x}_{n} = U_{n}\boldsymbol{x} = \sum_{e^{i2\pi\theta}\in\sigma_{p}} e^{i2\pi\theta n} P_{\theta}\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \lambda F_{n}(d\lambda)\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad (\text{VII.1.6})$$

where $F_n : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{F}_{\mathbb{R}})$ and $P_{-\theta}\boldsymbol{x} = \overline{P_{\theta}\boldsymbol{x}}$ for all θ . For each Borel set $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$, $F(\Delta)$ is a projection from $\mathscr{F}_{\mathbb{R}}$ into $\mathscr{F}_{\mathbb{R}}$ and, furthermore, $||F_n(\Delta)|| \leq K$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$ since $\{E_n\}$ is equibounded. Assuming that

$$\hat{F}(\varphi)\boldsymbol{x} = \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-i2\pi\varphi k} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \lambda F_k(d\lambda)\boldsymbol{x}$$
(VII.1.7)

exists, the infinite Fourier average gives

$$P_{\varphi}\boldsymbol{x} + \hat{F}(\varphi)\boldsymbol{x} = \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-i2\pi\varphi k} U_k \boldsymbol{x} = \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-i2\pi\varphi k} \boldsymbol{x}_k.$$
(VII.1.8)

Also, $\hat{F}(-\varphi) = \overline{\hat{F}(\varphi)}$. For $\hat{F}(\varphi)$ small, $P_{\varphi} \boldsymbol{x} \approx \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-i2\pi\varphi k} U_k \boldsymbol{x}$.

VII.1.1 Switch and hold dynamics

Let \mathcal{A} be an index set. For each $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$, let $\{\boldsymbol{x}_{n,\alpha}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$ be a WSS sequence in \mathscr{F} satisfying all the assumptions above and assume $\boldsymbol{x}_{n,\alpha} = U_{n,\alpha}\boldsymbol{x}$ for some fixed $\boldsymbol{x} \in \mathscr{F}_{\mathbb{R}}$. According to (VII.1.6), for each $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$, we have

$$U_{n,\alpha}\boldsymbol{x} = \sum_{e^{i2\pi\theta}\in\sigma_{p,\alpha}} e^{i2\pi\theta n} P_{\theta,\alpha}\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \lambda F_{n,\alpha}(d\lambda)\boldsymbol{x}$$

where $\sigma_{p,\alpha}$ is the common point spectrum of the family of Koopman operators $\{U_{n,\alpha}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$ associated with $\{x_{n,\alpha}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}, P_{\theta,\alpha}$'s are the corresponding eigenprojections, and $F_{n,\alpha}$ is the associated real-valued spectral measure.

Definition VII.1.5 (Hold times). Let $\boldsymbol{h} = \{h_i \in \mathbb{N}\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$, be a set of integers called the hold times. Let $t_0 = 0$ and for $j \ge 1$, define $t_j := \sum_{i=1}^{j} h_i$. We call $[t_j, t_{j+1})$ a contiguous block.

Each $t_j \in \mathbb{N}_0$ represents the times at which the dynamics switch. Let $\{\alpha_j\}_{j\geq 1}$ be a sequence from \mathcal{A} . We define a switched stochastic process $\{X_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}_0} \subset \mathscr{F}_{\mathbb{R}}$ by

$$X_n = U_{n,\alpha_j} \boldsymbol{x} = \sum_{e^{i2\pi\theta} \in \sigma_{p,\alpha_j}} e^{i2\pi\theta n} P_{\theta,\alpha_j} \boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \lambda F_{n,\alpha_j}(d\lambda) \boldsymbol{x}, \qquad n \in [t_{j-1}, t_j).$$
(VII.1.9)

Given the finite nature of the contiguous blocks, the infinite average of (VII.1.8) must be replaced with a finite average:

$$P_{\varphi,\alpha_j}\boldsymbol{x} + \hat{F}_{\alpha_j}(\varphi)\boldsymbol{x} \approx \frac{1}{h_j} \sum_{k=t_{j-1}}^{t_j-1} e^{-i2\pi\varphi k} U_{k,\alpha_j}\boldsymbol{x}$$
$$= \frac{1}{h_j} \sum_{k=t_{j-1}}^{t_j-1} e^{-i2\pi\varphi k} X_n$$
(VII.1.10)

We denote the approximate Koopman mode of a realization (as determined by the finite Fourier average (VII.1.10)) as p_{φ,α_j} , then

$$\boldsymbol{p}_{\varphi,\alpha_j} := \frac{1}{h_j} \sum_{k=t_{j-1}}^{t_j-1} e^{-i2\pi\varphi k} X_n(w), \quad (w \in \Omega).$$
(VII.1.11)

The error between the projection and the finite average is order $\mathcal{O}(h_j^{-1})$. Additionally, a fast fourier transform can be used to compute the finite average in $\mathcal{O}(h_j \log h_j)$ time; in this case φ is of the form $\frac{s}{h_j}$ for $s = 0, \ldots, h_j - 1$. In this case, denote $\varphi_s = \frac{s}{h_j}$ and P_{φ_s,α_j} as $P_{s,j}$ and $\boldsymbol{p}_{\varphi_s,\alpha_j}$ as $\boldsymbol{p}_{s,j}$.

VII.1.2 Linear approximation of the dynamics in the output space

Note that the X_n given in (VII.1.9) is an \mathbb{R}^d -valued process. Our goal is to approximate realizations of the process in its output space \mathbb{R}^d . This is done by building a basis for \mathbb{C}^d on each continuous block $[t_{j-1}, t_j)$ from the approximate Koopman modes of (VII.1.11); that is, to each continuous block there corresponds a basis for \mathbb{C}^d built using the approximate Koopman modes computed on the contiguous block.

Fix $j \ge 1$ and consider the contiguous block $[t_{j-1}, t_j)$. Let $\{\mathbf{p}_{s,j} \mid s = 0, \ldots, h_j - 1\}$ be the approximate Koopman modes defined in (VII.1.11) and computed via a fast Fourier transform. Let $\|\mathbf{p}_{s,j}\|_{\mathbb{C}^n}$ be its norm. Order the $\mathbf{p}_{s,j}$'s by decreasing norm: $\mathbf{p}_{s_1,j} \succcurlyeq \mathbf{p}_{s_2,j} \succcurlyeq \cdots \succcurlyeq \mathbf{p}_{s_{h_j},j}$, where $\mathbf{p}_{s_i,j} \succcurlyeq \mathbf{p}_{s_k,j}$ if $\|\mathbf{p}_{s_i,j}\|_{\mathbb{C}^n} \ge \|\mathbf{p}_{s_k,j}\|_{\mathbb{C}^n}$. Note that h_j gives the number of Koopman modes. The basis is built by iteratively adding $\mathbf{p}_{s,j}$'s to the basis if they are not a linear combination of the preceding $\mathbf{p}_{s,j}$'s. Theorem VII.1.6 (Koopman Basis algorithm). A basis for the output space is com-

puted as follows:

- (1) Input: $\{ \boldsymbol{p}_{s_{\ell},j} \mid \ell = 1, \dots, h_j \} \subset \mathbb{C}^d.$
- (2) Let $B_0 = \emptyset$, $\ell = 1$.
- (3) While $\ell < h_j$
 - (a) Compute

$$B_{\ell+1} = \begin{cases} B_{\ell} \cup \boldsymbol{p}_{s_{\ell+1},j}, & \text{if } \operatorname{rank}\{B_{\ell} \cup \boldsymbol{p}_{s_{\ell+1},j}\} > \operatorname{rank}\{B_{\ell}\}, \\ \\ B_{\ell}, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

(b) $\ell \leftarrow \ell + 1$.

- (4) If rank $\{B_{h_j}\} < d$, complete B_{h_j} to a basis for \mathbb{C}^d by choosing an orthonormal basis Q for the orthogonal complement of $\lim B_{h_j}$.
- (5) $\mathsf{B}_j := B_{h_j} \cup Q$.
- (6) **Output:** B_j .

Projections onto Koopman basis modes. Adjoint bases. Modal dynamics.

Let $\mathbf{b}_{\ell,j} \in \mathbb{C}^d$ denote the elements of B_j . Approximate (VII.1.9), at $w \in \Omega$, by projecting $\{X'_n(w)\}_{n=t_{j-1}}^{t_j-1}$ onto B_j , where $X'_n = X_n(w) - \langle X_n(w) \rangle$ and $\langle X_n(w) \rangle$ is the time average (over the variable n) of the realization $X_n(w)$ over the interval $[t_{j-1}, t_j)$; i.e., we wish to represent $X_n(w)$ in the output space as

$$X_n(w) = \langle X_n(w) \rangle + \sum_{\ell=1}^d c_{\ell,j}(n) \boldsymbol{b}_{\ell,j}.$$

To project the data $\{X'_n(w)\}_n$ onto B_j , compute an adjoint basis $\mathsf{W}_j = \{w_{1,j}, \ldots, w_{d,j}\}$, where each $w_{\ell,j} \in \mathbb{C}^d$ satisfies $\langle \boldsymbol{b}_{k,j}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\ell,j} \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^d} = \delta_{k,\ell}$ and $\delta_{k,\ell}$ is the Dirac delta function.

Project X'_n onto $\boldsymbol{b}_{\ell,j}$ using the adjoint basis. Letting $c_{\ell,j}(n)$ denote the value of this projection, the coefficient can be written as

$$c_{\ell,j}(n) := \langle X'_n(w), \boldsymbol{w}_{\ell,j} \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^d} = e^{i2\pi\theta_\ell n} + \zeta_{\ell,j}(n),$$

where $\zeta_{\ell,j}(n)$ is the "noise" for the ℓ^{th} Koopman basis mode for the j^{th} contiguous block and is a combination of the continuous part of the spectrum and any Koopman modes $P_{k,j}\boldsymbol{x}(w) \in \mathbb{R}^d$ having components along $\boldsymbol{w}_{\ell,j}$. The complex exponential term comes from the Koopman mode associated with the eigenvalue $\lambda = e^{i2\pi\theta_{\ell}}$. Let

$$\mathscr{R}_{\ell,j} = \left\{ k \in \{0, \dots, h_j - 1\} \mid \langle P_{k,j} \boldsymbol{x}(w), \boldsymbol{w}_{\ell,j} \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^d} \neq 0 \right\}, \qquad (\text{VII.1.12})$$

be the set of labels those Koopman modes that have components along $p_{\ell,j}$. Then using (VII.1.9)

$$\zeta_{\ell,j}(n) = \sum_{k \in \mathscr{R}_{\ell,j}} e^{i2\pi\theta_k n} \left\langle P_{k,\ell} \boldsymbol{x}(w), \boldsymbol{w}_{\ell,j} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^d} + \int_R \lambda \left\langle F_{n,\alpha_j}(d\lambda) \boldsymbol{x}(w), \boldsymbol{w}_{\ell,j} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^d} \quad (\text{VII.1.13})$$

Note that $\zeta_{\ell,j}(n)$ contains the error between $P_{\ell,j}\boldsymbol{x}(w)$ and $\boldsymbol{p}_{\ell,j}$ arising from the finite time Fourier average.

The modal dynamics for mode $\boldsymbol{b}_{\ell,j}$ are given by

$$P_{\ell,j}[X'_n(w)] = c_{\ell,j}(n)\boldsymbol{b}_{\ell,j} = e^{i2\pi\theta_\ell n}\boldsymbol{b}_{\ell,j} + \zeta_{\ell,j}(n)\boldsymbol{b}_{\ell,j}$$

where

$$P_{\ell,j}[\cdot] := \langle \cdot, \boldsymbol{w}_{\ell,j} \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^n} \, \boldsymbol{b}_{\ell,j}$$

is the projection operator from \mathbb{C}^d onto the j^{th} Koopman basis mode¹. The modal "noise" is computed via

$$\zeta_{\ell,j}(n)\boldsymbol{b}_{\ell,j} = c_{\ell,j}(n)\boldsymbol{b}_{\ell,j} - e^{i2\pi\theta_{\ell}k}\boldsymbol{b}_{\ell,j}$$

The first term on the right side is the projection of the dynamics onto the mode and the second term is the analytic prediction of the evolution.

To get real modal dynamics take the projection

$$[P_{\ell,j} + P_{-\ell,j}](\cdot) = \langle \cdot, \boldsymbol{w}_{\ell,j} \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^d} \boldsymbol{b}_{\ell,j} + \langle \cdot, \boldsymbol{w}_{-\ell,j} \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^d} \boldsymbol{b}_{-\ell,j}; \qquad (\text{VII.1.14})$$

the projection onto the j^{th} Koopman basis mode and its complex conjugate. Since the Koopman modes must come in complex conjugate pairs, the real modal "noise" is then given by

$$\boldsymbol{\xi}_{\ell,j}(n) := \underbrace{\left[P_{\ell,j} + P_{-\ell,j}\right](X'_k)}_{\text{computed from data}} - \underbrace{\left(e^{i2\pi\theta_\ell n}\boldsymbol{b}_{\ell,j} + e^{-i2\pi\theta_\ell n}\overline{\boldsymbol{b}}_{\ell,j}\right)}_{\text{analytic prediction of modal dynamics}} .$$
(VII.1.15)

VII.2 Traffic matrices and the Abilene network

We apply the above model to compute the modal dynamics and modal noise corresponding to traffic matrices of an ISP network.

A typical internet-type network consists of a collection of routers and links between them. The routers consist of border routers that connect to other networks and internal router that form the paths within the domain. In the simplest implementation

¹There is an abuse of notation here for $P_{\ell,j}$

of TCP traffic, the router dynamics are deterministic², whereas the whole system is stochastically driven by the user page requests.

Let \mathscr{N} be a network. Let \mathscr{I} be the set of input routers to the network and \mathscr{O} the set of output routers for the network. There can be internal routers that do not connect to routers outside of the network. Let $\mathscr{P} = \mathscr{I} \times \mathscr{O}$ be the set of source/destination (s/d) pairs.

A traffic matrix captures the amount of traffic flowing between s/d pairs. An index p corresponds to a single source/destination pair of routers. Then each entry, $X_t(p)$, of the traffic matrix captures the amount of network traffic entering the input router and leaving through the paired output router at time t.

Unfortunately, measuring traffic matrices directly is prohibitively expensive and thus they must be inferred from readily obtained link flow counts (obtained via SNMP³ measurements [Zha+05]). If Y_t are the link counts at time t, then the the link counts and the traffic matrix are related via the identity [Zha+05]

$$Y_t = \mathbf{A} X_t$$

Here Y_t has dimension equal to the number of links in the systems and **A** is the routing matrix. $\mathbf{A}_{\ell p} = 1$ if s/d pair p uses link ℓ and 0 otherwise. Since Y_t can be measured and **A** is easily obtained, determining the traffic matrix X_t becomes an inference problem. Unfortunately, there are generally many more s/d pairs than link

²In some implementations of congestion control, routers can employ randomized strategies such a Random Early Marking where some packets are randomly assigned a tag that drops them from the queue [LL99].

³SNMP stands for Simple Network Management Protocol.

measurements resulting in an ill-posed system. Many different methods for estimating the traffic matrices have been developed (e.g. Tomogravity or those methods based on Principal Component Analysis or Kalman filtering; see [Sou+05] for an overview), each introducing different additional data and assumptions.

In practice, traffic matrices are not instantaneous entities, but the aggregate over some time frame. This induces a discrete-time process X_n , where $X_n(p)$ is the amount of traffic flowing between input router i_p and output router j_p during the k^{th} time interval. The network has a finite capacity. Therefore, $|X_n(p)| \leq C$ for some constant C > 0 and all p, k.

In this section, we will be considering traffic matrices of the Abilene network. The Abilene network is an Internet2 high-performance backbone network enabling the development of advanced internet applications. It connects regional network aggregation points and provides Internet2 access for 200+ universities, corporate, and affiliated institutions [Int05]. At the time the dataset was collected, there were 12 such aggregation points (see figure VII.1 and table VII.1); the output space for our model is thus \mathbb{R}^{144} . Therefore $X_n \in \mathbb{R}^{144}$ for all $n \ge 0$. We apply the above switched Koopman family analysis to a dataset consisting of traffic matrices collected over 24 weeks in 2004. Each sample X_n is the aggregate flow over 5 minutes. The data used set can be found at [Zha04].



Figure VII.1: Abilene research network. From [Int05]

VII.2.1 Spectrum of Abilene traffic matrices.

Koopman modes for contiguous time frames of 4 weeks (8064 data sample) were computed using (VII.1.10). Figure VII.2 shows the results with the traffic mean (0 cycles/week) removed for the first 4 weeks. The plot shows the intensity of the Koopman modes corresponding to each frequency. On the horizontal axis, the frequency in cycles per week is plotted, whereas points on the vertical axis correspond to source/destination pairs. For a fixed frequency on the horizontal axis, the vertical streak above it is the intensity of the associated Koopman mode. The intensity of the Koopman is given by taking the modulus of each element of the mode. A strong vertical streak in this plot means that the network has a significant periodic component at that frequency; most of the s/d pairs oscillate at that frequency. As can be

Input Links	Link Index	Output Links	Link Index
*, ATLA-M5	31	ATLA-M5, *	32
*, ATLAng	33	ATLAng, *	34
*, CHINng	35	CHINng, *	36
*, DNVRng	37	DNVRng, *	38
*, HSTNng	39	HSTNng, *	40
*, IPLSng	41	IPLSng, *	42
*, KSCYng	43	KSCYng, *	44
*, LOSAng	45	LOSAng, *	46
*, NYCMng	47	NYCMng, *	48
*, SNVAng	49	SNVAng, *	50
*, STTLng	51	STTLng, *	52
*, WASHng	53	WASHng, *	54

Table VII.1: Input and Ouput Routers to the Abilene Network

seen, a strong 24 hour cycle can be seen to be embedded in the traffic; this is the vertical streak plotted at 7 cycles/week in the figure. Figure VII.3, corresponding to weeks 9 through 12, shows that in addition to a daily cycle, there is a weekly cycle as exhibited by the vertical streak at 1 cycle/week. Although not shown here, cycles corresponding to 12 and 8 hour periods (14 and 21 cycles/week, respectively) also

appear. One would expect this type of behavior as it correlates with human behavior. Strong horizontal streaks in the plot signify the "bursty" behavior of internet traffic. This "burstiness" phenomena is exhibited in the time trace of the traffic volume between s/d pairs in figure VII.4. Such a time trace is typical. The horizontal streaks should not be surprising since we are basically taking a Fourier transform of something that looks like a delta measure. It can also be seen from figures VII.2 and VII.3, that the first 12 s/d pairs carry comparatively little traffic as exhibited by weak color of the plot. These 12 s/d pairs correspond to the input link ATLA-M5 input link.



Figure VII.2: Modulus of elements of the Koopman modes for weeks 1 through 4.



Figure VII.3: Modulus of elements of the Koopman modes for weeks 9 through 12.

VII.2.2 Real modal dynamics for the Abilene network. Distributions of the real modal noise, $\xi_{\ell,j}(n)$.

A time window of 4 weeks was chosen to compute projections over. This corresponded to 8064 samples. The Koopman modes were computed with the Fourier averages (VII.1.10). For each contiguous time frame, Koopman modes and Koopman bases were recomputed via the process in theorem VII.1.6 and the data (in that time window) was projected onto the new basis modes.

Histograms of the real modal noise $\{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{\ell,j}(n)\}, n = 0, \dots, K$ are also shown. The



Figure VII.4: Traffic volume on s/d pair 39.

bin widths of the histogram were chosen to minimize the estimated L^2 risk function:

$$h^* = \arg\min_{h} \frac{2\overline{m} - v}{h^2}$$

where \overline{m} and v are the mean and biased variance of a histogram with bin width h:

$$\overline{m} = \frac{1}{I_h} \sum_{i=1}^{I_h} m_i \qquad \text{and} \qquad v = \frac{1}{I_h} \sum_{i=1}^{I_h} (m_i - \overline{m})^2,$$

where m_i is the count of bin *i* and I_h is the number of bins when the bin width is *h*. Then h^* minimizes the discrepancy between the histogram, *H*, and the true density function, *f*, where the discrepancy is $\mathbb{E}\left[\int (H(x) - f(x))^2 dx\right]$. This obviates the need to manually select the bin size, at the expense of run-time complexity [FD81].

Let $\mathsf{M}^n_{\pm f}$ denote the the real modal dynamics at time k corresponding to f cy-

cles/week:

$$\mathsf{M}^{n}_{\pm f} := \left(\mathsf{P}_{f \text{ cycle/week}} + \mathsf{P}_{-f \text{ cycle/week}}\right) [X'_{n}]$$

For each $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $\mathsf{M}^n_{\pm f} \in \mathbb{R}^{144}$;

$$\mathsf{M}_{\pm f}^{n} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathsf{M}_{\pm f}^{n}(1) \\ \vdots \\ \mathsf{M}_{\pm f}^{n}(144) \end{bmatrix}$$

where $\mathsf{M}_{\pm 1}^k(s)$, $s = 1, \ldots, 144$, corresponds to the real modal dynamics at time k for s/d pair s.

Figure VII.5a, shows $M_{\pm 1}^n(32)$ for the first 4 week window for the real modal dynamics corresponding to ± 1 cycle/week. The blue in the figure, corresponds to the projection of the full dynamics onto the real mode (eq. (VII.1.14)), whereas the red curve is the analytic prediction of the modal dynamics for s/d pair 32 (the second term on the right side of (VII.1.15)). One can see that this choice of window was not the correct one, with a switch in the dynamics occurring just before the two week mark. The left image of figure VII.5b shows the empirical distribution of the real modal noise in the blue histogram and a normal distribution with parameters estimated from the empirical distribution in red. The real modal noise is defined by (VII.1.15). The right image of figure VII.5b shows is a normality plot. Again the data is in blue with the red line corresponding to the normal distribution. The more the blue data points follow the red line, the closer the data is to a normal distribution. As can be seen the data is approximately normal, being linear between the probabilities 0.05 and 0.95. Figures VII.6 - VII.10 show the plots analogous to figure VII.5 for each subsequent four week window. As seen, the real modal noise is approximately Gaussian. This situation is typical for all source destination pairs and frequencies.

In figure VII.8a, it looks like the analytic prediction (red line) is a flat line with no periodicity, which would be incorrect. However, this is an artifact of the plot scale. In the 13 - 16 week window, the order of the magnitude of the noise is $\sim 10^{10}$ which is much greater than the order of magnitude of the analytic prediction, resulting in the seemingly flat line.

Figure VII.11 show the same modal projections smoothed over a 6 hr window using a triangular weight function; i.e.,

$$\tilde{\mathsf{M}}_{\pm f}^{n} = (\mathsf{M}_{\pm f} \ast \Phi)(n) = \begin{bmatrix} \sum_{j} \mathsf{M}_{\pm f}^{j}(1)\Phi(n-j) \\ \vdots \\ \sum_{j} \mathsf{M}_{\pm f}^{j}(144)\Phi(n-j) \end{bmatrix}$$

where $M_{\pm f}^{n}$ denotes the smoothed modal projection, Φ is the weight function which satisfies $\|\Phi\|_{1} = 1$, and * denotes convolution. The smoothing kills off part of the contribution due to the noise and it is clearer that the oscillatory behavior of the data follows the analytic prediction. The only exception is weeks 13 to 16, where it looks like the analytic prediction is a flat line. This is due to the difference in scales between the analytic prediction and the noise and follows directly from the discussion of figure VII.8a.

Figures VII.12 - VII.17 show the corresponding results for the 7 cycle/week Koop-



(a) Real modal dynamics. Blue is the projection, $M_{\pm 1}^k(32)$, of the data onto the Koopman mode. Red is the analytic prediction of the modal dynamics.



(b) Distribution of the noise (see eq. (VII.1.15)).

Figure VII.5: Weeks 1 through 4. ± 1 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32.



(a) Real modal dynamics. Blue is the projection, $M_{\pm 1}^k(32)$, of the data onto the Koopman mode. Red is the analytic prediction of the modal dynamics.



(b) Distribution of the noise (see eq. (VII.1.15)).

Figure VII.6: Weeks 5 through 8. ± 1 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32.



(a) Real modal dynamics. Blue is the projection, $M_{\pm 1}^k(32)$, of the data onto the Koopman mode. Red is the analytic prediction of the modal dynamics.



(b) Distribution of the noise (see eq. (VII.1.15)).

Figure VII.7: Weeks 9 through 12. ± 1 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32.



(a) Real modal dynamics. Blue is the projection, $M_{\pm 1}^k(32)$, of the data onto the Koopman mode. Red is the analytic prediction of the modal dynamics.



(b) Distribution of the noise (see eq. (VII.1.15)).

Figure VII.8: Weeks 13 through 16. ± 1 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32.



(a) Real modal dynamics. Blue is the projection, $M_{\pm 1}^k(32)$, of the data onto the Koopman mode. Red is the analytic prediction of the modal dynamics.



(b) Distribution of the noise (see eq. (VII.1.15)).

Figure VII.9: Weeks 17 through 21. ± 1 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32.



(a) Real modal dynamics. Blue is the projection, $M_{\pm 1}^k(32)$, of the data onto the Koopman mode. Red is the analytic prediction of the modal dynamics.



(b) Distribution of the noise (see eq. (VII.1.15)).

Figure VII.10: Weeks 21 through 24. ± 1 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32.


Figure VII.11: Smoothed real modal dynamics $(\pm 1 \text{ cycle/wk})$ for S/D pair 32. The smoothed dynamics are in blue, the analytic prediction is in red.

man mode and figure VII.18 shows the smoothed versions. The same qualitative conclusions can be drawn, the difference being that the noise does not seems to be as close to Gaussian as for the previous mode.



(a) Real modal dynamics. Blue is the projection, $M_{\pm 7}^k(32)$, of the data onto the Koopman mode. Red is the analytic prediction of the modal dynamics.



(b) Distribution of the noise (see eq. (VII.1.15)).

Figure VII.12: Weeks 1 through 4. ± 7 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32.



(a) Real modal dynamics. Blue is the projection, $M_{\pm 7}^k(32)$, of the data onto the Koopman mode. Red is the analytic prediction of the modal dynamics.



(b) Distribution of the noise (see eq. (VII.1.15)).

Figure VII.13: Weeks 5 through 8. ± 7 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32.



(a) Real modal dynamics. Blue is the projection, $M_{\pm 7}^k(32)$, of the data onto the Koopman mode. Red is the analytic prediction of the modal dynamics.



(b) Distribution of the noise (see eq. (VII.1.15)).

Figure VII.14: Weeks 9 through 12. ± 7 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32.



(a) Real modal dynamics. Blue is the projection, $M_{\pm 7}^k(32)$, of the data onto the Koopman mode. Red is the analytic prediction of the modal dynamics.



(b) Distribution of the noise (see eq. (VII.1.15)).

Figure VII.15: Weeks 13 through 16. ± 7 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32.



(a) Real modal dynamics. Blue is the projection, $M^k_{\pm7}(32)$, of the data onto the Koopman

mode. Red is the analytic prediction of the modal dynamics.



(b) Distribution of the noise (see eq. (VII.1.15)).

Figure VII.16: Weeks 17 through 21. ± 7 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32.



(a) Real modal dynamics. Blue is the projection, $M_{\pm7}^k(32)$, of the data onto the Koopman

mode. Red is the analytic prediction of the modal dynamics.



(b) Distribution of the noise (see eq. (VII.1.15)).

Figure VII.17: Weeks 21 through 24. ± 7 cycle/ week mode. S/D pair 32.



Figure VII.18: Smoothed real modal dynamics ($\pm 7 \text{ cycles/wk}$) for S/D pair 32. The smoothed dynamics are in blue, the analytic prediction is in red.

VII.3 Some remarks on future work

Using the switched Koopman family model, we see that the dynamics over contiguous time blocks can be represented by a superposition of noisy oscillating modes. The noise is Gaussian or nearly Gaussian in nature. The magnitude depends on the behavior of the real spectral measure $F_{n,\alpha}$ (eq. (VII.1.9)), which is not wellcharacterized at the moment. More work needs to be done in this area. A possible approach is the POD modeling of the continuous part of spectrum discussed in the next paragraph. In this chapter, the contiguous time frame was chosen heuristically. In figure VII.5a, one can see the problem with choosing the contiguous time frames in such a way. It behooves us to have a more robust (and automatic) method of choosing the contiguous time frames. One approach is to implement some type of statistical hypothesis testing in the numerical code to detect a switch. This approach would provide confidence bounds on the certainty a switch has occurred.

While the Koopman mode analysis provides a good way to compute the contribution of the point spectrum, representations of the continuous part of the spectrum have been lacking in the literature. This work has computed the modal noise which can be thought of as a spectral leakage of the continuous spectrum into the point spectrum. This "leakage" occurs because we are looking at a linear approximation in the output space of the nonlinear dynamics. In the future, it may be better to represent the contribution of the continuous spectral integral in the output space as a stochastic process on POD modes. Recall the we had the stochastic process in \mathbb{R}^d

$$X_n(w) = U_n \boldsymbol{x}(w) = \sum_{e^{i2\pi\theta} \in \sigma_p} e^{i2\pi\theta n} P_{\theta} \boldsymbol{x}(w) + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \lambda F_n(d\lambda) \boldsymbol{x}(w).$$
(VII.3.1)

The first summation can be computed using a Fourier average. We would like to approximate the spectral integral against F_n . First compute the residual, data set

$$R_n(w) = X_n(w) - \sum_{e^{i2\pi\theta} \in \sigma_p} e^{i2\pi\theta n} \boldsymbol{p}_{\theta}$$

where p_{θ} are the approximate Koopman modes of the data computed via a fast Fourier transform. The residual $R_n(w)$ is a sequence in \mathbb{R}^d and represents the contribution of the continuous part of the spectrum. Compute the POD modes of the sequence $\{R_n(w)\} \subset \mathbb{R}^d$. Denote them by m_1, \ldots, m_s , where $s \leq d$ is the dimension of the subspace that $\{R_n(w)\}$ generates. We use these POD modes to generate a stochastic process. Let P_{m_j} be the orthogonal projection in \mathbb{R}^d onto $\lim\{m_j\}$. Consider the time-dependent coefficient corresponding to this POD mode.

$$c_{n,j} = P_{\boldsymbol{m}_j}(R_n(w)).$$

This is a real valued sequence. Furthermore, we can compute its cumulative probability distribution (cdf) $\boldsymbol{\xi}_j : \mathbb{R} \to [0, 1]$. Then we get a stochastic process, $\boldsymbol{\xi}_j(n)\boldsymbol{m}_j$, where $C_j(n)$ is an IID random variable drawn from the cdf \boldsymbol{C}_j . Doing this for every POD mode gives a representation of the dynamics as a stochastic process in \mathbb{R}^d as

$$Y_n(w) = \sum_{e^{i2\pi\theta} \in \sigma_p} e^{i2\pi\theta n} P_{\theta} \boldsymbol{x}(w) + \sum_{j=1}^s \xi_j(n) \boldsymbol{m}_j,$$

where again each $\xi_j(\cdot)$ is an IID random variable drawn from the cdf C_j . We have represented the contribution of the spectral integral in \mathbb{R}^d by the stochastic process

$$Z_n = \sum_{j=1}^s \xi_j(n) \boldsymbol{m}_j.$$

Part II

Exponentially Mixing

Transformations for Search of

Targets of Nonuniform Size

Chapter VIII

Introduction

In the context of search for physical objects, path-coverage problems are common, arising whenever the situation requires a guarantee that the target be found. Numerous algorithms have been developed to handle path-coverage problems. Most, however, can be split along two lines: (i) heuristic and random algorithms, and (ii) complete algorithms.

With heuristic algorithms, the search agent is programmed with a simple set of local behaviors, for example, repulsion from objects and other search agents or leader following [PF07]. Random algorithms rely on some type of stochastic mechanism in the generation of search dynamics such as the selection of a random reflection angle [Gag03; LR88; LR89] or the use random walks. In either case, such simple interactions can give rise to quite complicated behavior which is desirable in some situations such as the presence of a moving, adversarial target. Much work has gone into understanding how such simple rules give rise to large scale coordinated motion, particularly in the context of swarms [BVA07a; BVA07b; Olf06] or consensus [BCM09; OFM07]. While in practice these algorithms can perform quite well, many times there is no provable guarantee on full coverage of the space.

Complete algorithms on the other hand do have such guarantees. Most of these algorithms rely on a full or approximate partition of the search space, termed a cellular decomposition, in which each cell of the partition is such that it is fully covered by the sensor footprint or can be covered by simple motion such as a raster scan of the area by the agent. The cells are then identified as vertices in a graph and the problem of path planning reduces finding a spanning tree [Cho01]. The space is covered once all cells have been visited. For shortest path problems, this is equivalent to solving the Traveling Salesman Problem or the Covering Salesman Problem [Cho01].

While existing algorithms can perform quite well for these types of problems, they have only dealt with fixed target sizes (or targets with little variation in size) and there often exists additional assumptions on the distribution for the target location. In short, there is a fair amount of information available prior to designing the search dynamics. This work is concerned with path-coverage problems where the target's volume varies by orders of magnitude and the target can be located anywhere in the search domain with equal probability. This type of path-coverage is, in some sense, at the limits of available information. Our goal is to pursue a detailed investigation of the expected search time for a target in such a situation, obtaining provable upper bounds.

As a simple example of this type, consider the following search problem. Let \mathcal{M} be a closed and bounded set in the plane having large area. Let the target be a circle whose center is a random variable having a uniform distribution on \mathcal{M} and whose area is a random variable having a uniform distribution on $(\delta, V]$; it is not assumed that the exact values of δ and V are known, but $\delta \ll V \ll \operatorname{area}(\mathcal{M})$.

Problems of this type naturally arise in applications such as satellite imagery, searching for oil or mineral deposits, or detecting structural faults or defects [Kol82]. On the less serious side, the children's game Battleship is also of this type. Unfortunately, existing algorithms are ill-suited this class of search problems. For heuristic and random algorithms, upper bounds for the search time are generally difficult or impossible to prove when targets have a fixed size. This issue is exacerbated when target sizes are allowed to vary. Complete algorithms based on cellular decompositions are inherently restricted to a fixed target or sensor size since cell sizes are chosen so that the sensor radius completely covers the cell. When the target size is allowed to vary, the choice of a cell size is far from straightforward. In the case when the minimum target volume approaches zero, cellular decomposition algorithms can perform arbitrarily poorly. Good performance depends on knowing the target size, but by definition of the search problem, this is unknown information.

The following search problem will be treated in this part of the dissertation. Let the search domain be $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{T}^n$, the *n*-dimensional torus. Let $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M})$ be the Borel σ -algebra. The target is represented by a closed, metric ball B(c,r), where the center is a random variable $c \sim \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{M})$, where $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{M})$ is the uniform distribution on \mathcal{M} . Fix V > 0 and let δ satisfy $0 < \delta < V$. Define the family of functions, $\nu_{\delta} : (\delta, V] \times (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$, parameterized by $\delta \in (0, V]$, by

$$\nu_{\delta}(u,\xi) = \frac{u^{\xi}}{V^{1+\xi} - \delta^{1+\xi}}.$$
 (VIII.0.2)

For a fixed ξ , each ν_{δ} is a probability distribution function (pdf) on the interval $(\delta, V]$. Each ν_{δ} is called a "nearly" uniform distribution, since, as $\xi \to 0$, the pdf converges pointwise to the uniform distribution. Let *vol* denote the Lebesgue measure on \mathcal{M} . The radius of the target is a random variable such that $vol(B(c, \cdot)) \sim \nu_{\delta}$, for any $c \in \mathcal{M}$ and any fixed δ and ξ . Finally, to divorce sensor issues from dynamics, we consider the case of a perfect sensor; the target is assume found the first time the search trajectory enters the target set.

We approach the above search problem as a problem in the ergodic theory of dynamical systems. We investigate the expected search time for different classes of mixing transformations and processes on \mathcal{M} . Path-coverage algorithms based around these transformations will automatically be complete since the dynamics are ergodic over the domain. Rigorous definitions of these concepts will be given later. Specifically, results of the paper include the following:

(i) Constructive upper bounds for the hitting time of a target are obtained (the hitting time will be defined precisely later). These bounds are uniform over the target locations and uniform for each initial condition in a "good" set of initial conditions. The bounds depend on the size of the "good" set, the speed of mixing, and the size of the target.

- (ii) The hitting time upper bounds are used to show that the hitting time behaves like the inverse of the volume of the target, for small targets. This relation holds for every target location and almost every initial condition for the searcher.
- (iii) Limit laws (as $\delta \to 0$) are derived showing that the expected search time behaves like $\mathcal{O}(-\log \delta)$. These results are proven for the case when the target volume is distributed against the "nearly" uniform distribution ν_{δ} .

In a broader context, the hitting time results of this work belong to a body of results on quantitative recurrence theory, a relatively new subfield of ergodic theory. While it has been known since the work of Poincaré, that almost every point of a positive measure set will return to that set infinitely often under the action of a measure-preserving transformation, results on return rates for specific classes of transformations took much longer to be discovered. Modern quantitative recurrence results include limit laws for specific classes of dynamical systems; which classes of transformation have properties such as strongly Borel-Cantelli sequences and the Shrinking Target Property; and the relation of recurrence and hitting times to the dimension theory of measures (for a subset of results see, e.g., [Aba04; Bos93; BS01; CK01; Coe97; FMP12; Gal06; GK07]).

In addition to saying something about search times for, say, unmanned aerial vehicles or robots, the results contained here relate to sampling and Monte Carlotype numerical integration. In Monte Carlo integration, one wants to compute the definite integral $\int_B f(x)d\mu(x)$. For some function f and some measure μ over some some domain B. An approximation can be computed by independently drawing a set of points $\{x_1, \ldots, x_N\}$ from the distribution corresponding to μ and approximating the integral with the finite sum $N^{-1} \sum_{n=1}^N f(x_n)$ [RR04]. A basic question asks how many samples are needed to give a good approximation to the true integral?

Many times samples are generated by an appropriate Markov chain, but they can also be generated by a discrete-time mixing map. For the mixing map, a loose theoretical bound on the number of samples needed to well-approximate the integral can be computed. If the integration domain $B \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ is compact, it can be covered by a finite number of small balls. The results of this paper give a bound on the hitting time for each of these balls and we can easily get an upper bound on the time needed to hit all of the balls by multiplying the individual upper bound by the number of covering balls. Of course for this to work, the measure the map preserves must match the measure we would like to integrate against. If this is not the case, an appropriate map must be constructed from the original mixing map. There are a number of standard methods to do this such as the Metropolis-Hastings algorithm or the Gibbs sampler (see, e.g., [RR04]).

The rest of the text is organized as follows. We begin, in section IX.1, with the discrete-time setting and investigate two different processes for the 1D case of the search problem. The analysis here is simple and is intended to motivate the concepts

defined later. This investigation leads to the relevant notions needed to generalize the analysis to higher dimensions. We go on to define the notions of \mathfrak{B} -regularity, ergodicity, and mixing in section IX.2 so that both maps and multi-valued processes can be treated simultaneously. Upper bounds are then proved for a exponentially mixing transformations and these are used to prove limit laws for infinitely small targets (sec. IX.3). Asymptotic laws for the expected search time are proved in section IX.4 for any transformation satisfying the limit laws of section IX.3 for the hitting time. Finally, in section IX.5, the discrete-time results are pushed to continuous first-order dynamics.

Chapter IX

Limit laws and expected search times for mixing dynamical systems

IX.1 Preliminary discussion of the problem

We begin by fixing some concepts and notation that will be used throughout the paper. Let $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M}))$ be a Borel measurable space. Let $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ be some fixed, discrete-time transformation. As usual N denotes the natural numbers $\{1, 2, ...\}$ and $\mathbb{N}_0 = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$.

Definition IX.1.1 (Hitting time). Let $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{M})$. The hitting time of A under T

when starting from y is denoted by $\tau_T[A, y]$ and defined by

$$\tau_T[A, y] = \inf\{k \in \mathbb{N}_0 : T^k(y) \cap A \neq \emptyset\}.$$
 (IX.1.1)

When its clear which transformation is being discussed, T is dropped from the notation and just write $\tau[A, y]$. More properly, τ_T is called the first hitting time, but for brevity will stick to the above terminology.

Definition IX.1.2 (Expected hitting time). Let the target be B(c, r), the closed ball of radius r, centered at c. The *expected hitting time*, $\mathcal{H}(c, s, \delta)$, of a target whose volume is distributed against the "nearly" uniform distribution, ν_{δ} , when the searcher starts from s is defined as

$$\mathcal{H}(c,s,\delta) = \int_{\delta}^{V} \tau[B(c,r(u)),s] \nu_{\delta}(u,\xi) \, du.$$
(IX.1.2)

Note that the radius of the target is a function of the volume, the integration variable.

It will be useful in our analysis to define the set of initial conditions that have not found the target by time t.

Definition IX.1.3 (Exception set). Let

$$\mathcal{E}(c,r,t) = \{s \in \mathcal{M} : \tau[B(c,r),s] > t\} . \tag{IX.1.3}$$

 $\mathcal{E}(c, r, t)$ is called the *exception set at time t*.

Remark IX.1.4. A partial ordering, " \preccurlyeq ", can be defined on $\mathcal{E}(x, r, t)$ by set inclusion. Then both $\mathcal{E}(c, \cdot, t)$ and $\mathcal{E}(c, r, \cdot)$ are decreasing functions. So if $r_k \geq r_{k+1}$, then $\mathcal{E}(c, r_k, t) \preccurlyeq \mathcal{E}(c, r_{k+1}, t)$, and in particular

$$\mathcal{E}(c,r,t) = \bigcup_{u \geqslant r} \mathcal{E}(c,u,t), \qquad (\text{IX.1.4})$$

while if $t_k \leq t_{k+1}$, then $\mathcal{E}(c, r, t_k) \succcurlyeq \mathcal{E}(c, r, t_{k+1})$.

We also remark that if the transformation is continuous, then, since B(c,r) is closed, $\mathcal{E}(c,r,t)$ is an open set.

Remark IX.1.5. Suppose T is Lipschitz continuous with Lipschitz constant α . If $\tau[B(c,r), y] = k$, and $T^k(y)$ is in the interior of B(c,r), then there is a positive Lebesgue measure set containing y whose points have hitting time equal to k:

Let

$$\rho_k := \min\{\|T^j(y) - B(c, r)\| : 0 \le j \le k - 1\}$$

and $d_k := ||T^k(y) - \partial B(c, r)||$, where $\partial B(c, r)$ is the boundary of B(c, r). Set $L = \max(1, \alpha)$. For any $||z|| < L^{-k} \min\{\rho_k, d_k\}$,

$$||T^{k}(y+z) - T^{k}(y)|| \le L^{k} ||z|| < ||T^{k}(y) - \partial B(c,r)||;$$

hence $T^k(y+z) \in B(c,r)$. Additionally, for $0 \le j \le k-1$,

$$||T^{j}(y+z) - T^{j}(y)|| \le L^{j} ||z|| < L^{j-k}\rho_{k} \le \rho_{k}.$$

Hence $T^{j}(y+z) \notin B(c,r)$ for $0 \le j \le k-1$. Therefore, for all such $z, \tau[B(c,r), y+z] = k$.

In this paper, limit laws of the following types are shown:

$$\lim_{vol(B(c,r))\to 0} \sup_{0} \frac{\ln \tau[B(c,r),s]}{-\ln vol(B(c,r))} \le 1$$
(IX.1.5)

and

$$\lim_{\xi \to 0} \limsup_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\mathcal{H}(c, s, \delta)}{-\ln \delta} \le const.$$
(IX.1.6)

We first analyze two algorithms for a simple case of the search problem where $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{T}$, the one-dimensional torus. Without loss of generality, we can identify \mathbb{T} with the unit interval, mod 1. In this setting, a target, B(c, r), will be an interval of length 2r. We assume the interval length is distributed uniformly in $(\delta, V]$; i.e., $vol(B(c,r)) \sim \nu_{\delta}(\cdot, 0)$. While the analysis is simple, it nevertheless highlights a few important points.

IX.1.1 Rational Lawnmower Algorithm

Fix some $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and let $\Delta = N^{-1}$. The lawnmower algorithm is given by the rational shift $T^k(s) = s + k\Delta \mod 1$, for $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$. It is so named because its generalization to the square gives trajectories that mimic the path one takes when mowing a lawn.

What is a suitable step size to choose? First let us look at the initial conditions that never find a given target. Fix some $c \in [0,1)$ and some $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\delta < N^{-1} \leq V$. Assume the target's volume, vol(B(c,r)), satisfies $0 < vol(B(c,r)) < N^{-1}$. Then in the interval $[c-r, c-r+N^{-1}]$, the measure of the points not in target interval is $N^{-1} - 2r = N^{-1} - vol(B(c,r))$. Since all points have period N, this implies that the total measure of the points that never find the target is

$$vol(\mathcal{E}(c,r,\infty)) = N \cdot (N^{-1} - vol(B(c,r))) = 1 - N \cdot vol(B(c,r)) > 0.$$

Hence, if the searcher's initial condition is distributed uniformly at random in [0, 1), there is a positive probability of never finding the target if its size is in the range (δ, N^{-1}) . Furthermore, as $vol(B(c, r))) \rightarrow 0$, almost every point never finds the target.

To guarantee finding the target we must have that $N^{-1} \leq \delta$. For simplicity assume $1/\delta$ is an integer and fix $N^{-1} = \delta$. The expected hitting time of a target is computed as follows. Without loss of generality, we can assume that the searcher starts at s = 0. Fix $c \in [0, 1)$. Since the volume of the target is 2r, the expected search time becomes

$$\mathcal{H}(c,0,\delta) = \frac{2}{V-\delta} \int_{\delta/2}^{V/2} \tau[B(c,r),0] \, dr.$$

Note that for $c \leq \frac{\delta}{2}$ or $c \geq 1 - \frac{\delta}{2}$, $0 \in B(c, r)$ for all $r > \frac{\delta}{2}$. Therefore, for $r > \frac{\delta}{2}$, $\tau[B(c, r), 0] = 0$.

Assume $c \in (\frac{\delta}{2}, 1 - \frac{\delta}{2})$. Then for all $r \geq \frac{\delta}{2}$, let $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ be the smallest nonnegative integer such that $c - r \leq kN^{-1}$ or equivalently the smallest nonnegative integer such that $N(c - r) \leq k$. Then $kN^{-1} \in [c - r, c + r] \mod 1$. Therefore, for $\frac{\delta}{2} \leq r \leq c$

$$\tau[B(c,r), 0] = k < N(c-r) + 1,$$

and for $r \ge c$, $\tau[B(c,r), 0] = 0$.

Therefore, for any $c \in [0, 1)$,

$$\tau[B(c,r),0] \le \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } r \ge c \\ N(c-r)+1, & \text{if } \frac{\delta}{2} < r < c \end{cases}$$
(IX.1.7)

If $A = \min\{c, \frac{V}{2}\}$, then

$$\int_{\delta/2}^{V/2} \tau[B(c,r),0] \, dr = \int_{\delta/2}^{A} \tau[B(c,r),0] \, dr.$$

Then

$$\mathcal{H}(c,0,\delta) \le \frac{2}{V-\delta} \int_{\delta/2}^{A} \left(N(c-r) + 1 \right) \, dr = \frac{2}{\delta} \left[\frac{(A - \frac{\delta}{2})(c+\delta) - \frac{1}{2}(A^2 - (\frac{\delta}{2})^2)}{V-\delta} \right],$$

for any $c \in [0, 1)$. Since the dynamics are shift-invariant and the above is true for any $c \in [0, 1)$, the expected search time, $\mathcal{H}(c, s, \delta)$, is of order $\mathcal{O}(1/\delta)$.

The preceding discussion highlighted two important points. First, a suitable choice of N requires knowledge of the target's volume, information completely lacking in the problem formulation. Second, any choice of N gives dynamics that do not densely fill the domain, leaving gaps that a sufficiently small target can hide in.

IX.1.2 Subdivision Algorithm in 1D

The q-adic subdivision algorithm on [0, 1) is defined in the following way. Let $q \in \{2, 3, ...\}$ be called the rank¹ and k the subdivision level. Let $P_0 = \emptyset$ and $\zeta_0 = \emptyset$. For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, define

(i)
$$P_k = \left\{\frac{j}{q^k}\right\}_{j=0}^{q^k-1}$$
, and
(ii) $\zeta_k = P_k \setminus P_{k-1}$.

Define

 $S_k(x) := x + \zeta_k, \mod 1.$

 $^{^{1}}q = 2$ corresponds to the dyadic subdivision algorithm.

The subdivision algorithm is then $S = \{S_1(x), S_2(x), \ldots\}$; i.e. iterate through all points in $S_1(x)$, then all points in $S_2(x)$, and so on.

The subdivision protocol creates a regular grid with edge lengths $\Delta = q^{-k}$. To guarantee finding a target of radius r, we need to find the smallest k that gives a 2r-net; hence we need to chose k as the smallest integer giving $q^{-k} \leq 2r$. An easy computation shows that k satisfies

$$\log_q\left(\frac{1}{2r}\right) \le k < \log_q\left(\frac{1}{2r}\right) + 1.$$

At the k^{th} subdivision level, $\#\{P_k\} = q^{kn}$ points have been searched. Hence $\tau[B(c, r), s] \le q^{kn}$ for all c. Using the upper bound for k gives

$$\tau[B(c,r),s] \le \frac{q}{2r}.$$
(IX.1.8)

Since vol(B(c, r)) = 2r, (IX.1.8) becomes

$$\tau[B(c,r),s] \le \frac{q}{vol(B(c,r))},\tag{IX.1.9}$$

and

$$\mathcal{H}(c, s, \delta) = \frac{1}{V - \delta} \int_{\delta}^{V} \tau[B(c, r(u)), s] \, du$$
$$\leq \frac{q}{V - \delta} \log \frac{V}{\delta}.$$

The expected search time $\mathcal{H}(c, s, \delta)$ is $\mathcal{O}(-\log \delta)$, with the constant only depending on the rank of the subdivision algorithm. Comparing this with the result from the lawnmower algorithm shows that the subdivision algorithm performs much better. \Box The subdivision algorithm exhibited two different characteristics relevant to the search problem. The first was that the algorithm came arbitrarily close to any point in the domain. In fact, the density of the points was uniform in the infinite time limit. The second was that the algorithm was inherently multi-scale. On average larger targets are found first, and if targets are not found at a certain size, the partition size was refined. The multi-scale property of the subdivision algorithm allowed to speedup versus the lawnmower algorithm.

IX.2 *B*-regular systems

The subdivision algorithm exhibited two different characteristics that are relevant to the general search problem. The first was that the algorithm came arbitrarily close to any point in the domain. The second was that the density of points was approximated the Lebesgue measure in the limit.

In dynamical systems, the first property is ergodicity. For a map to be ergodic, a measurable space is required, as well as a map preserving a finite measure and that any invariant set has trivial measure. Unfortunately, the subdivision algorithm is not a function strictly speaking; it is a multi-valued process. The traditional definition of ergodicity does not cover such cases, even though intuitively speaking, the subdivision map preserves the Lebesgue measure. The definition of ergodicity must be modified somewhat to cover these exceptional cases. It will, however, reduce to the usual case for single-valued maps. We start by defining multivalued maps and their time averages in a general setting. Let \mathscr{F}_c be the σ -algebra of countable and co-countable sets; every set in \mathscr{F}_c is either countable or its complement is countable. Recall that the counting measure μ_c : $\mathscr{F}_c \to [0, \infty]$ is defined by

$$\mu_c(A) = \begin{cases} \sum_{x \in A} 1, & A \text{ is a finite set,} \\ \\ \infty, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(IX.2.1)

Definition IX.2.1 (Multi-valued map). Let \mathcal{M} be a compact metric space. A multivalued map is a function $T : \mathscr{F}_c \times \mathbb{N}_0 \to \mathscr{F}_c$ with the following properties:

- (i) for each $x \in \mathcal{M}$, there is a sequence of nonempty *finite* sets $\{A_{x,k}\}$, such that $T(\{x\}, k) = A_{x,k}$,
- (ii) for every $F \in \mathscr{F}_c$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $T(F, k) = \bigcup_{x \in F} T(\{x\}, k)$.
- (iii) for every $x \in \mathcal{M}$, $T(\{x\}, 0) = A_{x,0} = \{x\}$, and
- $(\mathrm{iv}) \ T(\left\{x\right\},k) = T(T(\left\{x\right\},j),k-j) \text{ for all } 0 \leq j \leq k.$

A map $S : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ can be treated in this framework since we can define $T(\{x\}, k)$ to be just the singleton set $\{S^k(x)\}$. For this reason, we will usually write $T^k(x)$ for $T(\{x\}, k)$ so that notation is consistent for both maps and multi-valued processes.

The last two conditions in the above definition just require that the multi-valued process satisfies the semigroup property. In the new notation, the second condition takes the form $T^k(x) = T^{k-j}(T^j(x))$, for any $0 \le j \le k$. **Definition IX.2.2.** Let $T : \mathscr{F}_c \times \mathbb{N}_0 \to \mathscr{F}_c$ be a multi-valued map. Let $d_{\mathscr{F}} : \mathscr{F}_c \times \mathscr{F}_c$ be a pseudo-metic for \mathscr{F}_c such that $d_{\mathscr{F}}(T^j(x), T^k(y)) = 0$ implies $T^j(x) = T^k(y)$. The multi-valued process is,

- (i) continuous at $x \in \mathcal{M}$, if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, there is a $\delta_{x,k} > 0$ such that $d_{\mathscr{F}}(T^k(x), T^k(y)) < \varepsilon$ for any $y \in \mathcal{M}$ such that $d(x, y) < \delta_{x,k}$.
- (ii) continuous if its continuous at all $x \in \mathcal{M}$.
- (iii) uniformly continuous if it is continuous and for each $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $\delta_{x,k} = \delta_{y,k} = \delta_k$ for all $x, y \in \mathcal{M}$.
- (iv) equicontinuous at $x \in \mathcal{M}$ it is continuous at $x \in \mathcal{M}$ and $\delta_{x,j} = \delta_{x,k} = \delta_x$ for all $j, k \in \mathbb{N}_0$.
- (v) equicontinuous if it is equicontinuous at every point $x \in \mathcal{M}$.

If we let $C(\mathcal{M})$ be the space of continuous functions on \mathcal{M} , we have the following:

Definition IX.2.3 (\mathfrak{B} -regularity). Let T be a continuous multi-valued map. Let $\mu_c: \mathscr{F}_c \to [0, \infty]$ be the counting measure. For each $f \in C(\mathcal{M})$, define

$$\mathbb{E}\left[f \circ T^{k}(x)\right] = \frac{1}{\mu_{c}(T^{k}(x))} \sum_{y \in T^{k}(x)} f(y).$$
(IX.2.2)

We call the tuple (T, \mathcal{M}) a \mathfrak{B} -regular system if for each $f \in C(\mathcal{M})$, the limit

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \mathbb{E}\left[f \circ T^k(x) \right]$$
(IX.2.3)

exists for almost every $x \in \mathcal{M}$ with respect to the Lebesgue measure. If (T, \mathcal{M}) is a **B**-regular system, then T is called **B**-regular for short. Since $T^k(x)$ is a finite set for all $x \in \mathcal{M}$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $|f| < \infty$ for $f \in C(\mathcal{M})$, (IX.2.2) is well-defined.

Remark IX.2.4. If $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ is a (single-valued) map and for each $f \in C(\mathcal{M})$, the limit $\lim_{N} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f \circ T^{k}(x)$ exists for Lebesgue almost every $x \in \mathcal{M}$, then (T, \mathcal{M}) is a \mathfrak{B} -regular system and in this case, $\mathbb{E} \left[f \circ T^{k}(x) \right] = f \circ T^{k}(x)$. Systems possessing an SRB measure satisfy this condition [You02].

Let Σ denote all the points in \mathcal{M} where the time average (IX.2.3) does not exist for at least one $f \in C(\mathcal{M})$. If the system is \mathfrak{B} -regular, Σ has Lebesgue measure 0. The \mathfrak{B} -regularity of the system allows a family of positive linear functionals, parameterized by points in $\mathcal{M} \setminus \Sigma$, to be defined on $C(\mathcal{M})$ by setting

$$\Lambda_x(f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \mathbb{E}\left[f \circ T^k(x)\right].$$
(IX.2.4)

For a fixed $x \in \mathcal{M} \setminus \Sigma$, the Riesz representation theorem gives a positive, regular measure, μ_x , so that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \mathbb{E}\left[f \circ T^k(x)\right] = \Lambda_x(f) = \int f \, d\mu_x \tag{IX.2.5}$$

for all $f \in C(\mathcal{M})$. With this measure, $L^1(\mathcal{M}, \mu_x)$ can be defined and the limit (IX.2.5) exists for $L^1(\mu_x)$ -functions.

Definition IX.2.5 (\mathfrak{B} -regular, ergodic measure). Let $A \subset \mathcal{M}$ be Borel measurable. A \mathfrak{B} -regular system (T, \mathcal{M}) is said to be *ergodic on* A if every $x \in A \setminus \Sigma$ generates the same measure μ . T is said to be *ergodic* if A can be taken to be \mathcal{M} and in that case μ is called an *ergodic measure*. If the system is ergodic on A, then for every $x \in A \setminus \Sigma$, the time average is identical to the μ -spatial average over A for $f \in L^1(\mu)$:

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \mathbb{E}\left[f \circ T^k(x)\right] = \int_A f \, d\mu. \tag{IX.2.6}$$

Ergodic invariant measures are import because they characterize the residency times of trajectories in sets; for $f = \chi_A$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \mathbb{E} \left[\chi_A(T^k(x)) \right] = \mu(A).$$
 (IX.2.7)

The term on the left is the asymptotic relative frequency of the time the trajectory spends in the set A and the relation says that this relative frequency is equal to the measure of A.

Given the implication (IX.2.7) of ergodicity and that the target can be located anywhere in the domain, we would like a search transformation with an ergodic measure μ such that every nonempty, open set has positive measure. Motivated by these physical considerations, we make the following assumptions for the rest of the paper:

Assumption IX.2.6. $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ is a \mathfrak{B} -regular, multi-valued map that is ergodic on \mathcal{M} , and whose ergodic measure μ is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure. Furthermore, assume that the Radon-Nikodym derivative of μ satisfies

$$0 < \alpha \le \frac{d\mu}{dx} \le \beta < \infty, \tag{IX.2.8}$$

everywhere on \mathcal{M} .

Definition IX.2.7 (Mixing multi-valued map). Let $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ be a \mathfrak{B} -regular process and μ a measure. Define $\mu(T^{-j}A \cap T^{-k}B)$ as

$$\mu(T^{-j}A \cap T^{-k}B) = \int \mathbb{E}\left[\chi_A \circ T^j(x)\right] \cdot \mathbb{E}\left[\chi_B \circ T^k(x)\right] d\mu.$$
(IX.2.9)

Now let T be an ergodic multi-valued process preserving μ . T is said to be *mixing* if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(A \cap T^{-k}B) = \mu(A)\mu(B).$$
 (IX.2.10)

Mixing dynamical systems asymptotically look like an independent process. Of course, without knowing the speed at which the limit is approached, little can be said quantitatively in terms of the hitting times of sets. Therefore, we need to make an assumption on the rate of approach to the limit. To this end, we introduce the notion of exponential mixing.

Definition IX.2.8 (Uniform exponential mixing). A transformation is *uniformly* exponentially mixing if

$$|\mu(A \cap T^{-k}B) - \mu(A)\mu(B)| \le C\mu(A)\mu(B)e^{-\gamma k}$$
. (IX.2.11)

Nonuniform exponential mixing is defined as

$$|\mu(A \cap T^{-k}B) - \mu(A)\mu(B)| \le C\mu(B)e^{-\gamma k}$$
. (IX.2.12)

The positive parameter γ is called the *mixing rate*.

Uniform exponential mixing must hold for sets of arbitrary measure. We can relax this by defining a scale parameter, and defining (non-)uniform mixing down to this scale. **Definition IX.2.9** (Scale of a set). Fix a Borel measurable set $A \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ and let $R = R_1 \times \cdots \times R_n$ denote an *n*-dimensional rectangle. Define $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ to be a

$$\beta = \sup_{R \subset \overline{A}} \sup \left\{ s \le 1 : s \le R_i \text{ for } 1 \le i \le n \right\}$$
(IX.2.13)

where \overline{A} is the closure of A. A is said to have scale β .

Definition IX.2.10. Let A, B be Borel measurable sets and $\{T^k\}$ a multi-valued map. Fix a scale β . T is said to be uniformly exponentially mixing down to scale β if

$$|\mu(A \cap T^{-k}B) - \mu(A)\mu(B)| \le C_{\beta}\mu(A)\mu(B)e^{-\gamma k}$$
. (IX.2.14)

for Borel measurable sets A, B having scales no less than β . C_{β} is a constant only depending on β .

Nonuniform exponential mixing down to scale β is defined similarly.

In general, we can define mixing with an arbitrary rate.

Definition IX.2.11 (Summable mixing). Let $\Phi : \mathbb{N}_0 \to \mathbb{R}^+$ be a positive, monotonically decreasing sequence such that $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \Phi(k) < \infty$. We obtain *uniform summable mixing* and *nonuniform summable mixing* by replacing $Ce^{-\gamma k}$ with $\Phi(k)$ in IX.2.11 and IX.2.12 respectively.

Definition IX.2.12 (*n*-dimensional, *q*-adic subdivision algorithm). Let ζ be a partition of [0, 1); i.e, a finite set of distinct points $\zeta = \{p_0, \ldots, p_m\}$ ordered such that $0 \leq p_i < p_{i+1} < 1$ for $i = 0, \ldots, m-1$. Let \mathscr{P}_m be the set of all partitions on \mathbb{R} which have *m* points and \mathscr{P} the space of all finite partitions on \mathbb{R} . Let $|\zeta|$ be the number of points in the partition. For any $q \in \{2, 3, ...\}$, define the maps map $I_q : \mathscr{P} \to \mathscr{P}$, $E_q : \mathscr{P} \to \mathscr{P}$, and $S_q : \mathscr{P} \to \mathscr{P}$ by $|\zeta|^{-1} q^{-1} \in \mathbb{C}$

$$I_{q}(\zeta) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{|\varsigma|-1} \bigcup_{j=0}^{q-1} \left\{ p_{i-1} + j\left(\frac{p_{i} - p_{i-1}}{q}\right) \right\},$$
(IX.2.15)
$$E_{q}(\zeta) = \bigcup_{j=0}^{q-1} \left\{ p_{m} + j\left(\frac{1 + p_{0} - p_{m}}{q}\right) \right\} \mod 1,$$

and,

$$S_q(\zeta) = I_q(\zeta) \cup E_q(\zeta), \qquad (IX.2.16)$$

respectively.

Define

$$S_q^0(\zeta) = \zeta. \tag{IX.2.17}$$

and

$$S_q^{k+1}(\zeta) = S_q \circ S_q^k(\zeta) := (I_q \circ I_q^k(\zeta)) \cup (E_q \circ E_q^k(\zeta))$$
(IX.2.18)

for $k \ge 0$.

Fix a dimension $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $(\zeta_1, \ldots, \zeta_n)$ be a set of partitions of the [0, 1). Define $S_q : \mathscr{P}^n \to \mathscr{P}^n$, by

$$\boldsymbol{S}_q(\zeta_1 \times \dots \times \zeta_n) = S_q(\zeta_1) \times \dots \times S_q(\zeta_n)$$
(IX.2.19)

With this definition, we define

$$\boldsymbol{S}_q^0(\zeta_1 \times \cdots \times \zeta_n) = \zeta_1 \times \cdots \times \zeta_n.$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{S}_q^{k+1} = \boldsymbol{S}_q \circ \boldsymbol{S}_q^k = (S_q \circ S_q(\zeta_1)) \times \cdots \times (S_q \circ S_q(\zeta_n))$$

for $k \ge 0$.

For $\boldsymbol{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in [0, 1)^n$, define the partitions $\zeta_i = \{x_i\}$ and $\boldsymbol{\zeta} = \zeta_1 \times \dots \times \zeta_n$. The *n*-dimensional subdivision process of rank *q* is defined for $k \ge 0$ by

$$T_q^k(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{S}_q^k(\boldsymbol{\zeta}). \tag{IX.2.20}$$

By construction, the subdivision process T_q has the semigroup property. Additionally, let $\zeta \in \mathscr{P}_m$. Then $|\zeta| = m$, and $|S_q(\zeta)| = qm$. Therefore S_q maps \mathscr{P}_m into \mathscr{P}_{qm} . In terms of the subdivision process $|S_q^k(\zeta_i)| = q^k$, since the initial partition is an element of \mathscr{P}_1 , and $|S_q^k(\zeta)| = q^{kn}$.

Example IX.2.13 (*n*-dimensional, *q*-adic subdivision algorithm). This example shows that the generalization of the subdivision algorithm to \mathbb{T}^n is a uniformly exponentially mixing multi-valued process preserving the Lebesgue measure.

Recall μ_c is the counting measure. Let $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_n)$. Note that $\mu_c(T^k(\mathbf{x})) = q^{kn}$ since

$$S_q^k(\{x_i\}) = \{x_i, x_i + q^{-k}, \dots, x_i + (q^k - 1)q^{-k}\}.$$
 (IX.2.21)

To ease notation, let $\zeta_i^k = S_q^k(\{x_i\})$; then $T^k(\boldsymbol{x}) = \zeta_1^k \times \cdots \times \zeta_n^k$.

For any $f \in C(\mathbb{T}^n)$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[f \circ T^{k}(\boldsymbol{x})\right] = \frac{1}{q^{kn}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{y} \in T^{k}(\boldsymbol{x})} f(\boldsymbol{y}).$$

Since

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \mathbb{E}\left[f \circ T^k(\boldsymbol{x})\right] = q^{-kn} \sum_{\boldsymbol{y} \in T^k(\boldsymbol{x})} f(\boldsymbol{y}) = \int f(\boldsymbol{y}) \, d\boldsymbol{y}$$
then

$$\frac{1}{N}\sum_{k=1}^{N}\mathbb{E}\left[f\circ T^{k}(\boldsymbol{x})\right]\rightarrow\int f(\boldsymbol{y})\,d\boldsymbol{y}.$$

as $N \to \infty$. Hence, the subdivision algorithm is a \mathfrak{B} -regular system. The limit is independent of the initial condition \boldsymbol{x} , implying that the system is ergodic with respect to the Lebesgue measure.

Note that $\mathbb{E}\left[f \circ T^{k}(\boldsymbol{x})\right] \to vol(B)$ by letting $f = \chi_{B}$, the indicator function of B, which implies that $vol(A \cap T^{-k}B) \to vol(A)vol(B)$. Therefore, the subdivision algorithm is mixing.

We now turn to showing that the subdivision algorithm is uniformly exponentially mixing for rectangles $\mathbf{R} = R_1 \times \cdots \times R_n$ such that $|R_d| = b_d - a_d \ge \beta$, for $d = 1, \ldots, n$, and where $R_d = [a_d, b_d)$, $a_d < b_d$, and $0 \le \beta \le 1$. Recall that $vol(A \cap T^{-k}B)$ is defined by (IX.2.9). We will show that for such a rectangle R,

$$vol(\mathbf{R})(1-C_{\beta}e^{-\gamma k}) < \mathbb{E}\left[\chi_{\mathbf{R}} \circ T^{k}(\mathbf{x})\right] < vol(\mathbf{R})(1+C_{\beta}e^{-\gamma k}).$$

for large enough k.

Consider, the one-dimensional case first. Let $R_1 = [a_1, b_1)$ where we assume $0 < a_1 < b_1 < 1$. We need to estimate the number of points from $\zeta_1^k = \{jq^{-k}\}_{j=0}^{q^k-1}$ belonging to R_1 . Let $n_k(R_1) := \sum_{p \in \zeta_1^k} \chi_{R_1}(p)$. We estimate $n_k(R_1)$ as follows. Assume k is large enough so that for some point $p' \in \zeta_1^k$, $b_1 < p' < 1$ and $b_1 - a_1 > q^{-k}$. Define j' (see fig. IX.1) as the integer satisfying

$$(j'-1)q^{-k} < a_1 \le j'q^{-k}.$$

Then $n_k(R_1)$ satisfies

$$(j' + n_k(R_1) - 1)q^{-k} < b_1 \le (j' + n_k(R_1))q^{-k}$$

Combining these two expressions, it can be shown

$$|R_1| q^k - 1 \le n_k(R_1) < |R_1| q^k + 1$$
(IX.2.22)

where $|R_1| = b_1 - a_1$.



Figure IX.1: The number $n_k(R_1)$ points contained in R_1 .

Now consider the n-dimensional case. Let $\mathbf{R} = R_1 \times \cdots \times R_n$, where $R_d = [a_d, b_d)$. Again it is assumed that $0 < a_d < b_d < 1$ and k is large enough that there is a point of ζ_d^k between b_d and 1 and $b_d - a_d > q^{-k}$. Let $N_k(\mathbf{R})$ be the number of points of $T^k(\mathbf{x}) = \bigotimes_1^n \zeta_d^k$ that are in \mathbf{R} . Note that

$$N_k(\mathbf{R}) = n_k(R_1) \cdots n_k(R_n).$$

Using (IX.2.22), we get

$$N_k(\boldsymbol{R}) \ge vol(\boldsymbol{R})q^{kn} \prod_{d=1}^n \left(1 - \frac{1}{|R_d| q^k}\right)$$

and

$$N_k(\boldsymbol{R}) < vol(\boldsymbol{R})q^{kn} \prod_{i=d}^n \left(1 + \frac{1}{|R_d| q^k}\right)$$

Since $|R_d| \ge \beta$,

$$vol(\boldsymbol{R})q^{kn}\left(1-\beta^{-1}q^{-k}\right)^n \le N_k(\boldsymbol{R}) < vol(\boldsymbol{R})q^{kn}\left(1+\beta^{-1}q^{-k}\right)^n \qquad (\text{IX.2.23})$$

and

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\chi_{\boldsymbol{R}} \circ T^{k}(\boldsymbol{x})\right] = \frac{1}{q^{kn}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{y} \in T^{k}(\boldsymbol{x})} \chi_{\boldsymbol{R}}(\boldsymbol{y}) = \frac{N_{k}(\boldsymbol{R})}{q^{kn}}$$
(IX.2.24)

then

$$vol(\boldsymbol{R}) \left(1 - \beta^{-1} q^{-k}\right)^{n} \leq \mathbb{E} \left[\chi_{\boldsymbol{R}} \circ T^{k}(\boldsymbol{x})\right] < vol(\boldsymbol{R}) \left(1 + \beta^{-1} q^{-k}\right)^{n} \qquad (IX.2.25)$$

There exists $C_{\beta} > 0$ (depending on β) and $\gamma > 0$ such that

$$1 - C_{\beta}e^{-\gamma k} \le (1 - \beta^{-1}q^{-k})^n$$
 and $(1 + \beta^{-1}q^{-k})^n \le 1 + C_{\beta}e^{-\gamma k}$

Therefore

$$vol(\mathbf{R})(1 - C_{\beta}e^{-\gamma k}) \leq \mathbb{E}\left[\chi_{\mathbf{R}} \circ T^{k}(\mathbf{x})\right] < vol(\mathbf{R})(1 + C_{\beta}e^{-\gamma k})$$

and

$$vol(A)vol(\mathbf{R})(1 - C_{\beta}e^{-\gamma k}) \leq vol(A \cap T^{-k}(\mathbf{R})) < vol(A)vol(\mathbf{R})(1 + C_{\beta}e^{-\gamma k}).$$

Hence the subdivision map is uniformly exponentially mixing down to scale β on rectangles and hence Borel sets.

Example IX.2.14 (q-adic maps of the interval). We use a theorem from [Liv95] to show that the q-adic map $T(x) = qx \mod 1$, for $q \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$, is exponentially mixing for targets having scale greater than a fixed number. The theorem is actually a result for the decay of correlations of a class of functions having some regularity properties. Unfortunately, it cannot be strengthened to the uniform exponential condition above because the bound depends on the derivative of one of the observables. It can, however, give " ε -independence". More precisely, this means that for any $\varepsilon > 0$, we can show that

$$\left| vol(A \cap T^{-k}B) - vol(A)vol(B) \right| < \varepsilon + C(\varepsilon)vol(A)vol(B)e^{-\gamma k}$$
 (IX.2.26)

where $C(\varepsilon)$ is a constant depending on ε such that $C(\varepsilon) \to \infty$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

We have

Theorem IX.2.15 ([Liv95]). There exist $K, r \in \mathbb{R}^+$, $\Lambda \in (0,1)$, such that, for $f \in L^1([0,1)), g \in C^1([0,1))$ satisfying $\int_0^1 g(x) \, dx = 1$, $\left| \int_0^1 (f \circ T^n(x))g(x) \, dx - \int_0^1 f(x)\varphi_*(x) \, dx \right| \le K \|f\|_1 (\|g\|_1 + r \|g'\|_\infty) \Lambda^n$ (IX.2.27)

where $\varphi_*(x)$ is the density, with respect to Lebesgue, of the invariant measure.

To show (IX.2.26), consider the intervals A and B in [0,1). Let $f = \chi_B$ and $h = \chi_A / vol(A)$ and define $A_{+\varepsilon} = [a - \varepsilon/2, b + \varepsilon/2]$ where A = [a,b]. Let $\varphi \in C^1$ be defined so that $0 \le \varphi \le 1$, φ is strictly monotonic on $A_{+\varepsilon} \setminus A$, and

$$\varphi(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & x \in A, \\ \\ 0 & x \notin A_{+\varepsilon} \end{cases}$$

Define $g = \varphi / \|\varphi\|_1$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{0}^{1} (\chi_{B} \circ T^{k}(x))h(x) \, dx - \int_{0}^{1} \chi_{B}(x)\varphi_{*}(x) \, dx \right| \\ &\leq \left| \int_{0}^{1} (\chi_{B} \circ T^{k}(x)) \left(h(x) - g(x)\right) \, dx \right| + \left| \int_{0}^{1} (\chi_{B} \circ T^{k}(x)) \, g(x) \, dx - \int_{0}^{1} \chi_{B}\varphi_{*}(x) \, dx \right| \\ &\leq \|\chi_{B}\|_{\infty} \, \|g - h\|_{1} + \left| \int_{0}^{1} (\chi_{B} \circ T^{k}(x)) \, g(x) \, dx - \int_{0}^{1} \chi_{B}\varphi_{*}(x) \, dx \right| \end{aligned}$$

By definition of g and $A_{+\varepsilon}$, we have $||g - h||_1 < \varepsilon$, while the second term can be bounded using Theorem 2.5. Therefore

$$\left| \int_{0}^{1} (\chi_{B} \circ T^{k}(x)) h(x) \, dx - \int_{0}^{1} \chi_{B}(x) \varphi_{*}(x) \, dx \right| < \varepsilon + K \, \|\chi_{B}\|_{1} \, (\|g\|_{1} + r \, \|g'\|_{\infty}) \Lambda^{k}$$

Since $\|g\|_1 = 1$, $h = \chi_A / vol(A)$, and $\varphi_* = 1$ for q-adic maps,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| vol(A \cap T^{-k}B) - vol(A)vol(B) \right| &< \varepsilon \, vol(A) + Kvol(A)vol(B)(1 + r \, \|g'\|_{\infty})\Lambda^{k} \\ &< \varepsilon + Kvol(A)vol(B)(1 + r \, \|g'\|_{\infty})\Lambda^{k}. \end{aligned}$$

Since g = 0 on the complement of $A_{+\varepsilon}$ and increases to 1 on A, we can choose g such that we can bound g' by a constant depending on ε . Therefore,

$$\left| vol(A \cap T^{-k}B) - vol(A)vol(B) \right| < \varepsilon + C(\varepsilon)vol(A)vol(B)e^{-\gamma k}$$

where $\gamma = -\ln \Lambda$ and $C(\varepsilon)$ bounds $K(1 + r ||g'||_{\infty})$. This completes the example. \Box

Finally, the hitting time for discrete-time transformations (def. IX.1.1), needs to amended for multi-valued processes. To do this, we need a way to order the elements of each set $T^k(y)$. This is straight forward since each set is finite; for each k, put a subset of $T^k(y)$ into one-to-one correspondence with a finite subset of \mathbb{N} and use the normal ordering on \mathbb{N} . **Definition IX.2.16** (Hitting time for multivalued maps). Let (T, \mathcal{M}) be a \mathfrak{B} -regular system. For each $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, let $D_{y,k} \subset T^k(y)$ and $g_{y,k} : D_{y,k} \to \{1, 2, \dots, \mu_c(D_{y,k})\}$ be a bijection. Let A be a measurable set. Define

$$m := \inf \left\{ k \in \mathbb{N}_0 : D_{y,k} \cap A \neq \emptyset \right\}$$
(IX.2.28)

and

$$\ell := \inf \left\{ j \in g_{y,m}(D_{y,m}) : g_{y,m}^{-1}(\{\mathbb{N} \le j\}) \cap A \neq \emptyset \right\}.$$
 (IX.2.29)

The hitting time of A when starting from y is defined as

$$\tau[A, y] = \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \mu_c(D_{y,k}) + \ell - 1.$$
 (IX.2.30)

Recall that μ_c is the counting measure (see eq. (IX.2.1)).

Remark IX.2.17. In the context of search, the bijections $g_{y,k}$ tells the searcher the order that the points of $T^k(y)$ should be visited. The domains of the $g_{y,k}$'s are defined as (not necessarily strict) subsets of $T^k(y)$ so that some points of $T^k(y)$ can be ignored by the searcher.

Remark IX.2.18. In the case of a single-valued, \mathfrak{B} -regular map T, the above definition reduces to the standard hitting time definition (IX.1.1).

Remark IX.2.19. For the n-dimensional subdivision process, define $D_{y,0} = T^0(y) = \{y\}$ and

$$D_{y,k} = T^k(y) \setminus T^{k-1}(y)$$

for $k \geq 1$. Since $T^k(y) \subset T^{k+1}(y)$ for the subdivision process, then $D_{y,k} \cap D_{y,j} = \emptyset$ for $j \neq k$ and

$$T^k(y) = D_{y,0} \cup \dots \cup D_{y,k}$$

The integer *m* represents the first subdivision level that has points intersecting the target. The term $\sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \mu_c(D_{y,k})$ counts all the points searched in the previous subdivision levels, while the term $\mu_c(g_m^{-1}(\{\mathbb{N} \leq \ell\}))$ counts the number of points of the *m*th subdivision level before and including the first point that is an element of the target. Hence, $\tau[A, y] \leq \mu_c(T^m(y)) = q^{mn}$.

IX.3 Hitting times for mixing transformations

Our end goal is to show relations of the form (IX.1.6) for mixing transformations. The first step in exhibiting this is to show

$$\lim_{\mu(B(c,r))\to 0} \frac{\ln \tau[B(c,r),y]}{-\ln \mu(B(c,r))} \le 1$$
(IX.3.1)

for almost all y and where μ an ergodic measure preserved by the transformation. Later, the equivalence of μ and *vol* will be used show that (IX.3.1) is equivalent to the relation (IX.1.5) which is used in proving (IX.1.6).

Before moving on, we remark that the lower bound

$$\liminf_{\mu(B(c,r))\to 0} \frac{\ln \tau[B(c,r),y]}{-\ln \mu(B(c,r))} \ge 1$$

holds for any measure-preserving dynamical system, not just the ergodic ones. The proof can be found in [GK07]. This implies that for any measure-preserving dynamical

system satisfying (IX.3.1), that the limit exists and is equal to 1; i.e., the hitting time scales like $\tau[B, y] \sim \mu(B)^{-1}$.

Results showing (IX.3.1) already exist in the quantitative recurrence literature for various types of systems and assumptions on T. However, those results are generally arrived at by nonconstructive means. Since many classes of transformations have the above behavior, it becomes important to differentiate them using their multiplier functions. The function φ in the lemma below differentiates transformations satisfying (IX.3.1) and its form can only be obtained using constructive proofs, which are given in this work.

Lemma IX.3.1. Assume that μ is a non-atomic measure. For a fixed $c, y \in \mathcal{M}$, (IX.3.1) holds if and only if there is a function $\varphi : [0,1] \to [0,\infty)$ such that

(i)
$$\lim_{x \downarrow 0} \frac{\ln \varphi(x)}{-\ln x} = 0$$
, and
(ii) $\tau[B(c,r), y] \le \varphi(\mu(B(c,r)))\mu(B(c,r))^{-1}$

hold for $\mu(B(c,r))$ sufficiently small. Furthermore, if (IX.3.1) holds, we can show that for any $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a $U = U_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that $\tau[B(c,r), y] \leq \mu(B(c,r))^{-(1+\varepsilon)}$ for all $\mu(B(c,r)) \leq U$.

Proof. Fix $c, y \in \mathcal{M}$ and let $B_r = B(c, r)$. If such a φ exists it is easy to see that (IX.3.1) holds. Conversely, if (IX.3.1) holds, we can construct φ with the required properties as follows. Note that since μ contains no atoms, $\mu(B_r) \to 0$ if $r \to 0$. The lim sup inequality implies that for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, there is an $R_n > 0$ such that for all $r \leq R_n, \frac{\ln \tau[B_r, y]}{-\ln \mu(B_r)} < 1 + \frac{1}{n}$. Note that we can choose $\{R_n\}$ such that $R_n > R_{n+1}$ and $R_n \downarrow 0.$ Define $\varphi(\mu(B_r))$ as follows. If $r > R_1$, put $\varphi(\mu(B_r)) = \mu(B_r)^{-1}$. For $r \leq R_1$, let n(r) be the largest $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $R_n \geq r$. Define $\varphi(\mu(B_r)) = \mu(B_r)^{-\frac{1}{n(r)}}$. Note that as $r \downarrow 0$, $n(r) \to \infty$. Obviously, $\lim \frac{\ln \varphi(\mu(B_r))}{-\ln \mu(B_r)} = 0$. Additionally, for all $r \leq R_1, \frac{\ln \tau[B_r, y]}{-\ln \mu(B_r)} < 1 + \frac{1}{n(r)}$ which implies that for $r \leq R_1$, $\tau[B_r, y] < \mu(B_r)^{-\frac{1}{n(r)}}\mu(B_r)^{-1} = \varphi(\mu(B_r))\mu(B_r)^{-1}$

as required.

We now show $\tau[B_r, y] \leq \mu(B)^{-(1+\varepsilon)}$. Fix $\varepsilon > 0$ and assume (IX.3.1) holds. Let φ be constructed as above. If we show that $\varphi(\mu(B_r))\mu(B_r)^{\varepsilon}$ goes to 0 as r goes to 0, we will be done since $\tau[B_r, y] \leq \varphi(\mu(B_r))\mu(B)^{-1} = \varphi(\mu(B_r))\mu(B_r)^{\varepsilon}\mu(B_r)^{-(1+\varepsilon)}$. Note that $\mu(B_r)^{\varepsilon} \ln \frac{1}{\mu(B_r)} \to 0$ as $\mu(B_r) \to 0$ by L'Hôpital's rule. Note that,

$$\varphi(\mu(B_r))\mu(B_r)^{\varepsilon} = \frac{\varphi(\mu(B_r))}{\ln\frac{1}{\mu(B_r)}}\mu(B_r)^{\varepsilon}\ln\frac{1}{\mu(B_r)}$$

By the construction of φ and the L'Hôpital argument above, the above expression limits to 0 as $\mu(B_r) \to 0$. Hence for $\mu(B_r)$ sufficiently small, $\varphi(\mu(B_r))\mu(B_r)^{\varepsilon} < 1$. This completes the proof.

IX.3.1 Uniformly exponentially mixing transformations

We first show (IX.3.1) holds for uniformly exponentially mixing transformations. The proofs given for this case are templates for the weaker forms of mixing defined above. The first lemma shows that the size of the exception set, $\mathcal{E}(c, r, t)$, decays at an exponential rate, suggesting that the process looks almost independent after a short time period. The rate of decay depends only on the mixing rate γ and the measure of the target.

Lemma IX.3.2. Assume $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ satisfies (IX.2.11) and fix $c \in \mathcal{M}$. Then, there exists an integer $p \ge 1$ and a $\lambda > 0$, both depending on the radius of the target r, the measure μ preserved by T, and the mixing rate γ , such that for t > p

$$\mu(\mathcal{E}(c,r,t)) \le e^{-\lambda t} \,. \tag{IX.3.2}$$

Proof. Fix $c \in \mathcal{M}$ and r > 0 and denote B(c, r) by B. We can write $E_t := \mathcal{E}(c, r, t)$ as

$$E_t = (\mathcal{M} \setminus B) \cap T^{-1}(\mathcal{M} \setminus B) \cap \cdots \cap T^{-t}(\mathcal{M} \setminus B).$$

Let p be a positive integer that will be chosen later. For all t > p,

$$E_t \subset A \cap T^{-p}A \cap \dots \cap T^{-mp}A =: C_m \tag{IX.3.3}$$

where $A := \mathcal{M} \setminus B$ and $m = \lfloor t/p \rfloor$, the integer part of t/p. Apply the mixing condition (IX.2.11) to the *p*-skeleton (IX.3.3) to get the relation

$$\mu(C_m) = \mu(A \cap T^{-p}A \cap \dots \cap T^{-mp}A) \le \mu(A \cap T^{-p}C_{m-1})$$
$$\le (1 + Ce^{-\gamma p})\mu(A)\mu(C_{m-1}).$$

Proceeding inductively, we get

$$\mu(C_m) \le \left[(1 + Ce^{-\gamma p})\mu(A) \right]^m \mu(C_0) \le \mu(A)^{m+1} (1 + Ce^{-\gamma p})^m \le \mu(\mathcal{M} \setminus B)^{m+1} (1 + Ce^{-\gamma p})^{m+1},$$

where we have used that $C_0 = A$. Since $E_t \subset C_m$,

$$\mu(E_t) \le \left[\mu(\mathcal{M} \setminus B)(1 + Ce^{-\gamma p})\right]^{m+1}.$$
 (IX.3.4)

Since $\mu(\mathcal{M} \setminus B) = 1 - \mu(B) < 1$ for all r and $e^{-\gamma k} \downarrow 0$ as $k \to \infty$, then for each r there will be a p = p(r) that makes $\mu(\mathcal{M} \setminus B)(1 + Ce^{-\gamma n}) < 1$.

Accordingly, p can be chosen so that $(1 - \mu(B))(1 + Ce^{-\gamma p}) \le 1 - \frac{1}{2}\mu(B)$. A short calculation shows that it is sufficient to take p as

$$p \ge -\frac{1}{\gamma} \ln\left(\frac{1}{2C} \frac{\mu(B)}{1-\mu(B)}\right) . \tag{IX.3.5}$$

Since p is defined as a positive integer, take p = 1 if the right side of (IX.3.5) is not positive.

Let p be chosen as such and put $\kappa := 1 - \frac{1}{2}\mu(B)$. Using (IX.3.4), E_t can be bounded above by

$$\mu(E_t) \le \kappa^{m+1} \le \kappa^{t/p} = e^{(\ln \kappa)t/p}$$

Putting

$$\lambda = -\frac{1}{p}\ln\kappa \equiv -\frac{1}{p}\ln\left(1 - \frac{1}{2}\mu(B)\right)$$
(IX.3.6)

gives the desired result.

Remark IX.3.3. We call the integer p defined in the lemma above the gap time and interpret it as the time the system needs to reach independence. To see this, we note that p is chosen so that $(1 - \mu(B))(1 + Ce^{-\gamma p}) \leq 1 - \frac{1}{2}\mu(B)$. A short calculation shows that $Ce^{-\gamma p} \leq \frac{\mu(B)}{2(1-\mu(B))}$ which is approximately $\frac{1}{2}\mu(B)$ for small targets. Using this with the mixing condition (IX.2.11), we get that

$$\mu(A \cap T^{-p}B) \le \mu(A)\mu(B)(1 + Ce^{-\gamma p}) \lesssim \mu(A)\mu(B)(1 + \frac{\mu(B)}{2}) \approx \mu(A)\mu(B)(1 + \frac{\mu(B)}{2}) \approx \mu(A)\mu(B)(1 + Ce^{-\gamma p}) \le \mu(A)\mu(B)(1 + Ce^{-\gamma p})$$

for small $\mu(B)$.

Note that the gap time p from (IX.3.5) is a decreasing function of the mixing rate γ . A large γ corresponds to a fast mixing rate, meaning that the system approaches independence rapidly. Intuitively, we would expect that the corresponding gap time p would be small. This relation is made precise by (IX.3.5).

The gap time is also a decreasing function of the measure of the target set. As the measure decreases to zero, p approaches infinity. Given that p is the time to reach approximate independence and that it increases as the measure of the target decreases, we can interpret this to mean that the transformation becomes independent in a hierarchical fashion. Meaning, if $\mu(B)$ is relatively large, p is small and if we look at only large target sets, the process is almost independent after a short time. However, if we use the same p and look at smaller sets, the process may not look independent yet. Looking at it from the other direction, as p increases, the process looks indepedent at smaller and smaller scales. More precisely, p is approximately $\ln \frac{1}{\mu(B)}$ for small targets. Thus, if we shrink the target so that its new measure $\mu(B')$ satisfies $\mu(B') = \mu(B)^2$, then p approximately doubles. Remark IX.3.4. From (IX.3.5) and (IX.3.6), we get that

$$\lambda \approx \gamma \left(\frac{\ln \frac{2}{2-\mu(B)}}{\ln \frac{2c(1-\mu(B))}{\mu(B)}} \right).$$

For fixed γ , λ goes to 0 as the measure goes to 0. Since λ controls the rate of decrease of the exception set's measure, this result says that the measure of the points that have not found the target by time t decreases very slowly for small targets. This is agrees with our intuition.

If we let H_t be the set of points that have hitting times less or equal to t, then $H_{t+1} = H_t \cup \{y : \tau[B, y] = t+1\}$. But $\{y : \tau[B, y] = t+1\} \subset T^{-(t+1)}B$, so that $\mu(H_t) \leq \mu(H_{t+1}) \leq \mu(H_t) + \mu(B)$. Therefore, at each time step, the measure of the exception set $\mathcal{E}(c, r, t)$ decreases by a quantity smaller than $\mu(B)$. For small $\mu(B)$, this decreases very slowly.

The next result gives a lower bound on the time needed to wait if we want to guarantee finding a target of a fixed size from a set of initial conditions of a certain size.

Lemma IX.3.5. Assume $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ satisfies (IX.2.11). Fix $c \in \mathcal{M}$, r > 0, and let B = B(c, r). If ϵ satisfies $0 < \epsilon \leq 1 - \frac{1}{2}\mu(B)$, then $\mu(\mathcal{E}(c, r, t)) < \epsilon$ for

$$t > p \frac{\left|\ln \epsilon\right|}{\left|\ln \left(1 - \frac{1}{2}\mu(B)\right)\right|}.$$
(IX.3.7)

where p is chosen as in lemma IX.3.2.

Proof. This is a straight forward computation using (IX.3.2) and (IX.3.6).

A combination of the above two lemmas gives an upper bound for the hitting time of a target for an appropriately large set of initial conditions for the searcher. In particular, if we wish to find the target with probability 0.95, set $\varepsilon = 0.05$ and use (IX.3.8) and (IX.3.9) to find the time needed to wait.

Proposition IX.3.6. Assume $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ is uniformly exponentially mixing preserving a measure μ equivalent to the Lebesgue measure. Fix any $c \in \mathcal{M}$, r > 0, and let $B = B(c,r) \subset \mathcal{M}$. Then for any $0 < \epsilon < 1 - \frac{1}{2}\mu(B)$, there exists a set $\mathscr{G}(c,r)$, with $\mu(\mathscr{G}(c,r)) > 1 - \varepsilon$, such that for $y \in \mathscr{G}(c,r)$,

$$\tau[B, y] \le \varphi(\mu(B)) \cdot \mu(B)^{-1} \tag{IX.3.8}$$

where

$$\varphi(\mu(B)) = 2 \left| \ln \varepsilon \right| \left[\frac{1}{\gamma} \ln \left(\frac{2C(1 - \mu(B))}{\mu(B)} \right) + 1 \right] + \mu(B).$$
 (IX.3.9)

Furthermore,

$$\mu\left(\left\{y \in \mathcal{M} : \limsup_{\mu(B) \to 0} \frac{\ln \tau[B, y]}{-\ln \mu(B)} \le 1\right\}\right) = 1.$$
 (IX.3.10)

Before starting the proof, we remark that $\frac{\ln \varphi(\mu(B))}{-\ln \mu(B)}$ converges to 0 as $\mu(B) \to 0$.

Proof. Fix $c \in \mathcal{M}$ and denote B(c, r) as B. Fix ϵ such that $0 < \epsilon < 1 - \frac{1}{2}\mu(B)$. Choosing

$$p := \inf\left\{k \in \mathbb{N} : k \ge \frac{1}{\gamma} \ln \frac{2C(1-\mu(B))}{\mu(B)}\right\},\tag{IX.3.11}$$

we have that

$$\frac{1}{\gamma} \ln \frac{2C(1-\mu(B))}{\mu(B)} \le p < \frac{1}{\gamma} \ln \frac{2C(1-\mu(B))}{\mu(B)} + 1.$$
(IX.3.12)

Furthermore, choose $t \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$t := \inf\left\{k \in \mathbb{N} : k > \frac{2\left|\ln\epsilon\right|}{\mu(B)} \left[\frac{1}{\gamma}\ln\left[\frac{2C(1-\mu(B))}{\mu(B)}\right] + 1\right]\right\}.$$
 (IX.3.13)

Since for all 0 < x < 1, $|\ln(1-x)| > x$, then putting $x = \mu(B)/2$ gives

$$t > \left[\frac{1}{\gamma}\ln\left[\frac{2C(1-\mu(B))}{\mu(B)}\right] + 1\right] \frac{|\ln\epsilon|}{\frac{1}{2}\mu(B)} > p\frac{|\ln\epsilon|}{\left|\ln\left(1-\frac{1}{2}\mu(B)\right)\right|}.$$
 (IX.3.14)

Given (IX.3.11), (IX.3.14), and lemma IX.3.5, $\mu(\mathcal{E}(c, r, t)) < \epsilon$ so that

$$\mu(\mathcal{M} \setminus \mathcal{E}(c, r, t)) > 1 - \epsilon$$
. Put $\mathscr{G}(c, r) = \mathcal{M} \setminus \mathcal{E}(c, r, t)$. For $y \in \mathscr{G}(c, r)$, lemma IX.3.5
implies $\tau[B, y] \leq t$ and by (IX.3.13),

$$t \le \frac{2\left|\ln \epsilon\right|}{\mu(B)} \left[\frac{1}{\gamma} \ln \left[\frac{2C(1-\mu(B))}{\mu(B)}\right] + 1\right] + 1.$$

This is equivalent to (IX.3.8) and (IX.3.9).

We now show that (IX.3.10) holds. We show that,

$$\mu\left(\left\{y \in \mathcal{M} : \limsup_{\mu(B)\downarrow 0} \frac{\ln\tau[B,y]}{-\ln\mu(B)} > 1\right\}\right) = 0.$$
(IX.3.15)

We first note that

$$\ln \varphi(\mu(B)) = \ln \left[2 \left| \ln \varepsilon \right| \left[\frac{1}{\gamma} \ln \left(\frac{2C(1 - \mu(B))}{\mu(B)} \right) + 1 \right] + \mu(B) \right]$$
$$\leq \ln(2 \left| \ln \varepsilon \right|) + \ln \frac{1}{\gamma} + \ln \ln \left(\frac{2C'}{\mu(B)} \right) + 2$$

where $C' \ge C$ is a constant chosen so that $\frac{1}{\gamma} \ln (2C') \ge 1$.

Fix $i \in \mathbb{N}$. Define the sequence $\{B_j\}_{j=2}^{\infty}$ as $B_j := B(c, r_j)$, where r_j is such that $\mu(B_j) = 1/j$. Define $\epsilon_j = \mu(B_j)^2 \equiv 1/j^2$, so that $\epsilon_j < 1 - \frac{1}{2}\mu(B_j)$ for all j. Then

$$\ln \tau[B_j, y] \leq \ln \left(\varphi(\mu(B_j)) \cdot \mu(B_j)^{-1}\right)$$
$$\leq -\ln \mu(B_j) + \ln(4|\ln j|) + \ln \frac{1}{\gamma} + \ln \ln \left(\frac{2C'}{\mu(B_j)}\right) + 2.$$

By lemma IX.3.5, this holds on a set of measure greater than $1 - \epsilon_j = 1 - j^{-2}$. Therefore,

$$\frac{\ln \tau[B_j, y]}{-\ln \mu(B_j)} \le 1 + \frac{\ln(4|\ln j|)}{-\ln \mu(B_j)} + \frac{\ln \frac{1}{\gamma}}{-\ln \mu(B_j)} + \frac{\ln \ln \left(\frac{2C}{\mu(B_j)}\right)}{-\ln \mu(B_j)} + \frac{2}{-\ln \mu(B_j)}.$$
 (IX.3.16)

on a set of measure greater than $1 - j^{-2}$.

Define

$$\varphi_j(y) := \begin{cases} \frac{\ln \tau[B_j, y]}{-\ln \mu(B_j)} - 1, & \text{if } \frac{\ln \tau[B_j, y]}{-\ln \mu(B_j)} - 1 \ge 0, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

,

so that $\{\varphi_j\}_2^\infty$ is a sequence of non-negative functions. Let

$$\mathcal{F}_j := \left\{ y \in \mathcal{M} : \varphi_j(y) > \frac{1}{i} \right\}$$

and define

$$\mathcal{F} := \limsup_{j \to \infty} \mathcal{F}_j \equiv \bigcap_{j=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{k=j}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}_k = \bigcap_{j=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{k=j}^{\infty} \left\{ y \in \mathcal{M} : \varphi_k(y) > \frac{1}{i} \right\}.$$

Note that it is always true that

$$\left\{y \in \mathcal{M} : \limsup_{j \to \infty} \varphi_j(y) > \frac{1}{i}\right\} \subset \mathcal{F},$$

so we only need to show that $\mu(\mathcal{F}) = 0$. Note that $\bigcup_{k=j}^{\infty} \{y \in \mathcal{M} : \varphi_k(y) > \frac{1}{i}\}$ is a monotonically decreasing sequence of sets in the variable j, and since μ is continuous on monotonic sequences of sets,

$$\mu(\mathcal{F}) = \lim_{j \to \infty} \mu\left(\bigcup_{k=j}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}_k\right) \le \lim_{j \to \infty} \sum_{k=j}^{\infty} \mu(\mathcal{F}_k).$$

If we can show that $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mu(\mathcal{F}_j) < \infty$, we will be done since then $\lim_{j\to\infty} \sum_{k=j}^{\infty} \mu(\mathcal{F}_k) = 0$.

Consider (IX.3.16). Since we have chosen $\mu(B_j) = 1/j$, then for large enough j, the expression on the right side of (IX.3.16) will be less than or equal to 1 + 1/i, and this will be true on a set of measure greater than $1 - 1/j^2$. This implies that for such $j, \varphi_j(y) \leq 1/i$ on a set of measure greater than $1 - 1/j^2$. Therefore, for sufficiently large $j, \mu(\mathcal{F}_j) < 1/j^2$, and hence $\{\mu(\mathcal{F}_j)\}$ is summable, as required. Therefore,

$$\mu\left(\left\{y\in\mathcal{M}:\limsup_{j\to\infty}\varphi_j(y)>\frac{1}{i}\right\}\right)=0.$$

Since $i \in \mathbb{N}$ was arbitrary, the above holds for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$. Since

$$\left\{y \in \mathcal{M} : \limsup_{j \to \infty} \varphi_j(y) > 0\right\} = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} \left\{y \in \mathcal{M} : \limsup_{j \to \infty} \varphi_j(y) > \frac{1}{i}\right\},\$$

then $\mu\left(\left\{y \in \mathcal{M} : \limsup_{j \to \infty} \varphi_j(y) > 0\right\}\right) = 0.$

We have shown that (IX.3.15) holds for a specific decreasing sequence $\{B_j\}$. Now we need to strengthen it to hold for arbitrary $\mu(B)$. This is easily done by noting that for any B(c,r), there is some j such that $B_j \subset B(c,r) \subset B_{j-1}$. Then the following holds for every y:

$$\frac{\ln \tau[B_{j-1}, y]}{\ln(j-1)} \frac{\ln(j-1)}{\ln j} < \frac{\ln \tau[B(c, r), y]}{-\ln \mu(B(c, r))} < \frac{\ln \tau[B_j, y]}{\ln j} \frac{\ln j}{\ln(j-1)}.$$

Both the lower bound and upper bound have the same lim sup and therefore

$$\lim_{\mu(B(c,r))\to 0} \sup_{j\to\infty} \frac{\ln \tau[B(c,r),y]}{-\ln \mu(B(c,r))} = \limsup_{j\to\infty} \frac{\ln \tau[B_j,y]}{-\ln \mu(B_j)}$$

This completes the proof.

E		

Remark IX.3.7. The results can be restate in the following "confidence" form: For a fixed B = B(c, r),

$$\mu\left(\left\{y \in \mathcal{M} : \tau[B, y] \le \varphi(\mu(B)) \cdot \mu(B)^{-1}\right\}\right) > 1 - \varepsilon$$

Remark IX.3.8. In the above proposition, we fixed an $\varepsilon > 0$ and to this ε there corresponded a t satisfying (IX.3.7) and a set of initial conditions $\mathcal{E}(c, r, t)$ such that $\mu(\mathcal{E}(c, r, t)) < \varepsilon$ and for $y \notin \mathcal{E}(c, r, t)$, $\tau[B, y] \leq t$.

Alternatively, for a fixed $y \in \mathcal{M}$, ε can be made a function of y. Do this as follows. Assume the hitting time of B from y is finite. Let $n = \tau[B, y]$. Let $\mathscr{G}(k) = \bigcup_{j=0}^{k} T^{-j}(B)$ and define $\zeta(y) = \mu(\mathscr{G}(n))$. Note that $\mathscr{G}(k)$ is the set of y having hitting times less than or equal to k. There are two cases: either $1 - \zeta(y) > 1 - \frac{1}{2}\mu(B)$, or $1 - \zeta(y) \leq 1 - \frac{1}{2}\mu(B)$.

In the first case, take $\varepsilon = 1 - \frac{1}{2}\mu(B)$. From lemma IX.3.5, we can take t = p + 1. For this t, $\mu(\mathcal{E}(c,r,t)) < \varepsilon$. Since $\varepsilon < 1 - \zeta(y) = \mu(\mathcal{E}(c,r,n))$, then $\mu(\mathcal{E}(c,r,t)) < \mu(\mathcal{E}(c,r,n))$. Since $\mathcal{E}(c,r,\cdot)$ is a monotonically decreasing sequence of sets, the previous inequality implies t > n. Therefore, $y \notin \mathcal{E}(c,r,t)$.

In the second case, define $\varepsilon = 1 - \zeta(y)$. The conditions of lemma IX.3.5 again hold. If we let t satisfy (IX.3.7), then $\mu(\mathcal{E}(c,r,t)) < \varepsilon = 1 - \zeta(y) = \mu(\mathcal{E}(c,r,n))$. By the same argument as above, t > n and $y \notin \mathcal{E}(c,r,t)$.

In either case, (IX.3.8) and (IX.3.9) still hold, only now ε is a function of y. For fixed y, this is just a constant and we can regard $\tau[B(c,r), y]$ as a function of the radius r only². Hence, for any fixed y having a finite hitting time for B, $\tau[B, y] = O(\frac{1}{\mu(B)} \ln \frac{1}{\mu(B)}).$

IX.3.2 Nonuniform exponentially mixing transformations

The uniform exponential mixing condition used in the previous sections can be changed to the weaker form of exponential mixing given by (IX.2.12) and similar results will hold. In this case, we would get a decay rate for $\mu(\mathcal{E}(c, r, t))$ that depends on $(\mu(\mathcal{M} - B))^{-1}$ instead of (IX.3.4). Regardless, p can still be chosen so that $\mu(\mathcal{E}(c, r, t)) \leq (1 - \frac{1}{2}\mu(B))^{m+1}$. The following two lemma make this precise and are analogues to lemma IX.3.2.

Lemma IX.3.9. Assume $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ satisfies (IX.2.12) and fix $c \in \mathcal{M}$. Then, there exists an integer $p \ge 1$ and a $\lambda > 0$, both depending on the radius of the target r, the measure μ preserved by T, and the mixing rate γ , such that for t > p

$$\mu(\mathcal{E}(c,r,t)) \le e^{-\lambda t} \,. \tag{IX.3.17}$$

Proof. Define B, E_t, p, m , and C_m as in lemma IX.3.2. Letting $B^c = \mathcal{M} \setminus B$, we have

$$\mu(E_t) \le \mu(C_m) \le \mu(B^c)\mu(C_{m-1}) + C\mu(C_{m-1})e^{-\gamma p}$$
$$= \left(1 + \frac{C}{\mu(B^c)}e^{-\gamma p}\right)\mu(B^c)\mu(C_{m-1})$$

² We always assume that the center c of the ball is fixed.

Proceeding inductively,

$$\mu(E_t) \leq \left(1 + \frac{C}{\mu(B^c)} e^{-\gamma p}\right)^m \mu(B^c)^m \mu(C_0)$$
$$\leq \left[\left(1 + \frac{C}{\mu(B^c)} e^{-\gamma p}\right) \mu(B^c) \right]^{m+1}$$
$$= \left[\left(1 + \frac{C}{1 - \mu(B)} e^{-\gamma p}\right) (1 - \mu(B)) \right]^{m+1}$$

By choosing $p \in \mathbb{N}$ so that

$$p \ge \frac{1}{\gamma} \ln \frac{2C}{\mu(B)} \tag{IX.3.18}$$

we have

$$\left[\left(1 + \frac{C}{1 - \mu(B)} e^{-\gamma p} \right) (1 - \mu(B)) \right] \le 1 - \frac{\mu(B)}{2}.$$

Then

$$\mu(E_t) \le \left[1 - \frac{\mu(B)}{2}\right]^{m+1} \le \left(1 - \frac{\mu(B)}{2}\right)^{t/p}$$

Putting $\lambda = -\frac{1}{p} \ln(1 - \frac{\mu(B)}{2})$, gives $\mu(E_t) \le e^{-\lambda t}$.

Despite this weaker form of mixing, Lemma IX.3.5 remains unchanged and we still have an analogue of proposition IX.3.6. The difference is that the premultiplier φ will not be given by (IX.3.9), but some other function of $\mu(B)$.

Proposition IX.3.10. Assume $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ satisfies (IX.2.12) and preserves a measure μ equivalent to the Lebesgue measure. Fix any $c \in \mathcal{M}$, r > 0, and let $B = B(c,r) \subset \mathcal{M}$. Then for any $0 < \epsilon < 1 - \frac{1}{2}\mu(B)$, there exists a set $\mathscr{G}(c,r)$, with $\mu(\mathscr{G}(c,r)) > 1 - \varepsilon$, such that for $y \in \mathscr{G}(c,r)$,

$$\tau[B, y] \le \varphi(\mu(B)) \cdot \mu(B)^{-1} \tag{IX.3.19}$$

where

$$\varphi(\mu(B)) = 2 \left| \ln \varepsilon \right| \left[\frac{1}{\gamma} \ln \frac{2C}{\mu(B)} + 1 \right] + \mu(B).$$
 (IX.3.20)

Furthermore,

$$\mu\left(\left\{y \in \mathcal{M} : \limsup_{\mu(B)\downarrow 0} \frac{\ln \tau[B, y]}{-\ln \mu(B)} \le 1\right\}\right) = 1.$$
 (IX.3.21)

As the proof proceeds exactly the same as for Proposition IX.3.6, except that p is now given by the infimum of integers satisfying (IX.3.18), rather than (IX.3.11), it will not be repeated.

IX.3.3 Summable mixing systems

While everything above was derived for an exponentially mixing maps, the same procedure can be used for uniform summable mixing transformations of the form

$$|\mu(A \cap T^{-k}B) - \mu(A)\mu(B)| \le C\mu(A)\mu(B)\Phi(k),$$
 (IX.3.22)

where $\Phi(k)$ is a summable, monotonically decreasing sequence of positive numbers. In this case, there will not be a nice expression for the time p we must wait for the process to look nearly independent as we do in (IX.3.5). We will however have the condition

$$\mu(\mathcal{E}(c, r, t)) \le [(1 - \mu(B))(1 + C\Phi(p))]^{m+1}.$$

which is analogous to (IX.3.4). As before, p can be chosen so that

$$(1 - \mu(B))(1 + C\Phi(p)) \le 1 - \frac{1}{2}\mu(B).$$

IX.3.4 Measures equivalent to the Lebesgue measure

Thus far, we have talked about asymptotic laws in terms of the preserved measure μ or, equivalently, the " μ -size" of the target. However, when one thinks of searching for a target, it is natural to talk about its size in terms of its volume. The equivalence of the measures allows us to transform statements in terms of μ , which is natural for the transformation, into statements in terms of the Lebesgue measure, which is natural for the problem specification. This is the content of the following proposition.

Proposition IX.3.11. If $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ satisfies (IX.3.1) and μ satisfies (IX.2.8), then

$$\limsup_{vol(B(c,r))\to 0} \frac{\tau[B(c,r),y]}{-\ln vol(B(c,r))} \le 1.$$
 (IX.3.23)

Proof. Fix $c \in \mathcal{M}$. Let B = B(c, r). By lemma IX.3.1 above, there is a $\varphi(\mu(B))$ having the properties $\frac{\ln \varphi(\mu(B))}{-\ln \mu(B)} \to 0$ as $\mu(B) \to 0$, and, for all $\mu(B)$ sufficiently small, $\tau[B, y] < \varphi(\mu(B))\mu(B)^{-1}$. By the assumption, (IX.2.8), on the ergodic measure $\mu, d\mu = f dx$ and $0 < \alpha \leq f(x) \leq \beta$ for all $x \in \mathcal{M}$. Using this to bound $\mu(B)^{-1}$, we get for $\mu(B)$ sufficiently small

$$\tau[B, y] < \alpha \, \varphi(\mu(B)) \, vol(B)^{-1}$$

This implies that

$$\frac{\ln \tau[B, y]}{-\ln vol(B)} < \frac{\ln \alpha}{-\ln vol(B)} + \frac{\ln \varphi(\mu(B))}{-\ln vol(B)} + 1.$$
(IX.3.24)

By (IX.2.8),
$$\frac{-\ln \mu(B)}{-\ln vol(B)}$$
 is bounded, so that
$$\frac{\ln \varphi(\mu(B))}{-\ln vol(B)} = \frac{\ln \varphi(\mu(B))}{-\ln \mu(B)} \frac{-\ln \mu(B)}{-\ln vol(B)} \to 0$$

and hence

$$\limsup_{vol(B)\to 0} \frac{\ln \tau[B, y]}{-\ln vol(B)} \le 1,$$
(IX.3.25)

which proves the result.

IX.4 Expected search time

In the previous sections, we showed relations of the form

$$\limsup_{vol(B)\to 0} \frac{\ln \tau[B(c,r),y]}{-\ln vol(B(c,r))} \le 1$$
(IX.4.1)

for every c and almost every y. We now compute the expected search time for these classes of transformations. The main result states that the expected search time behaves like $\mathcal{H}(c, y, \delta) = \mathcal{O}(\ln \frac{1}{\delta})$.

Proposition IX.4.1. If $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ is a transformation satisfying (IX.4.1) and $\nu_{\delta}(u;\xi)$ is the nearly uniform distribution on target sizes given by (VIII.0.2), then for every c and almost every y

$$\lim_{\xi \to 0} \limsup_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\mathcal{H}(c, y, \delta)}{-\ln \delta} \le \frac{1}{V} . \tag{IX.4.2}$$

Proof. Fix $c \in \mathcal{M}$. Let B = B(c, r). $\xi > 0$ is the parameter of the nearly uniform distribution. Per lemma IX.3.1 (where we have replaced μ with m), there is a $u_{\xi} > 0$ such that for almost every y, $\tau[B, y] \leq m(B)^{-(1+\xi)}$ if $m(B) \leq u_{\xi}$. If r(u) is the radius needed to make the volume of the ball equal to u, then we write u = m(B(c, r(u))). Assume that δ satisfies $0 < \delta < u_{\xi}$. We can decompose the definition of $\mathcal{H}(c, y, \delta)$ as

$$\mathcal{H}(c, y, \delta) = \int_{\delta}^{u_{\xi}} \nu_{\delta}(u; \xi) \,\tau[B(c, r(u)), y] \,du + \int_{u_{\epsilon}}^{V} \nu_{\delta}(u; \xi) \,\tau[B(c, r(u)), y] \,du \;.$$
(IX.4.3)

Consider the first integral on the second line.

$$\int_{\delta}^{u_{\xi}} \nu_{\delta}(u;\xi) \tau[B(c,r(u)),y] \, du \le \int_{\delta}^{u_{\xi}} K_{\delta} u^{\xi} u^{-(1+\xi)} \, du = K_{\delta} \ln \frac{u_{\xi}}{\delta} \,. \tag{IX.4.4}$$

where $K_{\delta} := \frac{1+\xi}{V^{1+\xi} - \delta^{1+\xi}}.$

Consider the second integral in (IX.4.3). For all $u \in (u_{\epsilon}, V)$,

$$\tau[B(c, r(u)), y] \le \tau[B(c, r(u_{\xi})), y] \le u_{\xi}^{-(1+\xi)}.$$

Therefore

$$\int_{u_{\epsilon}}^{V} \nu_{\delta}(u;\xi) \tau[B(c,r(u)),y] \, du \le \left[\frac{V^{1+\xi} - u_{\xi}^{1+\xi}}{V^{1+\xi} - \delta^{1+\xi}}\right] u_{\xi}^{-(1+\xi)} \,. \tag{IX.4.5}$$

From (IX.4.4) and (IX.4.5)

$$\frac{\mathcal{H}(c,y,\delta)}{-\ln\delta} \le K_{\delta} - K_{\delta} \frac{\ln u_{\xi}}{\ln\delta} + \left[\frac{V^{1+\xi} - u_{\xi}^{1+\xi}}{V^{1+\xi} - \delta^{1+\xi}}\right] \frac{u_{\xi}^{-1-\xi}}{-\ln\delta}$$

for all $0 < \delta < u_{\xi}$, and hence

$$\limsup_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\mathcal{H}(c, y, \delta)}{-\ln \delta} \le \frac{(1+\xi)}{V^{1+\xi}}.$$

Since this is true for any $\xi > 0$,

$$\lim_{\xi \to 0} \limsup_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\mathcal{H}(c, y, \delta)}{-\ln \delta} \leq \frac{1}{V} \; ,$$

and the proof is complete.

IX.4.1 Simulations

The first set of simulations are computations of the hitting times for the 1dimensional subdivision and q-adic examples above (see IX.1.2 and example IX.2.14, respectively). For each simulation, a fixed set of M = 100 initial conditions for the searcher was chosen to be uniformly distributed in [0, 1). For the j^{th} initial condition, a trajectory $\{y_{j,0}, y_{j,1}, \ldots, y_{j,N-1}\}$ ($N = 10^6$) was generated using the appropriate process. A center $c \in [0, 1)$ for the target was fixed. For each $k \in \{0, \ldots, N-1\}$, $r_{j,k}$ was defined as

$$r_{j,k} = \min\{|y_{j,i} - c| : 0 \le i \le k\}.$$
 (IX.4.6)

Each $r_{j,k}$ measures the closest the trajectory came to the target center in the time interval [0, 1, ..., k]. Note that for any $r \ge r_{j,k}$, the hitting time satisfies $\tau[B(c, r), y_{j,0}] \le k$. This gave a decreasing sequence $r_{j,0} \ge r_{j,1} \ge \cdots \ge r_{j,N-1}$.

Define R_k as

$$R_k = \max\{r_{j,k} : 1 \le j \le M\}.$$
 (IX.4.7)

The variable R_k gave a lower bound for the smallest target size having hitting time equal to k, uniform over the chosen initial conditions; i.e., for all $r \ge R_k$ and all

initial conditions $y_{j,0}$ (j = 1, ..., M), $\tau[B(c, r), y_{j,0}] \leq k$. If enough initial conditions are taken, then k is an estimate for an upper bound, uniform over almost all initial conditions, for the hitting time of a target centered at c with volumes greater than $vol(k) = 2R_k$.

Figures IX.2a - IX.2c show the hitting time for the 1-dimensional subdivision process (ranks 2, 3, 4) defined in IX.1.2. The plots are of k-vs-vol(k) and include simulations results for 100 different target centers, chosen uniformly at random in [0, 1). Results of the simulations are plotted in color (lower curve). The upper bound for the 1D simulations (equation (IX.1.9)) is plotted in black (upper curve). The data is plotted on a log-log scale and shows the 1/vol(B) order for the hitting time. Note that the bound is tight since for any subdivision level j, there exists a target B(c, r)whose hitting time is exactly q^{j} .

The same simulations were performed for the q-adic maps (q = 2, 3, 4). The difference were the initial conditions used. Since, for an integer q, the q-adic map will eventually map any rational point to the fixed point at 0, an irrational point very close to the specified initial conditions was taken instead. This can be done by representing a number in [0, 1) as a q-ary expansion; $y = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_k q^{-(k+1)}$, where $a_k \in \{0, \ldots, q-1\}$ are called the q-bits. The q-adic map is the shift operator on the sequence. For a rational y, the first 64 q-bits were computed. The rest of the sequence was filled with integers taken uniformly at random from $\{0, \ldots, q-1\}$. This guaranteed that the irrational point was within q^{-64} of the specified initial condition.

Figures IX.3a - IX.3c show results of the q-adic simulations in color (lower curve). The analytic upper bound given by (IX.3.8) and (IX.3.9) is plotted in black (upper curve). The constants in (IX.3.9) were chosen as C = q, $\gamma = \ln q$, and $\varepsilon = 0.01$. Note that the mixing rate, γ , was replaced with the Lyapunov exponent of the map. For topologically mixing piecewise expanding Markov maps with slopes of the same sign (of which, the q-adic maps are examples), the mixing rate is bounded above by the Lyapunov exponent; $\gamma \leq \Lambda$ [SBJ13]. Therefore, by replacing the mixing rate, γ , with the Lyapunov exponent in (IX.3.9) gives a tighter bound. The data is again plotted on a log-log scale to show the $\frac{1}{vol(B)} \ln(\frac{1}{vol(B)})$ order for the hitting time. Note that these bounds are not as tight as for the subdivision map. This is due to having to estimate the measure of the exception set in the course of the proof of (IX.3.8)by choosing an appropriate gap time. Many gap times are feasible and it was never claimed that the one chosen was optimal. A slight increase in the distance of the data and the upper bound can be seen as we progress to smaller target volumes. This suggests that the order of the hitting time is actually smaller than the $\frac{1}{vol(B)} \ln(\frac{1}{vol(B)})$ of the proof.

Figures IX.4a and IX.4b show the expected hitting time $\mathcal{H}(c, y, \delta)$ averaged over target centers and initial conditions for the searcher for the 1-dimensional subdivision algorithms and q-adic maps, respectively. On the y-axis is plotted an approximation of

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\mathcal{H}(c, y, \delta)\right] = \frac{1}{0.01 - \delta} \int_{\delta}^{0.01} \mathbb{E}\left[\tau(B(u))\right] du \qquad (IX.4.8)$$

where the maximum target volume was chosen as $V = 10^{-2}$ and

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\tau(B(u))\right] = \int_0^1 \int_0^1 \tau[B(c, r(u)), y] \, dc \, dy.$$
(IX.4.9)

In simulations, (IX.4.9) was approximated by Monte Carlo integration over pairs (c_p, y_p) in the square $[0, 1) \times [0, 1)$, so that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\tau(B(u))\right] \approx \frac{1}{P} \sum_{p=1}^{P} \tau[B(c_p, r(u)), y_p], \qquad (IX.4.10)$$

where $P = 2 \times 10^3$. Since $\tau[B(c, r(u)), y]$ is piecewise constant with respect to u, the integral (IX.4.8) was approximated by a Riemann sum. The partition size was chosen as $\Delta u = \frac{10^{-2} - 10^{-6}}{10^4}$. Then $u_j := 10^{-2} - j\Delta u$, for $j = 0, \ldots, 10^4 - 1$. For each u_k ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\mathcal{H}(c, y, u_k)\right] \approx \frac{1}{V - u_k} \sum_{j=1}^k \mathbb{E}\left[\tau(B(u_j))\right] \Delta u$$

Note that this is an approximation from above.

Figure IX.4a clearly shows the separation between the subdivision algorithms as predicted by (IX.1.9). The expected hitting times for the *q*-adic maps do not share the same clean separation. Both figures IX.4a and IX.4b, however, show the asymptotic behavior of the algorithms as $\mathcal{O}(-\ln \delta)$ as predicted by (IX.4.2).



(c) Rank 4

Figure IX.2: Hitting time of the 1D subdivision algorithms. Hitting time from simulations for 100 target centers are plotted in color (stair-step, lower curve). The upper bound given by (IX.1.9) is plotted in black (upper line).



Figure IX.3: Hitting time of the *q*-adic maps. Hitting times from simulations for 100 target centers are plotted in color (lower curve). The upper bound given by (IX.3.8) is plotted in black (upper curve).



(b) 1D q-adic maps.

Figure IX.4: The expected hitting time $\mathcal{H}(c,y,\delta)$ averaged over c and y.

IX.5 Continuous-time dynamics

In the previous sections, it was assumed the searcher evolved according to a discrete-time map. In this section, continuous-time search transformations are constructed using a discrete-time map. The basic idea is to use the discrete-time map to generate *waypoints* that a searcher moves between according to some type of continuous dynamics. In general, it cannot be guaranteed that the continuous-time transformation has the same ergodic measure as the discrete-time map. However, the upper bound on the hitting time in the discrete-time case can be used to derive an upper-bound for the continuous-time case. In passing from discrete-time to continuous-time, some of the tightness on the upper bound is lost. As we are interested in the case when $V \ll \text{diam } \mathcal{M}$, it is natural to approximate the dynamics of the searcher by a first-order differential equation.

IX.5.1 First-order dynamics.

Let $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}, \ \mathcal{M} = \mathbb{T}^n$, be an ergodic discrete time map with a preserved measure μ absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure and having a strictly positive, bounded Radon-Nikodym derivative. Let the searcher's position be denoted $\vec{s} = (s_1, \ldots, s_n) \in \mathcal{M}$. The searcher's dynamics are defined

$$\dot{\vec{s}}(t) = -u_{\min} \frac{\vec{s}(t) - \vec{w}(t)}{\|\vec{s}(t) - \vec{w}(t)\|}$$

$$\vec{w}(t) = T^{k(t)}(\vec{y})$$

$$k(t) \leftarrow \begin{cases} k(t), & \vec{s}(t) \neq \vec{w}(t) \\ k(t) + 1, & \vec{s}(t) = \vec{w}(t) \end{cases}$$

(IX.5.1)

where $k(0) = 0, \ \vec{y} \in \mathcal{M}$, and $u_{\min} > 0$. We call $\vec{w}_k = T^k(\vec{y})$ the k^{th} waypoint. Note that k(t) is an \mathbb{N}_0 -valued jump-process driven by the transformation T that updates when the searcher reaches a waypoint.

Let $\{t_k\}_0^\infty$ be the times at which the searcher arrives at the k^{th} waypoint; i.e., $\vec{s}(t_k) = T^k(\vec{y})$ and $t_k \ge t_{k-1}$. Denoting the hitting time for the discrete-time map Tas $\tau_d[B(c,r), \vec{y}]$ and the hitting time for the continuous-time system as $\tau_c[B(c,r), \vec{s}]$ allows us to write

$$\tau_c[B(c,r),\vec{s}] := \inf \left\{ t \ge 0 : \|s(t) - c\| < r, t \in \mathbb{R} \right\} \le t_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{\tau_d[B(c,r),\vec{y}]} t_k - t_{k-1}.$$
(IX.5.2)

This merely says that the first time the continuous trajectory enters the set B(c, r)must be less than the sum of the inter-arrival times between waypoints, where the sum is taken up to the hitting time for the discrete-time map T. This is easily seen since $T^{\tau_d[B(c,r),y]}(y) \in B(c,r)$ and the right side of (IX.5.2) defines the time the system has been running. Therefore, if the inter-arrival times $\{t_k - t_{k-1}\}$ can be bounded, an upper bound for the continuous-time case can be derived from the discrete-time case. The bound on the inter-arrival times can be computed by noting that $\|\dot{s}(t)\| = u_{\min}$ for all $t \ge 0$ and

$$t_k - t_{k-1} \le \frac{\operatorname{diam} \mathcal{M}}{u_{\min}}$$

When $\mathcal{M} = [0, 1]^n$, (IX.5.2) becomes

$$\tau_c[B(c,r),y] \le \frac{\sqrt{n}}{u_{\min}} \tau_d[B(c,r),y].$$
(IX.5.3)

IX.6 Discussion and Conclusions

Our results show, when searching for a target while having almost no prior information, that one can do much better than when using a naïve (rational) lawnmower algorithm. In particular, we investigated the hitting times for discrete-time exponentially mixing transformations, obtaining explicit estimates for systems with exponential mixing rates. The finite-time "confidence" results were extend to show that asymptotically, the hitting time behaved as $\tau[B, y] = \mathcal{O}(vol(B)^{-1})$ and the expected hitting time $\mathcal{H}(c, y, \delta) = \mathcal{O}(-\ln \delta)$ for every target center c and almost every initial condition y for the searcher. These results are very similar to what one finds when looking at iid processes. In a certain sense, mixing transformation are no different than iid processes and much of the intuition from the iid case carries over to the mixing case.

By constructing continuous-time dynamics by using a discrete-time transformation, the discrete-time results could be pushed to the continuous-time case by looking at a finite sum of the inter-arrival times between the "waypoints" generated by the discrete-time map. For first-order dynamics and bounded domains, the inter-arrival times could be bounded above so that the hitting time for the continuous dynamics were just a constant multiplying the hitting time for the discrete-time transformation.

While this work investigated exponentially mixing transformations and used the lack of ergodicity of the rational lawnmower algorithm to justify this focus, the reader will notice that a perfectly acceptable modification to the lawnmower algorithm is to use an irrational shift parameter instead of a rational one. It is well known that irrational shifts on the circle are ergodic, but not mixing (see [LM94] or any standard text on ergodic theory). Hitting and recurrence times of almost every irrational shift on the unit interval also satisfy limit laws of the type (IX.1.5) for dyadic intervals [KS03], even though these transformations have fundamentally different behavior than mixing transformations. Although not shown here, numerical simulations have shown that irrational rotations on the circle perform better than their mixing counterparts in terms of the search problem, even though both have the same asymptotic law. However, much of the analysis for irrational shifts depends on the continued fraction representation of the shift parameter [Kim06; Kim07; KS03]. Unfortunately, extensions of continued fractions to higher dimensions are difficult. This makes analysis of irrational shifts in higher dimensions problematic and, at this time, the author is unaware of any analytic recurrence or hitting time results for irrational shifts in higher dimensions. This is contrasted with the results in this paper which hold in arbitrary dimensions as long as the appropriate mixing conditions are satisfied.

We wish to mention one other point. The results in the paper relied on the fact that the transformation chosen to generate the search dynamics was exponentially mixing. A number of simple classes of transformation have been shown to have this mixing property, usually by showing that the associated Perron-Frobenius operator has a spectral gap between 1 and the magnitude of the next largest eigenvalue. Similar results for higher-dimensional expanding maps have been shown as well (see, for example, [Liv12]). Given some dynamics in a higher-dimensional space, if one would like to use the results in this chapter, one would first need to prove that the transformation is exponentially mixing and estimate its mixing rate, tasks that are not simple for a general system. It would be desirable to have a constructive procedure for specifying a transformation in arbitrary dimension with a specified mixing rate. The authors are unaware of any such procedure at this time. This will be the subject of future work.
Bibliography

Authored by R.M. Mohr

- [Ash+06] S. Ashley et al. "Precise Positioning of SMA Actuator Using Iterative Control". In: Actuator 2006. Bremen, Germany, June 2006.
- [BMM12] M. Budisic, R. Mohr, and I. Mezić. "Applied Koopmanism". In: Chaos 22.4 (2012), p. 047510. DOI: 10.1063/1.4772195.
- [HM07] P. Hollberg and R. Mohr. "Design for Six Sigma and Product Portfolio
 Optimization". In: Six Sigma Forum Magazine 7.1 (Nov. 2007), pp. 13–19.
- [MMa] R. Mohr and I. Mezić. "GLA theorems for nonspectral operators". In preparation.
- [MMb] R. Mohr and I. Mezić. "Spectral analysis of networks via the Koopman operator". In preparation.

- [MM13] R. Mohr and I. Mezić. "Searching for Targets of Nonuniform Size". May 2013. Submitted to Journal of Nonlinear Science.
- [Moh14] R. Mohr. "Construction of Eigenfunctions for Scalar-type Operators via Laplace Averages with Connections to the Koopman Operator". In: arXiv.org (Mar. 2014). arXiv: 1403.6559v1 [math.SP]. Submitted to Ergodic theory and Dynamical Systems.
- [Spe+05] J. Speich et al. "ROK-induced cross-link formation stiffens passive muscle: reversible strain-induced stress softening in rabbit detrusor". In:
 American journal of physiology, Cell physiology 289.1 (July 2005), pp. C12–21. DOI: 10.1152/ajpcell.00418.2004.

Papers and Theses

- [Aba04] M. Abadi. "Sharp Error Terms and Neccessary Conditions for Exponential Hitting Times in Mixing Processes". In: *The Annals of Probability* 32.1A (2004), pp. 243–264 (cit. on p. 177).
- [AL04] R. Aron and M. Lindström. "Spectra of weighted composition operators on weighted banach spaces of analytic functions". English. In: Israel Journal of Mathematics 141.1 (Dec. 2004), pp. 263–276. DOI: 10.1007/ BF02772223 (cit. on p. 8).

- [And13] F. Andersson. "Algorithms for unequally spaced fast Laplace transforms". English. In: Applied and Computational Harmonic Analysis 35.3 (Nov. 2013), pp. 419–432. DOI: 10.1016/j.acha.2012.11.005 (cit. on p. 129).
- [Ash+06] S. Ashley et al. "Precise Positioning of SMA Actuator Using Iterative Control". In: *Actuator 2006*. Bremen, Germany, June 2006.
- [BM12] M. Budišić and I. Mezić. "Geometry of the ergodic quotient reveals coherent structures in flows". In: *Physica D* (2012), pp. 1255–1269 (cit. on p. 6).
- [BMM12] M. Budisic, R. Mohr, and I. Mezić. "Applied Koopmanism". In: Chaos 22.4 (2012), p. 047510. DOI: 10.1063/1.4772195.
- [Bos93] M. Boshernitzan. "Quantitative recurrence results". In: *Inventiones mathematicae* 113 (1993), pp. 617–631 (cit. on p. 177).
- [BS01] L. Barreira and B. Saussol. "Hausdorff Dimension of Measures via Poincaré Recurrence". In: Communications in Mathematical Physics 219 (2001), pp. 443–463 (cit. on p. 177).
- [Bud12] M. Budišić. "Ergodic Quotients in Analysis of Dynamical Systems". PhD thesis. UC Santa Barbara, Aug. 2012 (cit. on pp. 6, 134).
- [BVA07a] A. Banks, J. Vincent, and C. Anyakoha. "A review of particle swarm optimization. Part I: background and development". English. In: *Journal*

of Global Optimization 6.4 (July 2007), pp. 467–484. DOI: 10.1007/ s11047-007-9049-5 (cit. on p. 174).

- [BVA07b] A. Banks, J. Vincent, and C. Anyakoha. "A review of particle swarm optimization. Part II: hybridisation, combinatorial, multicriteria and constrained optimization, and indicative applications". English. In: Journal of Global Optimization 7.1 (July 2007), pp. 109–124. DOI: 10.1007/ s11047-007-9050-z (cit. on p. 174).
- [CB97] M. E. Crovella and A. Bestavros. "Self-similarity in World Wide Web traffic: evidence and possible causes". In: *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Networking* 5.6 (1997), pp. 835–846. DOI: 10.1109/90.650143 (cit. on p. 133).
- [Che07] T. Chen. "Network Traffic Modeling". In: The Handbook of Computer Networks. Ed. by H. Bidgoli. Wiley, 2007 (cit. on pp. 133, 134).
- [Cho01] H. Choset. "Coverage for robotics A survey of recent results". In: Annals of Mathematics and Artificial Intelligence 31.1/4 (2001), pp. 113–126. DOI: 10.1023/A:1016639210559 (cit. on p. 174).
- [CK01] N. Chernov and D. Kleinbock. "Dynamical Borel-Cantelli Lemmas for Gibbs Measures". In: Israel Journal of Mathematics 122.1 (2001), pp. 1– 27 (cit. on p. 177).

- [CM94] C. C. Cowen and B. D. MacCluer. "Spectra of Some Composition Operators". English. In: Journal of Functional Analysis 125.1 (Oct. 1994), pp. 223–251. DOI: 10.1006/jfan.1994.1123 (cit. on pp. 8, 119).
- [Coe97] Z. Coelho. "Asymptotic Laws for Symbolic Dynamical Systems". In: Lectures on Symbolic Dynamics, Temuco, Chile (1997) (cit. on p. 177).
- [DC05] C. Di Cairano-Gilfedder and R. Clegg. "A decade of Internet research advances in models and practices". In: *BT Technology Journal* 23.4 (2005), pp. 115–128 (cit. on p. 133).
- [DHS12] D. Duke, D. Honnery, and J. Soria. "Experimental investigation of nonlinear instabilities in annular liquid sheets". In: Journal of Fluid Mechanics (2012) (cit. on p. 7).
- [Dun54] N. Dunford. "Spectral Operators". English. In: Pacific Journal of Mathematics (1954), pp. 321–354 (cit. on pp. 45, 47, 48).
- [Eis+10] B. Eisenhower et al. "Decomposing Building System Data for Model Validation and Analysis Using the Koopman Operator". In: SimBuild 2010 - Fourth National Conference of IBPSA-USA (Aug. 2010), p. 8 (cit. on p. 7).
- [Enf73] P. Enflo. "A counterexample to the approximation problem in Banach spaces". English. In: Acta Mathematica 130.1 (July 1973), pp. 309–317.
 DOI: 10.1007/BF02392270 (cit. on p. 91).

- [Err+02] A. Erramilli et al. "Self-similar traffic and network dynamics". In: Proceedings of the IEEE 90.5 (2002), pp. 800–819 (cit. on pp. 133, 134).
- [ES95] A. Erramilli and R. Singh. "An application of deterministic chaotic maps to model packet traffic". In: *Queueing Systems* (1995) (cit. on p. 134).
- [FD81] D. Freedman and P. Diaconis. "On the histogram as a density estimator:L 2 theory". English. In: Zeitschrift fur Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie und verwandte Gebiete 57.4 (Dec. 1981), pp. 453–476. DOI: 10.1007/BF01025868 (cit. on p. 151).
- [Fel+01] A. Feldmann et al. "Deriving traffic demands for operational IP networks: Methodology and experience". In: *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Networking (TON 9.3 (2001), pp. 265–280 (cit. on p. 133).*
- [FMP12] J. L. Fernández, M. V. Melián, and D. Pestana. "Expanding maps, shrinking targets and hitting times". English. In: Nonlinearity 25.9 (Aug. 2012), pp. 2443–2471. DOI: 10.1088/0951-7715/25/9/2443 (cit. on p. 177).
- [Gag03] D. Gage. "Randomized search strategies with imperfect sensors". In: Proceedings of SPIE (2003), pp. 270–279 (cit. on p. 173).
- [Gal06] S. Galatolo. "Hitting Time and Dimension in Axiom A systems, Generic Interval Exchanges and an Application to Birkoff Sums". In: Journal of Statistical Physics 123.1 (2006), pp. 111–124 (cit. on p. 177).

- [GEM12] M. Georgescu, B. Eisenhower, and I. Mezić. "Creating zoning approximations to building energy models using the Koopman Operator". In: SimBuild 2012 (Mar. 2012), p. 9 (cit. on p. 7).
- [GGL09] P. Galindo, T. W. Gamelin, and M. Lindström. "Spectra of composition operators on algebras of analytic functions on Banach spaces". In: Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh. Section A. Mathematics 139.1 (2009), pp. 107–121. DOI: 10.1017/S0308210507000819 (cit. on p. 8).
- [GK07] S. Galatolo and D. H. Kim. "The dynamical Borel-Cantelli lemma and the waiting time problems". In: *Indagationes Mathematicae* 18.3 (Sept. 2007), pp. 421–434 (cit. on pp. 177, 202).
- [GM93] W. T. Gowers and B. Maurey. "The unconditional basic sequence problem". English. In: Journal of the American Mathematical Society 6.4 (1993), pp. 851–851. DOI: 10.1090/S0894-0347-1993-1201238-0 (cit. on pp. 93, 94).
- [HM07] P. Hollberg and R. Mohr. "Design for Six Sigma and Product Portfolio
 Optimization". In: Six Sigma Forum Magazine 7.1 (Nov. 2007), pp. 13–19.
- [HRS98] D. Heath, S. Resnick, and G. Samorodnitsky. "Heavy tails and long range dependence in on/off processes and associated fluid models". In:

Mathematics of Operations Research 23.1 (1998), pp. 145–165 (cit. on p. 134).

- [Hyv+13] O. Hyvärinen et al. "Spectra of weighted composition operators with automorphic symbols". In: Journal of Functional Analysis 265.8 (2013), pp. 1749–1777. DOI: 10.1016/j.jfa.2013.06.003 (cit. on p. 8).
- [Int05] Internet2. *Abilene Network*. 2005 (cit. on pp. 146, 147).
- [Jam82] R. C. James. "Bases in Banach Spaces". English. In: The American Mathematical Monthly 89.9 (Nov. 1982), pp. 625–640 (cit. on pp. 92, 93).
- [Kim06] D. H. Kim. "The recurrence time for irrational rotations". In: Osaka J.Math 43.2 (2006), pp. 351–364 (cit. on p. 230).
- [Kim07] D. H. Kim. "The shrinking target property of irrational rotations". In: *Nonlinearity* 20.7 (2007), pp. 1637–1643. DOI: 10.1088/0951-7715/20/ 7/006 (cit. on p. 230).
- [Kol82] P. Kolesar. "On Searching for Large Objects with Small Probes: A Search Model for Exploration". English. In: *The Journal of the Operational Research Society* 33.2 (Feb. 1982), pp. 153–159 (cit. on p. 175).
- [KS03] D. Kim and B. Seo. "The waiting time for irrational rotations". In: Nonlinearity (2003) (cit. on p. 230).

- [Lel+93] W. E. Leland et al. "On the self-similar nature of Ethernet traffic".
 English. In: ACM SIGCOMM Computer Communication Review 23.4 (Oct. 1993), pp. 183–193. DOI: 10.1145/167954.166255 (cit. on p. 133).
- [Liv12] C. Liverani. "Multidimensional expanding maps with singularities: a pedestrian approach". English. In: Ergodic Theory and Dynamical Systems 33.01 (Feb. 2012), pp. 168–182. DOI: 10.1017/S0143385711000939 (cit. on p. 231).
- [Liv95] C. Liverani. "Decay of correlations". English. In: Annals of Mathematics. Second Series 142.2 (1995), pp. 239–301. DOI: 10.2307/2118636 (cit. on p. 199).
- [LL99] D. Lapsley and S. H. Low. "Random early marking for Internet congestion control". In: Global Telecommunications Conference, 1999. GLOBE-COM'99. 1999, pp. 1747–1752 (cit. on p. 145).
- [LM11] Y. Lan and I. Mezić. "The spectrum of Koopman operators based on linearization". In: *Preprint* (Apr. 2011), pp. 1–16 (cit. on p. 121).
- [LM13] Y. Lan and I. Mezić. "Linearization in the large of nonlinear systems and Koopman operator spectrum". English. In: *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena* 242.1 (Jan. 2013), pp. 42–53. DOI: 10.1016/j.physd.
 2012.08.017 (cit. on pp. 116–119, 126).

- [LN94] R. Lange and B. Nagy. "Semigroups and Scalar-Type Operators in Banach Spaces". English. In: Journal of Functional Analysis 119.2 (Feb. 1994), pp. 468–480. DOI: 10.1006/jfan.1994.1018 (cit. on p. 61).
- [LR88] S. Lalley and H. Robbins. "Stochastic search in a convex region". In:
 Probability Theory and Related Fields (1988), pp. 99–116 (cit. on p. 173).
- [LR89] S. P. Lalley and H. E. Robbins. "Uniformly ergodic search in a disk".
 In: Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math. New York: Dekker, 1989, pp. 131–151 (cit. on p. 173).
- [Mez05] I. Mezić. "Spectral Properties of Dynamical Systems, Model Reduction and Decompositions". In: Nonlinear Dynamics 41 (June 2005), pp. 309– 325 (cit. on pp. 7, 134).
- [Mez13] I. Mezić. "Analysis of Fluid Flows via Spectral Properties of the Koopman Operator". English. In: Annual Review of Fluid Mechanics 45.1 (Jan. 2013), pp. 357–378. DOI: 10.1146/annurev-fluid-011212-140652 (cit. on p. 7).
- [MMa] R. Mohr and I. Mezić. "GLA theorems for nonspectral operators". In preparation.
- [MMb] R. Mohr and I. Mezić. "Spectral analysis of networks via the Koopman operator". In preparation.

- [MM10] R. Mohr and I. Mezić. "The use of ergodic theory in designing dynamics for search problems". In: 49th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control. Atlanta, GA, USA, Dec. 2010, pp. 7300–7307. DOI: 10.1109/CDC.2010.
 5718129 (cit. on p. ix).
- [MM12] A. Mauroy and I. Mezić. "On the use of Fourier averages to compute the global isochrons of (quasi)periodic dynamics". English. In: *Chaos* 22.3 (2012), p. 033112. DOI: 10.1063/1.4736859 (cit. on p. 7).
- [MM13] R. Mohr and I. Mezić. "Searching for Targets of Nonuniform Size". May 2013. Submitted to Journal of Nonlinear Science.
- [MMM13] A. Mauroy, I. Mezić, and J. Moehlis. "Isostables, isochrons, and Koopman spectrum for the action-angle representation of stable fixed point dynamics". In: *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena* (June 2013), pp. 1–37.
 DOI: 10.1016/j.physd.2013.06.004 (cit. on p. 8).
- [Moh14] R. Mohr. "Construction of Eigenfunctions for Scalar-type Operators via Laplace Averages with Connections to the Koopman Operator". In: arXiv.org (Mar. 2014). arXiv: 1403.6559v1 [math.SP]. Submitted to Ergodic theory and Dynamical Systems.
- [NME11] I. Nastase, A. Meslem, and M. El Hassan. "Image processing analysis of vortex dynamics of lobed jets from three-dimensional diffusers". English.
 In: *Fluid Dynamics Research* 43.6 (Nov. 2011), p. 065502. DOI: 10.1088/0169-5983/43/6/065502 (cit. on p. 7).

- [OFM07] R. Olfati-Saber, J. A. Fax, and R. M. Murray. "Consensus and cooperation in networked multi-agent systems". In: *Proceedings of the IEEE* 95.1 (2007), pp. 215–233 (cit. on p. 174).
- [Olf06] R. Olfati-Saber. "Flocking for Multi-Agent Dynamic Systems: Algorithms and Theory". English. In: *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Con*trol 51.3 (Mar. 2006), pp. 401–420. DOI: 10.1109/TAC.2005.864190 (cit. on p. 174).
- [PF07] M. Pavone and E. Frazzoli. "Decentralized Policies for Geometric Pattern Formation and Path Converage". In: Journal of Dynamic Systems, Measurment, and Control 129 (Aug. 2007), pp. 633–643 (cit. on p. 173).
- [Rid73] W. C. Ridge. "Spectrum of a Composition Operator". English. In: Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 37.1 (Jan. 1973), pp. 121–127 (cit. on p. 8).
- [Rok88] V. Rokhlin. "A Fast Algorithm for the Discrete Laplace Transformation". English. In: Journal of Complexity (1988), pp. 12–32 (cit. on p. 129).
- [Row+09] C. W. Rowley et al. "Spectral analysis of nonlinear flows". In: Journal of Fluid Mechanics 641 (2009), pp. 115–127. DOI: 10.1017/S0022112009992059 (cit. on p. 7).

- [RR04] G. Roberts and J. S. Rosenthal. "General state space Markov chains and MCMC algorithms". In: Probability Surveys 1 (2004), pp. 20–71 (cit. on p. 178).
- [SBJ13] J. Slipantschuk, O. F. Bandtlow, and W. Just. "On the relation between Lyapunov exponents and exponential decay of correlations". English. In: Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical 46.7 (Feb. 2013), p. 075101. DOI: 10.1088/1751-8113/46/7/075101 (cit. on p. 222).
- [Sch+11] P. Schmid et al. "Applications of the dynamic mode decomposition". In: Theoretical and Computational Fluid Dynamics 25.1 (2011), pp. 249–259 (cit. on p. 7).
- [Sch10] P. J. Schmid. "Dynamic mode decomposition of numerical and experimental data". In: Journal of Fluid Mechanics 656 (Aug. 2010), pp. 5–28.
 DOI: 10.1017/S0022112010001217 (cit. on p. 7).
- [Sch62] H. H. Schaefer. "Spectral measures in locally convex algebras". English.
 In: Acta Mathematica 107.1-2 (Mar. 1962), pp. 125–173. DOI: 10.1007/
 BF02545784 (cit. on pp. 45, 49, 51).
- [SM11] Y. Susuki and I. Mezić. "Nonlinear Koopman Modes and Coherency Identification of Coupled Swing Dynamics". In: *Power Systems, IEEE Transactions on* 26.4 (2011), pp. 1894–1904. DOI: 10.1109/TPWRS.2010.
 2103369 (cit. on p. 7).

- [SM12] Y. Susuki and I. Mezić. "Nonlinear Koopman modes and a precursor to power system swing instabilities". In: Power Systems, IEEE Transactions on 27.3 (2012), pp. 1182–1191. DOI: 10.1109/TPWRS.2012.
 2183625 (cit. on p. 7).
- [Sou+05] A. Soule et al. "Traffic matrices: Balancing Measurements, Inference and Modeling". English. In: ACM SIGMETRICS Performance Evaluation Review 33.1 (June 2005), p. 362. DOI: 10.1145/1071690.1064259 (cit. on p. 146).
- [Spe+05] J. Speich et al. "ROK-induced cross-link formation stiffens passive muscle: reversible strain-induced stress softening in rabbit detrusor". In:
 American journal of physiology, Cell physiology 289.1 (July 2005), pp. C12–21. DOI: 10.1152/ajpcell.00418.2004.
- [SS08] P. J. Schmid and J. Sesterhenn. "Dynamic Mode Decomposition of Numerical and Experimental Data". In: Sixty-First Annual Meeting of the APS Division of Fluid Dynamics. San Antonio, Texas, USA, 2008 (cit. on p. 7).
- [SS11] A. Seena and H. J. Sung. "Dynamic mode decomposition of turbulent cavity flows for self-sustained oscillations". English. In: International Journal of Heat and Fluid Flow 32.6 (Dec. 2011), pp. 1098–1110. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijheatfluidflow.2011.09.008 (cit. on p. 7).

- [Str92] J. Strain. "A fast Laplace transform based on Laguerre functions". In: Mathematics of Computation 58.197 (1992), pp. 275–283. DOI: 10.2307/ 2153033 (cit. on p. 129).
- [TAM+11] O. TAMMISOLA et al. "Global linear and nonlinear stability of viscous confined plane wakes with co-flow". English. In: Journal of Fluid Mechanics 675.-1 (May 2011), pp. 397–434. DOI: 10.1017/jfm.2011.24 (cit. on p. 7).
- [Tu+12] J. Tu et al. "Koopman spectral analysis of separated flow over a finitethickness flat plate with elliptical leading edge". In: 49th AIAA Aerospace Sciences Meeting including the New Horizons Forum and Aerospace Exposition. Reston, Virigina: American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, June 2012. ISBN: 978-1-60086-950-1. DOI: 10.2514/6.2011-38 (cit. on p. 7).
- [TWS97] M. S. Taqqu, W. Willinger, and R. Sherman. "Proof of a fundamental result in self-similar traffic modeling". English. In: ACM SIGCOMM Computer Communication Review 27.2 (Apr. 1997), pp. 5–23. DOI: 10. 1145/263876.263879 (cit. on p. 134).
- [Wal65] B. Walsh. "Structure of Spectral Measures on Locally Convex Spaces".
 English. In: Transactions of the American Mathematical Society 120.2 (Nov. 1965), pp. 295–326 (cit. on pp. 45, 49–51).

- [WW41] N. Wiener and A. Wintner. "Harmonic Analysis and Ergodic Theory".
 In: American Journal of Mathematics 63.2 (1941), pp. 415–426 (cit. on pp. 8, 33).
- [You02] L.-S. Young. "What Are SRB Measures, and Which Dynamical Systems Have Them?" In: Journal of Statistical Physics (2002), p. 22 (cit. on p. 190).
- [Zha+05] Y. Zhang et al. "Network anomography". In: Proceedings of ACM/USENIX Internet Measurement Conference (IMC) (2005), pp. 317–330 (cit. on p. 145).
- [Zha04] Y. Zhang. *Abilene traffic matrices*. Dec. 2004 (cit. on p. 146).

Books

- [AL88] V. I. Arnol d and M. Levi. Geometrical methods in the theory of ordinary differential equations. Vol. 372. Springer-Verlag New York, 1988 (cit. on p. 119).
- [Ass03] I. Assani. Wiener Wintner ergodic theorems. World Scientific Publishing
 Co. Inc., 2003. ISBN: 981-02-4439-8 (cit. on p. 8).
- [BCM09] F. Bullo, J. Cortés, and S. Martínez. Distributed Control of Robotic Networks. English. A Mathematical Approach to Motion Coordination Al-

gorithms. Princeton University Press, July 2009. ISBN: 9781400831470 (cit. on p. 174).

- [BN00] G. Bachman and L. Narici. *Functional Analysis*. Reprint of 1966 edition.New York: Dover Publications, 2000 (cit. on p. 16).
- [DS58] N. Dunford and J. T. Schwartz. *Linear Operators. Part I: General The*ory. English. Vol. VII. Pure and Applied Mathematics. Interscience Publishers, 1958. ISBN: 841052908 (cit. on pp. 16, 61).
- [KH97] A. B. Katok and B. Hasselblatt. Introduction to the Modern Theory of Dynamical Systems. English. Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Cambridge University Press, 1997. ISBN: 9780521575577 (cit. on pp. 16, 130).
- [Lax02] P. D. Lax. *Functional analysis*. Pure and Applied Mathematics (New York). New York: Wiley-Interscience [John Wiley & Sons], 2002. ISBN: 0-471-55604-1 (cit. on p. 16).
- [LM94] A. Lasota and M. Mackey. Chaos, Fractals, and Noise: Stochastic Aspects of Dynamics. 2nd ed. Vol. 97. Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer-Verlag, 1994 (cit. on pp. 3, 6, 230).
- [Pet83] K. Petersen. Ergodic Theory. 1st ed. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Mar. 1983 (cit. on p. 32).

- [RS72] M. Reed and B. Simon. Methods of modern mathematical physics. I.
 Functional analysis. New York: Academic Press, 1972 (cit. on pp. 6, 16, 34).
- [Saa11] Y. Saad. Numerical Methods for Large Eigenvalue Problems. English.
 2nd ed. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), 2011.
 ISBN: 9780719033865 (cit. on p. 129).
- [SM93] R. K. Singh and J. S. Manhas. Composition operators on Function Spaces.
 Mathematics Studies. Noth-Holland: Elsevier, 1993 (cit. on pp. 8, 119).
- [TD97] L. N. Trefethen and I. David Bau. Numerical Linear Algebra. English.
 Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, June 1997. ISBN: 9780898713619
 (cit. on p. 129).
- [Wig03] S. Wiggins. Introduction to Nonlinear Dynamical Systems and Chaos.
 2nd ed. Vol. 2. Texts in Applied Mathematics. Springer, 2003 (cit. on pp. 1, 16).
- [Woj91] P. Wojtaszczyk. Banach Spaces for Analysts. Cambridge University Press, 1991 (cit. on p. 112).
- [Yos78] K. Yosida. *Functional analysis*. Fifth. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1978. ISBN:
 3-540-08627-7 (cit. on pp. 8, 16, 34, 39).